



GRĂDINA BOTANICĂ "ANASTASIE FĂTU" IAȘI

UNIVERSITATEA "ALEXANDRU IOAN CUZA" din IAŞI

JOURNAL OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT

VOLUME 31

2024

http://www.plant-journal.uaic.ro

ISSN 2065-3158 e-ISSN 2066-9917



Science and Culture for Nature EDITURA UNIVERSITĂȚII "ALEXANDRU IOAN CUZA" din IAȘI 2024

JOURNAL OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT VOLUME 31 2024

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF:

Professor Cătălin TĂNASE, PhD — "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, corresponding member of the Romanian Academy

ASSOCIATE EDITOR:

Biologist Ana COJOCARIU, PhD — "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden Iași, Romania

EDITORIAL BOARD:

- Professor Karol MARHOLD, PhD Plant Science and Biodiversity Centre, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Slovakia
- Academician Tamás PÓCS, PhD Academy of Science, Hungary; Eszterházy Károly Catholic University, Eger, Hungary
- Research Specialist Andrea SASS-GYARMATI, PhD Institute of Biology, Department of Plant Taxonomy and Physiology, Eszterházy Károly Catholic University, Eger, Hungary
- Associate Professor Lăcrămioara IVĂNESCU, PhD "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, Romania

Professor Vasile CRISTEA, PhD – University "Babeş-Bolyai" Cluj-Napoca, Romania

- Professor Tatiana Eugenia ŞESAN, PhD University of Bucharest, corresponding member of the Academy of Agricultural Sciences and Forestry, Romania
- Professor Anca SÂRBU, PhD University of Bucharest, Romania

Professor Luis NAVARRO, PhD – University of Vigo, Spain

- Professor Attila J. KOVÁCS, PhD University of West Hungary, Savaria Univ. Centre, Biological Institute, Szombathely, Hungary
- Research Specialist Antoaneta PETROVA, PhD Botanical Garden, Academy of Science, Bulgaria
- Research Specialist Henrik SJÖMAN, PhD Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Landscape Management, Design and Construction, Sweden
- Research Specialist Giles Cassidy THELEN, PhD University of Montana, Division of Biological Sciences, Missoula, Montana, U.S.A.
- Biologist Adrian OPREA, PhD "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden Iași, Romania

PRODUCTION STAFF (Technical & Publication Board): Engr. Monica MURARIU

Date of publication: December 2024

Indexed in: EBSCO, DOAJ, CABI, INDEX COPERNICUS Journal Master list (ICV 2023 - 100.00), CSA ProQuest, AGRICOLA (USDA – NAL Catalog), CrossRef, Ulrich's International Periodicals Directory, Electronic Journals Library (EZB), Smithsonian Institution Libraries, EVISA, BASE Bielefeld Academic Search Engine, WorldWideSciense.

> Correspondence Address: GRĂDINA BOTANICĂ "ANASTASIE FĂTU" Str. Dumbrava Roșie nr. 7-9, 700487 - IAȘI http://www.botanica.uaic.ro E-mail: gbot.is@uaic.ro

CONTENTS

Anatomical considerations on the annual shoot in some wild roses LIDIA ADUMITRESEI, CAMELIA MARIANA IFRIM, IRINA NETA GOSTIN	3
Assemblages of wood-inhabiting macrofungi in beech forests from Eastern Romania CIPRIAN CONSTANTIN BÎRSAN , CONSTANTIN MARDARI , CĂTĂLIN TĂNASE	25
Evaluation of antioxidant activity in oak leaves from the Republic of Moldova exposed to heat stress PETRU CUZA	37
Shade-induced phenotypic plasticity and its impact on the economic traits of Patchouli, <i>Pogostemon cablin</i> (Blanco) Benth., a high-value aromatic crop NARAGANAHALLI DASAPPA YOGENDRA, RAJESH RAVI KUMARA, PADDAMBAIL ELLIANNA KEERTHI, THANKASWAMY ARUL PRAKASH, VELUSAMY SUNDERASAN	53
Nutritional and oil profile of the seeds of <i>Sesamum indicum</i> L. and <i>Vitellaria paradoxa</i> C. F. Gaertn. IBRAHIM UMAR KARAYE , SULE ALIYU ANKA , MUSA TANKO MUHAMMAD , SHAFI'U ISMA'ILA ADILI , MUHAMMAD HANNATU LAWAL	65
Effect of irrigation interval on growth and artemisinin content of wormwood (<i>Artemisia annua</i> L.) Chen Young variety in Sokoto LAWAL GANDI ABDULKADIR , ADAMU ALIYU ALIERO , HASSAN MUHAMMAD MAISHANU , ABDULLAHI YAHAYA ABBAS	75
Pesticidal plant species impact on whip smut reduction and sugarcane (<i>Saccharum officinarum</i> L.) production in Nigeria Moses Samuel Bassey , Emmanuel Abraham Shittu , Shema Andrew Monday , Alawode Victor Olalekan , Ekaette Eunice Etim , Ekaette Joy Etopobong , Fadeiye Ebenezer	83
Comparative efficacy of NPK fertilizer and poultry droppings on the growth and yield of <i>Amaranthus hybridus</i> L. VICTOR ONUCHE IKANI , BAWA GAMBO ZAKARI , ZUBAIRU GADDAFI JIMETA , AHMAD IDI	91
Soil and sugar quality improvement influenced by mulching and weed management practices in Nigeria Moses Samuel Bassey , Emmanuel Abraham Shittu , Ekaette Eunice Etim , Ekaette Joy EtopoBong	97
Assessing different strategies for controlling weeds in maize cultivation within the derived savanna agro-ecology in Nigeria OLAGBEMI PETER AFON, OLUWAKEMI OLAJUMOKE AJAYI, ADESIKE OLADOYIN OLAYINKA, EMMANUEL AJIBOLA OLAGUNJU, GABRIEL OLULAKIN ADESINA	105

Variability and association studies of phenotypic characters contributing to yield in fonio millet (<i>Digitaria iburua</i> Stapf) accessions ABASIANYANGA EDEM ISONG , VINOTHINI NEDUNCHEZHIYAN , WADI SEBASTINE MAMZA ,	
BHAVYASREE RAMAKRISHNAN , IBRAHIM GABA MOHAMMED , FATIMA ALHAJI UMAR , Stephen Nanbahal Dachi , Chioma Abasianyanga Isong , Samuel Oladele Bakare , Ejiro Onotugoma , Abdulrazaq Jimoh	117
Studies on critically endangered genus Ceropegia from Western Ghats of Nashik district, Maharashtra, India	
Madhukar Pandharinath Sangale, Sanjay Ragho Kshirsagar , Hemendra Prabhakar Shinde	127
In-situ conservation of Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz in the Republic of Moldova OLGA IONIȚA, Natalia JARDAN	137
Reconfirmation of rare plants on the Northwestern Black Sea coast MIHAI DOROFTEI, SIMONA DUMITRIȚA CHIRILĂ, SIlviu COVALIOV, Adrian OPREA, Culiță Sîrbu	147
New contributions to vegetation knowledge of the Danube Delta, Romania (I) ADRIAN OPREA , CULIȚĂ SÎRB U, MIHAI DOROFTEI , SILVIU COVALIOV	159
<i>Silene multiflora</i> in Moldova (Romania) CULIȚĂ SîRBU , ADRIAN OPREA	183
The state of the populations of <i>Nectaroscordum bulgaricum</i> in the strictly protected zone of the "Codrii" Reserve, Republic of Moldova NATALIA JARDAN	197
Main threats affecting Arnica montana L. in the northeastern region of Romanian Carpathians CONSTANTIN MARDARI, CIPRIAN CONSTANTIN BÎRSAN, CAMELIA ȘTEFANACHE, CĂTĂLIN TĂNASE	207
Computational screening to identify genes involved in DNA repair in <i>Arabidopsis thaliana</i> JAMES MORAN , TIM XING	215
Arabidopsis ATMKK1 knockout mutant flowers under short day conditions CHAD CONROY, KHADIJAH M. NIZAM, TIM XING	229
Use of biostimulating <i>Salix</i> solutions for the vegetative propagation of <i>Chrysanthemum</i> : a review	235
The beneficial effects of olive tree (<i>Olea europaea</i> L.) in the nutritional, pharmaceutical and	235
industrial application: a review MUHAMMAD SHAFIQ, MUHAMMAD ZAFAR IQBAL, MOHAMMAD ATHAR	247
Guide to authors	267

Research Article

ANATOMICAL CONSIDERATIONS ON THE ANNUAL SHOOT IN SOME WILD ROSES

Lidia ADUMITRESEI^{1*}, Camelia Mariana IFRIM¹, Irina Neta GOSTIN²

¹ "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, Dumbrava Roșie Street no. 7-9, 700487 Iași - Romania. ² "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, Biology Department, Carol I no. 20 A, 700505 Iași - Romania. * Corresponding author. E-mail: lidia.adumitresei@yahoo.com, ORCID: 0009-0000-9411-6597

Abstract: The observations aim a comparative study of the anatomical structure of the stem and leaf, during anthesis, in some Rosa species and varieties (sports), in order to complete the data from the specialized literature because the morphological information is more numerous than the anatomical ones. Moreover, sometimes they are even inconsistent, as in the case of the glands/glandular trichomes on the leaves and stem. A series of similarities are highlighted, which can be considered conservative characteristics of the Rosa genus, as for instance: the rapid transition to the secondary structure, the disposition of the vascular bundles (of collateral type) on a circle, the absence of the phelloderm's activity in the first year, the presence of the crystal idioblasts and the bifacial structure of the leaf. Also, a series of characteristics of each species is highlighted: disposition of the secondary xylem vessels, quantity of libriform fibres, the nature of the walls of the cells from the medullar rays, the thickness of the walls of the sclerenchyma fibres and the presence of the crystal idioblasts in various tissues.

Keywords: anatomy, annual shoot, leaf, Rosa species, stem.

Introduction

The Rosa L. genus is a vast one, with over 200 spontaneous species in the Holarctic region, spread between 20 and 70 degrees Northern latitude [KRÜSSMANN, 1986].

Arctic and tropical areas are excluded from this region. This genus is heterogeneous, with its species adapted to various environmental conditions. Wild roses grow on all continents in the northern hemisphere, being widespread from the plains to the mountain ranges (even 4000 m - R. morrisonensis Hayata in Asia). A few species are only found on plains (R. setigera Michx., R. foetida Herrm., R. sempervirens L.) or flood prone areas (R. clinophylla Thory, R. palustris Marshall), and only R. persica Michx ex Juss. grows in cold desert. They present morphological, anatomical and physiological adjustments [ADUMITRESEI, 2011] related with their diverse ecology.

Ten wild species and two sports were included in the study. Five of these are native in Romania (R. agrestis, R. gallica, R. glauca, R. rubiginosa and R. spinosissima), while the others originate from Asia Minor (R. damascena and R. foetida) and East Asia (R. multibracteata, R. *multiflora* and *R. rugosa*). The two sports are included in collections due to their significance: Rosa canina 'Inermis' is an important rootstock, while Rosa chinensis 'Viridiflora' is remarkable for its flowers, which consist solely of bracts.

The reasons for including them in the study stem from the need to update and expand the information regarding this genus, especially considering that scientific morpho-anatomical data in classical literature is fragmented and rather brief, compared to the diversity and Received: 29 October 2024 / Revised: 13 December 2024 / Accepted: 16 December 2024

variability that characterize this genus. It mainly concerns point-based anatomical examples of the main vegetative or reproductive organs or morpho-anatomical aspects as a support for physiological processes. Thus, the studies on the anatomy of the shoot are better represented and refer to: the primary and the secondary structure of the annual shoot [PARMENTIER, 1898; METCALFE & CHALK, 1988; NIKITIN & PANKOVA, 1982; TOMA & al. 1997; TOMA & RUGINĂ, 1998; ADUMITRESEI & TĂNĂSESCU, 2005; ADUMITRESEI & al. 2006; SHAMSO & al. 2019; PASHINA, 2021], prickles' ontogenesis and their peculiarities [UPHOF & HUMMEL, 1962; FAHN, 1968; NAPP-ZINN, 1984], similarities between prickles and glands [KAUSSMANN & SCHIEWER, 1989], anatomical aspects and their taxonomic implication [PARMENTIER, 1898; LOTOVA & TIMONIN, 1999; FATEMI & al. 2008; NIJSSE & al. 2007; ADUMITRESEI & GOSTIN, 2016], anatomical aspects as a support of some physiological processes [HASHIDOKO & al. 2001; CAISSARD & al. 2006; ZAMFIRACHE & al. 2006; ADUMITRESEI & al. 2009; BURZO & TOMA, 2012; MENG & FAN, 2022; TORRE & al. 2023].

Material and methods

The observations aim to provide a comparative study of the anatomical structure [TOMA & GOSTIN, 2000] of the stem and leaf, during anthesis, in *Rosa agrestis* Savi, *Rosa canina* L. 'Inermis', *Rosa chinensis* Jacq. 'Viridiflora', *Rosa damascena* Mill., *Rosa foetida* Herrm., *Rosa gallica* L., *Rosa glauca* Pourr., *Rosa multibracteata* Hemsl. et Wils., *Rosa multiflora* Thunb., *Rosa rubiginosa* L., *Rosa rugosa* Thunb. and *Rosa spinosissima* L., collected from the "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden of Iași [OSTACIUC, 1994; CAIRNS, 2000].

Shoot fragments were collected during the anthesis period and preserved in ethanol 70%. Sample sections were made with handling microtome using a razor blade. Their coloring was imparted using iodine green and alum carmine or ruthenium red based on a classical method from histo-anatomical studies of plants. Sections were fixed with glycerol gelatin.

Sections were made on the following levels: top of shoot (the middle part of stem, under vegetative cone) and leaves (through petiole at the stipule level, through rachis, on middle zone, through petiole on the first pair of leaflets, through lamina, at the median vein between secondary veins). Furthermore, some superficial sections had been used for epidermis description.

Microphotographs of anatomical sections were taken using Olympus, respectively Olympus BX 41 Microscope and a BH-2 JAPAN camera and an Olympus E 330 digital camera.

Results and discussion

The stem generally has a circular contour in cross-section (e.g. *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. glauca* and *R. rubiginosa*). The contour could be circular irregular, modified by prickles sometimes (as *R. spinosissima*, *R. rugosa* – Figures 6, 7), or elliptical (as *R. agrestis* and *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora' – Figure 2).

At some taxa non glandular trichomes and glandular trichomes appear [WANG & al. 2019; ZHOU & al. 2021]. Non glandular trichomes appear only in juvenile stages at some species. Small glandular trichomes are present at *R. spinosissima*, even bigger at *R. agrestis*, *R. damascena*, *R. rugosa* and *R. rubiginosa*, they always have multicellular pedicel and it is pluriseriate, which consists of 4-6 or sometimes even 8 cell series. The glandular trichomes have

a terminal clavate part which is formed of polygonal cells with cellulosic walls; their number is variable, but always in the tens of cells.

In all cases, epidermal cells are covered by cuticle. It can be very thick with intercellular cuticle blades very deeply inside (for *R. multibracteata*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*), thick (*R. agrestis*, *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. foetida*, *R. glauca*, *R. gallica* and *R. spinosissima*) or relatively thin (*R. canina* 'Inermis') (Figure 4).

Epidermal cells are either isodiametric (e. g. *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. damascena*, *R. glauca*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*) or tangentially elongated (*R. foetida*, *R. gallica*, *R. spinosissima* and *R. multiflora*) (Figure 8). Regarding epidermal cells size, it is usually constant, an exception being the prickle area where epidermal cells are slightly radially elongated. The external wall of epidermal cells is thicker than the walls of other walls of the same cells. The external walls are very thick for *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. glauca*, *R. multibracteata*, *R. multiflora* and *R. rugosa* (Figures 4, 5 and 6).

Stomata are situated either at level of epidermal cells in *R. canina* 'Inermis', or slightly above the level of epidermal cells at *R. multibracteata*. An exception is *R. glauca*, in which stomata can be observed both at the level of the epidermal cells or at a nearby height (either above or below that level) [ADUMITRESEI & TĂNĂSESCU, 2005]. The substomatic chamber can be reduced in *R. glauca*, with a medium size (in *R. canina* 'Inermis') [ADUMITRESEI & al. 2006], the suprastomatic chamber, relatively tall, can be observed in *R. damascena* as a result of the presence of tall annex cells.

Prickles are always present on the stem surface in variable numbers, more frequently in *R. spinosissima* and *R. rugosa*. They have different sizes and shapes depending on the species. In section, it is observed that the shape of the cells changes from isodiametric cortical cells (at the base) to radially elongated parenchymal cells on the flanks and towards the tip of the prickles. The older prickles get, do they become sclerified and lignified, becoming harder, and the epidermis on their flanks exfoliated (Figures 19, 20).

Fully developed prickles are based on a multilayered suberous tissue to which exterior the parenchyma is moderately sclerified and lignified, which in time leads to exfoliation.

In *Rosa rugosa*, in most of the stem circumference, in a hypodermic position, the phellogen differentiated, producing 6-8 layers of suber outwards and several layers of phelloderm inwards. These anatomical features prove the fact that it is the most resistant species to low temperatures among the ones selected by this study.

The primary cortex is differentiated in an external collenchymatous area and an internal area cortical parenchyma of meatic type.

The hypodermal collenchyma is of the tangential type and is presented either as a continuous area with different thickness (in *R. agrestis*, *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. foetida* and *R. rugosa*) or as collenchyma cords (larger or smaller) separated by some assimilating parenchyma islands (in *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. damascena*, *R. gallica*, *R. multibracteata* and *R. multiflora*) or in an angular type as in *R. spinosissima* (Figure 7), which allows the shoot to grow in thickness. In *R. glauca* and *R. rubiginosa*, the entire hypodermic layer is collenchymatous [SHAMSO & al. 2019].

The number of cell layers included in the collenchyma structure is variable depending on taxa, but it is well represented in most cases. The cortex generally consists of 14-16 cell layers, from which 4-6 layers of external cells, in most species (*R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora'), are represented by collenchyma. The internal area of cortical parenchyma of the meatic type is composed of cells whose sizes are growing from beneath epidermis up to the central cylinder

(Figures 3-6, 15, 18). In most taxa, cells are isodiametric, but tangentially elongated cells can be found, for instance, in *R. multibracteata* (Figure 15).

Cortex thickness is variable in each taxon, being thin in *R. rubiginosa* and very thick in *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. damascena*, *R. foetida*, *R. glauca* and *R. spinosissima*.

Central cylinder consists of a variable number of collateral vascular bundles, with a circular arrangement, and pith. The central cylinder is usually relatively thick, situated on the upper limit in species such as *R. multibracteata*, *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. glauca*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*.

The number of vascular bundles is variable, yet constant for each taxon: many (over 60) at *R. canina* 'Inermis', fewer (about 35-40) for *R. rubiginosa* and *R. glauca*; relatively few (about 25-30) in *R. agrestis*, *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora' and *R. rugosa*, even less (about 20-22) in *R. multibracteata* and *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora' (Figures 1-6).

The vascular bundles are arranged in a perfect circle (in *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. damascena*, *R. gallica*, *R. multibracteata*, *R. multiflora*, *R. rugosa* and *R. rubiginosa*) (Figures 1, 5, 11, 17, 19), or they can be organized in a tortuous circle (e.g. *R. agrestis*, *R. glauca*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. spinosissima*) (Figures 4, 6, 18). The general architecture of the central cylinder in *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora' is rather interesting, for in this case the vascular bundles are no longer strictly arranged on a circle, but on several arcs that converge, so that the xylem is always oriented towards the pith. Each of the arcs presents two types of bundles, collateral ones and other formed by elements of phloem only. Between the bundles of the same arch, medullary rays are extremely narrow (one or two series of cells), whereas between arches of bundles, medullary rays are quite large (5 or 8 series of cells) (Figure 2). This atypical arrangement of the vascular bundles has also been observed in several horticultural varieties of *Rosa*, such as 'Laminuette', 'Luchian', 'Rose Gaujard', and 'Hurdal' [ADUMITRESEI & al. 2005; ADUMITRESEI & al. 2012; TOMA & TOMA, 2005; MONDER & al. 2021].

Generally, bundles' sizes vary within the same taxon; however, in the case of *R*. *agrestis*, *R*. *damascena*, *R*. *foetida*, *R*. *multibracteata*, and *R*. *multiflora* they can be approximately equal (Figures 15, 18, 19, 21, 23).

Concerning the structure of vascular bundles in the annual shoot, we highlight the following observations for investigated taxa: in the most analysed species cambium generates less phloem outward and more xylem inward (Figures 18, 19, 23, 25). The presence of cork cambium and its differentiation into 4-6 layers of phelloderm on the outer layer, with just a few layers of cork cambium towards the inner part, is noticeable only in *R. rugosa*, which is the most resistant to low temperatures among all the species included in the study (Figure 16).

The position of secondary xylem vessels is sometimes in radial and parallel rows (as in *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. glauca*, *R. multiflora* and *R. rugosa*), in other cases it is irregular within the libriform mass (as in *R. agrestis*, *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. gallica*, *R. rubiginosa*, *R. multibracteata* and *R. spinosissima*).

The amount of libriform in the secondary xylem is as follows: abundant (in *R. agrestis*, *R. damascena*, *R. gallica*, *R. multibracteata* and *R. spinosissima*) and reduced (in *R. canina* 'Inermis').

Medullary rays are relatively thin, often uniseriate, and generally very thin (*R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. damascena*, *R. foetida*, *R. multibracteata* and *R. rugosa*), with some bundles which form a continuous ring inside of the xylem, because here pith rays are slightly sclerified and lignified (in *R. agrestis*, *R. gallica* and *R. rubiginosa*) (Figures 21, 22). In most cases, medullary rays consist of 2-3 cell rows. As mentioned before, *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora' has extremely large rays between arches (8 rows of cells), making it an exception within the *Rosaceae* family.

Regarding the composition of cell walls in medullary rays: at the phloem level, they are parenchymatic, cellulosic, while at the xylem level they are moderately sclerified and lignified (in *R. glauca*, *R. damascena*, *R. multibracteata*, *R. multiflora* and *R. rugosa*); in some taxa, the cell walls of medullary rays from the xylem are slightly lignified and sclerified (in *R. agrestis*, *R. foetida* and *R. rubiginosa*) (Figures 18, 21, 22).

Perivascular sclerenchyma bundles are generally well represented at stem level. The differences are related to walls of sclerenchyma fibres, which can be: very thick and fully lignified with lumen cells that are almost punctiform (*R. agrestis, R. gallica, R. multibracteata, R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*), strongly thickened, but partially lignified (*R. multiflora*), moderately thickened, but completely lignified, with a large lumen (*R. damascena*) or strongly thickened and partially lignified (*R. canina* 'Inermis' and *R. glauca*) (Figures 21, 22, 23, 25). In the perimedullary area, cells have lignified walls. Similar structures are mentioned by DELINSCHI (FLORIA) & al. (2009).

The configuration of the pith is similar in *Rosa* species and varieties. It is formed by very small cells or islands of cells, with moderately thickened and lignified walls, surrounded by extremely large cells with very thin, cellulose walls, often arranged in a rosette with respect to the small cells, suggesting a pattern (Figure 26).

Crystal idioblasts are found in various tissues, depending on cultivar or hybrids. Generally, they are relatively common, as in other *Rosaceae* species [METCALFE & CHALK, 1988; TOMA & al. 1983; FLORIA & DERID, 1998; FLORIA, 1998; LERSTEN & HORNER, 2006]. Some taxa predominantly contain druses while others are more likely to have prismatic crystals (Figures 16, 17, 22, 23, 24). Both forms can coexist in certain taxa, though one type may predominate in different tissues. For example, crystal idioblasts are present in hypodermic collenchyma layer contain either druses (*R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. glauca, R. rugosa, R. spinosissima* sometimes grouped together, *R. rubiginosa* relatively rare) or prismatic crystals (*R. foetida*).

Within of the cortical parenchyma, crystal idioblasts containing druses are present in *R. glauca* and *R. multiflora*. Some species, such as *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. damascena*, *R. glauca* and *R. rubiginosa*, have only a few crystal idioblasts at the cortex level.

In the phloem parenchyma, we identified cells with druses in *R. glauca* and *R. multiflora* or both druses and fewer prismatic crystals in *R. rugosa. R. rubiginosa* contains fewer druses and more prismatic crystals. Species such as *R. damascena* and *R. multibracteata* are relatively poor in crystal idioblast cells at bark level.

In the perimedullary area and at the level of the medullary rays, crystal idioblast cells are more frequent in *R. damascena* (containing druses), *R. multibracteata* (containing druses and prismatic crystals).

Inside the pith there also are cristal idioblasts (containing druses) at *R. multibracteata*, *R. rugosa* and *R. glauca* (also appearing prismatic crystals). Crystal idioblasts are missing from the pith from *R. damascena* and *R. multiflora*.

"Hydrocites" are present both in the pith (in *R. damascena*, *R. glauca*, *R. rubiginosa*, *R. multibracteata*) and in the perimedullary area (in *R. agrestis*, *R. damascena* and *R. gallica*). Sometimes, they are present on the periphery of periphloemic sclerenchyma (Figure 18). These structures, characterized by thickened and lignified walls with visible punctations, have been assimilated to "hydrocytes" [ANDRONACHE & al. 2006; ABDINAZAROV & al. 2017]. The term "hydrocytes" was described especially in Russian botanical literature as part of a system that ensures the flow of nutritive and biologically active substances in areas of active growing processes [CHURIKOVA & BARYKINA, 2005; CHURIKOVA & BARYKINA, 2015].

In both wild roses and cultivated hybrids, the growth process is very fast; in spontaneous species and climbing roses, shoots go through the phenophases from bud to flowering in almost 3 weeks, reaching lengths of approximately 15-40 cm, and cultivated hybrids go through these phenophases in a month, reaching lengths ranging between 20 and 80 cm, sometimes even 160 cm. Also, in roses, the annual shoot has an intermediate "behavior" between herbaceous and woody plants in terms of growth, a fact supported both anatomically and physiologically. It is likely that this type of growth is correlated with the hydrocytic system that is present in the stem and the leaf, respectively in several types of tissues in both organs.

The petiole, at the level of the stipule, typically has a semicircular contour in crosssection, although it is rarely semielliptical. This shape is modified by two adaxial wings, represented by the stipule, which has an adaxial surface with a groove that can vary in width. Sometimes, the adaxial surface is almost flat (Figures 27, 29).

Epidermal cells are either isodiametric (*R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. glauca*, *R. damascena* and *R. multiflora*) or slightly tangentially elongated (*R. multibracteata*).

The cuticle can be thick (*R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. damascena*, *R. multiflora*, *R. multibracteata*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*) or thin (*R. canina* 'Inermis' and *R. glauca*).

Non glandular trichomes are present on both the petiole and the rachis surfaces in *R. agrestis, R. foetida* and *R. rugosa* species (some of them very long, others are shorter, fairly uniformly distributed). In *R. damascena*, non-glandular trichomes are of various sizes, primarily located on the adaxial face, though they are relatively rare. In *R. multiflora*, non-glandular trichomes are few, small, and mostly found in the adaxial groove (Figures 27, 29, 30, 31-33, 36). Generally, trichomes are most abundant on the bases of young leaves and gradually decrease in density toward the top. In all cases, non-glandular trichomes have very thick walls and an almost filiform lumen.

Glandular trichomes are present in all species, particularly on the stipule extremities, and are most frequent in *R. agrestis*, *R. damascena*, *R. foetida*, *R. multiflora*, *R. multibracteata*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*. In species such as *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. glauca* and *R. gallica*, secretory glands are primarily located on the edge of the stipule and they tend to be scarce. Some taxa have glands both on the edge of stipules and on the rachis, the lower epidermis of leaflets or stipules (*R. agrestis*, *R. spinosissima*, *R. rubiginosa*, *R. rugosa*, more rare at *R. damascena*) (Figure 29). These glandular trichomes have a multicellular pluriseriate foot and clavate terminal head. In cross-section, the terminal head features a pluricellular core composed of isodiametric cells, surrounded by an external layer of elongated cells, the structure of which varies depending on the species (Figures 27-30, 31-33, 44).

In *R. rugosa* sepals there were observed [SULBORSKA & WERYSZKO-CHMIELEWSKA, 2014] similar structure called multicellular glandular trichomes, but it is specified that they have similar structures with colleters, already mentioned by FAHN (1968) and DALVI & al. (2024) in the *Rosa* genus. We found this type of emergence in *Rosa agrestis* on the rachis of the leaf (Figure 27).

Hypodermic collenchyma, of tangential type, is typically composed of 3-4 cell layers in most species, but is thinner in *R. damascena*. We observed angular collenchyma in *R. multibracteata* and *R. spinosissima* (only on the abaxial face of the petiole) which differs from the one found in the stem (Figures 35 and 43). In some cases, the collenchyma layers contain cells with druses (*R. spinosissima*), prismatic crystals (*R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*) or both types (*R. glauca* and *R. multibracteata*). In *R. glauca* and *R. rubiginosa*, all the hypodermic layers are colenchymatous. Cells with prismatic crystals are more frequent in *R. rugosa* and *R. multiflora*, and the ones with prismatic crystals are more common in *R. damascena* (Figure 38).

The number of vascular bundles varies from 3, in *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. multiflora*, *R. gallica*, *R. rugosa* and *R. spinosissima* to 5-6 in *R. damascena*, *R. glauca*, *R. foetida*, *R. canina* 'Inermis' and *R. rubiginosa*. Sometimes, periphloemic sclerenchyma bundles are interrupted by medullary rays, which can be narrower (*R. multiflora* and *R. rubiginosa*) or larger (*R. damascena*). This suggests that multiple smaller bundles may merge to form a larger one.

The size of the bundles typically decreases, from the centre toward the periphery. In some cases, several bundles from the central area are approximately equal in size (R. canina 'Inermis').

The secondary structure at the level of vascular bundles is present in *R. multibracteata*. Primary and secondary structures at this level are found in *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. damascena*, *R. foetida*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*, while only the primary structure appears in *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. glauca* and *R. spinosissima*.

In all cases, vascular bundles have sclerenchyma at the periphery of the phloem forming thick sheaths (*R. canina* 'Inermis' and *R. glauca*), which can be interrupted by medullary rays more or less narrow (*R. multibracteata*, *R. multiflora* and *R. rubiginosa*).

Periphloemic sclerenchyma contains cells with very thick lignified walls, resulting in a reduced lumen, in most cases. However, in *R. multiflora*, cells with a larger lumen can be found, although they are completely lignified. In other cases, such as in *R. rubiginosa*, the cells have partially lignified walls but are still thick.

Stipules vary in width, being either wider or narrower, and are relatively thin. Structurally, the mesophyll consists of homogeneous parenchyma, composed of 2-4 layers of more or less elongated cells, with small air spaces in species with narrow stipules (*R. glauca, R. multibracteata, R. multiflora* and *R. spinosissima*). In species with wider stipules (*R. canina* 'Inermis' and *R. rugosa*), the mesophyll is differentiated into palisade and spongy tissue throughout the length of the stipule (*R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora') or only along the edge of the stipules (*R. agrestis, R. damascena, R. foetida* and *R. gallica*). In some cases, the homogeneous parenchyma is replaced by collenchyma, as observed in *R. canina* 'Inermis' and *R. multiflora*.

The non-glandular trichomes are present on the surface of the stipules in *R. agrestis*, *R. foetida*, *R. multiflora*, *R. rubiginosa*, *R. rugosa* and *R. spinosissima*. Glandular trichomes are found either only on the edges of the stipules in *R. agrestis*, *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. multibracteata*, *R. spinosissima*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa* (Figure 28 and 30), or across their abaxial surface (*R. multiflora*).

The rachis, in its median position, has the same structure plan as the petiole. The crosssection contour is almost circular but modified by latero-adaxial crests, sometimes almost parallel, sometimes slightly divergent, which delimits a more or less wide groove, but usually shallow. The number of vascular bundles is maintained as in the petiole, though the central bundles may be grouped together to form a larger one. At this level, the structure is mainly of primary origin with some secondary development. (Figures 31, 34, 35, 39). Also, we can notice the presence of "hydrocytes", at both poles of the xylem and phloem. Hypodermic collenchyma is almost continuous in all investigated cases (Figure 41). The sclerenchyma is not continuous in periphloemic position; it is interrupted at intervals by groups of parenchymatic cells, sometimes containing "hydrocytes" between them, which are more frequent in *R. gallica* (Figures 40-42).

Both the petiole at the stipule level and the rachis, including the midrib of the last leaflet display spines on the inner face. These spines are composed of rows of cells with strongly lignified, thick walls, especially in the outer layer. In species such as *R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. glauca*, and *R. gallica*, the spines are smaller and fewer in number.

The **petiole of the leaflets** has a similar structure to that of the midrib of the leaflet lamina with a notable presence of mechanical tissue surrounding the vascular bundles. In these cases, only collenchyma elements are present within the periphloemic area, alternating with sclerenchyma cells that have lignified walls. In species where sclerenchyma is present in the periphloemic areas, lignified parenchyma cells are found intermittently. For example, *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora' and *R. foetida* exhibit sclerenchyma cells with thinner, more lignified walls. Both on the rachis and, especially, on the petiole of the leaflets, non-glandular trichomes and/or glandular trichomes are present, similar to those on stem or other leaf parts, often being more frequent at this level.

At the level of the leaflet lamina the midrib has a structure similar to that of the rachis and petiole, with the distinction that on this level conductive tissues form a single collateral bundle, which usually has a primary structure.

The periphloemic sclerenchyma fibres are absent in many species (*R. damascena*, *R. foetida*, *R. rubiginosa*), or they are present as a continuous ring, with cells having cellulosic walls in *R. multibracteata*, well developed in *R. spinosissima* and *R. multiflora*, or discontinuous in *R. rugosa*.

The upper epidermis has its external wall thickened and cutinized. The cuticle is very thick at *R. multibracteata* species. Notably, air space cavities with irregular contours are present on both flanks of the midrib in *R. rugosa*.

The palisade represents more than half of the mesophyll's surface in species such as *R*. *agrestis*, *R*. *gallica*, *R*. *glauca*, *R*. *multibracteata*, and *R*. *multiflora*.

The **leaflet's lamina** has a bifacial structure at all investigated taxa, the mesophyll is differentiated in palisade parenchyma under adaxial surface and spongy parenchyma under abaxial surface.

Palisade parenchyma is generally bistratified (Figures 45, 46, 54) consisting of tall cells. In some species, such as *R. agrestis*, *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. gallica*, and *R. foetida*, it appears tristratified; in these cases, the inner layer is composed of much shorter cells (Figures 48, 49, 53, 58).

Spongy parenchyma consists of 3-5 layers of cells in most cases; the variation limits are from 2-3 cell layers (*R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. rugosa*) up to 3-4 layers of cells. Based on size and frequency of air spaces of spongy tissue, we identified two following situations: very lax (*R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. damascena* and *R. multibracteata*) (Figure 46) and relatively lax (*R. agrestis* and *R. multiflora*) (Figures 48, 49, 52).

Regarding the shape of spongy parenchyma cells, several patterns can be distinguished: *R. foetida* shows both round and elongated cells in the multilayered spongy tissue, *R. glauca* has small, tangentially elongated cells, *R. spinosissima* features a compact spongy parenchyma where the cells are almost vertically oriented, creating the appearance that the palisade tissue is continuous from one epidermis to another, and *R. glauca* which has narrow cells arranged into a horizontal disposition. The epidermal cells are larger in the superior epidermis than the inferior one. Larger cells were found in *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', *R. gallica*, *R. glauca*, yet the specie *R. gallica* shows considerably larger cells in the lower epidermis than in many other species.

The contour of epidermal cells is different from one taxon to another and, in some cases, from upper epidermis to lower epidermis, even at the same taxon: polygonal cells with

Lidia ADUMITRESEI & al.

straight walls were identified inside of upper and lower epidermis (in *R. multiflora*, *R. rubiginosa* and *R. rugosa*); cells with an irregular shape with slightly wavy walls in both epidermis (*R. glauca* and *R. multibracteata*); polygonal cells with slightly wavy walls in upper epidermis, and slightly wavy in the lower epidermis with lateral walls almost sinuous (*R. canina* 'Inermis' and *R. damascena*). These results are in concordance with those observed in similar taxa originated from areas with different climate conditions [AL-DOSKEY, 2023]. Papilliform cells occur in the inferior epidermis in *R. rugosa*, as METCALFE & CHALK (1988) mentioned (Figure 56).

Notably, in *R. chinensis* 'Viridiflora', the upper epidermis, when viewed from above, consists of cells with flat lateral walls. Among these, there are isolated, slightly circular cells surrounded by the polygonal ones, forming a rosette-like pattern. The size of polygonal cells is variable, while the circular cells are uniform in size.

A particular feature occurs in *R. rugosa*, where a layer of isodiametric, colourless cells acts as a hypoderm between the palisade parenchyma and the upper epidermis. This layer results from the division of cells through the tangential walls of the initial epidermis. A similar structure is found on the lower surface of the lamina, many spongy cells are idioblasts, predominantly containing druses.

Additionally, tangential wall divisions are observed in some cells of the upper epidermis of R. canina 'Inermis', where two layers of unequally sized cells are formed in scattered spots.

The cells of the upper epidermis have thickened (R. *rubiginosa*) and cutinized (R. *chinensis* 'Viridiflora' and R. *multiflora*) external walls, with the exception of R. *canina* 'Inermis' and R. *glauca*, which have thinner, less cutinized walls. The two latter are more sensitive to attacks by phytopathogenic agents than other taxa that have thicker cuticles.

Stomata are located in the lower epidermis. They are by anomocitic type, a characteristic of the Rosaceae family. Stomata are numerous in R. canina 'Inermis', R. damascena, R. multiflora and R. multibracteata (Figures 59). The phenomenon of stomatal clustering within the axils of veins, characteristic for hybrids, occurs in species such as R. damascena, R. multibracteata and R. multiflora. Also, there is sometimes a tendency for stomatal cells to be positioned close together, separated by just a single epidermal cell (R. canina 'Inermis' and R. damascena). Typically, stomata are located at the same level of epidermal cells. In R. damascena, we also observed a suprastomatic chamber, a feature shared with R. gallica, where stomata are placed above the epidermal cells and form a tall substomatic chamber.

The second wall of division in epidermal cells, a characteristic feature of the *Rosaceae* family, sometimes appears at the level of the upper epidermis (*R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. damascena* and *R. rugosa*) or at level of the lower epidermis (*R. multibracteata* and *R. rugosa*).

Crystal idioblast, which are relatively frequent in the foliar lamina, as in other *Rosaceae* species, are present in various tissues. In the palisade parenchyma they occur as prismatic crystals and druses (*R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. damascena*, *R. gallica*, *R. multibracteata*, *R. multiflora* and *R. spinosissima*), or only as druses (*R. rugosa*). In spongy parenchyma they appear as prismatic crystals and druses (*R. canina* 'Inermis', *R. damascena* and *R. spinosissima*); in the phloem they are found in form of prismatic crystals and druses (*R. damascena*, *R. multibracteata*, *R. multiflora* and *R. spinosissima*); along to the main veins or their lateral veins many crystal idioblast cells with druses are present (*R. canina* 'Inermis' – under lower epidermis, *R. multiflora* – in both epidermis) or prismatic crystal (*R. damascena* and *R. multiflora*) (Figures 45, 47, 52, 54, 56, 57, 60).

Conclusions

The general structural plan is conservative. Anatomical investigations reveal rapid development of secondary structure as characteristic of the taxa, with the primary structure maintained only beneath the shoot apical meristem. The transition to secondary structure is primarily due to intense cambium activity in most cases. Phellogen activity during anthesis is observed only in *R. rugosa*, where phelloderm and suber is produced in a hypodermic position.

The hypodermic collenchyma is most often of the tangential type. *R. spinosissima* is distinguished by angular collenchyma arranged in a continuous layer.

Vascular bundles are commonly arranged in a circular pattern, with exception of *R*. *chinensis* 'Viridiflora'. Secondary xylem is sometimes arranged in radial, parallel strings. Libriform fibres from the secondary xylem are more abundant in some species, but found in smaller quantities in most. Sheaths of periphloemic sclerenchyma are well-distributed, with varying wall thicknesses and lower lignification in some cases.

The leaf is bifacial, typically with bistratified palisade tissue, sometimes tristratified with a smaller inner layer. Spongy tissue consists of 3-5 layers, often thin. Stomata are numerous and often grouped in the axils of the veins, characteristic of hybrids. Crystal idioblast, including druses and prismatic crystals, are present in various tissues.

The pith consists of large, thin-walled, cellulosic cells surrounded by smaller, lignified cells in a network. Non-glandular trichomes are found on the petiole and rachis, covering the external layer or adaxial groove.

Glandular trichomes are more abundant at the edges of stipules.

The second division wall, typical of the Rosaceae family, is present at the epidermal cell level, occasionally in the upper or lower epidermis.

Acknowledgments

Sincere thanks to PhD Violeta FLORIA for her introduction to the field of morpho-anatomy and the initial collaboration; also to PhD Irina STĂNESCU for her kind help in processing the photographs.

References

- ABDINAZAROV S. H., RAKHIMOVA N. K. & DUSCHANOVA G. M. 2017. The study of the anatomical structure of the vegetative organs of the endemic species *Iris alberti* Regel in the introduction of the Botanical Garden of Uzbekistan. *Journal of Novel Applied Sciences*. 6(4): 124-129.
- ADUMITRESEI L. 2011. Cercetări morfo-anatomice și fiziologice asupra unor specii și soiuri de *Rosa* L. PhD Thesis, "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University, Faculty of Biology, Iași, 318 pp.
- ADUMITRESEI L. & GOSTIN I. 2016. Morphological and micromorphological investigations regarding the leaves of several Rosa L. species. Journal of Plant Development. 23: 127-138.
- ADUMITRESEI L., GOSTIN I., APROTOSOAIE C., SPAC A., STĂNESCU I. & TOMA C. 2009. Chemical compounds identified in the leaf glands of *Rosa agrestis* Savi and *Rosa rubiginosa* L. Analele Ştiințifice ale Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" Iași. (S. N.), Secțiunea II. a. Biologie Vegetală. 55(1): 39-48.
- ADUMITRESEI L. & TĂNĂSESCU V. 2005. Studii histo-anatomice asupra lăstarului anual la *Rosa glauca* Pourr. Lucrări Științifice. Seria Agronomie, USAMV Iași. **48**(Suppl.): 76-80.
- ADUMITRESEI L., TĂNĂSESCU V., GOSTÍN I., TOMA C. & MIHÁLACHE M. 2012. Anatomical considerations on annual shoots on some cultivar hibrids of *Rosa L. Conservation of plant diversity*. International Scientific Symposium, 2nd edition. 63-76.
- ADUMITRESEI L., TOMA C. & TĂNĂSESCU V. 2006. Observații histo-anatomice asupra lăstarului anual la Rosa canina L. 'Inermis'. Lucrări Științifice. Seria Agronomie, USAMV Iași. 49(1): 519-524.
- ADUMITRESEI L., TOMA C. & TĂNĂSESCU V. 2005. Studii morfo-anatomice asupra lăstarului unor soiuri de trandafiri [Morpho-anatomical studies concerning the shoots of the related rose cultivars]. Lucrări Științifice. Seria Horticultură, USAMV Iași. 48(1): 229-234.

- AL-DOSKEY Z. A. K. S. 2023. Taxonomic value of leaf epidermal characters of the genera Rosa L. and Rubus L. (Rosaceae) in Iraq. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science. 1213: 012113. https://10.1088/1755-1315/1213/1/012113
- ANDRONACHE A., TOMA I. & TOMA C. 2006. The structure of vegetative organs in Viscum album and Loranthus europaeus. Analele Ştiințifice ale Universității "Al. I. Cuza" din Iași. (S.N.), secțiunea II. a. Biologie Vegetală. 52: 13-17.
- BURZO I. & TOMA C. 2012. *Tesuturile secretoare și substanțele volatile din plante*. Iași: Edit. Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza", p. 15-79; 273-278.
- CAIRNS T., YOUNG M., ADAMS J. & EDBERG B. 2000. *Modern Roses XI: The World Encyclopedia of Roses*. San Diego, San Francisco, New York, Boston, London, Sydney, Tokyo: Academic Press, p. 479-490.
- CAISSARD J. C., BERGOUGNOUX V., MARTIN M., MAURIAT M. & BAUDINO S. 2006. Chemical and histochemical analysis of 'Quatre Saisons Blanc Mousseux', a Moss Rose of the *Rosa x damascena* group. *Annals of Botany*. 97(2): 231-238. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcj034
- CHURIKOVA A. & BARYKINA R. P. 2005. The 'hydrocyte system' in seed plants. *Wulfenia*. 12: 25-33.
- CHURIKOVA A. & BARYKINA R. P. 2015. Microclonal propagation of some bulbous and cormous plants based on regeneration processes in morphological different explants. *Wulfenia*. **22**: 21-32. https://doi.org/10.3103/S0096392508020090
- DALVI V. C., DE SOUSA SILVA M., RIOS A. B. M. & COUTINHO I. A. C. 2024. Leaf secretory structures in *Rosa* lucieae (Rosaceae): two times of secretion-two ecological functions? *Protoplasma*. 261: 245-256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-023-01892-0
- DELINSCHI (FLORIA) V., STĂNESCU I., MIHALACHE M. & ADUMITRESEI L. 2009. Morpho-anatomical considerations upon the shoot of some *Rosa* L. cultivars from the Botanic Garden of Iasi (1st note). *Journal* of *Plant Development*. 16: 9-16.
- FAHN A. 1968. Plant Anatomy. Oxford: Pergamon Press, 534 pp.
- FATEMI N., ATTAR. F., ASSAREH M. H. & HAMZEH'EE B. 2008. Comparative anatomy of leaf and rachis of *Rosa* L. (*Rosaceae*) in Iran as taxonomical implication. *The Iranian Journal of Botany*. 14(2): 156-164.
- FLORIA V. & DERID E. 1998. Oxalatul de calciu la unele specii ale genului Prunus L. Congresul al II-lea al Societății Botanice din Republica Moldova, Chișinău: 152-153.
- FLORIA V. 1998. Cercetări de morfo-biometrie si histoanatomie ontogenetică, comparată şi experimentală la diferite specii şi soiuri de pomi fructiferi din familia *Rosaceae*. PhD Thesis, "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University, Faculty of Biology, Iaşi, 180 pp.
- GOSTIN I. & ADUMITRESEI L. 2010. Micromorphological aspects regarding the leaves on some roses with emphasis on secretory glands. *Journal of Plant Development*. 17: 29-36.
- HASHIDOKO Y., ENDOH K., KUDO T. & TAHARA S. 2001. Capability of wild Rosa rugosa and its varieties and hybrids to produce sesquiterpene components in leaf glandular trichomes. Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry. 65(9): 2037-2043. https://10.1271/bbb.65.2037
- KAUSSMANN B. & SCHIEWER U. 1989. Funktionelle Morphologie und Anatomie der Pflanzen. Jena: VEB Gustav Fischer Verlag, 465 pp.
- KRÜSSMANN G. 1986. Rosen, Rosen, Rosen. Unser Wissen über die Rose (2. Aufl.). Berlin: Paul Parey Verlag, 484 pp.
- LERSTEN N. R. & HORNER H. T. 2006. Crystal macropattern development in *Prunus serotina* (Rosaceae, Prunoideae) leaves. *Annals of Botany*. **97**(5): 723-729. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcl036
- LOTOVA L. I. & TIMONIN A. C. 1999. Anatomy of cortex and secondary phloem of *Rosaceae*. 4. *Rosaceae* and *Ulmarieae* (*Rosoideae*). *Botaniceskii Zhurnal* (Sankt-Petersburg). **84**(3): 33-43.
- MENG Q. J. & FAN W. G. 2022. Calcium-tolerance type and adaptability to high-calcium habitats of *Rosa roxburghii*. (in Chinese). *Chinese Journal of Plant Ecology*. **46**(12): 1562-1572. https://10.17521/cjpe.2022.0172
- METCALFE C. R. & CHALK L. 1988. Anatomy of the Dicotyledons (2nd ed.). I. Systematic anatomy of the leaf and stem. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 276 pp.
- MONDER M. J., KOZAKIEWICZ P. & JANKOWSKA A. 2021. The role of plant origin preparations and phenological stage in anatomy structure changes in the rhizogenesis of *Rosa* 'Hurdal'. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 12: 696998. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.696998
- NAPP-ZINN K. 1984. Anatomie des Blattes. II. Blattanatomie der Angiospermen. B. Experimentelle und ekologische anatomie des angiospermenblattes. In: BRAUN H. J., CARLQVIST S., OZENDA P. & ROTH I. (eds.). 1984. Handbuch der pflanzenanatomie. 8, 2 A₁₋₂, B₁, Berlin, Stuttgart: Gebrüder Borntraeger, 519 pp.
- NIJSSE J. & PUT H. M. C. 2007. Cryo-planing for cryo-scanning electron microscopy (SEM) a method for observation of xylem contents in *Rosa* stems. *Acta Horticulturae*. **751**: 487-491. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2007.751.62
- NIKITIN A. A. & PANKOVA J. A. 1982. Anatomicheskiy Atlas Poleznykh i Nekotorykh Yadovitykh Rasteniy (in Russian). Leningrad: Nauka, p. 547-551.

OSTACIUC I. 1994. Rozariul Grădinii Botanice din Iași. Rosarium. 7: 7-9.

- PARMENTIER P. 1898. Recherches anatomiques et taxonomiques sur les rosiers. Annales des Science Naturelles. 8(6): 1-175.
- PASHINA M. 2021. The anatomy of rose shoots. BIO Web of Conferences. Northern Asia Plant Diversity: Current Trends in Research and Conservation. 38: 00096. https://doi.org/10.1051/bioconf/20213800096
- SHAMSO E. M., SADEK A. M., HOSNI H. A. & EL-GHAMERY A. A. 2019. Morphological and anatomical characteristics of endemic *Rosa arabica* (Rosoideae, Rosaceae) from Sinai, Egypt. *Taeckholmia*. 39(1): 34-43. https://10.21608/taec.2019.17752.1006
- SULBORSKA A. & WERYSZKO-CHMIELEWSKA E. 2014. Characteristics of the secretory structures in the flowers of Rosa rugosa Thunb. Acta Agrobotanica. 67(4): 13-24. https://10.5586/aa.2014.056
- TOMA C. & GOSTIN I. 2000. Histologie vegetală. Iași: Edit. Junimea, 214 pp.
- TOMA C., NIȚĂ M., ZAMFIRACHE M. M., AIFTIMIE A., MATEI S. & CĂLDĂRUŞ L. 1997. Contribuții la cunoașterea structurii lăstarului de un an la unele specii de Rosa L. Lucrări Științifice. Seria Horticultură, USAMV Iași. 40: 335-341.
- TOMA C. & RUGINĂ R. 1998. Anatomia plantelor medicinale. Atlas. Bucureşti: Edit. Academiei Române, p. 238-240.
- TOMA C., RUGINĂ R. & NIŢĂ M. 1983. Particularitățile histoanatomice ale lăstarului de un an la diferite soiuri de pomi fructiferi. Analele ştiințifice ale Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" din Iași. (S.N.), secțiunea II. a. Biologie Vegetală. 29: 51-53.
- TOMA I. & TOMA C. 2005. Histo-anatomical aspects concerning vegetative organs of some rose varieties. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 32: 17-22.
- TORRE S., FJELD T., GISLERØD H. R. & MOE R. 2023. Leaf anatomy and stomatal morphology of greenhouse roses grown at moderate or high air humidity. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*. 128(4): 598-602. https://doi.org/10.21273/JASHS.128.4.0598
- UPHOF J. C. T. & HUMMEL K. 1962. Plant hairs. In: ZIMMERMANN W. & OZENDA P. (eds.) Encyclopedia of Plant Anatomy. IV(5), Berlin: Gebrüder Borntraeger, 292 pp.
- ZAMFIRACHE M. M., TOMA C., BURZO I., ADUMITRESEI L., TOMA I., OLTEANU Z., MIHĂESCU D., TĂNĂSESCU V., APETREI R. I. & SURDU Ş. 2006. Morphological, anatomical, biochemical and physiological researches upon taxa of *Rosa* genus cultivated in Iasi Botanical Garden (note II). The 4th Conference on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants of South-East European Countries: 291-297.
- ZHOU N., SIMONNEAU F., THOUROUDE T., HIBRAND-SAINT OYANT L. & FOUCHER F. 2021. Morphological studies of rose prickles provide new insights. *Horticulture Research*. 8: 221. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41438-021-00689-7
- WANG D. J., ZENG J. W., MA W. T., LU M. & AN H. M. 2019. Morphological and structural characters of trichomes on various organs of *Rosa roxburghii*. HortScience. 54(1): 45-51. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI13485-18

How to cite this article:

ADUMITRESEI L., IFRIM C. M. & GOSTIN I. N. 2024. Anatomical considerations on the annual shoot in some wild roses. J. Plant Develop. 31: 3-24. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.965





Figures 1-6. Anatomical aspects - upper third of the stem (scale = $100 \mu m$): 1. Cross section through the stem of *Rosa damascena*; 2. Cross section through the stem of *de Rosa chinensis* 'Viridiflora' (overview); 3. Cross section through the stem of *Rosa rubiginosa* (overview); 4. Cross section through the stem (overview); 5. Cross section through the stem of *Rosa rugosa* (overview); 6. *Rosa spinosissima* (overview).

ANATOMICAL CONSIDERATIONS ON THE ANNUAL SHOOT IN SOME WILD ROSES Plate 2



Figures 7-12. Anatomical aspects - upper third of the stem (scale = 100μ m): 7. Cross section through the stem of *Rosa foetida*; 8. Cross section through the stem of *Rosa damascena* – bark and central cylinder detail; 9. primary vascular bundles details at *Rosa chinensis* 'Viridiflora'; 10. primary vascular bundles details at *Rosa foetida*; 11. Cross section through the stem of *Rosa canina* 'Inermis' (cortex and central cylinder details); 12. Cross section through the stem of *Rosa agrestis* (cortex and central cylinder details).

Plate 3



Figures 13-18. Anatomical aspects - upper third of the stem (scale = $100 \mu m$): 13. the primary structure of the stem at *Rosa glauca*; 14. primary vascular bundles details at *Rosa damascena*; 15. *Rosa multibracteata* (overview); 16. *Rosa rugosa* (bark detail and cork cambium, one of few species where the phelloderm is active since the first year giving birth to cork cambium); 17. *Rosa rubiginosa* (detail of crystal idioblasts found in bark); 18. *Rosa agrestis* (details of bark, central cylinder and pith).



Figures 19-24. Anatomical aspects - middle/upper third of the stem (scale = $100 \mu m$): 19-20. *Rosa foetida* (cortex and central cylinder details, spine that will detach from the stem, forming suber at its base); 21. *Rosa chinensis* 'Viridiflora' (cortex and central cylinder details); 22. *Rosa damascena* (cortex details); 23. *Rosa damascena* (cortex and central cylinder details); 24. *Rosa rubiginosa* (cortex detail with frequent crystal in cells).





Figures 25-30. Anatomical aspects in the stem and leaf of *Rosa* L. – Cross section through the middle third of the stem (scale = $100 \mu m$): 25. *Rosa gallica* (cortex and central cylinder details); 26. *Rosa foetida* (pith pattern); 27-28. *Rosa agrestis* (tector trichomes and secretory glands on petiole and stipules); 29-30. *Rosa damascena* (tector trichomes and secretory glands on petiole and stipules).



Figures 31-36. Anatomical aspects of the leaf of *Rosa* L. – Cross section through leaf's rachis (scale = 100 μm): 31-33. *Rosa damascena* (tector trichomes and secretory glands on rachis); 32. *Rosa gallica*; 34. *Rosa chinensis* 'Viridiflora'; 35. *Rosa multibracteata*; 36. *Rosa gallica*.





Figures 37-42. Anatomical aspects of the leaf of *Rosa* L. – Cross section through leaf's rachis (scale = 100 μm): 37-38. *Rosa rugosa*; 39-40. *Rosa foetida*; 53-54) *Rosa gallica*.



Figures 43-48. Anatomical aspects of the leaf of *Rosa* L. – Cross section through leaflet (scale = 100 μm): 43-44. *Rosa spinosissima*; 45-46. *Rosa damascena* (midrib and leaflet lamina); 47-48. *Rosa foetida* (leaflet's lamina).

Plate 9



Figures. 49-54. Anatomical aspects of the leaf of *Rosa* L. – Cross section through leaflet (scale = 100 μm): 49-50. *Rosa agrestis*; 51-52. *Rosa chinensis* 'Viridiflora'; 53-54. *Rosa gallica*.



Figures 55-60. Anatomical aspects of the leaf of *Rosa* L. – Cross section through leaflet (scale = 100 μ m): 55-56. *Rosa rugosa* (secretory glands on the abaxial face of the lamina and papilliform adaxial epidermis); 57. *Rosa canina* 'Inermis'; 58. *Rosa multibracteata* (detail of the midrib); surface view of abaxial epidermis: 59. *Rosa multibracteata*; 60. *Rosa damascena*.

ASSEMBLAGES OF WOOD-INHABITING MACROFUNGI SPECIES IN BEECH FORESTS FROM EASTERN ROMANIA

Ciprian Constantin BÎRSAN^{1*}, Constantin MARDARI¹, Cătălin TĂNASE²

¹ "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, Dumbrava Roșie Street no. 7-9, 700487 Iași – Romania.

² Faculty of Biology, "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi, Carol I 20A, 700505 Iaşi – Romania; Romanian Academy, 125 Calea Victoriei, Sector 1, 010071 Bucureşti – Romania.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: ciprian.birsan@uaic.ro, ORCID: 0000-0003-3099-634X

Abstract: Species composition and diversity of lignicolous fungi occurring in representative Fagus sp. forests have been analyzed along an altitude gradient, in 14 locations from the eastern region of Romania, including mountain forests (Borca, Goșman, Nemțisor, Tarcău), as well as hill forests (Arsura, Bârnova, Dălhăuți, Dragomirna, Gâdinți, Homița, Humosu, Măgura Ocnei, Runc, Valea Fagilor). The investigations were carried out over three successive years (2020-2022) in a total of 40 study plots with a size of 1000 square meters each. Identification of the main fungal groups was realized using a hierarchical agglomerative clustering procedure, and the differential species were determined based on their indicator value, while the relationship between fungal composition and environmental variables was assessed with detrended correspondence analysis. A total of 89 species of wood-inhabiting fungi has been identified, with approximately 2500 records. These species were grouped in three different clusters: one specific to the mixed broadleaved-coniferous forest in (sub) mountain areas, one specific to hornbeam - beech communities in hilly areas, and one specific to more thermophilic forest communities with Fagus taurica. The main ecological factors influencing the fungal composition were altitude, average annual precipitations and average annual temperatures, which also influence the trees species composition of the analyzed forests.

Keywords: assemblages, beech forests, climatic factors, lignicolous fungi, tree species.

Introduction

Beech forests occupy large areas in Europe (approximately 910,000 km²) [LEUSCHNER & ELLENBERG, 2017], in low altitude areas, from NW and Central Europe to southern Sweden. They have been subjected to great anthropogenic pressure throughout history as they have been used as resources for human populations (e.g. timber, accessory products, etc.) [JAHN, 1991; ELLENBERG & LEUSCHNER, 1996]. Representative areas with natural ancient *Fagus* sp. forests are quite few and strictly protected [PETERKEN, 1996; DIACI, 1999; PARVIAINEN & al. 2014].

In Romania, the beech forests occupy the largest areas of the forestry fund (about 31%), covering about 2 million ha [MILESCU & al. 1967; ŞOFLETEA & CURTU, 2007]. In scientific literature have been described 15 types of beech forest ecosystems, depending on phytosociological associations, forest types, soil types and climatic characteristics [PAUCĂ-COMĂNESCU & al. 1989; DONIȚĂ & al. 1990; DONIȚĂ & al. 2005]. A part of these forest types is also found in the Ukrainian and Polish Carpathians, as well as in the plateaus of the Republic of Moldova reaching the eastern limit of species' distribution in Europe [SZAFER, 1932; STOYKO, 1992; STOYKO, 2005; NEDEALCOV & DONICA, 2019]. *Fagus sylvatica*

ASSEMBLAGES OF WOOD-INHABITING MACROFUNGI SPECIES IN BEECH FORESTS...

edifies pure or mixed forests in (sub) mountain and hilly areas of the country, and in the case of thermal inversions, it replaces the spruce at higher altitudes. *Fagus taurica*, with Balkan and Crimean areal, is a more thermophilic taxon, sporadically encountered in Romania, that form in Valea Fagilor (Tulcea County) a particular forest habitat [OPREA & al. 2011].



Figure 1. Map presenting the distribution of investigates beech forests in Eastern Romania (adapted from www.geotutorials.ro)

Ciprian Constantin BÎRSAN & al.

These species present a shade temperament [MILESCU & al. 1967], and have a significant impact on the modification of forest ground light regime, on soil humidity and on buffering temperature and humidity changes. These properties favorably affect biological activity, and contribute at maintaining an increased biodiversity [SOLON, 2002]. Adult specimens are resistant to diseases and pests. Still, they are vulnerable to the attack of wood-inhabiting fungi, through mechanical wounds mainly generated by forestry operations, which are successful entry points for infections [IGMÁNDY, 1964]. A great asset of the forest ecosystems in Romania is their naturalness, depending, among other, on diversity and structure of trees layer, ground vegetation, the quantity of dead wood and management type. There have been preoccupations about habitat restoration by increasing the volume of dead wood, thus leading to increased biodiversity throughout the ecological chain. In protected areas and ancient forests, dead wood exists in different forms, from dead trees on the ground, to large pieces (fallen logs) and small wood fragments [CHRISTENSEN & al. 2005].

The different types of dead wood (roots, branches and logs) in different stages of decomposition offer a wide range of ecological niches and favor a high diversity of wood-inhabiting fungi. It is estimated that approximately half of the macrofungi species in forests are wood decomposers, lignicolous fungi playing an important role in the functioning of forest ecosystems [KÜFFER & SENN-IRLET, 2005; MÜLLER & al. 2007; STOKLAND & al. 2021].

Although fungi are components of natural communities, they were rarely used to describe them. Because of their specificity to particular microhabitats and environmental conditions, some fungal taxa could be better suited as indicator species than plants. Despite of the ecological importance of lignicolous macrofungi species in forest ecosystems, this group of organisms was generally neglected in the biodiversity studies carried out in Romania. Although some studies tried to document their diversity at the species level, there are very rare cases when plot-based sampling in combination with multivariate analyses were used [BÎRSAN & al. 2014; COPOT & al. 2020] in order to distinguish some macro-fungal communities.

The current study was focused on identifying the main assemblages of wood-inhabiting fungi specific to the *Fagus* forests from the eastern part of Romania, on identification of differential species for these assemblages and on the main abiotic drivers shaping their species composition.

Material and methods

The present study was carried out in 14 forests (13 edified by *Fagus sylvatica* and one by *Fagus taurica*) located in the eastern part of Romania (Figure 1). The sampling plots were established along an altitude gradient, from low elevation areas, of approximately 150 meters altitude (Valea Fagilor), to mid-altitudes ranging from 361 meters to 540 meters (Arsura, Bârnova, Dălhăuți, Dragomirna, Gâdinți, Homița, Humosu, Măgura Ocnei, Runc), up to relative high altitudes of about 900 m in the mountain area (Borca). The silvicultural history differs between the study areas. Some forests were completely logged in the past and now have a uniform age structure with dominant tree ages ranging from 100 to 250 years. The selected sample areas cover the main types of beech forests and are characterized by various degrees of human interventions.

The mycological investigations were carried out in 40 plots, each with a size of 1000 square meters, over 3 successive years (2020-2022), starting from April to November. The forests massifs are subject to different types of management, a part of them characterized by various degrees of intervention (e.g. Bârnova, Gâdinți, Homița, Măgura Ocnei, Borca, Tarcău),

ASSEMBLAGES OF WOOD-INHABITING MACROFUNGI SPECIES IN BEECH FORESTS...

while other sites were declared natural reserves (e.g. Arsura, Dragomirna, Dălhăuți, Goșman, Nemțisor, Humosu, Runc, Valea Fagilor). In all the investigated sample areas, beech is the dominant species, but other tree species that form the respective forest stands also have a major importance, as host species for various lignicolous fungi. For each sample, the geographical coordinates, altitude, slope and aspect using a geographic positioning device (GPS II Plus Garmin Ltd.) were recorded (Table 1). The species of lignicolous fungi collected were identified at the species level based on macroscopic and microscopic characters, according to identification keys and reference guides [SĂLĂGEANU & SĂLĂGEANU, 1985; BREITENBACH & KRÄNZLIN, 1986; GERHARDT, 1999; BERNICCHIA, 2005; TĂNASE & al. 2009; COURTECUISSE & DUHEM, 2013]. Nomenclature follows the Index Fungorum database [http://www.indexfungorum.org/Names/Names.asp].

Acr.	Sampling plots	Localities / County	Latitude	Longitude	Altitude (m a.s.l.)	Aspect	Slope
A 1	Arsura 1	Gârleni BC	46°38'20.27"	26°47'17.68"	361	NNV	small
A 2	Arsura 2	Gârleni BC	46°37'48.37"	26°48'40.34"	364	NV	medium
A 3	Arsura 3	Gârleni BC	46°37'44.88"	26°48'34.72"	343	NE	small
B 1	Bârnova 1	Bârnova IS	47°00'28.75"	27°35'10.10"	404	ENE	small
B 2	Bârnova 2	Bârnova IS	47°00'34.54"	27°35'12.58"	394	Е	medium
Bo 1	Borca 1	Borca NT	47°14'44.36"	25°52'30.66"	868	VNV	high
Bo 2	Borca 2	Borca NT	47°14'33.93"	25°52'26.19"	877	V	small
Bo 3	Borca 3	Borca NT	47°14'31.40"	25°52'30.07"	895	V	high
D 1	Dălhăuți 1	Dălhăuți VN	45°41'47.21"	27°00'50.46"	413	Е	medium
D 2	Dălhăuți 2	Dălhăuți VN	45°41'34.91"	27°00'41.43"	470	NE	small
D 3	Dălhăuți 3	Dălhăuți VN	45°41'52.22"	27°00'51.92"	401	Ν	medium
Dr 1	Dragomirna 1	Dragomirna SV	47°46'43.50"	26°13'09.89"	460	ESE	small
Dr 2	Dragomirna 2	Dragomirna SV	47°46'42.89"	26°13'05.17"	460	V	medium
Dr 3	Dragomirna 3	Dragomirna SV	47°46'45.55"	26°13'02.85"	469	V	small
Dr 4	Dragomirna 4	Dragomirna SV	47°46'42.48"	26°13'00.11"	466	ESE	high
G 1	Gâdinți 1	Roman NT	46°55'15.56"	27°04'11.41"	418	NE	medium
G 2	Gâdinți 2	Roman NT	46°55'05.53"	27°04'13.76"	394	NE	medium
G 3	Gâdinți 3	Roman NT	46°55'21.06"	27°04'06.16"	382	NNV	high
Go 1	Goşman 1	Brateş NT	46°42'50.79"	26°12'12.08"	823	NV	high
Go 2	Goşman 2	Brateş NT	46°42'49.62"	26°12'08,31"	803	ENE	medium
H 1	Homița 1	Cristești IS	47°16'39.37"	26°36'21.20"	412	NNE	medium
Н2	Homița 2	Cristești IS	47°16'37.48"	26°36'31.24"	413	NNE	medium

Table 1. Geographical features of sampling plots investigated

				(Ciprian Co	nstantin B	ÎRSAN & al.
Н 3	Homița 3	Cristești IS	47°18'16.71"	26°36'19.90"	401	ESE	small
Hu 1	Humosu 1	Pârcovaci IS	47°29'43.64"	26°43'29.23"	439	ESE	small
Hu 2	Humosu 2	Pârcovaci IS	47°29'49.50"	26°43'24.97"	458	Е	small
Hu 3	Humosu 3	Pârcovaci IS	47°29'55.70"	26°43'17.23"	470	ENE	small
Hu 4	Humosu 4	Pârcovaci IS	47°30'05.19"	26°43'15.15"	475	ENE	small
MO 1	Măgura Ocnei 1	Târgu Ocna BC	46°15'56.62"	26°35'34.47"	540	ESE	medium
MO 2	Măgura Ocnei 2	Târgu Ocna BC	46°16'13.61"	26°35'18.77"	500	Е	medium
N 1	Vânători Neamț 1	Mrea Neamţ NT	47°16'27.84"	26°07'47.88"	656	V	high
N 2	Vânători Neamț 2	Mrea Neamţ NT	47°16'28.60"	26°07'38.20"	652	ESE	medium
N 3	Vânători Neamț 3	Mrea Neamţ NT	47°16'45.00"	26°06'10.16"	692	S	high
R 1	Runc 1	Buhuși BC	46°45'11.74"	26°44'48.34"	461	S	small
R 2	Runc 2	Buhuși BC	46°45'18.67"	26°45'23.37"	454	VNV	small
R 3	Runc 3	Buhuşi BC	46°45'22.51"	26°45'29.81"	480	VNV	small
T 1	Tarcău 1	Tarcău NT	46°53'09.53"	26°07'30.79"	530	NV	high
T 2	Tarcău 2	Tarcău NT	46°53'08.00"	26°07'35.39"	525	SE	high
VF 1	Valea Fagilor 1	Luncavița TL	45°12'58.33"	28°18'24.98"	130	NE	medium
VF 2	Valea Fagilor 2	Luncavița TL	45°12'55.15"	28°18'25.44"	153	ENE	medium
VF 3	Valea Fagilor 3	Luncavița TL	45°12'52.61"	28°18'32.82"	163	Е	high

Identification of the main groups of wood inhabiting fungi was realized in a hierarchical agglomerative clustering method, using the Sorensen index (on presence-absence data) and the UPGMA algorithm. The main gradients in fungal composition and the environment (altitudes, mean annual temperatures, mean annual precipitations, etc.) influence on fungal assemblages were assessed using detrended correspondence analysis (DCA). Climatic variables were extracted from WorldClim database [HIJMANS & al. 2005]. Differential species were assessed using the indicator value index [DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE, 1997] and a permutation test allowed the selection of those species statistically significant associated to the clusters [DE CÁCERES & LEGENDRE, 2009]. The clustering procedure has been realized using the GINKGO software [DE CÁCERES & al. 2003; BOUXIN, 2005]. DCA have been realized in CANOCO 5 programme [TER BRAAK & ŠMILAUER, 2012].

Results and discussions

Field mycological investigations had as result the identification of 89 lignicolous fungi species, with approximately 2500 records. The most species rich plot included 47 species, while the poorest species plot had only 10 species. Among the most frequent species, inventoried in more than 40% of all records, were: *Xylaria polymorpha, Trametes versicolor, Stereum hirsutum, Schizophyllum commune, Fomes fomentarius, Apioperdon pyriforme*. In addition, in

ASSEMBLAGES OF WOOD-INHABITING MACROFUNGI SPECIES IN BEECH FORESTS...

the investigated sample areas were found more species less frequent such as *Amylostereum* areolatum, Coniophora puteana, Dasyscyphella nivea, Gloephyllum odoratum, Gymnopus erythropus, Mycena aetites, Mycena haematopus, Pluteus granulatus, Sarcoscypha austriaca, Trametes cinnabarina.

The areas with the greatest fungal diversity were those from Humosu, Valea Fagilor and Dragomirna, some of the most important natural reserves for conservation of *Fagus sylvatica* in our country. In contrast with areas where the forest management is strongly focused on conservation, in the areas with intensive silvicultural management, focused on economic activities, and do not benefit of protection status, lignicolous fungal diversity is lowest, for example Tarcău, Măgura Ocnei and Gâdinți with 13, 10 and 11 species (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Species richness of wood inhabiting fungi in the investigated plots.

This aspect is related to the quantity and the different types of dead wood, with different decomposition stages, offering a wide range of ecological niches for wood-inhabiting fungi. In all investigated beech natural reserves were identified dead trees which represent true treasures for biodiversity. As the amount of dead wood decreased, a decline in the number of fungi species was observed due to the lack of support for their development. From the point of view of forest management and administration, dead wood has been perceived negatively, supposedly indicating lack of management, negligence and waste. Articles have also been published on the functions of dead wood, thus improving people's perception functions of this type of substrate [MERGANIČOVA & al. 2012]. Nowadays, the amount of dead wood is increasing not only due to ecologists but also due to foresters and scientific research. The amount of dead wood is increasing after its component and importance in the functioning of forest ecosystems have been demonstrated [BÄSSLER & al. 2011; GAO & al. 2015]. Dead wood has become an indicator of sustainable forest management, being of major importance for biodiversity. Fungi are the main saproxylic taxa, first colonizing wood and starting its decomposition. The presence of large

Ciprian Constantin BÎRSAN & al.

amounts of dead wood in forest ecosystems is often connected to low anthropogenic influences, and in regions where human activities are reduced, the degree of naturalness is expected to increase over time and space [LOMBARDI & al. 2008]. In conclusion, the greater the volume of dead wood, the greater the number of lignicolous species were encountered, some of which were rare.

In the dendrogram generated by hierarchical clustering (Figure 3), a first separation was highlighted between fungal assemblages in mountain mixed deciduous - coniferous forests (cluster 1) and fungal assemblages in pure deciduous forest stands. Further, the assemblages in deciduous forests differentiated into communities from more mesothermic and mesophilic forests typical to hilly areas (cluster 3) and more thermophilic and more xeric forests in lower areas (cluster 2). This separation highlights besides the importance of climate in fungal species distribution, the fundamental role of the host tree species.



Figure 3. Dendrogram highlighting the three clusters resulted from hierarchical clustering of the 40 sampled plots (cluster 1 – dark green, cluster 2 – yellow, cluster 3 – light green)

Cluster 1 – groups the plots from the mountain and submountain areas, in Borca, Goşman, Tarcău, and Nemțisor areas. The forests stands are edified by *Fagus sylvatica* mixed with *Abies alba*, *Picea abies*, *Betula pendula*, etc., and are characterized by low means of annual temperatures, larger temperature amplitudes, short vegetation seasons, and high values of precipitations. Most of the diagnostic species were identified on logs and woody debris from conifers, in various degrees of decomposition: Hypholoma capnoides, Pseudohydnum gelatinosum, Plicaturopsis crispa, Flammulina velutipes, Pholiota squarrosa, Meripilus giganteus, Amylostereum areolatum, Gloeophyllum odoratum, Mycena polygramma, Trametes pubescens.

Cluster 2 – included the plots in more thermophilic forest stands from Valea Fagilor as well as plots investigated in Humosu forest reserve. These areas share a great number of common fungal species (among them) and are characterized by a continental, dry climate, a suboptimal precipitation level. The forests are edified by *Fagus taurica* (in Dobrogea) and *Fagus sylvatica* (in Moldova) with *Carpinus betulus*, *Tilia tomentosa*, *Tilia platyphyllos*, *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Acer campestre*, *Acer platanoides*, *Ulmus glabra*, etc. in the tree layer. The fungal species which differentiate from the other clusters are: *Chondrostereum purpureum*, *Ganoderma lucidum*, *Auricularia auricula-judae*, *Cerioporus varius*, *Hericium coralloides*, *Trametes gibbosa*, *Armillaria cepistipes*, *Mucidula mucida*, *Phlebia tremellosa*, *Pluteus cervinus*, *Auricularia mesenterica*, *Bulgaria inquinans*, *Cerioporus squamosus*, *Collybiopsis*

ASSEMBLAGES OF WOOD-INHABITING MACROFUNGI SPECIES IN BEECH FORESTS...

ramealis, Coprinellus micaceus, Daldinia concentrica, Gymnopus fusipes, Ischnoderma resinosum, Phlebia rufa, Mycena galericulata, Lycogala epidendrum, Calycina citrina, Daedaleopsis confragosa, Xerula pudens, Schizophyllum commune, Hymenochaete rubiginosa, Pleurotus ostreatus, Volvariella bombycina, Coniophora puteana, Dasyscyphella nivea, Pluteus ephebeus, Pluteus granulatus, Pluteus leoninus, Sarcoscypha austriaca, Trametes cinnabarina, Panellus stipticus, Ganoderma applanatum, Daedaleopsis tricolor, Hypoxylon fragiforme, Sarcoscypha coccinea.

Cluster 3 – included the plots analyzed in mesophilic *Fagus sylvatica* forests from the nemoral zone (e.g. Bârnova, Dragomirna, Gâdinți, Homița, etc.). The tree layer includes other species, such as *Carpinus betulus*, *Cerasus avium*, *Acer platanoides*, *Tilia cordata*, and were subjected to a high degree of human intervention. As a consequence, these are species poor stands, and are characterized by only one diagnostic species, namely *Hymenopellis radicata*.

The influence of host tree species in determining fungal assemblages is well known in the literature [BERNICCHIA & al. 2007; KEBLI & al. 2011]. It was found that areas dominated by deciduous species present different communities of lignicolous fungi compared to those dominated by conifers [BLASER & al. 2013]. The ecological profile of the component species in the sampled areas indicates a variety of diagnostic species in the assembly of wood-inhabiting fungal communities, closely related to the composition of host tree species, achieving a clear distinction between conifers and deciduous trees, which was also demonstrated in other studies [KÜFFER & al. 2008; O'HANLON & HARRINGTON, 2012]. Although in the current study the most common deciduous species was *Fagus sylvatica*, the presence of other tree species in the investigated forest stands determined the agglomeration of fungal species in different types of assemblages.

In DCA, the most important factors influencing the distribution of lignicolous macrofungi species, as well as the composition of the groups of wood inhabiting fungi, in the studied forests, were the average annual precipitations and mean annual temperatures, which depend, at larger scales, of terrain elevation (Figure 4). Thus, the mountainous and sub-montane regions are characterized by a higher amount of annual precipitation and lower temperatures that maintain moisture for longer periods of time. As demonstrated in other studies [BODDY, 1993; HEILMANN-CLAUSEN & CHRISTENSEN, 2003; KARADELEV & al. 2008], water (along with temperature) is the main limiting factor in the appearance of sporocarps and for the distribution of lignicolous species. In addition, the floristic composition of trees and shrub layers separate fungal assemblages from higher altitudes from those in medium and low hilly areas. The slope aspect of the sampled areas was also important for the distribution of lignified species, because those that are exposed to high brightness (especially southern aspect) lose moisture faster than those that have shade for longer periods of time. The edges of the massif, with greater fluctuations in humidity and solar radiation are poorer in species than those located under the canopy of secular beech forests, with a high degree of shading at ground level [BÄSSLER & al. 2010; ABREGO & SALCEDO, 2014].



Figure 4. DCA ordination diagram of the 40 investigated mycological plots (only first two axes are presented). Explained variation: 44.1%. Eigenvalues: Axis 1 - 0.412, Axis 2 - 0.223. Fungal assemblages resulted from hierarchical clustering: cluster 1 -blue circles, cluster 2 -yellow circles, cluster 3 -green circles.

Conclusions

The communities of wood-inhabiting fungi were separated into three main groups: one of mixed broad-leaved - coniferous forests in higher areas, a group typical to mesothermic and mesophilous forests from hilly to sub-montane areas and another group specific to more thermophilic *Fagus* sp. forests in lower areas. Average annual precipitations and mean annual temperatures (an underlying effect of altitude) were the main factors influencing their composition. These climatic characteristics induce regional differences between sample plots having as a result different tree composition of forests and consequently, different fungal assemblages. Different tree species in the forest stands provide various quantities of dead wood, with different physical and chemical properties, which are colonized by different fungal species. A greater fungal diversity was recorded in protected areas (forest reserves) than in those with strong anthropogenic influences, mainly due to the amount of the available dead wood.

References

- ABREGO N. & SALCEDO I. 2014. Response of wood-inhabiting fungal community to fragmentation in a beech forest landscape. *Fungal Ecology*. 8: 18-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2013.12.007
- BÄSSLER C., MÜLLER J., DZIOCK F. & BRANDL R. 2010. Effects of resource availability and climate on the diversity of wood-decaying fungi. *Journal of Ecology*. 98(4): 822-832. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2010.01669.x
- BÄSSLER C., MÜLLER J., SVOBODA M., LEPŠOVÁ A., HAHN C., HOLZER H. & POUSKA V. 2011. Diversity of wood-decaying fungi under different disturbance regimes - a case study from spruce mountain forests. *Biodiversity and Conservation.* 21(1): 33-49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-011-0159-0

BERNICCHIA A. 2005. Fungi Europaei. Polyporaceae s.l. Candusso, Italy, 808 pp.

BERNICCHIA A., VENTURELLA G., SAITTA A. & PÉREZ GORJON S. 2007. Aphyllophoraceous wood-inhabiting fungi on Fagus sylvatica in Italy. Mycotaxon. 101: 229-232.

ASSEMBLAGES OF WOOD-INHABITING MACROFUNGI SPECIES IN BEECH FORESTS...

- BÎRSAN C., TĂNASE C., MARDARI C. & COJOCARIU A. 2014. Diversity and ecological determinants of dead wood fungi in tree natural reserves of broad leaved forests from Suceava County. *Journal of Plant Development.* 21: 153-160.
- BLASER S., PRATI D., SENN-IRLET B. & FISCHER M. 2013. Effects of forest management on the diversity of deadwood-inhabiting fungi in Central European forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*. 304: 42-48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.04.043
- BODDY L. 1993. Saprotrophic cord-forming fungi: warfare strategies and other ecological aspects. *Mycological Research*. 97(6): 641-655. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0953-7562(09)80141-X
- BOUXIN G. 2005. Ginkgo, a multivariate analysis package. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **16**(3): 355-359. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2005.tb02374.x
- BREITENBACH J. & KRÄNZLIN F. 1986. Champignons de Suisse. Champignons sans lames. Mykologia, Lucerne, 2: 412 pp.
- CHRISTENSEN M., HAHN K., MOUNTFORD E. P., ÓDOR P., STANDOVÁR T., ROZENBERGAR D., DIACI J., WIJDEVEN S., MEYER P., WINTER S. & VRSKA T. 2005. Dead wood in European beech (Fagus sylvatica) forest reserves. Forest Ecology and Management. 210(1-3): 267-282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.02.032
- COPOŢ O., MARDARI C., BÎRSAN C. & TĂNASE C. 2020. Lignicolous fungal assemblages and relationships with environment in broadleaved and mixed forests from the North-East Region of Romania. *Plant Ecology and Evolution.* 153(1): 45-58. https://doi.org/10.5091/plecevo.2020.1688
- COURTECUISSE R. & DUHEM B. 2013. Guide des Champignons de France et d'Europe. Lausanne: Edit. Delachaux & Niestlé: 544 pp.
- DE CÁCERES M., FONT X., GARCIA R. & OLIVA F. 2003. VEGANA, un paquete de programas para la gestión y análisis de datos ecológicos. *VII Congreso Nacional de la Asociación Española de Ecologia Terrestre*: 1484-1497.
- DE CÁCERES M. & LEGENDRE P. 2009. Associations between species and groups of sites: indices and statistical inference. *Ecology*. 90(12): 3566-3574. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-1823.1
- DIACI J. (ed.). 1999. Virgin forests and forest reserves in Central and East European countries. History, present status and future development. Proceedings of the invited lecturers' reports presented at the COST E4 management committee and working groups meeting in Ljubljana, Slovenia. Ljubljana, 25-28 April 1998, 171 pp.
- DONIȚĂ N., CHIRIȚĂ C. & STĂNESCU V. 1990. *Tipuri de ecosisteme forestiere din România*. București: Edit. Tehnică Agricolă, 390 pp.
- DONIȚĂ N., POPESCU A., PAUCĂ-COMĂNESCU M., MIHĂILESCU S. & BIRIȘ I. A. 2005. *Habitatele din România*. București: Edit. Silvică, 496 pp.
- DUFRÊNE M. & LEGENDRE P. 1997. Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. *Ecological Monographs*. 67(3): 345-366. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9615(1997)067[0345:SAAIST]2.0.CO;2
- ELLENBERG H. & LEUSCHNER C. 1996. Vegetation Mitteleuropas mit den Alpen. Stuttgart, Eugene Ulmer Verlag, 1095 pp.
- GAO T., NIELSEN A. B. & HEDBLOM M. 2015. Reviewing the strength of evidence of biodiversity indicators for forest ecosystems in Europe. *Ecological Indicators*. 57: 420-434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.05.028
- GERHARDT E. 1999. Guide Vigot des Champignons: plus de 1200 espèces, plus de 1000 photos couleurs. Paris: Vigot, 714 pp.
- HEILMANN-CLAUSEN J. & CHRISTENSEN M. 2003. Fungal diversity on decaying beech logs implications for sustainable forestry. *Biodiversity & Conservation*. 12: 953-973. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022825809503
- HIJMANS R. J., CAMERON S. E., PARRA J. L., JONES P. G. & JARVIS A. 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology*. 25(15): 1965-1978. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.1276
- IGMÁNDY Z. 1964. The wood-rotting polypores of beech stands in Hungary. Erdészetiés Faipari Egyetem Tudományos Közleményei: 99-107.
- JAHN G. 1991. Temperate deciduous forests of Europe: p. 377-502. In: RÖHRIG E. & ULRICH B. (eds). 1991. Ecosystems of the World, 7: Temperate deciduous forests. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- KARADELEV M., RUSEVSKA K. & TAUKCIEVA L. 2008. Diversity and ecology of macromycetes on Ograzden Mountain, Republic of Macedonia. *Biologia Macedonica*. 61: 29-45.
- KEBLI H., DROUIN P., BRAIS S. & KERNAGHAN G. 2011. Species composition of saproxylic fungal communities on decaying logs in the boreal forest. *Microbial Ecology*. 61(4): 898-910. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-010-9790-7
- KÜFFER N. & SENN-IRLET B. 2005. Diversity and ecology of wood-inhabiting aphyllophoroid basidiomycetes on fallen woody debris in various forest types in Switzerland. *Mycological Progress*. 4(1): 77-86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11557-006-0110-z
- KÜFFER N., GILLET F., SENN-IRLET B., ARAGNO M. & JOB D. 2008. Ecological determinants of fungal diversity on dead wood in European forests. *Fungal Diversity*. **30**: 83-95.
- LEUSCHNER C. & ELLENBERG H. 2017. Ecology of Central European non-forest vegetation: coastal to alpine, natural to man-made habitats: vegetation ecology of Central Europe. Springer International Publishing Switzerland, 1094 pp. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-43048-5
- LOMBARDI F, LASSERRE B., TOGNETTI B. & MARCHETTI M. 2008. Deadwood in relation to stand management and forest type in Central Apennines (Molise, Italy). *Ecosystems*. 11: 882-894. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-008-9167-7
- MERGANIČOVA K., MERGANIČ J., SVOBODA M., BAČE R. & ŠEBEŇ V. 2012. Deadwood in forest ecosystems: 81-108. In: BLANCO J. A. & LO Y. H. (eds.). 2012. Forest ecosystems – more than just trees. Intech Open, London, UK, 464 pp. https://doi.org/10.5772/1127
- MILESCU I., ALEXE A., NICOVESCU H. & SUCIU P. 1967. Fagul. București: Edit. Agro-Silvică, 581 pp.
- MÜLLER J., HOTHORN T. & PRETZSCH H. 2007. Long-term effects of logging intensity on structures, birds, saproxylic beetles and wood-inhabiting fungi in stands of European beech Fagus sylvatica L. Forest Ecology and Management. 242(2-3): 297-305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.01.046
- NEDEALCOV M. & DONICA A. 2019. Climate limitations of the beech (Fagus sylvatica) within the Republic of Moldova territory. International Journal of Ecosystems & Ecology Sciences. 9(3): 461-468. https://doi.org/10.31407/ijees93
- O'HANLON R. & HARRINGTON T. J. 2012. Macrofungal diversity and ecology in four Irish forest types. *Fungal Ecology*. **5**(5): 499-508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2011.12.008
- OPREA A., SÎRBU C. & GOIA I. 2011. The vegetation of the natural reserve Valea Fagilor Luncavița (Tulcea county, Romania). Contribuții Botanice. 46: 17-32.
- PARVIAINEN J., LITTLE D., DOYLE M., O'SULLIVAN A., KETTUNEN M. & KORHONEN M. (eds). 1999. Research in forest reserves and natural forests in European countries. *Country reports for the COST Action E4: Forest Reserves Research Network. EFI Proceedings*. European Forest Institute, Joensuu, Finland. 16: 304.
- PAUCĂ-COMĂNESCU M., ALMĂŞAN H., ARION C., BÎNDIU C., CARACAŞ V., DONIŢĂ N., FALCĂ M., HONCIUC V., OROMULU-VASILIU L., POPESCU A., SANDA V., TĂCINĂ A. & VASU A. 1989. Făgetele din România: cercetări ecologice (Beech forests in Romania: Ecological researches). Bucureşti: Edit. Academiei Române, 262 pp.
- PERSIANI A. M., LOMBARDI F., LUNGHINI D., GRANITO V. M., TOGNETTI R., MAGGI O., PIOLI S. & MARCHETTI M. 2015. Stand structure and deadwood amount influences saproxylic fungal biodiversity in Mediterranean mountain unmanaged forests. *iForest – Biogeoscieces and Forestry*. 9(1): 115-124. https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor1304-008
- PETERKEN G. F. 1996. Natural woodland: ecology and conservation in Northern Temperate Regions. Cambridge University Press, 522 pp.
- SĂLĂGEANU G. & SĂLĂGEANU A. 1985. Determinator pentru recunoașterea ciupercilor comestibile, necomestibile și otrăvitoare din România. București: Edit. Ceres, 330 pp.
- ȘOFLETEA N. & CURTU L. 2007. Dendrologie. Brașov: Edit. Universității Transilvania, 418 pp.
- SOLON J. 2002. Ekologiczna rola martwego drewna w ekosystemach leśnych dyskusja wybranych zagadnień w świetle literatury. Raport z projektu "Podstawy trwalego i zrównoważonego zagospodarowania lasów w Leśnych Kompleksach Promocyjnych (1999 - 2002). Sękocin Las: Instytut Badawczy Leśnictwa: 15 pp.
- STOKLAND J. N., SIITONEN J. & JONSSON B. G. 2012. Biodiversity in dead wood. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 509 pp. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139025843
- STOYKO S. M. 1992. Coenotic structure of climax and polydominant beech forests in Ukraine, their coenotic structure and preservation. Actas de Congresso internationale del Haya, Pamplona: 57-71.
- STOYKO S. M. 2005. Characteristics of virgin forests of the Ukrainian Carpathians and their significance as ecological model for natural forest management. Natural Forests in the Temperate Zone of Europe - values and utilization. Swiss Federal Research Institute WSL, Birmensdorf and Carpathian Biosphere Reserve. Rakhiv: 423-430.
- SZAFER W. 1932. The beech and the beech forests in Poland: 168-218. In: RÜBEL E. (ed.). 1932. Die Buchenwälder Europas. Verlag Hans Huber, Bern, Berlin.
- TĂNASE C., BÎRSAN C., CHINAN V. & COJOCARIU A. 2009. *Macromicete din România*. Iași: Edit. Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" din Iași, 564 pp.
- TER BRAAK C. J. F. & ŠMILAUER P. 2012. Canoco reference manual and user's guide: software for ordination (version 5.0). Microcomputer Power, Ithaca, New York.

ASSEMBLAGES OF WOOD-INHABITING MACROFUNGI SPECIES IN BEECH FORESTS...

YLISIRNIÖ A. L., PENTTILÄ R., BERGLUND H., HALLIKAINEN V., ISAEVA L., KAUHANEN H., KOIVULA M. & MIKKOLA K. 2012. Dead wood and polypore diversity in natural post-fire succession forests and managed stands – lessons for biodiversity management in boreal forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*. 286: 16-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.08.018

*** https://www.geotutorials.ro/atlas-geografic/harti-romania/

*** www.indexfungorum.org

How to cite this article:

BÎRSAN C. C., MARDARI C. & TĂNASE C. 2024. Assemblages of wood-inhabiting macrofungi species in beech forests from Eastern Romania. J. Plant Develop. 31: 25-36. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.966 **Research Article**

EVALUATION OF ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY IN OAK LEAVES FROM THE REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA EXPOSED TO HEAT STRESS

Petru CUZA

Department of Geosciences and Forestry, Moldova State University, MD 2009, Chişinău – Republic of Moldova. E-mail: petrucuza@mail.ru, ORCID: 0000-0003-0192-4427

- Abstract: The total activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases was evaluated in the leaves of three oak species - pedunculate oak (Quercus robur L.), sessile oak (Q. petraea Liebl.), and downy oak (Q. pubescens Willd.) from the Republic of Moldova, subjected to thermal shock at 50 °C for durations of 20, 40, and 60 minutes. The study aimed to identify variations as well as common and divergent responses of these species according to ecological zone, thermal shock duration, and recovery period, in order to assess their thermotolerance and specific adaptations to environmental conditions. The results showed that during the recovery period, leaves of pedunculate oak and downy oak from the center and southern regions, as well as sessile oak from the center region, exhibited high total antioxidant activity. Additionally, pedunculate oak and sessile oak from the center and southern regions displayed increased oxidase activity, while sessile oak from the center region demonstrated high catalase activity, indicating the activation of adaptive processes to thermal shock. Conversely, pedunculate oak and sessile oak from the northern region exhibited a decrease in total antioxidant and oxidase activity during the recovery period, suggesting an increase in leaf thermotolerance. Moreover, the downy oak from the northern region demonstrated an increase in thermotolerance, reflected in the activity of all types of antioxidant substances after extended recovery periods. The study demonstrated that the investigated oak species enhance their thermotolerance in the northern region by developing specific adaptive strategies to thermal shock. These oak species adjust their antioxidant and enzymatic activity in accordance with the specific environmental conditions of the ecological zone in which they grow.
- Keywords: *Quercus robur* L., *Q. petraea* Lielb., *Q. pubescens* Willd., leaves, thermal shock, recovery, adaptation, thermotolerance.

Introduction

Currently, extreme temperatures during the summer, along with prolonged heat waves, have expanded their impact to approximately 10% of the Earth's surface, compared to just 1% recorded in the 1960s [HANSEN & al. 2012]. Estimates suggest an increased probability of both the frequency and intensity of heat waves rising in the 21st century [YAO & al. 2013], which has already led to a 0.5 °C increase in the global average temperature [COUMOU & ROBINSON, 2013; COUMOU & al. 2013]. This trend aligns with forecasts indicating that global warming will be partially driven by increasingly frequent and intense high-temperature conditions [COUMOU & ROBINSON, 2013; DULIÈRE & al. 2013].

Moreover, climatic conditions, particularly temperature and photoperiod, significantly influence plant species distribution through direct physiological constraints related to growth and reproduction, as well as indirectly through ecological factors such as competition for resources. Climate change, including temperature variations over the past century, has resulted in significant adverse effects on the geographic distribution, abundance, phenology, and

physiological state of numerous species [CHEN & HILL, 2011]. Simulation models indicate that climate change can induce extensive modifications in terms of the geographic distribution and survival of species. This underscores the urgent need for comprehensive strategies to mitigate climate change effects on both plant species and broader ecosystems.

Species capable of rapid migration and adaptation to higher altitudes gain survival and competitive advantages, and under specific conditions, they may experience geographic expansion [THOMAS & al. 2004; MENENDEZ & al. 2006]. However, such shifts in species distribution can jeopardize their abundance by fragmenting migration corridors and reducing dispersal distances due to barriers arising from the multifunctional land use. These constraints ultimately contribute to a decline in population numbers [GASTON, 1994].

High temperatures associated with drought can induce metabolic dysfunctions in organisms distributed in a particular area, such as most plants, a phenomenon that can affect multiple physiological processes and trigger stress conditions. This combination of factors can trigger heat stress in plants, initiating the synthesis of antioxidant enzymes and related metabolic pathways to reduce the excessive accumulation of unwanted and harmful reactive oxygen species. Among the most common reactive oxygen species are singlet oxygen ($1O_2$), superoxide radical (O_2^{*-}), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), and hydroxyl radical (OH^*), which are responsible for oxidative stress [ASADA, 2006]. Uncontrolled increase in the concentration of reactive oxygen species can cause cellular damage to plants, including lipid peroxidation, protein damage, and disruption of cellular membranes. These processes can lead to physiological dysfunctions and weaken the viability of plants.

The reaction centers of photosystem I and II in chloroplasts represent primary sources of reactive oxygen species generation, although these can also be generated in other organelles such as peroxisomes and mitochondria [SOLIMAN & al. 2011]. Scientific data indicate that thermal damage to the photosystems under the influence of high temperatures results in reduced photon absorption [HALLIWELL, 2006]. Under stress conditions, when the photon intensity absorbed by photosystem I and II is excessive, this surplus energy is considered as an excess of electrons, thus serving as a source for reactive oxygen species [HALLIWELL, 2006].

Under stress conditions, characterized by high temperatures and drought, plants activate antioxidant mechanisms to mitigate the harmful effects of thermal stress and maintain metabolic homeostasis. These defense mechanisms against oxidative stress are achieved through molecules, including both enzymatic and non-enzymatic components. Key components of this system include enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, peroxidase, catalase, polyphenol oxidase, and alternative oxidase essential in metabolic pathways for the elimination of reactive oxygen species and the control of lipid peroxidation [BOECKX & al. 2015; SAHA & al. 2016]. Increasing the concentration of these enzymes represents an efficient strategy for cell protection against the harmful effects of oxidative stress, thereby ensuring the prevention of excessive accumulation of reactive oxygen species.

By predominantly localizing in mitochondria, the function of alternative oxidase is closely linked to the mitochondrial respiratory chain, playing an essential role in energy generation within cells and providing an alternative pathway for electron transfer in the respiratory chain. Thus, alternative oxidase limits the generation of reactive oxygen species, such as superoxide (O_2^{*-}) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). This mechanism contributes to maintaining a redox balance within the cell and protecting it against potential damage caused by reactive oxygen species, thereby regulating oxidative stress in cells [SAHA & al. 2016].

In the forests of the Republic of Moldova, indigenous oak species such as *Quercus* robur, *Q. petraea*, and *Q. pubescens* exhibit sensitivity to stressors generated by high

temperatures and heat waves. Their vulnerability is largely due to the fact that, over an extended period, the regeneration of forest stands has been predominantly through shoots, a process that has led to pronounced negative selection. This selection has involved the elimination of valuable trees and stands from populations, both in terms of dendrometric and qualitative aspects. Additionally, these species face excessive habitat fragmentation [CUZA, 2001; DASCALIUC & al. 2005]. Although oak species fulfill multiple essential ecological functions, significantly impacting environmental protection, they also hold considerable economic importance. They provide timber used in furniture production, flooring, wine barrels, and more. However, threats such as prolonged droughts and increasingly frequent heat waves can lead to succession phenomena or alterations in the distribution of indigenous oak species.

Given the current context, studies on the thermotolerance of oak species become highly relevant to anticipate and sustainably manage forests in the future. In this regard, conducting indepth research to assess the adaptive capacity of oak species to climate change and to develop effective strategies for conservation and sustainable forest management is essential. Additionally, it is important to mention that in the Republic of Moldova, there is an ongoing campaign to expand the forest area through afforestation. In this context, the proper use of species, considering the habitat's specificity, is a particular concern within the efforts for the conservation and sustainable development of forest resources.

Material and methods

Leaf samples for laboratory experiments were collected in July, with fifteen specimens taken from the lower and southern sections of the tree crowns for each species and provenance. The selected species included pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur*), sessile oak (*Q. petraea*), and downy oak (*Q. pubescens*). These trees are located within the Filimon Carcea Forestry District (northern region), Cociulia Forestry District (southern region), and the "Plaiul Fagului" Scientific Reserve (central region).

In the laboratory, leaves from each species and location were subjected to heat shock at 50 °C for intervals of 20, 40, and 60 minutes. Following the heat shock treatment, the leaves were transferred to desiccators, where they were maintained under controlled conditions: a temperature of 25 °C, relative humidity of 85%, illumination of 20 lux, and a photoperiod of 16 hours of light and 8 hours of darkness.

The antioxidant activity in the leaves was assessed using the method described by DASCALIUC & al. (2018), as detailed below. On days 1, 3, and 5 after the heat shock treatment, leaf samples were taken from the desiccators for biochemical analysis to determine total oxidase activity. Leaf samples, weighing 0.1 g each, were cold-macerated, and the resulting material was extracted for 30 minutes at 25 °C in a 0.2 M Tris buffer solution (pH 7). The extract was then centrifuged for 15 minutes at 4000 g.

To determine the total capacity for reducing free oxygen, reflecting both the direct reduction potential of antioxidant substances and enzymatic activity, 40 μ l of the supernatant obtained after centrifugation was added to 1.6 ml of buffer solution to ensure a stable testing environment. The mixture was then incubated at 25 °C.

In all experiments, the dynamics of oxygen content reduction in the experimental solutions were measured using a YSI oximeter (USA), with a control solution (containing only 1.6 ml of buffer solution) used for comparison. After 15 minutes of incubation at 25 °C, the oxygen content in the experimental solution reached a stationary phase, at which point the rate of oxygen consumption equaled the rate of its diffusion into the solution.

The difference in oxygen percentage between the control solution (without extract) and the experimental solution (with extract) was determined based on the capacity of antioxidants and oxidases to bind oxygen. Consequently, the activity of antioxidants and oxidases led to a reduction in oxygen content in the solution during the stationary phase, compared to the control variant.

To determine catalase activity, 40 μ l of the solution was added to 1.46 ml of buffer solution, along with 60 μ l of 0.05% H₂O₂, followed by incubation at 25 °C. The dynamics of oxygen content change were influenced by the activity of oxygen removal through the degradation of hydrogen peroxide by catalases, as well as the activity of oxygen binding by oxidases. The combined outcome of these processes was evaluated based on the oxygen percentage in the solution at the stationary phase. Thus, using the oximetry method, the activities of oxidases and catalases were determined separately, along with the combined effect of these enzymatic activities.

To illustrate the specificity of processes within certain antioxidant components, the graphs in Figures 1-3 depict the oxygen utilization activity by antioxidants and oxidases as negative values, while the oxygen removal activity by catalases is represented by positive values. The studies were conducted in three replicates, with the mean value and standard deviation of the mean determined [GIURGIU, 1972].

Results

Variability in the activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases in the leaves of oak species

1. Activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases in pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur*) leaves

The data presented in Figures 1a, 1b, and 1c indicate that, over a 5-day recovery period following heat shock, the oxygen-binding processes in the extracts from pedunculate oak leaves exhibited distinct processes. Specifically, the activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases differed from that of catalases in terms of oxygen removal. These variations highlight the differential responses of these biochemical components to heat stress.

In the northern region, the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases was comparable and elevated on the first day following thermal shock, with an increase observed as the treatment period extended. This activity was significantly higher than that in the control sample, indicating a strong response of the oak trees to thermal stress. Additionally, catalase activity in the leaf extracts was high, surpassing that of antioxidant substances and oxidases. However, despite the duration of thermal shock exposure, catalase activity remained lower than in the control sample. This suggests that recovery processes are more advanced for catalases, while antioxidant substances and oxidases continue to exhibit increased activity compared to the control.

After three and five days of thermal shock, a trend towards reduced activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases was observed, with levels reaching those comparable to the control sample and lower than on the first day post-shock. In contrast, catalase activity increased somewhat after 20 and 40 minutes of shock, and after five days, it was similar to that of the control sample.



Figure 1. Dynamics of changes in the activity of antioxidant substances (A), oxidases (B), and catalases (C) in extracts from the leaves of pedunculate oak, exposed to thermal shock at 50 °C for 20, 40, and 60 minutes. 1, 3, 5 – recovery of antioxidant components' activity on the first, third, and fifth day after the application of thermal shock

In the center region, the analysis of the overall activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases in leaf extracts of pedunculate oak trees reveals a clear trend of reduction following the first day of thermal shock. This trend is observed in conjunction with an increase in the duration of thermal shock exposure, with activity levels becoming lower than those in the control sample as the thermal shock duration extends. These results indicate that exposure to thermal shock induces recovery processes among antioxidant substances. On the third and fifth days post-exposure, there was an increase in the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases, while the control sample activity was significantly lower. This suggests adaptive processes in the trees, activating antioxidant defense mechanisms to mitigate the effects of thermal shock. In contrast, catalase activity showed a different trend, significantly decreasing throughout the post-shock period with prolonged exposure to thermal shock. These changes suggest that the enzymatic system of pedunculate oak trees undergoes complex alterations in response to thermal stress, with catalase activity potentially being affected differently compared to other antioxidant enzymes.

In the southern region, a high and relatively constant activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases was observed, indicating that the antioxidant mechanisms of oak trees in this area are active and effective in managing thermal stress. Additionally, the analysis of overall antioxidant activity and oxidase levels during the recovery period, specifically after three and five days, revealed an increase compared to the control leaf extracts. This suggests that exposure to thermal shock stimulates the activity of these antioxidant substances in response to the stress, demonstrating the trees' ability to mobilize their defense mechanisms to mitigate the negative effects of thermal stress. In contrast, catalase activity decreased with the extension of the recovery period following exposure to thermal shock, indicating a specific regulation of these enzymes in the trees' response to thermal stress in the southern region. Pedunculate oak trees in this area appear to be well-adapted to thermal stress, possessing efficient antioxidant mechanisms to cope with it, along with a specific regulation of catalase activity during the recovery period.

2. The activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases and catalases in the leaves of the sessile oak (*Quercus petraea*)

Figures 2a, 2b, and 2c provide a detailed illustration of changes in the activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases in the leaves of sessile oak trees under thermal shock in three distinct regions: north, center, and south.

In the northern region, the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases extracted from leaves one day after thermal shock is moderate. However, a significant increase is observed with extended thermal exposure. This increase clearly surpasses the corresponding activity levels in the control leaf extracts (Figures 2a and 2b). These processes suggest that the response of sessile oak leaves to thermal shock initiates the trees' protective mechanisms to alleviate the generated oxidative stress. After three and five days of recovery post-thermal shock, the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases decreased significantly compared to the first day post-shock. Simultaneously, their activity remained at levels comparable to those of the control samples. These observations indicate that the antioxidant system of the trees may experience a significant reduction in efficiency as the recovery time progresses. Nevertheless, the maintenance of activity at the level of the control samples could also suggest the plants' capacity to activate compensatory mechanisms to mitigate the negative effects of thermal stress and maintain internal homeostasis.



Figure 2. Dynamics of changes in the activity of antioxidant substances (A), oxidases (B), and catalases (C) in extracts from the leaves of sessile oak, exposed to thermal shock at 50 $^{\circ}$ C for 20, 40, and 60 minutes. 1, 3, 5 – recovery of antioxidant components' activity on the first, third, and fifth day following thermal shock application

In contrast, catalase activity exhibits an opposing trend over the five-day recovery period, showing a progressive decrease as the duration of thermal shock exposure increases, remaining significantly lower than in the control sample. This suggests that catalase activity may have adverse consequences as the post-shock recovery time advances.

In the center region, antioxidant substances and oxidases show moderate activity on the first day after thermal shock exposure, with antioxidant substances exhibiting a slightly higher level. Figures 2a and 2b clearly illustrate that, in both cases, the activity of these antioxidant components exceeds the levels observed in the control leaf extracts, indicating that their activity is directed towards strengthening protective mechanisms and controlling reactive oxygen species.

However, the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases notably increases after three and five days of thermal shock exposure, significantly surpassing the control sample. The same trend is evident for catalase activity. The observed phenomenon demonstrates that, during an extended recovery period, sessile oak trees exhibit an adaptive response, highlighting protective mechanisms that include metabolic and enzymatic processes of antioxidation and detoxification, which intervene to mitigate the negative effects of thermal stress.

In the southern region, on the first day post-shock, the activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases remains at a moderate level. However, the overall activity of antioxidant substances and catalases generally shows levels similar to those in the control sample, while the activity of oxidases in the thermal shock-exposed leaf extracts is noticeably higher compared to the control. As the recovery period and thermal dose increase, all antioxidant compounds show a trend towards decreased activity, with levels being lower five days after the shock compared to the control sample. This suggests either a "fatigue" of the antioxidant system or a reduction in the processes generating reactive oxygen species, indicating an improvement in the physiological state of the sessile oak trees.

The results indicate significant variations in the enzymatic and non-enzymatic responses of sessile oak leaves to thermal shock, suggesting that the impact of this thermal perturbation depends on geographic location.

3. The activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases and catalases in the leaves of downy oak (*Quercus pubescens*)

The data presented in Figures 3a, 3b, and 3c reflect the dynamics of changes in the overall activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases in the leaves of downy oak across the three ecological regions, five days after exposure to thermal shock.

In the northern region, there is a significant increase in the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases on the first day following thermal shock exposure compared to the control sample. As the duration of thermal shock exposure increases, the activity of these antioxidant substances appears to be positively influenced, continuing to rise with extended exposure of the leaves. This reaction indicates a strong response of downy oak trees to thermal shock.

In contrast, catalases activity decreases as the duration of thermal shock extends, reaching minimal levels after five days of recovery, particularly following exposure periods of 40 and 60 minutes. This phenomenon suggests a specific adaptation of downy oak trees to thermal stress, where the sensitivity of catalases plays a significant role.

The analysis of histograms presented in Figures 3a and 3b demonstrates that the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases during a recovery period of three and five days shows a significant decrease compared to the first day post-thermal shock. These changes are

influenced by both the duration of thermal shock and the recovery period of the plants, reflecting their regulatory capacity in response to thermal stress. This phenomenon highlights the ability of downy oak, classified as a heliophyte and thermophile species, to adjust the activity levels of antioxidant substances and oxidases during the post-stress recovery process in accordance with the ecological requirements of the trees.

In the center region, the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases remained consistently high on the first and third days post-thermal shock, including in the control sample. A noticeable decrease began after five days of exposure to extended doses, particularly between 40 and 60 minutes. The specific activity of these antioxidant substances, maintained at high and relatively stable levels in the initial days post-stress, indicates their adjustment through protective mechanisms to control reactive oxygen species. Furthermore, the reduction in antioxidant activity after five days of recovery from prolonged thermal doses suggests a metabolic and biochemical stabilization of downy oak trees, indicating their adaptation to thermal shock conditions.

In contrast, catalase activity exhibited a significant reduction on the first, third, and fifth days of recovery, showing a decreasing trend from short thermal doses (20 minutes) to extended thermal doses (60 minutes). Throughout the recovery period, catalase activity remained at lower levels compared to the control sample (Figure 3b).

The significant decrease in catalase activity during the recovery period, especially after exposure to prolonged thermal doses, suggests a specific adaptation of the plants to thermal stress. This adaptation may involve the regulation of gene expression and metabolism to mitigate the negative effects of thermal shock on cellular function and to maintain homeostasis under post-shock conditions.

In the southern region, the overall activity of antioxidant substances remained high during the first three days of recovery post-shock, with values exceeding those of the control sample. This indicates a strong response of these components in the leaf extracts to thermal shock. On the fifth day, a decline in the overall activity of antioxidant substances was observed, with this decrease becoming more pronounced with the extension of the shock duration. Regarding oxidase activity, it was elevated on the first day but somewhat diminished by the third day of recovery. However, on the fifth day post-shock, a marked decrease in activity was noted, comparable to the control sample (Figure 3c).

Regarding catalases, activity demonstrated significant increases after the first day of shock with extended exposure durations, reaching high levels. However, by the third and fifth days of recovery, there was a notable decrease in catalase activity, particularly after prolonged thermal doses.



Figure 3. Dynamics of changes in the activity of antioxidant substances (A), oxidases (B), and catalases (C) in extracts from the leaves of downy oak, exposed to thermal shock at 50 °C for durations of 20, 40, and 60 minutes. Days 1, 3, and 5 – recovery of antioxidant components' activity on the first, third, and fifth day after thermal shock application

Discussions

In recent decades, the health and survival of oak species have been alarmingly threatened, with oak dieback observed in forests worldwide [ALLEN & al. 2010; GENTILESCA & al. 2017]. Researchers believe that the decline and dieback of oak forests are caused by a range of factors, with climate change, prolonged droughts, and defoliating insects significantly contributing to this phenomenon [ROMAGNOLI & al. 2018]. Some studies suggest that tree species, including oaks, growing in regions with high precipitation are less resilient to high temperatures compared to those in arid regions characterized by prolonged droughts [HODGSON & al. 2015].

In our study, we compared three indigenous oak species growing in different ecological zones of Moldova, each characterized by distinct temperature and precipitation regimes. Oak leaves were subjected to thermal shock for varying durations at a constant temperature to elucidate their physiological responses, based on the overall activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases. Measurements were conducted on leaf extracts at different recovery time points. We hypothesized that populations of these species develop optimal adaptations in specific habitats, where changing environmental factors positively influence their genotypes.

Our results highlight a robust response of pedunculate oak trees from the northern region to thermal shock, as evidenced by a significant increase in the overall activity of antioxidants and oxidases in leaf extracts on the first day post-shock. Interestingly, elevated levels of these substances are also observed in the leaves of oak trees from the center and southern regions, indicating a similar adaptation to thermal stress. These findings align with previous research demonstrating that plants can respond to prolonged thermal stress by increasing antioxidant activity [PINTÓ-MARIJUAN & al. 2013; ONO & al. 2021; NETSHIMBUPFE & al. 2023].

Additionally, we observed enhanced catalase activity on the first day after thermal shock in the leaf extracts of pedunculate oaks. However, following prolonged exposure to thermal shock, there is a significant decrease in catalase activity in oaks from the center and southern ecological zones of the republic. This observation suggests either a direct inhibition of catalase activity by high temperatures over an extended period or a reallocation of cellular resources toward alternative hydrogen peroxide detoxification pathways that may be more effective under prolonged thermal stress.

In a broader context, research on the plant *Arabidopsis thaliana* has revealed that prolonged thermal stress can lead to a significant accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in the plant leaves, with catalase activity being induced as a response to this stress. However, this adaptation does not appear to be sufficient to significantly enhance plant heat tolerance under the specific conditions of the study [ONO & al. 2021].

It is evident that the overall activity of oxidases in pedunculate oak leaf extracts, following thermal shock, is higher under conditions of effective recovery. This observation is supported by previous studies indicating that oxidase activity provides essential energy sources for cellular functions and helps to regulate reactive oxygen species within the mitochondrial electron transport chain during stress [FINNEGAN & al. 2004]. Thus, our study's results suggest a relationship between enzymatic activity and the efficiency of cellular recovery processes, providing a coherent explanation for the observed phenomena.

Analysis of the response of sessile oak to thermal stress reveals significant variations in the overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases in leaf extracts, influenced by specific ecological zones. In the center and southern regions, the activity of oxidases in sessile oak leaf extracts was elevated, surpassing the levels observed in control samples, and showed similar trends

to those observed in pedunculate oak. This may reflect common adaptive responses of these oak species to increased oxidative stress levels.

In the southern region, a trend towards decreased overall activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases was observed in sessile oak leaf extracts, particularly after five days of recovery following extended thermal shock exposure. Catalase activity demonstrated a clear decline in the northern and southern regions following prolonged thermal exposure, whereas in the control samples, activity remained high, highlighting the recovery processes. The enhancement of these recovery processes in catalase activity appears to contribute to increased thermotolerance of leaves over time in these regions.

It is well-established that a plant's resistance to a stress factor depends on its ability to activate tolerance mechanisms and the presence of adaptive traits for avoidance, which are directly related to its habitat [LARCHER, 2004]. Specialized studies indicate that high temperatures can induce harmful effects on plants, including cellular membrane damage, protein inactivation, excessive production of reactive oxygen species, and disruption of key metabolic functions [RUELLAND & ZACHOWSKI, 2010]. Despite these investigations, recent research, such as that by ONO & al. (2021), has emphasized the importance of studying the specific plant responses to various thermal stress conditions, including the impact of thermal shock duration, whether short or prolonged.

In our studies on sessile oak, a species of both ecological and economic interest, we observed that prolonged exposure to thermal shock leads to a decrease in the activity of antioxidant substances and catalases. This variation in the metabolic and enzymatic response of sessile oak under different environmental conditions suggests the presence of complex and adaptive stress protection systems that are differentially activated depending on the duration of thermal shock and the recovery period.

In this context, the research conducted by WANG & al. (2023) on *Brassica campestris* is particularly relevant. Their study demonstrated that after exposure to thermal stress, there is a transiently induced expression of the BcWRKY22 gene, leading to the activation and significant increase in catalase activity. Concurrently, under thermal stress conditions, the expression of this gene showed the capability to reduce hydrogen peroxide accumulation. These findings highlight the crucial role of BcWRKY22 in modulating the response to thermal stress, positively impacting catalase activity and mitigating H_2O_2 accumulation through gene regulation. These results support our observations and suggest that the antioxidant protection mechanisms in sessile oak may be similar to those in other species, such as *Brassica campestris*, indicating a common adaptive strategy to thermal stress.

Another study conducted by SAHA & al. (2016) demonstrated that stress tolerance, through the attenuation and neutralization of reactive oxygen species, is mediated by the activity of the antioxidant enzyme alternative oxidase. This enzyme plays a crucial role in protecting leaves from oxidative damage through specific metabolic pathways, thereby contributing to the adaptation and survival of plants under abiotic stress conditions.

Our results highlight significant variability in the total activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases, influenced by the trees' location, the duration of leaf exposure to thermal shock, and the recovery period. These findings underscore the complexity of protective mechanisms against thermal stress in sessile oak. Our observations are supported by similar studies conducted on other species [ONO & al. 2021; WANG & al. 2023], suggesting the existence of common adaptive processes in plant responses to thermal stress.

The dynamic analysis of the total activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases in the leaves of downy oak reveals significant aspects related to thermal stress adaptation across different ecological zones. In the northern zone, there is a notable increase in enzymatic activity on the first day of recovery, correlated with the intensity of the thermal shock. However, after three and five days of recovery, the activity of antioxidant substances progressively decreased. Conversely, in the center zone, there was an initially high activity of antioxidant substances and oxidases, but catalase activity diminished with prolonged exposure to thermal shock. In the southern zone, the activity of antioxidant substances declined after five days of recovery. These variations in enzymatic activity suggest that adaptive processes to thermal stress differ depending on the ecological zone and the duration of the recovery period.

The study conducted by DINAKAR & al. (2016) on *Pisum sativum* highlighted the importance of the alternative oxidase pathway in optimizing the photosynthetic process under thermal stress conditions in the mesophyll protoplasts of leaves. The capacity of the alternative oxidase pathway significantly increased with elevated intracellular levels of reactive oxygen species under suboptimal temperature and saturating light conditions. The authors demonstrated the crucial role of the alternative oxidase pathway in regulating reactive oxygen species and the antioxidant system's response to thermal stress.

When comparing our results with those from the *Pisum sativum* study, we observe that both emphasize the significance of oxidase activity, including the alternative oxidase pathway, in responding to thermal stress. While our study focused on how thermotolerance in downy oak leaves varies depending on the recovery period following exposure to thermal stress, the research on pea plants evaluated the role of the alternative oxidase pathway in optimizing photosynthetic activity. This difference in approach underscores the distinct responses of the two species to thermal stress, highlighting the enhancement of thermotolerance in downy oak and the optimization of photosynthetic activity in pea plants.

The findings presented here illustrate that the overall activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases varies specifically depending on the oak species studied, taking into account the origin of the trees, the intensity of thermal shock, and the recovery period. The specific variation in the activity of oxidases and catalases in these oak species can be used as an indicator of recovery processes, reflecting the metabolic transformations involving these enzymes. An increase in the activity of these enzymes in the cells of the oak species studied suggests an efficient adaptive response to thermal stress and the species' ability to detoxify reactive oxygen species. Conversely, a decrease in activity might indicate either a reduction in thermal stress or a diminished need for an antioxidant response, or a deficiency in the antioxidant capacity, signaling potential oxidative damage at the cellular level. Thus, our study contributes to the understanding of adaptive mechanisms to thermal stress under various ecological conditions, highlighting the role of both antioxidant substances and oxidases and catalases in these adaptive processes.

When evaluating plant resistance, studies have reported that the activity of antioxidant enzymes increases under thermal stress to neutralize the reactive oxygen species generated (DAS & al. 2014; SEWELAM & al. 2016). These findings suggest that adaptation to thermal stress involves finely tuned regulation of both enzymatic and non-enzymatic activities to mitigate the negative effects of reactive oxygen species and maintain cellular homeostasis. Additionally, it has been observed that low activity of these enzymes may indicate two distinct scenarios:

- 1. Low Stress levels: If the thermal stress is reduced or the plant has effectively adapted and stabilized the reactive oxygen species, the antioxidant enzymatic activity decreases as the demand for neutralization diminishes.
- 2. **Inability to respond:** When enzymatic activity remains low despite the presence of thermal stress, it could indicate an insufficiency or "fatigue" in the plant's antioxidant response.

Building on previous discussions, it has been observed that pedunculate oak trees from center and southern regions exhibit an enhanced adaptive response to thermal stress, mirroring the reactions noted in sessile oak trees from the same areas. The comprehensive assessment of all antioxidant substances in downy oak revealed a decline in their activity in the leaves of trees from northern regions following a prolonged recovery period, particularly after five days. A similar trend was noted for catalase activity in trees from the central region. These findings suggest that cellular homeostasis in downy oak is reestablished after extended recovery periods following thermal stress. Therefore, both enzymatic and non-enzymatic adaptations allow oak species to maintain a balance between the production of reactive oxygen species and their detoxification capacity, thereby optimizing their function and survival under stress conditions.

Conclusions

This study assessed the total activity of antioxidant substances, oxidases, and catalases in the leaves of three oak species (*Quercus robur*, *Q. petraea*, and *Q. pubescens*) subjected to thermal shock, followed by a five-day recovery period. The findings revealed distinct variations as well as common responses in antioxidant activity, influenced by the ecological origin of the oak stands in the Republic of Moldova.

Leaves of pedunculate oak and downy oak from center and southern regions, as well as sessile oak from the center region, exhibited consistently high total antioxidant activity throughout the recovery period. Additionally, increased oxidase activity was observed in pedunculate oak and sessile oak from the center and southern regions, and in downy oak from the center region. Moreover, high catalase activity was evident in the leaves of sessile oak from the central region. These specific antioxidant responses in particular ecological zones suggest an enhanced adaptive capacity of these trees to thermal shock.

Conversely, pedunculate oak and sessile oak trees from the northern region showed a decrease in total antioxidant and oxidase activity during the recovery period, indicating an increase in leaf thermotolerance. Similar responses were observed across all types of antioxidant substances in pubescent oak from the northern region, indicating an enhancement of leaf thermotolerance after extended recovery periods.

Overall, the results indicate that leaf thermotolerance in the investigated oak species varies and exhibits specific changes depending on environmental conditions. These adaptations reflect distinct responses of oak stands to thermal stress, highlighting regional variations in the physiological responses of oak species.

References

- ALLEN C. D., MACALADY A. K., CHENCHOUNI H., BACHELET D., MCDOWELL N., VENNETIER M. & COBB N. 2010. A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*. 259: 660-684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.09.001
- ASADA K. 2006. Production and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in chloroplasts and their functions. *Plant Physiology*. **141**: 391-396. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.106.082040
- BOECKX T., WEBSTER R., WINTERS A. L., WEBB K. J., GAY A. & KINGSTON-SMITH A. H. 2015. Polyphenol oxidase-mediated protection against oxidative stress is not associated with enhanced photosynthetic efficiency. *Annals of Botany*. 116(4): 529-40. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcv081
- CHEN I. C., HILL J. K., OHLEMÜLLER R., ROY D. B. & THOMAS C. D. 2011. Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. *Science*. **333**(6045): 1024-1026. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1206432

- COUMOU D. & ROBINSON A. 2013. Historic and future increase in the global land area affected by monthly heat extremes. *Environmental Research Letters*. 8: 034018. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/3/034018
- COUMOU D., ROBINSON A. & RAHMSTORF S. 2013. Global increase in record-breaking monthly-mean temperatures. Climatic Change. 118: 771-782. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-012-0668-1
- CUZA P. 2001. Sugestii privind conservarea diversității biologice a pădurilor din Republica Moldova. Analele științifice ale universității de stat din Moldova. Seria "Științe chimico-biologice": 181-186.
- DAS K. & ROYCHOUDHURY A. 2014. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and response of antioxidants as ROSscavengers during environmental stress in plants. Frontiers in Environmental Science. 2: 53. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2014.00053
- DASCALIUC A., CUZA P. & FLORENȚĂ G. 2018. Potențialul redox al extractelor din mugurii arborilor stejarului pedunculat, gorunului și stejarului pufos în funcție de anotimp. *Revista pădurilor*. **133**(4): 21-36.
- DASCALIUC A., CUZA P. & GOCIU D. 2005. Starea și perspectivele de ameliorare a pădurilor de stejar pufos (Quercus pubescens Willd.) din Republica Moldova. Analele științifice ale universității de stat din Moldova. Seria, "Științe chimico-biologice": 405-413.
- DINAKAR C., VISHWAKARMA A., RAGHAVENDRA A. S. & PADMASREE K. 2016. Alternative oxidase pathway optimizes photosynthesis during osmotic and temperature stress by regulating cellular ROS, malate valve and antioxidative systems. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*. 7: 68. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00068
- DULIÈRE V., ZHANG Y. & SALATHÉ E. P. 2013. Changes in twentieth-century extreme temperature and precipitation over the Western United States based on observations and regional climate model simulations. *Journal of Climate*. 26: 8556-8575. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00818.1
- FINNEGAN P. M., SOOLE K. L. & UMBACH A. L. 2004. Alternative mitochondrial electron transport proteins in plants, p. 163-230. In: DAY D. A., MILLAR A. H. & WHELAN J. (eds.). Plant mitochondria: from genome to function. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- GASTON K. J. 1994. Rarity. London: Chapman and Hall, 205 pp. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-0701-3
- GENTILESCA T., CAMARERO J. J., COLANGELO M. & NOLE A. 2017. Drought-induced oak decline in the western Mediterranean region: an overview on current evidences, mechanisms and management options to improve forest resilience. *iForest - Biogeosciences and Forestry*. 10(5): 796-806. https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor2317-010
- GILL S. S. & TUTEJA N. 2010. Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. 48(12): 909-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2010.08.016
- GIURGIU V. 1972. Metode ale statisticii matematice aplicate în silvicultură. București: Edit. Ceres, 567 pp.
- HALLIWELL B. 2006. Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration: where are we now? *Journal of Neurochemistry*. **97**: 1634-1658. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03907.x
- HANSEN J., SATO M. & RUEDY R. 2012. Perception of climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 109(37): 14726-14727. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1205276109
- HODGSON D., MCDONALD J. L. & HOSKEN D. J. 2015. What do you mean, resilient? Trends in Ecology & Evolution. 30(9): 503-506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.06.010
- LARCHER W. 2004. Ecofisiologia vegetal. São Carlos: RiMa, 550 pp.
- MENENDEZ R., GONZALEZ A., HILL J. K., BRASCHLER B. & WILLIS S. 2006. Species richness changes lag behind climate change. Proceedings of the Royal Society. B: Biological Sciences. 273(1593): 1465-1470. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3484
- NETSHIMBUPFE M. H., BERNER J., KOOY F. V., OLADIMEJI O. & GOUWS C. 2023. Influence of Drought and heat stress on mineral content, antioxidant activity and bioactive compound accumulation in four african *Amaranthus* species. *Plants* (*Basel*). 12(4): 953. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12040953
- ONO M., ISONO K., SAKATA Y. & TAJI T. 2021. Catalase2 plays a crucial role in long-term heat tolerance of Arabidopsis thaliana. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 534: 747-751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.11.006
- PINTÓ-MARIJUAN M., JOFFRE R. & DE AGAZIO M. 2013. Antioxidant and photoprotective responses to elevated CO₂ and heat stress during holm oak regeneration by resprouting, evaluated with NIRS (near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy). *Plant Biology*. 15: 5-17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1438-8677.2011.00538.x
- ROMAGNOLI M., MORONI S., RECANATESI F., SALVATI R. & MUGNOZZA G. S. 2018. Climate factors and oak decline based on tree-ring analysis. A case study of peri-urban forest in the Mediterranean area. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening. 34(2): 17-28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.05.010
- RUELLAND E. & ZACHOWSKI A. 2010. How plants sense temperature. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. 69(3): 225-232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.05.011
- SAHA B., BOROVSKII G. & PANDA S. K. 2016. Alternative oxidase and plant stress tolerance. *Plant Signaling & Behavior*. 11(12): e1256530. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592324.2016.1256530

- SEWELAM N., KAZAN K. & SCHENK P. M. 2016. Global plant stress signaling: reactive oxygen species at the crossroad. Frontiers in Plant Science. 7: 187. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00187
- SOLIMAN W. S., FUJIMORI M., TASE K. & SUGIYAMA S. I. 2011. Oxidative stress and physiological damage under prolonged heat stress in C₃ grass *Lolium perenne. Grassland Science.* 57(2): 101-106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-697X.2011.00214.x
- THOMAS C. D., CAMERON A., GREEN R. E., BAKKENES M. & BEAUMONT L. J. 2004. Extinction risk from climate change. Nature. 427: 145-148. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02121
- WANG H., GAO Z., CHEN X., LI E., LI Y., ZHANG C. & HOU X. 2023. BcWRKY22 activates BcCAT2 to enhance catalase (CAT) activity and reduce hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) accumulation, promoting thermotolerance in non-heading chinese cabbage (*Brassica campestris* ssp. chinensis). Antioxidants. 12(99): 1710. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox12091710
- YAO Y., LUO Y., HUANG J. & ZHAO Z. 2013. Comparison of monthly temperature extremes simulated by CMIP3 and CMIP5 models. *Journal of Climate*. 26: 7692-7707. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00560.1

How to cite this article:

CUZA P. 2024. Evaluation of antioxidant activity in oak leaves from the Republic of Moldova exposed to heat stress. *J. Plant Develop.* **31**: 37-52. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.948 **Research Article**

SHADE-INDUCED PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY AND ITS IMPACT ON THE ECONOMIC TRAITS OF PATCHOULI, *POGOSTEMON CABLIN* (BLANCO) BENTH., A HIGH-VALUE AROMATIC CROP

Naraganahalli Dasappa YOGENDRA^{1,2*}, Rajesh RAVI KUMARA¹, Paddambail Ellianna KEERTHI¹, Thankaswamy ARUL PRAKASH¹, Velusamy SUNDERASAN^{1,2}

¹ Central Institute of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants, Research Center, 560065, Bengaluru – India.
² Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR), 201002, Ghaziabad – India.
* Corresponding author. E-mail: yogendra.nd@cimap.res.in, ORCID: 0000-0002-1991-7199

Abstract: The study was conducted to assess the patchouli crop responses to varying light intensities: full-sunlight (open-condition), 30% shade, and 50% shade. It showed notable variations in growth, development, essential oil yield, and chemical composition between full-sunlight and partial-shade conditions. Plants grown in 50% shade exhibited significant increases in height (113.83 cm), inter-nodal length (8.81 cm), leaf area (59.17 cm²), petiole length (3.78 cm), and width (3.44 mm) compared to open conditions. However, reductions in branches/plant (14.26), fresh weight (152.95 g), dry weight (29.64 g), leaf thickness (117.57 μm), number of trichomes (13.14 no./mm²), number of oil glands (10.14 no./mm²), and oil content (0.98%) were observed in 50% shade plants compared to open conditions. Anatomical modifications like bundle sheath extensions (BSEs) were present in 30% and 50% of shade-grown plants but absent in open-condition-grown plants.

Keywords: bundle sheath extensions (BSEs), oil glands, patchouli, phenotypic plasticity, shade stress.

Introduction

Shade affects a variety of developmental, physiological, and phenological traits in many plants. Increased shoot length via inter-node elongation, petiole growth, leaf position alteration, increased apical dominance, decreased tillering or branching, earlier flowering and a higher leaf area to biomass ratio [EVANS & POORTER, 2001]. The shade avoidance syndrome is defined by these characteristic alterations taken together. The physiological and developmental mechanisms behind this syndrome, which involve photoreceptors and phytohormones, are thoroughly described by [BALLARÉ & PIERIK, 2017]. A common feature of sun-shade adaptation changes in leaf anatomy. Sun leaves are smaller, have more leaf mass per area, are thicker, and have a larger palisade/spongy parenchyma ratio than shade leaves, and also have a higher stomatal density [TERASHIMA & al. 2006]. On the other hand, their stomata are noticeably smaller than those of shade leaves [BRESINSKY & al. 2008]. Besides these morpho-anatomical differences, sun and shade leaves have significant physiological characteristics. The photosynthetic light saturation rate is much higher in sun leaves than in shade leaves, as is the light compensation point, light saturation irradiance, and chlorophyll a/b ratio [MENDES & al. 2001]. Shade leaves, on the other hand, have more chlorophyll content per leaf dry mass and area, as well as a larger nitrogen allocation to light-harvesting complexes [NIINEMETS, 2010]. Furthermore, photoprotection based on non-photochemical quenching

SHADE-INDUCED PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY AND ITS IMPACT...

(NPQ), which relies on the violaxanthin cycle and the plastidic protein PsbS, is significantly enhanced in sun leaves [NIYOGI & TRUONG, 2013]. Sun and shade leaves differ in size, shape, and number of chloroplasts, in addition to structural morpho-anatomical and physiological characteristics. The size of the chloroplasts in sun leaves is smaller, and the thylakoid/grana ratio is lower than in shade leaves [BRESINSKY & al. 2008]. On the other hand, bundle sheath extensions (BSEs) confer plasticity in leaf structure and function in response to low irradiance levels and may act as a hub connecting leaf structure, photosynthetic performance, and water supply and demand [BARBOSA & al. 2018].

Patchouli (*Pogostemon cablin* (Blanco) Benth.) is an aromatic herbaceous plant that belongs to the Lamiaceae family. Because of its strong fixative characteristics, its oil is employed as a "base" substance in the fragrance industry. It is utilized as a flavoring agent in a variety of foods and also has a variety of medical benefits. It is an effective under-crop in areca nut and coconut orchards. It could also be accomplished by planting appropriate shade trees. The plant prefers partial shade but can also be grown in full-sun conditions. In horticultural crops, phenotypic plasticity can be used to boost productivity [LANDE, 2009], and it is an important concern for breeders grappling with the genetic association between important morphological attributes [WAITT & VLEVIN, 1998]. In this context, the present detailed investigation was undertaken into shade-induced morphological and anatomical plasticity in patchouli concerning economic traits.

Material and methods

Study area, methodology, and plant material

The present study was conducted at the CSIR-CIMAP Research Centre in Bengaluru with three different light intensity treatments: full sunlight (50000 lux), 30% shade (35000 lux), and 50% shade (25000 lux). The sunlight intensity was measured under the canopy of the Jack fruit tree via a handheld Lux meter (LX-102); the respective PAR values are 925 μ mol s⁻¹m⁻², 647.5 μ mol s⁻¹m⁻², and 462.5 μ mol s⁻¹m⁻², respectively. Before plantations, the selected experimental area was confirmed for constant light intensity under the trees. The patchouli cultivar CIM-Shrestha was selected for the present study and was grown under field conditions at an optimum temperature of 32±3 °C. The treatments were replicated eight times in a randomized complete block design (RCBD), and recommended doses of fertilizer and cultural practices were adopted.

Morphological, growth, and yield parameters

Plant growth and yield parameters were taken at the harvest time (after five months of plantation). The leaf and stem color of the plants were recorded by visual observations. Plant height (cm), inter-nodal length (cm), and petiole length (cm) were measured using a graduated ruler. Petiole diameter (mm) was measured using a digital caliper rule. The number of branches and leaves was counted. The leaf area was determined by using a leaf area meter (LI-COR 3100C, Nebraska, USA). Chlorophyll content was recorded by the SPAD-502 meter at the time of harvest, and mean values for each treatment were calculated. The infestation of leaf rollers was observed and recorded as the number of larvae per plant.

Anatomical observations

The leaf samples for the anatomical studies were collected fully expanded in the third node from the apical bud. Leaves were cross-sectioned freehand with a razor aid in a manual microtome and mounted with 5% glycerin for leaf thickness measurement. The thickness of the leaf blade and palisade parenchyma was measured in µm at the midrib and then at the lamina, 1

Naraganahalli Dasappa YOGENDRA & al.

mm to its left and right. Stomatal density (mm²) and chloroplast number in the guard cells were counted on the abaxial side using the nail polish impression method. Trichomes (non-glandular) and oil glands (glandular) were counted by staining the decolorized leaf segment with 1% Methylene blue for one minute. All the observations were taken under the light microscope (Olympus CX 31) at 40 X magnification. In all the cases, ten readings were taken five times, and the mean was calculated.

Phenotypic plasticity analysis

The phenotypic plasticity index (PI) was calculated separately for the measured plant traits such as growth and yield, leaf anatomy, chlorophyll content, and chemical compounds [GREWELL & al. 2016]. The difference between the maximum and minimum values was divided by the maximum value to produce the index. Higher PI values, which are closer to one, imply that the variable is more plastic [CHEPLICK, 1995]. The mean PI was derived by averaging the plasticity index of individual groups such as growth and yield, leaf anatomy, chlorophyll content, and chemical compounds.

Oil extraction and analysis

To evaluate the essential oil contents, dried samples of patchouli leaves were subjected to hydro distillation (2000 mL capacity flask) for 5-6 hours using a Clevenger-type apparatus. The percentage yield of oil (g/100 g) in each of the samples was calculated concerning the dry weight of the leaves. The extracted oil samples were further subjected to the identification of compounds with GC and GC-MS.

Statistical analysis

The experimental data of all observations were subjected to one-way ANOVA by SPSS (19.0) and the values of least significant differences (LSD) were set at 1% and 5%. The simple correlation coefficient between 11 characters was carried out as per the procedure suggested by SINGH & CHAUDHARY (1995). The principal component analysis (PCA) method explained by HARMAN (1976) was followed in the extraction of the components. PCA and biplot graphical display was performed using R-studio software. A PCA-based selection index was constructed using computed principal components wherein data was normalized and weights were assigned based on the PCs having an Eigenvalue greater than one.

Results

Plants ability to grow effectively is severely hampered by shading stress. For the development of aromatic crops, it is critical to understand how the patchouli plant's morphoanatomical adaptations are formed in response to reduced light conditions. The effects of shade stress on the growth, development, and yield of the patchouli cultivar CIM-Shrestha were investigated and analyzed. The data are shown in Table 1.

Morphological, growth, and yield traits

Patchouli plants exhibited significant variability in morphological traits under different light intensity regimes that were observed and recorded. The leaf color was dark green and the young shoot was green in color in 30% (Figure 1b) and 50% (Figure 1c) shade grown patchouli, whereas it was green-yellowish in leaf color and purple in young shoots in plants that were grown under open conditions (Figure 1a). Significant increases in shoot length (113.83 cm), inter-node (3.78 cm), and petiole (3.78 cm), as well as leaf area (59.17 cm²), while a drastic reduction in the number of branches (14.26), leaves (96.62), total fresh weight (152.95 g), dry weight (29.64 g), oil content (0.98%) and oil yield (0.30 g) per plant were recorded in the 50%

SHADE-INDUCED PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY AND ITS IMPACT ...

shade grown plants compared to open-condition grown patchouli plants. However, there is no significant variation noticed in the patchouli plants between the 30% shade grown and open-condition-grown plants in terms of oil content (1.97% and 2.04%, respectively) and oil yield (1.67 g and 1.89 g, respectively).

Leaf anatomical traits and SPAD chlorophyll content

Significant leaf anatomical plasticity was detected in the plants grown under different light environmental conditions. The leaf thickness was drastically reduced with increasing shade conditions. It was observed in the 50% shade (Figure 1f) grown plants (117.57 μ m) followed by 30% shade (Figure 1e) grown plants (216.00 μ m) compared to open condition grown (Figure 1d) plants (239.14 μ m), while the thickness of palisade parenchyma tissue was also decreased in the patchouli plants grown under 50% shade (26.28 μ m) followed by 30% shade (46.21 μ m) compared to open condition grown (Figure 1d) plants (56.86 µm). Furthermore, the number of stomata (12.43 no./mm²), trichomes (13.14 no./mm²), and oil glands (10.14 no./mm²) was found to be very low in 50% shade (Figure 11) grown patchouli plants compared to 30% shade (Figure 1k) grown and open condition (Figure 1j) grown plants, whereas the number of chloroplasts per stomatal guard cell was found to be highest in 50% shade (13.71 no./stomata). Interestingly, major anatomical modifications such as bundle sheath extensions (BSEs) were detected in the leaf petiole of 50% (Figure 1i) and 30% of shade-grown plants (Figure 1h). Moreover, the BSEs were not found in the patchouli plants grown in open condition (Figure 1g). Furthermore, the chlorophyll content was highest in patchouli plants grown in 50% shade (46.96), 30% shade (43.03), and open conditions (40.43).

Chemical composition of patchouli essential oil

The chemical composition was analyzed, and the major chemical constituents of the oil, such as patchouli alcohol (patchoulol), α -Bulnesene (δ -guaiene), and β -Caryophyllene were considered. Of these, the compound β -Caryophyllene was recorded at the highest (3.54%) in 50% shade grown plants, followed by open-condition grown plants (3.13%), compared to 30% shade grown (2.94%) patchouli plants. However, the patchouli alcohol percentage was found to be the lowest (42.44%) in 50% shade-grown plants when compared to open-condition (47.72%) and 30% shade-grown plants (45.21%). There was no significant variation in α -Bulnesene between treatments, such as 12.28%, 11.59%, and 11.41% in open-condition, 30%, and 50% shade-grown plants, respectively.

Phenotypic plasticity index

The plasticity index showed variable values between the four analyzed groups, viz., growth and yield, leaf anatomy, chlorophyll content, and chemical compounds of the oil under two different shade levels. Box plots (Figure 2) comprising these groups exhibited the highest PI for growth and yield traits (0.56) followed by leaf anatomical traits (0.51), and the lowest for the chemical component traits (0.11) and chlorophyll content (0.14) in the 50% shade-grown plants. In the 30% shade, plants also exhibited phenotypic plasticity, but they had the lowest PI of all the analyzed traits, such as 0.20 for leaf anatomical traits, 0.18 for growth and yield traits, 0.06 for chlorophyll content, and 0.05 for chemical components.

Correlation studies

The oil yield per plant in patchouli had a positive correlation with the plant height (r=0.109), inter-nodal length (r=0.141), the number of branches per plant (r=0.067), number of

leaves per plant (r=0.202), leaf area (r=0.201), oil glands (r=0.315), trichomes (r=0.013), fresh weight (r =0.227), and dry weight (r=0.669), while the leaf thickness (r=-0.041) was negatively correlated with the oil yield. Concomitantly, the oil glands had a strong association with leaf area (r=0.566), leaf thickness (r=0.974), as well as trichomes (r=0.306). However, the dry weight per plant had a highly significant positive correlation with the plant height (r=0.483), the number of branches per plant (r=0.672), the number of leaves per plant (r=0.573), leaf area (r=0.562), leaf thickness, and fresh weight (r=0.606), while the inter-nodal length (r=-0.447), oil glands (r=-0.407), and trichomes (r=-0.501), were negatively correlated with the dry weight in the patchouli (Table 2).

Principal component analysis (PCA)

To analyze the pattern of relationships between traits, PCA was carried out, considering the selected 11 quantitative traits simultaneously (Table 3). Out of eleven PCs formed, only one PCs exhibited more than one Eigenvalue (3.040) and showed about 84.07% variability. Eigenvalues above one generates components with significant quantities of information about the original variations. The PC I accounted for the maximum proportion of total variability in the set of all variables studied, and the remaining components accounted for progressively less variation. PC I accounts for approximately 84.07% of the variation and is primarily contributed by leaf area (0.312), internode length (0.300), and plant height (0.292), whereas PC II (5.51) is more related to plant growth and oil yield contributing traits such as oil glands (0.354), fresh weight (0.341), plant height (0.327), internode length (0.309), leaf area (0.307), dry weight (0.303), oil yield (0.275), trichomes In addition, biplot analysis of eleven traits formed by the components PC I and PC II retained 89.58% of the original variance in the patchouli plant grown under three different conditions, *viz.*, open, 30% shade, and 50% shade. The length of arrows showed the proportion of contribution, and the direction of the arrows indicated whether the proportion was positive or negative, as shown in Figure 3.

Pest infestation

During the study period, leaf roller (*Pachyzacia stultalis*) infestation exclusively noted in 50% shade-grown patchouli, with two to five larvae per plant, resulting in the browning and drying of the affected areas.

Discussions

Plants can change their physiology and morphology in response to environmental challenges, which is reflected in their phenotypic variation. Plants that grow in low-light environments frequently undergo such changes [MARKESTEIJN & al. 2007]. The present findings showed that there are strong morpho-anatomical variations between sun and shade-grown leaves in patchouli, which match the situation in "traditional" angiosperm sun and shade leaves [GRATANI & al. 2006]. The morphological characteristics of patchouli plants grown in 50% shade showed a significant increase in leaf color, plant height, inter-nodal length, and leaf area. The improved leaf color was correlated with increased foliar chloroplast number as well as chlorophyll concentration in response to shading. A comparison of the relative levels of photosynthetic pigments in shade-growing patchouli plants revealed that chlorophyll b and carotenoids accumulate preferentially over chlorophyll content is a mechanism to boost light interception. The increased chlorophyll content is to improve the effectiveness of

SHADE-INDUCED PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY AND ITS IMPACT...

photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) absorption, showing crop adaptability to reduced light intensity [CARTECHINI & PALLIOTTI, 1995].

Plants usually develop a higher leaf area when grown under low-light conditions. In shade-grown patchouli plants, leaf area increased while leaf number decreased as a result of a 50% increase in the shade. Several studies have shown that increasing leaf area increases net photosynthesis [SULANDJARI & al. 2005][•] The plastic response of leaf area increase enables plants to maintain high performance under shading and has to constitute adaptive plasticity [EVANS & POORTER, 2001]. On the other hand, increasing the shade level, which decreases the leaf size by reducing palisade parenchyma tissue, was observed in shade-grown (30% and 50%) patchouli plants. The shade reduces the size of the plant leaf by controlling cell proliferation and expansion while also reducing the quantity and size of cells. It causes thinner leaves with thinner palisade tissues [EVANS & POORTER, 2001], resulting in a structure that hinders CO₂ dissolution and transport. Many plant species have smaller and thinner leaves as a reaction to shade stress. Changes in stomatal densities on the adaxial and abaxial surfaces reveal the anatomical plasticity of patchouli as a consequence of the cultural environment [TERASHIMA & al. 2001].

The development of bundle sheath tissue in the leaf petiole of patchouli plants has been shown to be adaptive anatomical plasticity under shade conditions. Bundle sheaths may act as flux sensors or "control centers" for leaf water transport [LEEGOOD, 2008] and bundle sheath extensions (BSEs), which connect the vascular bundle to the epidermis and so lower the resistance in the water path between the supply structures (veins) and the water vapor exits, improving hydraulic integration of the lamina. The BSEs are most typically found in minor veins, but depending on the species, they can occur in veins of any order [WYLIE, 1952]. As a result, such leaves, and thus the species that have them, are referred to as "heterobaric", as opposed to "homobaric" plants that do not have BSEs. It was reported that BSEs could play an ecological role in the leaf by influencing mechanical and physiological characteristics [TERASHIMA, 1992] and more experimental support, implying that BSEs could be adaptive traits. Concomitantly, BSEs increased in the leaves, which improved the light transmission within the leaf blade [NIKOLOPOULOS & al. 2002].

The oil yield in patchouli is mainly dependent on the number of oil glands and trichomes, leaf area, plant height, the number of branches and leaves, as well as fresh weight and dry weight. This phenotypic variation is highly influenced by the shade (50%) condition. As a result, a 50% reduction in the oil yield has been recorded in patchouli plants which were grown under the 50% shade conditions. When patchouli is grown in a plantation with more than 30% shade, the infestation of leaf roller (*Pachyzacia stultalis*) is severe, causing significant crop yield damage. During the months of October and December, the leaves are completely infested [GAHUKAR, 2018]. However, patchouli has strong insecticidal activity against lepidopteran pests, and this oil has sufficient efficacy to be considered as a component of an essential oilbased insecticide that targets lepidopteran pests [MACHIAL & al. 2010]. Trichomes are a type of morphological adaptation that protects plants by secreting chemicals to protect the leaves from insect pest [BARBOSA & al. 2018]. This clearly indicated that decreases in the number of glandular trichomes and oil content in the 50% shade-grown plants make them most susceptible to leaf roller infestation due to the decreases in defense mechanisms.

Naraganahalli Dasappa YOGENDRA & al.

 Table 1. Comparison of growth, yield, leaf anatomy, chlorophyll content, and oil chemical compounds in full-sunlight and shade (30% and 50%) grown patchouli plants

Democratica	Full Sunlight	30% Shade	50% Shade	CV (%)	Phenotypic Plasticity Index (PI)		
rarameters					(30% Shade)	(50% Shade)	
Growth and yield traits							
Plant height (cm)	80.71°	97.50 ^b	113.83 ^a	10.06	0.20	0.29	
Number of branches plant ⁻¹	30.51ª	24.62 ^b	14.26°	15.87	0.19	0.53	
Number of leaves plant ⁻¹	412.35ª	338.46 ^b	96.62°	5.02	0.17	0.77	
Leaf area (cm ²)	25.83°	38.45 ^b	59.17ª	12.73	0.48	0.56	
Petiole length (cm)	1.52 ^b	1.77 ^b	3.78ª	13.31	0.14	0.6	
Petiole width (mm)	1.59°	2.31 ^b	3.44 ^a	5.88	0.31	0.54	
Internode length (cm)	4.95°	6.56 ^b	8.81ª	11.02	0.24	0.44	
Fresh weight plant ⁻¹ (g)	266.35ª	271.32ª	152.95 ^b	6.66	0.01	0.44	
Dry weight plant ⁻¹ (g)	92.99ª	85.01 ^b	29.64°	8.40	0.08	0.68	
Oil content plant ⁻¹ (%)	2.04ª	1.97ª	0.98 ^b	13.54	0.03	0.52	
Oil yield plant ⁻¹ (g)	1.89ª	1.67ª	0.30 ^b	14.79	0.11	0.84	
		Leaf anat	omical tra	aits			
Leaf thickness (µm)	239.14ª	216.00 ^b	117.57°	9.49	0.09	0.51	
Cuticle thickness(µm)	6.84ª	5.88 ^b	3.7°	13.17	0.14	0.46	
Thickness of palisade parenchyma (μm)	56.86ª	46.21 ^b	26.28°	6.77	0.18	0.53	
stomatal density (number mm ⁻²)	20.43ª	15.43 ^b	12.43 ^b	23.33	0.24	0.39	
Chloroplasts number stomata ⁻¹	8.43°	11.71 ^b	13.71ª	9.67	0.38	0.38	
Oil glands (number mm ⁻²)	22.71ª	18.57ª	10.14 ^b	24.16	0.18	0.55	
Trichomes (number mm ⁻²)	68.29ª	51.00 ^b	13.14°	14.35	0.25	0.80	
SPAD Chlorophyll content							
Chlorophyll content	40.43°	43.03 ^b	46.96 ^a	4.93	0.06	0.14	
	Che	mical com	pounds of	f oil (%)			
Patchouli alcohol	47.72 ^a	45.21 ^{ab}	42.44 ^b	6.49	0.05	0.11	
α-Bulnesene (= δ-guaiene)	12.28 ^a	11.59ª	11.41 ^a	10.05	0.05	0.07	
β-Caryophyllene	3.13 ^b	2.94 ^b	3.54 ^a	5.13	0.06	0.17	

Table 2. Conclation matrix for on yield in patchoun											
	Oil yield	Plant height	Inter- node length	No. of branches	No. of leaves	Leaf area	Leaf thickness	Oil gland	Trichomes	Fresh wt.	Dry wt.
Oil yield	1										
Plant height	0.109	1									
Inter-node length	0.141	0.994**	1								
No. of branches	0.067	0.398**	-0.388**	1							
No. of leaves	0.202	0.302**	0.305**	0.766**	1						
Leaf area	0.201	-0.329**	0.321**	-0.718**	-0.995**	1					
Leaf thickness	-0.041	-0.072	-0.131	0.559**	0.468**	0.397**	1				
Oil gland	0.315**	-0.062	-0.125	-0.623**	-0.637**	0.566**	0.974**	1			
Trichomes	0.013	-0.851**	-0.849**	-0.644**	-0.349**	0.334**	0.107	0.306**	1		
Fresh wt.	0.227*	0.952**	-0.942**	0.534**	0.342**	0.321**	0.356**	-0.064	-0.928**	1	
Dry wt.	0.669**	0.483**	-0.447**	0.672**	0.573**	0.562**	0.343**	-0.407**	-0.501**	0.606**	1

SHADE-INDUCED PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY AND ITS IMPACT... Table 2 Correlation matrix for oil vield in patchouli

Highly significant (p<0.001) = **; Significant (p<0.05) = *

Table 3. The Eigen values, per cent va	ariance and per cent cumula	ative variance for three principal
components (PCs) and factor loa	ding between PCs and trait	s studied in patchouli plant

Principle component	PC I	PC II	PC III
Eigen values	3.040	0.778	0.668
Proportion of variation	84.07	5.51	4.05
Cumulative proportion	84.07	89.58	93.63
Oil yield/plant	-0.315	-0.048	0.275
Plant height	0.292	-0.423	0.327
Inter-node length	0.300	-0.095	0.309
No. of branches/plant	-0.284	-0.132	-0.509
No. of leaves/plant	-0.323	-0.107	0.105
Leaf area	0.312	-0.102	0.307
Leaf thickness	-0.290	-0.468	-0.072
Oil glands	-0.261	0.672	0.354
Trichomes	-0.310	-0.164	0.125
Fresh wt.	-0.305	-0.266	0.341
Dry wt.	-0.312	-0.013	0.303

Naraganahalli Dasappa YOGENDRA & al.



Figure 1. Plant morphology: (a) full-sunlight grown plant, (b) 30% shade grown plant and (c) 50% shade grown plant; Cross section of the leaf blade: (d) full-sunlight, (e) 30% shade, and (f) 50% shade grown plant; Cross section of the petiole: (g) full-sunlight, (h) 30% shade, and (i) 50% shade grown plant; Leaf stomatal density: (j) full-sunlight, (k) 30% shade, and (l) 50% shade grown plant. (* Circle marks show the bundle sheath extensions region in the cross section of petiole)



SHADE-INDUCED PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY AND ITS IMPACT...

Figure 2. Box plots showing the phenotypic plasticity index (PI) distribution for each of the measured traits between 30% shade and 50% shade-grown patchouli plants



Figure 3. Biplot diagram of principal components

Conclusions

The patchouli plants when grown under more than 50% shade conditions exhibited the highest phenotypic plasticity in all the traits compared to 30% shade grown plants as well as open condition grown plants. The expression of a higher level of phenotypic plasticity in patchouli plants under shade (50%) has shown a negative impact on essential oil yield production and a positive effect on the ability to thrive under limited light intensity conditions.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the Director, CIMAP, Lucknow for providing facilities. The present work was supported by the CSIR, New Delhi, India (Aroma Mission-II, HCP-0007).

References

- BALLARÉ C. & PIERIK R. 2017. The shade-avoidance syndrome: multiple signals and ecological consequences. Plant, Cell & Environment. 40(11): 2530-2543. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12914
- BARBOSA M. A. M., CHITWOOD D. H., AZEVEDO A. A., ARAÚJO W., RIBEIRO D., PERES L., MARTINS S. & ZSOGON A. 2018. Bundle sheath extensions affect leaf structural and physiological plasticity in response to irradiance. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* 42(5): 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13495
- BRESINSKY A., KORNER C., KADEREIT J. W., NEUHAUS G. & SONNEWALD U. 2008. Strasburger, Lehrbuch der Botanik. 36th ed. Heidelberg. Spektrum.
- CARTECHINI A. & PALLIOTTI A. 1995. Effect of shading on vine morphology and productivity and leaf gas exchange characteristics in grapevines in the field. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*. 46(2): 227-234. https://doi.org/10.5344/ajev.1995.46.2.227
- CHEPLICK G. P. 1995. Genotypic variation and plasticity of clonal growth in relation to nutrient availability in *Amphibromus scabrivalvis. Journal of Ecology.* **83**(3): 459-468. https://doi.org/10.2307/2261599
- EVANS J. & POORTER H. 2001. Photosynthetic acclimation of plants to growth irradiance: the relative importance of specific leaf area and nitrogen partitioning in maximizing carbon gain. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* 24(8): 755-767. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.2001.00724.x
- GAHUKAR R. 2018. Management of pests and diseases of important tropical/subtropical medicinal and aromatic plants: A review. Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants. 9: 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmap.2018.03.002
- GRATANI L., COVONE F. & LARCHER W. 2006. Leaf plasticity in response to light of three evergreen species of Mediterranean maquis. Trees. 20: 549-558. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-006-0070-6
- GREWELL B. J., CASTILLO J. M., SKAER THOMASON M. J. & DRENOVSKY R. E. 2016. Phenotypic plasticity and population differentiation in response to salinity in the invasive cordgrass *Spartina densiflora*. *Biological Invasions*. 18: 2175-2187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-015-1041-x
- HARMAN H. H. 1976. Modern Factor Analysis, 3rd ed., University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 105 pp.
- LANDE R. 2009. Adaptation to an extraordinary environment by evolution of phenotypic plasticity and genetic assimilation. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*. **22**(7): 1435–1446. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2009.01754.x
- LEEGOOD R. C. 2008. Roles of the bundle sheath cells in leaves of C₃ plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. **59**(7): 1663-1673. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erm335
- MACHIAL C. M., SHIKANO I., SMIRLE M., RODERICK B. & ISMAN M. B. 2010. Evaluation of the toxicity of 17 essential oils against *Choristoneura rosaceana* (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae) and *Trichoplusia ni* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Pest Management Science*. 66(10): 1116-21. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.1988
- MARKESTEIJN L., POORTER L. & BONGERS F. 2007. Light-dependent leaf trait variation in 43 tropical dry forest tree species. American Journal of Botany. 94(4): 515-525. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.94.4.515
- MENDES M. M., GAZARINI L. C. & RODRIGUES M. L. 2001. Acclimation of Myrtus communis to contrasting Mediterranean light environments – effects on structure and chemical composition of foliage and plant water relations. Environmental and Experimental Botany. 45(2): 165-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0098-8472(01)00073-9
- MISRA M. 1995. Growth, photosynthetic pigment content and oil yield of *Pogostemon cablin* growth under sun and shade conditions. *Journal of plant biology*. 37: 219-223. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02913216

SHADE-INDUCED PHENOTYPIC PLASTICITY AND ITS IMPACT ...

- NIKOLOPOULOS D., LIAKOPOULOS G., DROSSOPOULOS I. & KARABOURNIOTIS G. 2002. The relationship between anatomy and photosynthetic performance of heterobaric leaves. *Plant Physiology*. **129**(1): 235-243. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.010943
- NIINEMETS U. 2010. A review of light interception in plant stands from leaf to canopy in different plant functional types and in species with varying shade tolerance. *Ecological Research.* 25: 693-714. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-010-0712-4
- NIYOGI K. K. & TRUONG T. B. 2013. Evolution of flexible non-photochemical quenching mechanisms that regulate light harvesting in oxygenic photosynthesis. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*. 16(3): 307-314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2013.03.011
- SINGH R. K. & CHAUDHARY B. D. 1995. Biometrical methods in quantitative genetic analysis. Kalyani Publishers, New Delhi: 215-218.
- SULANDJARI S. P., WISNUBROTO S. & IN-DRADEWA D. 2005. Hubungan mikroklimat de-ngan pertumbuhan dan hasil pule pandak (*Rauvolfia serpentina* Benth.). Agrosains. 7(2): 71-76.
- TERASHIMA I. 1992. Anatomy of nonuniform leaf photosynthesis. *Photosynthesis Research.* **31**: 195-212. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00035537
- TERASHIMA I., MIYAZAWA S. I. & HANBA Y. T. 2001. Why are sun leaves thicker than shade leaves? Consideration based on analyses of CO₂ diffusion in the leaf. *Journal of Plant Research.* 114: 93-105. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00013972
- TERASHIMA I. M., HANBA Y. T., TAZOE Y., VYAS P. & YANO S. 2006. Irradiance and phenotype: comparative eco-development of sun and shade leaves in relation to photosynthetic CO₂ diffusion. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 57(2): 343-354. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erj014
- WAITT D. E. & LEVIN D. A. 1998. Genetic and phenotypic correlations in plants: a botanical test of Cheverud's conjecture. *Journal of Heredity*. 80(3): 310-319. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2540.1998.00298.x
- WYLIE R. B. 1952. The bundle sheath extension in leaves of dicotyledons. American Journal of Botany. 39: 645-651. https://doi.org/10.2307/2438370

How to cite this article:

YOGENDRA N. D., RAVI KUMARA R., KEERTHI P. E., ARUL PRAKASH T. & SUNDARESAN V. 2024. Shadeinduced phenotypic plasticity and its impact on the economic traits of Patchouli, *Pogostemon cablin* (Blanco) Benth., a high-value aromatic crop. J. Plant Develop. **31**: 53-64. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.951 **Research Article**

NUTRITIONAL AND OIL PROFILE OF THE SEEDS OF SESAMUM INDICUM L. AND VITELLARIA PARADOXA C. F. GAERTN.

<u>Ibrahim Umar KARAYE</u>^{1*}, Sule Aliyu ANKA¹, Musa Tanko MUHAMMAD², Shafi'u Isma'ila ADILI³, Muhammad Hannatu LAWAL³

¹ Department of Biology, Faculty of Chemical and Life Sciences, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, Sokoto – Nigeria.

² Department of Biological Sciences, Sokoto State University (SSU), Sokoto – Nigeria.

³ Department of Environmental Biology, Shehu Shagari University of Education, Farfaru,

Sokoto - Nigeria.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: karaye.ibrahim@udusok.edu.ng, ORCID: 0000-0002-1638-1632

Abstract: Nutritional and oil profile of the seeds of Sesamum indicum and Vitellaria paradoxa from Sokoto, Nigeria was carried out using standard biochemical procedures. Proximate, ascorbic acid, mineral analysis as well as extraction, quantification and the physicochemical analysis of the seed oil were assessed. On proximate and ascorbic acid analysis. The seeds were found to contain appreciable amounts of crude proteins with 18.23% and 8.70% obtained in S. indicum and V. paradoxa respectively. Lipid contents revealed 42.51% in S. indicum and 51.34% in V. paradoxa respectively. Total carbohydrates revealed that 39.03% and 52.12% were obtained in S. indicum and V. paradoxa respectively. Crude fiber contents revealed 5.31 g/100 g in S. indicum while in V. paradoxa, 7.11 g/100 g was recorded. Percentage ash contents revealed 6.62% and 4.61% in S. indicum and V. paradoxa respectively. Available energy (kj) revealed that S. indicum had 603.04 kj/100 g while V. paradoxa had 614.12 kj/100 g respectively signaling them as formidable energy sources. Ascorbic acid analysis revealed 97.36 mg/100 g and 179.16 mg/100 g in S. indicum and V. paradoxa respectively. With significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in the contents of crude proteins, crude lipid, crude carbohydrate, calorific value and ascorbic acid between the two sampled seeds. Minerals analysis revealed that the two seeds were rich in most of the essential minerals required for healthy growth and development. For instance, sodium was found to be 2.67 mg/100 g in S. indicum while 2.23 mg/100 g was identified in V. paradoxa. Potassium, magnesium and phosphorus results indicate that S. indicum had 56.96 mg/100 g, 62.12 mg/100 g and 76.72 mg/100 g and V. paradoxa had 46.72 mg/100 g, 31.64 mg/100 g and 116.74 mg/100 g respectively. With significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in the contents of potassium, magnesium and phosphorus oil extraction and its physicochemical properties revealed that the two seed contained substantial amounts of oil with 38.23% in S. indicum and 43.14% in V. paradoxa respectively. Acid value analysis showed that S. indicum had 32.14 mg KOH/kg while V. paradoxa had 33.24 mg KOH/kg. Saponification value analysis revealed that 131.86 mg KOH in S. indicum while 154.74 mg KOH was found in V. paradoxa. Iodine value analyzed showed that 116.86 g I₂/100 g in S. indicum while 124.77 g I2/100 g was obtained in V. paradoxa while % Free Fatty Acid analysis revealed that S. indicum had 7.63% while V. paradoxa had 8.74% respectively. With significant difference (P≤0.05) between the two species in percentage yield, saponification and iodine values between the two seeds. The two studied seed types are endowed with natural food reserves and other much needed raw materials that could have industrial application making the seeds as formidable ingredients required for use by man.

Keywords: nutritional, physicochemical, seed-oil, Sesamum indicum, Vitellaria paradoxa.

Introduction

Nigeria, a country with a population exceeding 200 million, grapples with a multifaceted challenge: the intersection of energy and dietary problems within its food supply system. From food insecurity and malnutrition to agricultural practices and cultural dynamics, the factors influencing energy and dietary problems are explored in-depth. At the heart of

NUTRITIONAL AND OIL PROFILE OF THE SEEDS OF SESAMUM INDICUM L. AND VITELLARIA ...

Nigeria's energy and dietary issues lies food insecurity, affecting a substantial portion of the population [BENNETT & VOKOUN, 2023]. Many Nigerians lack consistent access to sufficient and nutrient-dense foods, resulting in chronic under nutrition and malnutrition. A significant consequence is the prevalence of deficiencies in essential vitamins, minerals, and macronutrients that are crucial for maintaining optimal health and well-being [ADEYEMI & al. 2023]. A defining feature of the Nigerian diet is its heavy reliance on staple crops such as cassava, vam, and maize. While these crops provide energy, they often fall short in providing a diverse range of nutrients necessary for a balanced diet [JACOB & al. 2023]. This dietary imbalance contributes to both under nutrition and over nutrition, as individuals may consume high quantities of carbohydrates while lacking essential vitamins and proteins. Nigeria's agricultural practices are marred by low productivity, traditional farming methods, and inadequate storage facilities. These challenges result in reduced yields, post-harvest losses, and limited availability of fresh produce. Inefficient agricultural practices hinder the country's ability to provide an ample and varied food supply, further exacerbating energy and dietary issues. The energy and dietary problems associated with Nigeria's food supply system are complex and interlinked, driven by a combination of factors spanning from agriculture and economy to culture and infrastructure. Addressing these challenges necessitates a multi-pronged approach that involves government policies, community engagement, education, agricultural innovations, and healthcare interventions. By acknowledging the depth of these issues and implementing comprehensive strategies, Nigeria can pave the way towards a more nourished and healthier future for its population. Rapid urbanization has introduced shifts in dietary habits, as individual transition from traditional diets to processed and convenience foods. Urban dwellers often face challenges in accessing fresh and affordable produce, leading to a higher consumption of energy-dense but nutrient-poor foods. This trend contributes to rising rates of diet-related noncommunicable diseases such as diabetes and obesity. The term oil is used in general sense to describe all substances that are greasy or oily fluid at room temperature. There are abundant vegetable oils, namely; coconut oil, ground nut oil, rubber seed oil, cotton seed oil, olive oil, soy bean oil and cotton seed oil, etc. [DAWODU, 2009]. Vegetable oils are normally extracted from fruits, seeds kernel and nuts either by mechanical press or by use of solvents [AKPABIO & al. 2011].

Sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) is an herbaceous annual plant that belongs to the family Pedaliaceae genus Sesamum. Sesame seed is also known as benniseed (Africa), benne (Southern United States), gingerly (India), gengelin (Brazil), sim-sim, semsem (Hebrew) and tila (Sanskrit) [HASSAN, 2012]. Sesame has many species; most are wild and are native to sub-Saharan Africa. Sesame is highly tolerant to drought like conditions, and grows where other crops may fail. It is well suited to smallholder farming with a relatively short harvest cycle of 90-140 days allowing other crops to be grown in the field [USDA, 2005]. The world harvested about 4.76 million metric tons of sesame seeds in 2013, with Burma as the largest producer. The world's largest exporter of sesame seeds was India, while Japan was the largest importer [FAO, 2012]. Nearly 70% of the world production is from Asia. Africa grows 26% of the world's sesame, with Sierra Leone, Sudan, Nigeria and Uganda being key producers [MAKINDE & AKINOSO, 2013]. Sesame production in Nigeria probably began in the middle belt region of the country and later spread out between latitudes 6° and 10°N. The major producing areas in order of priority are Nasarawa, Jigawa and Benue States. Other important areas of production are found in Yobe, Kano, Katsina, Kogi, Gombe and Plateau States [OJIAKO & al. 2010]. The black and white cultivars are grown basically in Nigeria. The white cultivar is grown around Benue (Oturkpo), Nassarawa (Doma), Jigawa (Malam-Madori) and Taraba states while the

black cultivar grows in the Northern Nigerian region; Kano (Dawanau), and Jigawa (near Hadejia) states and in some parts of Katsina state [MAKINDE & AKINOSO, 2013].

S. indicum, known as sesame is an herbaceous annual plant that belongs to the family Pedaliaceae [AMOO & al. 2017]. Sesame has one of the highest oil contents of any seed. It is probably the most ancient oilseed used by humans as a food source [ABOU-GHARBIA & al. 2000]. Having nutty flavor, it is a common ingredient in cuisines across the world. In Nigeria, sesame seeds are used as soup ingredient, and constitute a useful source of vegetable oil for cooking [BEDIGAN, 2006]. At the local level it is processed into *Kantun ridi* and *Kunun ridi*. Oil is also extracted from the seed and the cake is made into *kulikuli* which together with the leaves are used to prepare local soup known as *Miyar taushe* and also used for cooking [MAKINDE & AKINOSO, 2013].

Sesame seeds have the highest oil content than rapeseed, groundnut, soybean and other oilseed crops [ANILAKUMAR & al. 2010]. Its oil and protein contents are estimated to be 50-60% and 18-25% respectively. To this can be added carbohydrates, fibers and ash [ALPASLAN & al. 2001]. This composition is supplemented by methionine (3.2%) which is often the limiting amino acid in legume-based tropical diets; tryptophan and the wide range of minerals such as phosphorus, calcium, iron, magnesium etc. as well as vitamins B1 and Vitamin E [OJIAKO & al. 2010].

Vitellaria paradoxa C. F. Gaertn. was cited three decades ago as the second most important oil crop in Africa after oil palm and is probably the most economically and culturally important tree species in the Sudan Sahelian region of Africa where oil palm does not grow. Across the distribution area, the estimated actual number of productive trees ranges from several hundred million [LOVETH, 2014] to a couple of billion respectively making it one of the largest population size of an economic tree species in the region. The dried kernel of fruit is used to produce oil or fat (Shea butter) for local consumption and is commercially sold as an ingredient in cosmetics, pharmaceutical and edible product. Shea was reported as a traded commodity by the Arab traveler, Ibn Battuta as early as the 14th century. The magnitude of its distribution and local importance caught the attention of early explorers such as Mungo Park in 1798 and has been a subject of research since colonial times. It is interesting to note that, the Shea is estimated to serve as the primary source of edible oil for more than 80 million rural people [NOUGHTON & al. 2014].

V. paradoxa is among the major tree species in African agro forestry systems. It is an indigenous oil producing wild plant that belongs to the family Sapotaceae and spontaneously grows in Africa. The plant is adjudged to play an important role in the provision of edible oil or fat that is traditionally used for frying, adding to sauces, as a skin pomade, for medicinal applications, for soap making, oil for lanterns and for cultural purposes during ceremonies, such as births, weddings as well as for funerals. In fact, the seed kernels produce oil content which is highly nutritious with unsaturated fatty acids such as oleic and linoleic fatty acids and fat-soluble vitamins [KARIN, 2004; KAPSEU & al. 2007]. The tree is the main indigenous oil producing wild plant spontaneously growing in Africa [HONFO & al. 2012]. HEE (2011) reported that Shea tree begins to bear fruit of commercial quantity after approximately 20-50 years. Butter extracted its nuts offers an opportunity for sustainable development in Sudanian countries and an attractive potential for the food and cosmetics industries [DAVRIEUX & al. 2010].

NUTRITIONAL AND OIL PROFILE OF THE SEEDS OF SESAMUM INDICUM L. AND VITELLARIA ... Materials and methods

Sample collection and preparation

Freshly harvested ripe seeds of *S*.*indicum* were procured from vegetable market at Kasuwar Dankure while *V*. *paradoxa* seed kernels were obtained from Kasuwan Ramin Kura all within Sokoto metropolis. The seeds were carried to Departmental Herbarium Department of Plant Biology, where voucher specimens were deposited. The seeds were dehulled, cleaned and dried under the sun for a day and later dried in the oven for three hours at 50 °C to ensure that moisture content was highly removed. The seed samples were made into powder using cleaned pestle and mortar and kept in labeled bottles until used.

Proximate and ascorbic acid composition analysis

The micro-kjeldal method [PEARSON, 1976] was followed by the determination of crude proteins. Crude fats, crude fibre, moisture % and ash % were determined using the methods of [AOAC, 2005], while carbohydrate was determined by difference. The calorific values in kilo joule (kj) were calculated by multiplying the crude fat, protein and carbohydrate by Atwater factors of (k) 37, 17, and 17 respectively. Ascorbic acid was determined according to the method described by MUSA & al. (2010).

Mineral composition analysis

The minerals were analyzed by first dry ashing the samples at 550 °C in the muffle furnace. The filtered solutions were used to determine Na, K, Mg, Ca, Fe, Cu, Zn, Co, Cd, and Ni by means of Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer [AAS] (Buck Scientific Model-200A/210, Norwalk, Connecticut [06855]) and phosphorus was determined calorimetrically by Spectronic 20 (Gallenkamp, UK) using the phosphovanado molybdate method [AOAC, 2005].

Oil extraction and its physiochemical properties

Percentage oil yield and physicochemical properties of the Seed oil were determined in accordance with the protocols of ASTM D 189, ASTM-D 974, kinematic viscosity of the seed oil was carried out in accordance with the ASTM D 445 while iodine value and oil specific gravity were determined using the procedure as reported by AJIBOLA& al. (2018). Determination of the cetane number of the biodiesel was determined by the use of empirical formula in the literature using the result of saponification number (SN) and the iodine value (IV) of biodiesel. Oil colour and its physical state at room temperature were determined by organoleptic method [AOAC, 1975]. While physical state of the oil was determined by sensory evaluation [IBETO & al. 2012].

Data analysis

Treatments were replicated three times and the results obtained has been presented as means± S.E. of the means. The data collected was subjected to Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) using GenStat^(R) 18th edition. Where the treatments were found to be significantly different, mean separation was carried out using Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) at 5% level.

Results

Proximate and ascorbic acid composition

Proximate composition of *S. indicum* and *V. paradoxa* in Sokoto, Nigeria has been presented in Table 1 below. From the results, there was significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in the composition of crude proteins, total carbohydrates and ascorbic acid in the two samples. Crude protein content obtained in *S. indicum* was 16.96% while 7.72% was obtained in *V. paradoxa*. For total carbohydrates, 39.03% was recorded for *S. indicum* while 52.12% was obtained in *V.*

paradoxa. Ascorbic acid analysis revealed that *S. indicum* had 97.36 mg/100 g while *V. paradoxa* had 179.16 mg/100 g respectively.

Parameters	Units	Sesamum indicum	Vitellaria paradoxa
Moisture Content	%	2.67±0.63ª	2.23±0.53ª
Crude Protein	g/100 g	16.96±2.89ª	7.72±1.26 ^b
Crude lipid	g/100 g	42.12±2.86 ^a	41.64±1.62 ^a
Total carbohydrates	g/100 g	39.03±2.19ª	52.12 ± 2.10^{b}
Crude Fibre	g/100 g	5.31±0.86 ^a	7.11±0.99ª
Ash	%	$6.62{\pm}0.07^{a}$	4.61±0.05 ^a
Calorific Value	kj/100 g	$603.04{\pm}5.88^{a}$	614.12 ± 4.67^{a}
Vitamin C	mg/100 g	97.36±2.43ª	179.16±3.19 ^b

Table 1. Proximate and ascorbic acid composition of Sesamum indicum and Vitellaria paradoxa

Values are means \pm standard deviation of three replications. Values within a row with different superscripts were significantly different (p \leq 0.05).

Table 2. Mineral composition of the seeds of Sesamum indicum and Vitellaria paradoxa

Mineral (mg/100g)	Symbol	Sesamum indicum	Vitellaria paradoxa
Sodium	Na	2.67±0.63ª	2.23±0.53ª
Potassium	Κ	56.96±2.89 ^a	46.72 ± 1.26^{b}
Magnesium	Mg	62.12 ± 2.86^{a}	31.64 ± 1.62^{b}
Phosphorus	Р	76.72±1.69 ^a	116.74±2.83 ^b
Manganese	Mn	32.76±1.05 ^a	48.66±2.36ª
Calcium	Ca	116.64±1.14 ^a	132.54 ± 1.98^{b}
Iron	Fe	33.06±1.62 ^a	15.07 ± 1.02^{b}
Cupper	Cu	6.24±0.06a	$0.31{\pm}0.04^{a}$
Chromium	Cr	$0.06{\pm}0.03^{a}$	$0.02{\pm}0.01^{a}$
Zinc	Zn	13.36 ± 0.09^{a}	$11.74{\pm}0.08^{a}$
Nickel	Ni	$0.17{\pm}0.04^{a}$	0.19 ± 0.02^{a}

Values are means \pm standard deviation of three replications. Values within a row with different superscripts were significantly different (P \leq 0.05).

Results of mineral analysis have been presented in Table 2. The table revealed that there was significant difference (P \leq 0.05) in the composition of potassium, magnesium, phosphorus and iron. Calcium was the most abundant mineral with 116.64 mg/100 g and 132.54 mg/100 g in the seeds of *S. indicum* and *V. paradoxa* respectively. Phosphorus was the other mineral element with appraisable abundance in both the seeds with 76.72 mg/100 g obtained in *S. indicum* while 116.74 mg/100 g was obtained in *V. paradoxa*. Potassium was the third mineral with appreciable abundance with 56.96 mg/100 g while *V. paradoxa* had 46.72 mg/100 g.

Oil yield (%) and the physico-chemical properties of the seed oil of *S. indicum* and *V. paradoxa*

Results of the physico-chemical properties of the seed oils from *S. indicum* and *V. paradoxa* have been presented in Table 3. From the results, it can be seen that the two seed samples were endowed with quantifiable biofuel reserves with 48.23% in *S. indicum* and 53.14% in *V. paradoxa*. Acid value was analyzed with 32.14 mg KOH/kg obtained in *S. indicum* while 33.24 mg KOH/kg was obtained in *V. paradoxa*. Saponification value revealed that *S. indicum* had 131.86 mg KOH while *V. paradoxa* had 154.74 mg KOH and iodine value with

NUTRITIONAL AND OIL PROFILE OF THE SEEDS OF SESAMUM INDICUM L. AND VITELLARIA ...

116.86 g I₂/100 g recorded for *S. indicum* while 124.77 g I₂/100 g was recorded for *V. paradoxa*. Cetane number analysis revealed 32 and 34 for *S. indicum* and *V. paradoxa* respectively. Oil colour was determined and it was yellow to pale brownish for the *S. indicum* and *V. paradoxa* respectively. State of the oil at room temperature revealed that the oils were liquid and semisolid at room temperature. With significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in the percentage yield, saponification value and iodine value between the sampled seeds.

Table 5. recentage on yield and its physico-chemical properties							
Parameters	Unit	Sesamum indicum	Vitellaria paradoxa				
Oil Content	%	38.23±1.26 ^a	43.14±2.54 ^b				
Acid Value	mg KOH/kg	32.14±1.12 ^a	33.24±1.17 ^a				
Saponification Value	mg OH/g	131.86 ± 2.84^{a}	154.74 ± 3.08^{b}				
Kinematic Viscosity	mm^2/S	$0.89{\pm}0.09^{a}$	$0.96{\pm}0.07^{a}$				
Specific Gravity	g/cm ²	$0.82{\pm}0.05^{a}$	$0.89{\pm}0.08^{a}$				
Free Fatty Acid	%	$7.63{\pm}0.89^{a}$	$8.74{\pm}0.66^{a}$				
Iodine Value	g/100 g	116.86±2.36 ^a	124.77±4.38 ^b				
Cetane Number	-	32.00±1.06ª	34.00±1.12 ^a				
Oil Color	-	Yellow	Pale brown				
State of Oil at Room Temp.	-	Liquid	Semi solid				

Values are means \pm standard deviation of three replications. Values within a row with different superscripts were significantly different (p ≤ 0.05).

Discussions

A moisture content of value 2.67-3.16% (Table 1) indicate that the seeds have a long shelf life. That is to say that they can be stored for a long time. The values obtained in the current study were in close agreement to the moisture content of 2.84% as reported by RAIMI & al. (2014) on the seeds of V. paradoxa, and 3.70% as reported by NZIKOU (2009), on S. indicum seeds. The moisture content compares favorably with the report of UGESE & al. (2010) who reported 2.2 to 3.8%. Protein content obtained in the current study is lower than 9.3% as reported by RAIMI & al. (2014) on V. paradoxa. Also, a bit lower protein with 7.6 to 8.9% was reported on V. paradoxa seeds by UGESE & al. (2010). Protein content as reported by NZIKOU & al. (2009) is a bit lower than obtained in the current study. Proteins are for growth and repair of tissues, and also serve as alternative energy sources in the absence of carbohydrate and fats. Crude fats contents of the seed types could be considered as being highly good. Results obtained compares favorably with the reported oil contents of 49.16% in V. paradoxa by RAIMI & al. (2014). Results obtained in the current study also compares favorably with the 46.95% fat contents of Jatropha curcas. More so, higher moisture content of 9.97% and 9.40%, high protein of 35.95% and 17.13% were reported on raw and defatted Moringa oleifera seeds. More so, high values of protein and crude fats were reported as 30.63% and 49.05% on the seeds of watermelon by JACOB & al. (2015). These values were higher than obtained in the current study. Crude fibre content obtained in the current study could be considered good but lower than the reported 12.57% reported on Moringa oleifera by OKIKI & al. (2015). Vitamin C with the ranges from 97.36 to 179.66 mg/100 g was reported by AFOLAYAN & al. (2014), also reported was high vitamin C content in locust bean pulp at a value of 542 mg/100 g quite higher than values obtained from the current study but this variation could be attributed to environmental condition and post-harvest handling.
Ibrahim Umar KARAYE & al.

The two seeds could be considered as being highly good in terms of nutrients composition especially when compared with other reports. For instance, very low minerals were reported by NWEZE & al. (2014) on *Moringa oleifera* leaf extracts with Ca, Mg, P, Zn, Cu and K with 2.29, 0.48, 0.44, 0.05, 0.01 and 1.62 mg/100 g respectively. The above values were highly low when compared with values obtained in the current study. In another study HASSAN & UMAR (2004), higher values of Ca, P, Mg and K were reported to be 342.50 mg/100 g, 400.00 mg/100 g, 215.38 mg/100 g and 600.00 g/100 g on whole seeds of African locust bean (*Parkia biglobosa*) by OLUWAGBENLE & al. (2019) on comparative assessment of the proximate, minerals composition of cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*), higher values than obtained in the current study were reported for Ca with 177.00 mg/100 g, 0.56 mg/100 g and 9.08 mg/100 g reported for Cu, Mn and Fe respectively. Variation in the mineral composition could be attributed to the environmental factors such as soil and climatic conditions; this is in addition to species variability as well as the method of extraction.

Results of oil analysis revealed that the two seeds could be considered as highly good in terms of the percentage yield and physicochemical parameters analysis of the seed oil. According to EGBEKUN & EHIEZE (1997), variation in oil yield may be attributed to the differences in plant variety, cultivation pattern, climate, ripening stage as well as the extraction technique. Results obtained in the current study were however, higher than the percentage yield of 32.21% as reported on *Momordica balsamina* seed oil by AJIBOLA & al. (2018). In addition, values obtained in the current study were a bit lower than the range of values 44.72 to 53.88% as reported by KARAYE & al. (2021) on seeds of selected cucurbits seeds. The obtained values were higher than the 36.70% as reported on seeds of calabash (*Lagenaria vulgaris*) by SOKOTO & al. (2013). More so, iodine value of 153.40 g/ 100 g as reported by AKINONSO & RAJI (2010) was higher than values obtained in the current study. In another report by NZIKOU & al. (2009) on Sesame (*Sesamum indicum*) grown in Congo-Brazzaville, yield was 52.00%, higher than the value obtained in the current study, iodine value reported to be 112.40 g/100 g a bit less than the values obtained in the current study.

Conclusion

In conclusion, results in the current study on proximate, ascorbic acid and mineral composition of *S. indicum* and *V. paradoxa* seeds show that the seeds have high nutritional and energy values, and would be in addition to consumption by humans, serve as useful raw materials for industries. The seed oil could be described as having a sterling quality grade with high commercial value. It is edible and would find applications in food, soap and cosmetics production. The utilization of these types of seeds could be considered as valuable raw materials for inclusion in animal feed formulation so that the conventional oil seeds presently used as raw materials for animal feed production would be better utilized for human food.

Conflict of interest

Authors hereby declare that there is no competing interest of any sort among them.

References

ABOU-GHARBIA H. A., SHEHATA A. A. Y. & SHAHIDI F. 2000. Effect of processing on oxidative stability and lipid classes of sesame oil. *Food Research International.* 33(5): 331-340. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0963-9969(00)00052-1

NUTRITIONAL AND OIL PROFILE OF THE SEEDS OF SESAMUM INDICUM L. AND VITELLARIA ...

- ADEYEMI O., VAN-DEN BOLD M., NISBETT N. & COVIC N. 2023. Changes in Nigeria's enabling environment for nutrition from 2008 to 2019 and challenges for reducing malnutrition. *Food Security*. 15(2): 343-361. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-022-01328-2
- AFOLAYAN M., BAWA G. S., SEKONI A. A., ABEKE F. O., INEKWE V. O. & ODEGBILE E. O. 2014. Phytochemical and nutritional evaluation of locust bean fruit pulp. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Engineering and Applied Sciences*. 5(7): 44-47.
- AJIBOLA V. O., ABECHI S. E. & YUSUF J. 2018. Evaluation of Momordica balsamina seed oil for its potential as feedstock for biodiesel production. *Physical Science International Journal.* 17(3): 1-9. https://doi.org/10.9734/PSIJ/2018/37547
- AKINONSO R. & RAJI A. O. 2010. Optimization of oil extraction from locust beans using response surface methodology. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology. 113(2): 245-252. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.201000354
- AKPABIO U. D., AKPAKPAN A. E., MATHEW A. E. & AKPAN A. U. 2011. Extraction and characterization of oil from avocado peer (*Persea americana*) and native pear (*Dacryodes edulis*) fruits. World Journal of Applied Science & Technology. 3(2): 27-34.
- ALPASLAN M., BOYDAK E. & DEMIRCI M. 2001. Protein and oil composition of soybean and sesame seed grown in the Harran (GAP) area of Turkey. Session 88B, Food Chemistry: Food Composition and Analysis. IFT Annual Meeting - New Orleans.
- AMOO S. O., OKOROGBONA A. O. M., DU PLOOY C. P. & VENTER S. L. 2017. Sesamum indicum: p. 579-579. In: KUETE V. (ed.). 2017. Medicinal spices and vegetables from Africa. II. Therapeutic potential against metabolic, inflammatory, infectious diseases. 1st edition. Academic Press, Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809286-6.00026-1
- ANILAKUMAR K. R., PAL A., KHANUM F. & BAWA A. S. 2010. Nutritional, medicinal and industrial uses of sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) seeds – an overview. Agriculturae Conspectus Scientificus. 75(4): 159-168.
- AOAC. 1975. Official Methods of Analysis. 12th edition. Association Official Analytical Chemists. Washington DC: 51-52. Available online: https://www.scirp.org
- AOAC. 2005. Official Methods of Analysis. AOAC International, 18th edition. Suite 500, Gaithersburg, MD 20877, Washington DC, USA. Available online: https://www.aoac.org
- ASTM D189-06. 2019. Standard test method for Conradson carbon residue of petroleum products. *Book of ASTM Standard*. 5(1): 1-4.
- BEDIGAN D. 2006. Assessment of sesame and its wild relatives in Africa: p. 481-491. In: GHAZANFAR S. A. & BEENTJE H. J. (Eds). 2006. Taxonomy and ecology of African plants, their conservation and sustainable use. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew. Volume 3.
- BENNETT A. G. & VOKOUN J. A. 2023. Critical Mapping for Sustainable Food Design: Food Security, Equity, and Justice. Taylor & Francis Group, New York, 240 pp.
- DAVRIEUX F., ALLAL F., PIOMBO G., KELLY B., OKULO J. B., THIAM M., DIALLO O. B. & BOUVET J. M. 2010. Near infrared spectroscopy for high throughout characterization of Shea tree (*Vitellaria paradoxa*) nut fat profiles. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 58(13): 7811-7819. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf100409v
- DAWODU A. A. 2009. Physico-chemical studies on oil extraction process from some Nigerian grown plant seeds. Electronic Journal of Environmental, Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 8(2): 102-110.
- EGBEKUN M. K. & EHIEZE M. U. 1997. Proximate composition and functional properties of full fat and defatted benniseed (*Sesamum indicum* L.). Food and Human Nutrition. **51**: 35-41.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization) of the United Nations. 2012. Production of Crops: Sesame Seeds.
- HASSAN L. G. & UMAR K. J. 2004. Proximate and mineral composition of seeds and pulp of African locust bean (Parkia biglobosa L.). Nigerian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences. 13: 15-27.
- HASSAN M. A. M. 2012. Studies on Egyptian sesame seeds (Sesamum indicum L.) and its products 1 -physicochemical analysis and phenolic acids of roasted Egyptian sesame seeds (Sesamum indicum L.). World Journal of Dairy & Food Sciences. 7(2): 195-201. https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.wjdfs.2012.7.2.1112
- HEE S. N. 2011. Quality characteristics of West African shea butter (Vitellaria paradoxa) and approaches to extend shell life. MSc thesis Graduate School-New Brunswick Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey.
- HONFO F. G., HELL K., AKISSOÉ N., LINNEMANN A. & COULIBALY O. 2012. Microbiological and physicochemical characterization of shea butter sold on Benin market. *Journal of Stored Products and Postharvest Research.* 3(3): 24-29. https://doi.org/10.5897/JSPPR11.045
- IBETO C. N., OKOYE C. O. B. & OFOEFULE A. U. 2012. Comparative study of the physicochemical characterization of some oils as potential feedstock for biodiesel production. *International Scholarly Research Notices, ISRN Renewable Energy.* 10: 54-59. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/621518
- JACOB A. G., ETONG D. I. & TIJJANI A. 2015. Proximate, mineral and anti-nutritional composition of melon (*Citrullus lanatus*) seeds. British Journal of Research. 2(5): 142-145.

- JACOB A., ADAM S. U. & FAUSAT A. F. 2023. Effects economic of cassava value addition on the income of smallscale farmers in Oshimili North, Delta State, Nigeria. *Journal of Arid Zone Economy*. 1(2): 89-102.
- KAPSEU C., BUP D. N., TCHIEGANG C., ABI C. F., BROTO F. & PARMENTIER M. 2007. Effect of particle size and drying temperature on drying rate and oil extracted yield of *Buccholzia coriacea* (MVAN) and *Butyrospermum parkii* Engl. International Journal of Food Science and Technology. 42: 573-578. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2006.01277.x
- KARAYE I. U., HAYATU M., MUSTAPHA Y. & SANI A. L. 2021. Oil extraction and GC-MS and analysis of the seed oil of three Nigerian cucurbits. *International Journal of Science for Global Sustainability*, 7(3): 53-64.
- KARIN L. 2004. Vitellaria paradoxa and feasibility of Shea butter project in the North of Cameroon. MSc thesis, University of Montana, USA.
- LOVETH P. N. 2014. Pilot study to determine opportunities for carbon neutral shea production, fair climate, West African Program Development, ICCO, Bamako, Mali: 40 pp.
- MAANIKUU P. M. & PEKER K. 2017. Medicinal and nutritional benefits from the shea tree (*Vitellaria paradoxa*). Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare. 7(2): 51-57.
- MAKINDE F. M. & AKINOSO R. 2013. Nutrient composition and effect of processing treatments on anti-nutritional factors of Nigerian sesame (*Sesamum indicum* Linn) cultivars. *International Food Research Journal*. **20**(5): 2293-2300.
- MUSA A., EZENWA M. I. S., OLADIRAN J. A., AKANYA H. O. & OGBADOYI E. O. 2010. Effect of soil nitrogen levels on some micronutrients, antinutrients and toxic substances in *Corchorus olitorius* grown in Minna, Nigeria. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*. 5(22): 3075-3081.
- NOUGHTON C., LOVETH P. N. & MIHELCIC J. R. 2014. Overview of Shea tree populations across Africa. Mapping and emissions power point presentation at Global Shea 2014. The industry unites, Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire, March, 24/26, 2014.
- NWEZE N. O. & NWAFOR F. I. 2014. Phytochemical, proximate and mineral composition of leaf extract of Moringa oleifera Lam. from Nsukka, South-Eastern Nigeria. JORS Journal of Pharmacy and Biological Sciences (IORS-JPBS). 9(1): 99-105.
- NZIKOU J. M., MATOS L., BOUANGA-KALOU G., NDANGUI C. B., PAMBOU-TOBI N. P. G., KIMBONGUILA A., SILOU T., LINDER M. & DESOBRY S. 2009. Chemical composition on the seeds and oil of sesame (Sesamum indicum L.) grown in Congo-Brazzaville. Advanced Journal of Food Science and Technology. 1(1): 6-11.
- OJIAKO O. A., IGWE C. U., AGHA N. C., OGBUJI C. A. & ONWULIRI V. A. 2010. Protein and amino acid compositions of Sphenostylis stenocarpa, Sesamum indicum, Monodora myristica and Afzelia africana seeds from Nigeria. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. 9: 368-372.
- OKIKI P. A., OSIBOTE I. A., BALOGUN O., OYINLOYE B. E., IDRIS O., OLUFUNKE A., ASOSO S. O. & OLAGBEMIDE P. T. 2015. Evaluation of proximate, minerals, vitamins and phytochemical composition of *Moringa oleifera* Lam. cultivated in Ado Ekiti, Nigeria. *Advances in Biological Research*. 9(6): 436-443. https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.abr.2015.9.6.96112
- OLAGBEMIDE P. T. & PHILIP C. N. A. 2014. Proximate analysis and chemical composition of raw and defatted Moringa oleifera kernel. Advances in Life Sciences and Technology. 24: 92-99.
- OLUWAGBENLE H. N., ADESINA A. J. & AREMU O. I. 2019. Comparative assessment of the proximate, mineral composition and mineral safety index of peel, pulp and seeds of cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*). Open Journal of Applied Sciences. 9(9): 691-701. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojapps.2019.99056
- PEARSON D. H. 1976. Chemical Analysis of Foods. Churchill, London: 335-336.
- RAIMI M. M., ADEGOKE B. M. & AFOLABI O. 2014. Nutritional composition of seed and physicochemical properties of seed oil of *Vitellaria paradoxa*. Scientific Research Journal (SCIRJ). 2(4): 35-39.
- SOKOTO M. A., HASSAN L. G., SALLEH M. A., DANGOGGO S. M. & AHMAD H. G. 2013. Quality assessment and optimization of biodiesel from Lagenaria vulgaris (Calabash) seeds oil. International Journal of Pure and Applied Sciences and Technology. 15(1): 55-66.
- UGESE F. D., BATYERI K. P. & MBAH B. N. 2010. Proximate traits of the seed and seed cake of shea butter tree (*Vitellaria paradoxa* C.F. Gaertn.) in Nigeria's savanna ecozone. *Journal of Applied Biosciences.* **31**: 1935-1941.
- USDA. 2005. USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Released on 18. [Internet] U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Nutrient Data Laboratory, Beltsville Md, United States.

How to cite this article:

KARAYE I. U., ANKA S. A., MUHAMMAD M. T., ADILI S. I. & LAWAL M. H. 2024. Nutritional and oil profile of the seeds of *Sesamum indicum* L. and *Vitellaria paradoxa* C. F. Gaertn. J. *Plant Develop.* 31: 65-73. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.947

Research Article

EFFECT OF IRRIGATION INTERVAL ON GROWTH AND ARTEMISININ CONTENT OF WORMWOOD (*Artemisia annua* L.) CHEN YOUNG VARIETY IN SOKOTO

Lawal Gandi ABDULKADIR^{1*}, Adamu Aliyu ALIERO¹, Hassan Muhammad MAISHANU¹, Abdullahi Yahaya ABBAS²

¹ Department of Plant Science, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, Sokoto – Nigeria.

² Department of Biochemistry, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, Sokoto – Nigeria. * Corresponding author. E-mail: gandiology@gmail.com

- Abstract: Artemisinin is the main antimalarial compound in Artemisia annua, used in the formulation of artemisininbased combined therapies (ACT) to treat malaria. Artemisinin is largely obtained from A. annua plant but the content is very low and its production commercially is not cost effective worldwide. In view of the importance of this phytomolecule and plants being the only source of its production, this study evaluated the effect of irrigation interval on the growth and artemisinin content of A. annua. A greenhouse experiment was conducted at Botanical Garden of Usmanu Danfodiyo University Sokoto. The experiment was laid out in completely randomized design with 4 replications. The two factors examined were: (1) irrigation interval at different growth stage and (2) artemisinin content of A. annua. Irrigation interval (W) was taken at four levels (W1, W2, W4, and W6 days interval) while growth stage at three levels: early vegetative stage (EVS), mid vegetative stage (MVS) and late vegetative stage (LVD) and artemisinin were determined and quantified using High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC). The calibration curve was constructed by plotting the peak area against the concentration by the external standard method on five concentration levels of artemisinin standard (5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 μ g/ml), with three injections per level. Linear regression was used to establish the calibration curve. Results were calculated using the peak areas with determination coefficient (R^2) of 0.951. Results revealed that W_2 days irrigation interval had significantly (p<0.05) affected fresh weight, dry weight, stem diameter and root length during the EVS. At MVS, irrigation interval had no significant (P>0.05) effect on plant height and number of branches but significantly reduces stem diameter. During the late vegetative stage (LVD), irrigation intervals have no significant effect on all parameters evaluated. Artemisinin content was not significantly (P>0.05) affected by irrigation intervals during the EVS but significantly affected at mid and late vegetative stage and our result demonstrated that prolong mild irrigation interval (W2) could significantly enhanced artemisinin content in A. annua.
- Key word: Artemisinin, early vegetative stage (EVS), mid vegetative stage (MVS), late vegetative stage (LVD), High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC).

Introduction

Artemisia annua L. (family Asteraceae), can be found in the temperate regions of the northern hemisphere, in arid and semiarid climates areas. The genus has a great economic importance as medicinal resource, flavouring agent, antibacterial, antifedant and antimalarial activities [IHSAN-UL-HAQ & al. 2012]. A. annua is the only planta medical that has been recognized to research and developed as the standards of western medicine research by the WHO in China. It is a famous herb, known for its highest efficiency and lowest toxicity in treating ague [WANG & al. 2011]. It is aromatic annual herbaceous plant [ZANJANI & al. 2012; LIU & al. 2013; MISRA & al. 2013] and belongs to genus Artemisia [LIU & al. 2013], family Asteraceae (Compositae) [ZANJANI & al. 2012] and commonly known as sweet

Received: 12 November 2024 / Revised: 9 December 2024 / Accepted: 12 December 2024

EFFECT OF IRRIGATION INTERVAL ON GROWTH AND ARTEMISININ CONTENT OF ...

wormwood or Qinghao [HUANG & al. 2010; EMADI, 2013]. It's the only member of genus *Artemisia* with an annual growth cycle [WILLCOX & al. 2004].

Artemisinin is an effective antimalarial compound that is synthesized in the glandular trichomes of medicinal plant Artemisia annua which has saved millions of lives. It is used in the formulation of Artemisinin based combination therapies (ACTs) recommended by the World Health Organization [WHO, 2017] for treatment of uncomplicated malaria caused by the Plasmodium falciparum parasite [DUFFY & MUTABINGWA, 2006]. Currently, the supply of ACTs is reliant on the agricultural production of artemisinin. However, plant-based production sometimes cannot meet the global demand due to the low amount of artemisinin produced in A. annua leaves (0.1%-2.0% of dry weight). Alternatively, a semi-synthetic system can be used for the production of artemisinin, in which yeast are engineered to synthesize its precursor, artemisinic acid [RO & al. 2006; PADDON & al. 2013]. However, the semi-synthetic production of artemisinin is expensive and thus cannot replace its agricultural production at present [PEPLOW, 2016]. Besides its anti-malarial activity, many other therapeutic effects of artemisinin on diseases such as cancer [EFFERTH, 2006; TIN & al. 2012], tuberculosis [ZHENG & al. 2017], and diabetes [LI & al. 2017] have been reported. The use of the whole Artemisia plant as a malaria therapy was found to be more effective than a comparable dose of pure artemisinin, and was shown to be able to overcome resistance to pure artemisinin in a rodent malaria model and human clinical trial [ELFAWAL & al. 2015; DADDY & al. 2017]. Recently Madagaska's Institute of Applied research has produced Artemisia-containing tonic that supposedly prevent and treat COVID 19 [MWANGI, 2020]. Hence, artemisinin is a potential multi-functional compound and is of high medicinal value. There is a considerable interest in increasing the artemisinin content of A. annua and an urgent need to identify other potential method for it production. Despite many malaria cases in savanna region, few or none has been tried to increase the artemisinin content in Savanna region of Nigeria. The research aimed to evaluating the effect of irrigation interval on growth and artemisinin content of A. annua in Sokoto.

Material and methods

Collection of plant material and soil

Artemisia annua seeds of Chen Young variety were sourced from Artemisia Programme Unit at the Institute for Agricultural Research (I.A.R) Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria.

Equipment and chemicals

High Performance Liquid Chromatography equipment Soxhlet extraction apparatus, Beakers, Syringe and measuring cylinder etc. Artemisinin standard was purchased from Sigma Aldrech through Bristol Scientific Company. Ethanol, methanol, n-hexane, sodium hydroxide, acetonitrial, and Indole butyric acid and all the solvents used were of analytical-grade.

Experimental design and inducement of irrigation interval

This experiment investigated the effects of irrigation interval on growth and artemisinin content of *A. annua*. Five weeks old seedlings of approximately of the same height (12-15 cm) were selected and subjected to four different watering regimes: control (W_1), mild (W_2), moderate (W_4) and severe (W_6) irrigation interval in completely randomised design (CRD) with four replicate. Soils with mild, moderate and severe irrigation interval were watered once at 2, 4 and 6 days interval respectively and daily as control. Four seedlings (stand) per each experimental unit.

Lawal Gandi ABDULKADIR & al.

Data were taken at early vegetative stage (EVS), mid vegetative stage (MVS) and late vegetative stage (LVS) after one, two and three-month post irrigation interval respectively. At each stage, plant height, number of branches, fresh weight, dry weight, stem diameter and roots length were determined and Leaves from each stand in the treatment were collected and analyzed. Each treatment was irrigated with one liter of water on it corresponding watering regime throughout the plant developmental stages. At each stage, samples were taken for artemisinin analysis to find out if artemisinin is affected by irrigation interval [YADAV & al. 2014].

Preparation of extracts for soxhlet extraction

Fresh leaves of *A. annua* were dried for two weeks at room temperature, pulverized into powder using mortar and pestle and homogenized. Adopting the method of CHRISTEN & VEUTHEY (2001), 5 g of pulverized sample was extracted with 200 ml of *n*-hexane at 60 °C in Soxhlet apparatus. The hexane was then evaporated under a vacuum and the samples reconstituted in 10 ml acetonitrile then filtered through Whiteman filter paper no.1.

Preparation of standards and high-performance liquid chromatography

Artemisinin solution was obtained by dissolving 10 mlg of artemisinin standard in 100 ml of acetonitrile to form the stock solution and from the stock solution 5 different concentrations of 5, 10, 15, 20 and 25 μ g/ml were obtained. Each was run 3 times in HPLC from the results, standard calibration curve was drive. The HPLC analyses were performed with Agilent technologies 1200 series on Eclipse XBD-C18 (4.6 × 150 mm) column and detection was conducted at 214 nm wavelength. The acetonitrile were used as a mobile phase with 0.8 ml/min flow rate [LAPKIN & al. 2009]. Injection column was 10 μ L; run time of 20 min at 30 °C.

Calibration curve

The calibration curve was constructed by plotting the peak area against the concentration by external standard method on five levels of concentration of artemisinin standard (5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 μ g/ml), with three injections per level. Linear regression was used to establish the calibration curve. Results were calculated using the peak areas and determination coefficient (R²) of 0.951.

Data analysis

The data obtained were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance with Minitab Statistical Software version 17. Significant means were compared using Turkey simultaneous test at P<0.05.

Results

Effect of irrigation interval on the growth of *Artemisia annua* at early, mid and late vegetative stages

The results of irrigation interval on the growth parameters of *A. annua* at early, mid and late stage vegetative stage are presented in Table 1. The results show that Irrigation Interval has no significant (P>0.05) effect on plant height and branch number at all the three vegetative stage evaluated. However, irrigation interval significantly affects fresh weight, dry weight and stem diameter at early and mid-vegetative stage while root length was only affected at early vegetative stage with the highest values (23.75 cm) on W_2 days irrigation interval. At mid vegetative stage, irrigation interval significantly reduced stem diameter which is directly

EFFECT OF IRRIGATION INTERVAL ON GROWTH AND ARTEMISININ CONTENT OF ...

proportional to the severity of the interval and the highest root length was observed at 2 days irrigation interval with (17.00 cm) followed by four days interval (12.50 cm) and then control (11.33 cm). At late vegetative stage, irrigation interval had no significant effect on all the growth parameters evaluated (Table 1).

Effect of irrigation interval on artemisinin content of *Artemisia annua* at early, middle and late vegetative stage

The result on effect of Irrigation Interval at early, mid and late vegetative stage on artemisinin content in *A. annua* is presented in Table 2. The result revealed that irrigation interval had no significant effect (P>0.05) on artemisinin content during the early and late vegetative stage of *A. annua*. However, irrigation interval significantly (P<0.05) affected artemisinin content at mid vegetative stage. The linear calibration curve obtained from High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) was presented in Figure 1.

Plant- growth stage	Irrigation interval	Plant height (cm)	No. Branch	Fresh weight (g)	Dry weight (g)	Stem- diameter (cm)	Root Length (cm)
EVS	\mathbf{W}_1	42.75±10.24	$49.00{\pm}10.42$	$25.07{\pm}4.67^{b}$	$6.45{\pm}1.07^{b}$	$2.02{\pm}0.22^{b}$	13.50±1.2 ^b
	W_2	50.75±16.88	50.00±8.30	37.27±6.94ª	10.43±3.03ª	3.10±0.36 ^a	$23.75{\pm}3.03^{a}$
	W_4	43.50±14.20	39.00±10.14	19.68±2.12bc	$5.22{\pm}0.43^{\text{b}}$	1.17±0.22°	$12.75{\pm}2.01^{b}$
	W ₆	38.00±14.17	35.00±12.97	11.65±3.03°	4.27 ± 0.60^{b}	1.02±0.22°	$11.00{\pm}0.82^{b}$
	\mathbf{W}_1	62.00±7.21	66.00 ± 5.20	$21.23{\pm}5.20^{ab}$	5.133±1.36	$1.67{\pm}0.37^{a}$	11.33±2.31
MVS	W_2	77.50±12.40	$67.00{\pm}10.83$	$34.02{\pm}10.83^{a}$	8.18±4.40	$0.95{\pm}0.31^{\text{b}}$	17.00±4.24
	W_4	76.25±2.50	38.00±4.53	15.93±4.53 ^b	4.37±0.39	$0.700{\pm}0.14^{\text{b}}$	12.50±2.38
	\mathbf{W}_1	101.00±1.73	83.00±20.20	95.1±70.3	18.63±15.43	2.00±0.20	25.43±4.41
LVS	W_2	129.70±29.0	$85.00{\pm}27.10$	73.0±41.0	$28.00{\pm}14.38$	$3.17{\pm}0.40$	19.33±5.13
	W_4	119.00±9.54	40.00±10.00	77.50±13.16	20.8±17.60	1.100 ± 0.200	16.00±3.46

 Table 1. Effect of irrigation interval on the growth of A. annua at early (EVS), mid (MVS), and late (LVS) vegetative stage

Means followed by same superscript in a column are not significantly different (P>00.5).

Table 2. Effect of irrigation interval on artemisinin content in *A. annua* (µg/ml)

Treatment	EVS	MVS	LVS
Daily irrigated (W1)	$5.65\pm\!\!1.20^{\rm c}$	13.95 ± 5.37^{b}	18.54 ± 4.69^{b}
2 days interval (W ₂)	$5.22\pm1.62^{\rm c}$	10.62 ± 3.91^{b}	$16.02 \pm \! 3.31^{b}$
4 days interval (W4)	$5.96\pm2.49^{\rm c}$	$33.60\pm\!\!19.6^a$	33.5 ± 17.5^{b}
6 days interval (W ₆)	$5.99 \pm 2.32^{\circ}$	-	-

EVS: Early vegetative stage. MVS: Mid vegetative stage. LVS: Late vegetative stage Means followed by same superscript in a column are not significantly different (P>00.5). n=3

Lawal Gandi ABDULKADIR & al.



Figure 1. Linear calibration curve for Artemisinin standard

Discussion

The effect of irrigation interval at early vegetative stage on growth parameters of A. annua shows that W_2 day's interval has significantly (p<0.05) affected the fresh weight, dry weight, stem diameter and root length during the first two month of imposed irrigation interval. This was in agreement with the work of MARCHESE & al. (2010) that treatment of 38 hours water deficit induced the highest foliar biomass accumulation and artemisinin content per plant on dry weight basis, compared with control. Plant height and branch number was also higher at this level, this increase in growth parameters was un-expected because water stress generally decline or seize plant growth and biomass accumulation. This indicate that Artemisia annua require moderate moist water environment. Treatments that were watered once after two days interval grow better than any other treatment including control. Plant height decreased with increase in irrigation interval in this irrigation interval order once after two days interval > once after four days interval > once after six days internal. Similarly AZHAR & al. (2011) indicated that plant height, fresh and dry weight of plants was reduced significantly with increasing water stress levels in Trichyspermum ammi L. BETTAIEB & al. (2011) reported that Cuminum cyminum exposed to water stress caused reduction in growth attributes like plant height, number of branches, fresh and dry matter as well as yield components like number of umbels/plant and umbellets per umbel.

In moderate (W₄ days) and severed (W₆ days) irrigation interval, branch number, fresh weight, stem diameter and root length decrease greatly with increase in irrigation interval imposed. This result agreed with YADAV & al. (2014) who state that water stress significantly affected the plant growth parameters at all four stages of development (early vegetative, mid stage, late vegetative stage and full bloom stage). Irrigation intervals significantly (p<0.05)

EFFECT OF IRRIGATION INTERVAL ON GROWTH AND ARTEMISININ CONTENT OF ...

affect the stem diameter. The extent of decline progressed proportionally to the severity of irrigation interval.

At mid vegetative stage, mild (W_2) irrigation interval greatly influences the plant height and branch number of *A. annua*. Plant height and branch number observed on this treatment was higher than all other treatment including control. Mild irrigation interval was found to significantly increase fresh weight (P<0.05). This contradict the result of BRISIBE & al. (2012) who reported that *A. annua* plant that were watered automatically using time controller performed better than those with intermittent periods of water stress and stem diameter is significantly affected by irrigation interval (P<0.05) which is directly proportional to the severity of irrigation interval. The highest root length was also observed at mild irrigation interval (17.00 cm) follow by moderate (12.50 cm) and then control (11.33 cm). This is because availability of moisture on the soil surface limits the roots extension. All stands on severe irrigation interval (W₆) die after one month of the imposed irrigation interval in green house which is contrary with our field result that survived for two weeks without water at forestry research farm.

At late vegetative stage, mild irrigation interval (W_2) has a positive influence on plant height, branch number, branch length, dry weight and stem diameter. At this stage, control had the lowest plant height and branch number among the treatment tested following by treatment with four days interval. This result was un-expected because water stress generally affects all plant parameters but the highest plant height and branch number were observed at W_2 treatment. Root length of *A. annua* decreased with increase in irrigation intensity with the highest in control followed by W_2 and W_4 days' interval respectively.

The effect of irrigation interval on artemisinin content of Artemisia annua showed a contrasting pattern of artemisinin concentration at all the three stage of development. Our finding revealed that irrigation interval has no significant effect on artemisinin content during early vegetative stage of A. annua (one month of imposed irrigation interval). Similar report were made by CHARLES & al. (1993) who found no significant correlation between artemisinin concentration and the water deficit applied for two weeks before harvesting, although there was a trend for artemisinin concentration to decrease with increased negative water potential. However, artemisinin content was significantly (P < 0.05) affected by irrigation interval at mid vegetative stage. The significant increase in the leaf artemisinin content resulting from the treatment with moderate irrigation interval (W4 days interval) can be attributed to the decrease in all the growth parameters evaluated on this treatment (plant height, branch number, fresh weight, dry weight, stem diameter and root length while photosynthesis is still occurring. Thus, the excess photo-assimilates not used in growth, were expected to be directed towards artemisinin biosynthesis. Many researchers like; MARCHESE & FIQUIRA, (2005) are on the above opinion. Similar result was reported by MARCHESE & al. (2010) that 38 hours water deficit significantly increase artemisinin content by 29% more than control. This also agrees with HERMS & MATTSON (1992), who reported that terpenes tend to accumulate under moderate water deficit. STAUDT & CHUINE (2005) found that increase in temperature and water deficit had significant effect on mono and sesquiterpenes emissions of Artemisia species. However, DUHL & al. (2007) reported that severe drought reduced the emissions of sesquiterpenes.

At late vegetative stage of *Artemisia annua*, artemisinin content was significantly affected by irrigation interval and increase significantly with the advancement in plant developmental stage. They increase in this order EVS>MVS>LVS at control and mild irrigation interval. This was in conformity with the work of YADAV & al. (2014) that artemisinin content

Lawal Gandi ABDULKADIR & al.

increase with the progression in plant developmental stage. However, *A. annua* plants can tolerate some changes in water availability and temperature without a drastic decrease in artemisinin content. Thus, it is important to note that results in artemisinin content may vary depending on the origin of *A. annua* cultivar and on the regional environmental conditions.

Conclusion and Recommendation

This study concluded that irrigation interval had an effect on both growth and artemisinin content and suggested two days (W_2) irrigation interval for better growth performance and biomass production and four days (W_4) interval for high artemisinin content in *A. annua* at Savannah region of Nigeria.

Acknowledgements

My sincere appreciation goes to Dr. Andrew Onu and Mal. Abdulkabir Abdulaziz for their guide in HPLC analysis and Dr. A. M. Gumi for his guide in sequence retrival and analysis, observation and contribution.

References

- AZHAR N., HUSSAIN B., YASIN M. & YAR ABBASI K. 2011. Water stress mediated changes in growth, physiology and secondary metabolites of desi ajwain (*Trachyspermum ammi* L.). *Pakistan Journal of Botany.* 43: 15-19.
- BETTAIEB I., BOURGOU S., SRITI J., MSAADA K., LIMAM F. & MARZOUK B. 2011. Essential oils and fatty acids composition of Tunisian and Indian cumin (*Cuminum cyminum* L.) seeds: a comparative study. *Journal* of Science, Food and Agriculture. 91(1): 2100-2107. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.4513
- BRISIBE E. A., UDENSI O., CHUKWURAH P. N., DE MAGALHÄES P. M., FIGUEIRA G. M. & FERREIRA J. F. 2012. Adaptation and agronomic performance of *Artemisia annua* L. under lowland humid tropical conditions. *Industrial Crops Production*. **39**: 190-197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2012.02.018
- CHARLES D. J., SIMON J. E., SHOCK C. C., FEIBERT E. B. G. & SMITH R. M. 1993. Effect of water stress and post-harvest handling on artemisinin content in the leaves of *Artemisia annua* L. In: JANICK J. & SIMON J. E. (eds). 1993. *New Crops*. New York: John Wiley and Sons, p. 640-643.
- CHRISTEN P. & VEUTHEY J. L. 2001. New trends in extraction, identification and quantification of artemisinin and its derivatives. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*. 8: 1827-1839.
- DADDY N. B., KALISYA L. M., BAGIRE P. G., WATT R. L., TOWLER M. J. & WEATHERS P. J. 2017. Artemisia annua dried leaf tablets treated malaria resistant to ACT and i.v. artesunate: case reports. Phytomedicine. 32: 37-40.
- DUFFY P. E. & MUTABINGWA T. K. 2006. Artemisinin combination therapies. *Lancet.* **367**: 2037-2039. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68900-9
- DUHL T. R., HELMIG D. & GUENTHER A. 2007. Sesquiterpene emissions from vegetation: a review. Biogeosciences Discussions. 4(6): 3987-4023.
- EFFERTH T. 2006. Molecular pharmacology and pharmacogenomics of artemisinin and its derivatives in cancer cells. *Current Drug Targets.* **7**(4): 407-421. https://doi.org/10.2174/138945006776359412
- ELFAWAL M. A., TOWLER M. J., REICH N. G., GOLENBOCK D., WEATHERS P. J. & RICH S. M. 2015. Dried whole plant Artemisia annua as an antimalarial therapy. PLoS One. 7(12): e52746. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0052746
- EMADI T. 2013. Phytochemistry of Artemisia annua. http://edd.behdasht.gov.ir/uploads/178_340_emadi.pdf (Accessed 4 June 2013).
- HERMS D. A. & MATTSON W. J. 1992. The dilemma of plants: to grow or defend. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*. 67(3): 283-235. https://doi.org/10.1086/417659
- HUANG L., XIE C., DUAN B. & CHEM S. 2010. Mapping the potential distribution of high artemisinin yielding Artemisia annua L. (Quigbao) in China with a geography information system. Chinise Medicine. 5: 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8546-5-18
- IHSAN-UL-HAQ, MANNAN A., AHMED I., HUSSAIN I., JAMIL M. & MIRZA B. 2012. Antibacterial activity and brine shrimp toxicity of *Artemisia dubia* extract. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*. **44**(4): 1487-1490.

EFFECT OF IRRIGATION INTERVAL ON GROWTH AND ARTEMISININ CONTENT OF ...

- LAPKIN A. A., WALKER A., SULLIVAN N., KHAMBAY B., MLAMBO B. & CHEMAT S. 2009. Development of HPLC analytical protocols for quantification of artemisinin in biomass and extracts. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis.* 49(4): 908-915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2009.01.025
- LI J., CASTEELS T., FROGNE T., INGVORSEN C., HONORÉ C., COURTNEY M., HUBER K. V., SCHMITNER N., KIMMEL R. A., ROMANOV R. A. *et al.* 2017. Artemisinins target GABAA receptor signalling and impair α cell identity. *Cell.* 168(1-2): 86-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.11.010
- LIU H. G., TIAN X., ZHANG Y., WANG C. & JIANG H. 2013. The discovery of *Artemisia annua* L. in the Chinese herbal medicine qinghao. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. **146**(1): 278-286.
- MARCHESE J. A., FERREIRA J. F. S., REHDER V. L. G. & RODRIGUES O. 2010. Water deficit effect on the accumulation of biomass and artemisinin in annual wormwood (*Artemisia annua* L., Asteraceae). *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*. 22(1): 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1677-04202010000100001
- MARCHESE J. A. & FIGUEIRA G. M. 2005. The use of pre and post-harvest technologies and good agricultural practices in the production of medicinal and aromatic plants. *Brazilian Journal of Medicinal Plant.* 7(3): 86-96.
- MISRA H., MEHTA D., MEHTA B. K. & JAIN D. E. 2013. Micro wave assisted extraction studies of target analyte artemisinin from dried leaves of Artemisia annua L. Organic Chemistry International. 6: 12-15. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/163028
- MWANGI T. 2020. Artemisinin: fighting corona virus with this antimalarial drugs is risky. *The Conversation*. 140775: 1-6.
- PADDON C. J., WESTFALL P. J., PITERA D. J., BENJAMIN K., FISHER K., MCPHEE D., LEAVELL M. D., TAI A., MAIN A., ENG D., POLICHUK D. R. et al. 2013. High-level semi-synthetic production of the potent antimalarial artemisinin. *Nature*. 496(4776): 528-532. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12051
- PEPLOW M. 2016. Synthetic malaria drug meets market resistance: first commercial deployment of synthetic biology for medicine has modest impact. *Nature*. 530(7591): 389-390. https://doi.org/10.1038/530390a
- YADAV R. K., SANGWAN R. S., SABIR F., SRIVASTAVA A. K. & SANGWAN N. S. 2014. Effect of prolonged water stress on specialized secondary metabolites, peltate glandular trichomes, and pathway gene expression in Artemisia annua L. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry. 74: 70-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2013.10.023
- RO D. K., PARADISE E. M., OUELLET M., FISHER K. J., NEWMAN K. L., NDUNGU J. M., HO K. A., EACHUS R. A., HAM T. S. & KIRBY J., CHANG M. C. Y., WITHERS S., SHIBA Y., SARPONG R. & KEASLING J. D. 2006. Production of the antimalarial drug precursor artemisinic acid in engineered yeast. *Nature*. 440(7086): 940-943. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04640
- STAUDT M. & CHUINE I. 2005. Effects of an experimental increase of temperature and drought on isoprenoid emissions from Mediterranean ecosystems. *Geophysics Resource Abstract.* 7: 04606.
- TIN A. S., SUNDAR S. N., TRAN K. Q., PARK A. H., POINDEXTER K. M. & FIRESTONE G. L. 2012. Antiproliferative effects of artemisinin on human breast cancer cells requires the downregulated expression of the E2F1 transcription factor and loss of E2F1-target cell cycle genes. *Anticancer Drugs.* 23(4): 370-379. https://doi.org/10.1097/CAD.0b013e32834f6ea8
- WANG B., SUI J., YU Z. & ZHU L. 2011. Screening the hemostatic active fraction of Artemisia annua L. in-vitro. Iranian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research. 10(1): 57-67.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO). 2017. World malaria report 2017. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241565523
- WILLCOX M., BODEKER G., BOURDY G., DHINGRA V., FALQUEL J., FERREIRA J. F. S. GRAZ B., HIRT H. M., HSU E., MELILLO DE MQAGALHAES P., PROVENDIER D. & WRIGHT C. W. 2004. Artemisia annua as a traditional herbal antimalaria. In: WILCOX M. L., BODEKER G. & ROSOANOIVO (eds). 2004. Traditional medicinal plant and material, Volume 4. CRC Press Boca Raton, p. 43-59.
- ZANJANI K. E., RAD A. H. S., BITARAFAN Z., AGHDAM A. M., TAHERKHANI T. & KHALILI P. 2012. Physiological response of sweet wormwood to salt stress under salicylic acid application and non application conditions. *Life Science Journal*. 9(4): 4190-4195.
- ZHENG H., COLVIN C. J., JOHNSON B. K., KIRCHHOFF P. D., WILSON M., JORGENSEN-MUGA K., LARSEN S. D. & ABRAMOVITCH R. B. 2017. Inhibitors of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* DosRST signalling and persistence. *Nature Chemical Biology*. 13(2): 218-225. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2259

How to cite this article:

ABDULKADIR L. G., ALIERO A. A., MAISHANU H. M. & ABBAS A. Y. 2024. Effect of irrigation interval on growth and artemisinin content of wormwood (*Artemisia annua* L.) Chen Young variety in Sokoto. J. Plant Develop. 31: 75-82. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.964

PESTICIDAL PLANT SPECIES IMPACT ON WHIP SMUT REDUCTION AND SUGARCANE (SACCHARUM OFFICINARUM L.) PRODUCTION IN NIGERIA

Moses Samuel BASSEY^{1*}, Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU², Shema Andrew MONDAY¹, Alawode Victor OLALEKAN¹, Ekaette Eunice ETIM³, Ekaette Joy ETOPOBONG¹, Fadeiye EBENEZER¹

¹ National Cereals Research Institute, Badeggi – Nigeria.
 ² Department of Agronomy, Bayero University Kano – Nigeria.
 ³ National Biotechnology and Development Agency, Arochuwu – Nigeria.
 * Corresponding author email: mosessamuel36@yahoo.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-9345-1112

Abstract: Yield decline due to Whip smut is an issue that has plagued sugarcane production in Nigeria. The objective of the study was to evaluate the inhibitory effect of pesticidal plants at varying rates of application on whip smut disease for sugarcane genotypes production. Green house experiment was conducted in 2018 and 2019 at National Cereals Research Institute, Badeggi in the Southern Guinea Savanna ecology of Nigeria. The treatments consists of factorial combination of two sugarcane genotypes, B47419 and NCS 008, three plant extracts, (Moringa, Neem, Cassia) and three levels of application rates (40, 60, 80 g/l) arranged in a completely randomized design (CRD) replicated three times. The results showed that genotype B47419 suppressed *Sporisorium scitamineum* germination and penetration than NCS 008, and gave a higher growth and yield of sugarcane than NCS 008. Brix content was highest under B47419 than NCS 008. The application, produced higher growth and yield of sugarcane. In conclusion, application of Cassia plant extracts at 80 g was the best in managing *Sporisorium scitamineum*, effectively boast brix content and sustain the productivity of sugarcane in the study area and related ecologies.

Keywords: Sporisorium scitamineum, sugarcane disease, pesticidal plants, whip smut.

Introduction

Sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) is a significant commercial cash crop widely grown by farmers in most tropical countries grown for the production of sugar, molasses, livestock feeds, alcohol, bagasse for fuel [BASSEY & al. 2021], and trash for mulching and as organic fertilizer [BASSEY & al. 2022]. Sugarcane contributes 60% of the total world sugar requirement, while the remaining 40% comes from sugar beet [BASSEY & al. 2023]. Whip smut (*Sporisorium scitamineum*) of sugarcane is the most serious and widely spread disease of sugarcane and causes a significant reduction in cane quantity and quality [WADA & ANASO, 2016; RAJPUT & al. 2021]. The severity of this disease often depends on the pathogen races, environmental conditions, cultivar genotype and the interaction among these three factors.

In addition biotic factors especially diseases effects limit optimum sugar cane yield [BASSEY & WADA, 2024]. Reduction in yield components and cane yield losses due to whip smut disease has been reported by WADA (2018). Besides, in this agroecology in Nigeria, the common sugar cane types under production are the chewing cane for human consumption and commercial cane as raw materials for the sugar and sugar-related industries. One potential way

PESTICIDAL PLANT SPECIES IMPACT ON WHIP SMUT REDUCTION AND SUGARCANE ...

to manage smut incidence and improve sugarcane production among small land holders to meet the demand for sugar is by the use of pesticidal plant species.

There is an urgent need to investigate pesticidal plants as options to safe and boost the production of sugarcane genotypes in order to meet the needs of increasing population. Hence, the objective of the study was to evaluate the inhibitory effect of pesticidal plants at varying application rates on whip smut disease for sugarcane genotypes production in this study area.

Materials and methods

Green house trial was conducted at the sugarcane experimental screen house of the National Cereals Research Institute, Badeggi (latitude $9^{\circ}45'$ N, longitude $0.6^{\circ}07'$ E) in the Southern Guinea savanna agro-ecological zone of Nigeria in 2018 and 2019 rainy season.

At the commencement of the experiment, fresh smut whips were collected in the early hours of the day between 6.30-7.30 a.m. following the method of NASR (1977) and modified by WADA (2005). They were dried for one hour under the shade, scrubbed with hands covered with sterile gloves to obtain smut teliospores. The teliospores were sieved using a mesh. Ten grams (10 g) of the sieved teliospores were weighed and sealed in cellophane bags and stored in the refrigerator in the laboratory for inoculation process at a later date.

The smut teliospore suspension was prepared by adding one liter of sterilized distilled water which was subsequently emptied into 25 liters of sterilized water and stirred vigorously to obtain a homogenous suspension of the teliospores. The suspension aseptically inoculated on 3-budded sugar cane sets for 1 hour. They were then removed and incubated overnight in wet sterile jute for 14 hrs and subsequently planted out in the green house for further investigations.

Fresh leaves of *Azadirachta indica* (neem), *Moringa oleifera*, *Senna alata* (syn. *Cassia alata*) were washed with tap water and then with distilled water weighed (100 g) before grinding into paste with piston and mortar. The paste obtained were used to prepare three concentrations 40 g/l, 60 g/l and 80 g/l. The plant extracts were prepared by soaking the earlier prepared *Azadirachta indica* (neem), *Moringa oleifera*, *Cassia alata* leaves powder in sterile water overnight.

The inoculated cane cuttings were immersed in each of the extract [WADA, 2005].

The total rainfall during the experimental period was 1500.5 mm in 2018 and 1015.8 mm in 2019, respectively. The mean air temperature during the sugarcane plant cropping season was 33 to 34 $^{\circ}$ C in 2018 and 33 to 36 $^{\circ}$ C in 2019 plant cropping seasons (Table 1).

The treatments consists of factorial combination of two sugarcane genotypes, B47419 and NCS008, three plant extracts (Moringa, Neem, Cassia) and three levels of application rates (40, 60, 80 g/l) arranged in a completely randomized design (CRD) replicated three times. Tender healthy young stalks of six months old sugarcane were used as planting material. The stalks were cut into setts each containing three eye buds and planted in pots filled with soil. Agronomic practices from fertilizer application, weeding and watering were carried out at the required growth stages of the sugarcane until termination of the experiment. Weeding was done by hand pulling one week before the application of fertilizer. Irrigation was done twice a week.

All data collected were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA). The means were separated using Duncan multiple range test at 5% level of probability using SAS version 9.0 statistical package.

Results and discussions

Smut incidence at three months after planting (MAP) was significantly (p<0.01)observed on NCS008 than B47419 in 2018 season. There was no difference found in plant extracts used. Application rate of 80 g/l obtained the lowest smut incidence than the lower rates. There was no interaction between the treatment combinations on smut incidence at 3MAP in 2018 (Table 2). In 2019, smut incidence was lowest on B47419. Moringa plant extract significantly (p<0.01) had the least incidence at 3 MAP. Application rate of 80 g/l produced the least incidence of smut than the lower rates tested. There was no interaction between the treatment combination tested on smut incident in 2019 (Table 2). Smut incidence at 6 MAP was significantly affected by varieties in 2018. Plant extract had no effect on smut incident at 6 MAP. Application of 80 g/l of extract had the least incidence of smut compared to the lower rates (Table 2). In 2019, there was no significant effect of varieties on smut incident at 6 MAP. Moringa plant extract produced the least incident than the other extract tested. Application of 60 g/l of extract produced the least smut incident (Table 2). The superiority of B47419 in having lower Smut disease incidence than NCS008 can be attributed to the differences in the genetic makeup, fast establishment, higher tillering ability and quick canopy formation of the variety which was influenced by adequate rainfall and temperature. This result is in accordance with those of BASHIR & al. (2012) and FIGUEROA-RODRÍGUEZ & al. (2019) who reported that significant difference exist among Smut incidence of sugarcane genotypes due to genetic makeup and conductive environment.

	Temperature (°C)		Rainfa	ll (mm)
Months	2018	2019	2018	2019
January	36	35	0.0	0.0
February	38	37	0.0	0.0
March	39	40	95.4	4.0
April	40	39	18.7	4.5
May	36	34	220.6	274.9
June	32	35	286.8	146.4
July	31	32	346.1	161.8
August	31	31	203.8	251.7
September	30	30	273.5	202.1
October	33	32	59.2	28.2
November	34	35	0.0	0.0
December	35	33	0.0	0.0
Total	415	375	1504.1	1073.6

Table 1. Temperature and rainfall distribution from 2018 to 2019 cropping season at Badeggi

Source: Weather station, National Cereals Research Institute Badeggi.

Whin Smut incidence								
Treatments	3 N	1AP	mut meruer	6 MAP				
	2018	2019	2018	2019				
Genotypes (S)								
B47419	2.78	4.65	3.00	4.50				
NCS008	4.61	5.15	3.00	4.22				
LSD (0.05)	0.71	0.4	0.41	0.5				
Extract (E)								
Moringa	3.69	4.17	3.00	2.92				
Neem	3.69	5.03	3.00	5.42				
Cassia	3.69	5.50	3.00	4.75				
LSD (0.05)	0.81	0.5	0.41	0.6				
Rates (R)								
40	3.83	5.33	3.25	4.92				
60	3.52	4.81	2.92	4.53				
80	3.43	4.56	2.83	3.83				
LSD (0.05)	0.81	0.5	0.48	0.7				
Interaction	NS	NS	NS	NS				

PESTICIDAL PLANT SPECIES IMPACT ON WHIP SMUT REDUCTION AND SUGARCANE ...

 Table 2. Effects of sugarcane genotypes, plant extracts and application rates on

 Smut disease incidence at 3 and 6 MAP in 2018 and 2019 seasons

LSD - least significant difference, NS - not significant, MAP - months after planting

Sugarcane stalk height at 6 MAP was significantly affected by varieties in 2018 (Table 3). NCS008 significantly produced higher stalks than B47419 in 2018 season. The application rate of 80 g/l had more stalk than the lower rate applied (Table 3). The interaction between varieties, plant extract, solvent and rate was not significant in 2018. In 2019 season, varieties had no effect on stalk high at 6 MAP. Similarly, Cassia plant extract significantly had higher stalks than the other extract tested. The application rate of 80 g/l had more stalk than the lower rate applied (Table 3). The interaction between varieties, plant extract, solvent and rate of application on stalk height was not significant in 2019 (Table 3). The production of consistently taller sugarcane plant and stalk in plots with NCS008 can be attributed to their erect stools at maturity, exhibition of heavy stool habit influenced by good environmental conditions, efficient moisture use, better weed competitiveness, tolerant to drought and variation in the leaf architecture. This finding is also in agreement with the findings of CHEEMA & al. (2010) who reported that, industrial sugarcane establishes faster because of its ability to withstand drought and diseases, this in turn translated into faster growth and development.

The effect of varieties, plant extract and rate of application on stalk girth at 6 MAP in 2018 season was not significant. Also, the interaction between the treatments on stalk girth at 6 MAP was not significant (Table 3). Significant effect was found in 2019 on stalk girth at 6 MAP. NCS 008 was significantly (P<0.01) higher than B47419. Furthermore, Cassia plant extract produced thicker stalk than the other extract tested in 2019 (Table 3). The rate of application 80 g/l significantly (P<0.01) produced thicker stalk than the lower rates. There was no significant effect on the interaction among the treatments on stalk girth at 6 MAP in 2019 (Table 3). The

Moses Samuel BASSEY & al.

superiority of NCS008 in having bigger stalk girth than B47419 can be attributed to low stool habit, more robust and soft stem with high water and less sucrose content impacted by favorable rainfall and temperature. This confirms the finding of AHMED & al. (2014) who reported that, local canes has more robust, soft stem with high water and less sucrose content than the industrial canes.

Brix content at 8 MAP was significantly affected by varieties such that NCS008 had higher brix than B47419 in 2018. There was no difference among the plant extract tested. Furthermore, application rate of 80 g/l significantly produced higher Brix content than the lower rates at 8 MAP in 2018. In 2019, brix content at 8 MAP was higher in NCS008. Cassia plant extract significantly had higher brix than other extract tested. The application rate of 80 g/l produced higher brix than the lower rate tested. There was no interaction between the treatments (Table 3). The higher brix content observed in the genotype NCS 008 compared with the B47419 could be attributed to growth habit affected by beneficial environmental conditions, efficient use of applied inputs, better competitive ability to suppress weeds and tolerance to drought. This is in agreement to the findings of AHMED & al. (2014), HASSAN & al. (2017) and FIGUEROA-RODRÍGUEZ & al. (2019) who reported that, improved sugarcane (industrial canes) genotypes have thin stems with high sucrose content and less water due to the varied morphological differences that exist among the genotypes.

B47419 significantly produced more single stalk weight (SSW) than NCS008 in 2018. There was no significant difference among the plant extract used. SSW was higher when 80 g/l application rate was used than the other lower rates (Table 3). There was no interaction between the treatment combinations on SSW in 2018 season. In 2019, SSW was higher in NCS008 than B47419. Cassia plant extract performed better than other plant extracts used. Similarly, application of 80 g/l produced more SSW than the lower rates. There was no interaction between the treatment combinations on SSW in 2019 season (Table 3). Cane yield of NCS008 was significantly (P<0.01) higher than B47419 in 2018 season. There was no difference among the plant extract used on cane yield in 2018. The application rate of 80 g/l produced more cane yield than the lower rates tested (Table 3). In 2019, the yield of NCS008 was higher than that of B47419. Similarly, Cassia plant extract had more yield than the other extracts tested. The 80g application rate produced more cane yield than the other lower rate used (Table 3). Cassia plant extract in combination with application rate of 40-80 g/l consistently produced higher cane yield in 2018 season.

In 2019 season, cane yield was higher in combination with Neem/Cassia extract at 80 g/l rate of application (Table 3). The higher sugarcane yield of NCS 008 than that of B47419 in each year of this study could be due to its genetic make up, fast establishment influenced by favourable environmental conditions (Rainfall and temperature), higher tillering ability, quick canopy formation, heavy residue production, heavy stooling ability and better weed competitive ability, which was more efficient in exploiting growth contributing factors than B47419. This result is in accordance with those of BASHIR & al. (2012) and FIGUEROA-RODRÍGUEZ & al. (2019) who reported that significant difference exist among cane yield of sugarcane genotypes due to genetic makeup and good environmental conditions.

cont	Stalk baicht Stalk girt in Briv contant Single stalk Cane vield									
Treatmont	Staik	m)	Stall	k gii tii em)		w)	Sing	ie staik		$(y_1)^{-1}$
Treatment	2018	2019	2018	2019	2018	2019	2018	2019	2018	2019
Genotypes (S)										
B47419	111.1	124.3	1.21	1.33	17.04	18.02	0.73	0.95	19.35	22.08
NCS008	137.2	123.3	1.47	1.44	19.02	18.98	1.19	1.19	32.39	26.04
LSD (0.05)	7.6	4.1	0.86	0.1	0.49	0.1	0.6	0.1	1.25	0.95
Extract (E)										
Moringa	124.1	102.8	1.34	1.20	18.03	17.29	0.96	0.67	25.87	17.97
Neem	124.2	128.4	1.34	1.40	18.03	18.00	0.96	1.04	25.87	24.25
Cassia	124.1	140.1	1.34	1.54	18.03	20.21	0.96	1.32	25.87	29.96
LSD (0.05)	9.4	6.1	0.11	0.1	0.6	0.1	0.8	0.1	1.5	1.17
Rates (R)										
40	107.0	121.7	1.30	1.34	17.64	18.36	0.80	0.92	23.26	22.88
60	125.4	125.0	1.26	1.38	17.44	18.46	0.97	1.03	26.91	24.34
80	139.9	124.3	1.46	1.42	19.02	18.68	1.12	1.08	27.45	24.95
LSD (0.05)	9.4	5.0	0.11	0.1	0.6	0.1	0.82	0.1	1.52	1.17
Interaction										
S x W	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS

PESTICIDAL PLA	NT SPECIES IMPAC	CT ON WHIP SMUT	TREDUCTION AND	SUGARCANE
----------------	------------------	-----------------	-----------------------	-----------

 Table 3. Effects of sugarcane genotypes, plant extracts and application rates on Stalk height, Girth, Brix

 content
 Single stalk weight and Cane yield at harvest in 2018 and 2019 seasons

LSD – least significant difference, NS – not significant.

Conclusion

Application of Cassia plant extracts at 80 g was the best in managing *Sporisorium scitamineum*, effectively boast brix content and sustain the productivity of sugarcane in the study area and related ecologies.

Acknowledgement

We want to use this medium to acknowledge and to thank the management of National Cereals Research Institute for the support in providing all that was needed for implementing present research.

References

- AHMED M., BAIYERI K. P. & ECHEZONA B. C. 2014. Evaluation of organic mulch on the growth and yield of sugarcane in the Southern Guinea of Nigeria. *The Journal of Animal & Plant Sciences*. 24(1): 329-335.
- BASHIR S., FIAZ N., GHAFFAR A. & KHALID F. 2012. Ratooning ability of sugarcane genotypes at different harvesting dates. *International Sugar Journal.* **114**(1360): 273-276.
- BASSEY M. S., KOLO M. G. M., DANIYA E. & ODOFIN A. J. 2021. Trash mulch and weed management practice impact on some soil properties, weed dynamics and sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) genotypes plant crop productivity. *Sugar Technology*. 23: 395-406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12355-020-00899-8
- BASSEY M. S., AUDU S. A., EKAETTE J. E. & OLANIYAN O. B. 2022. Sugarcane intercropping impact on weed dry matter, sugar quality and sugarcane production. *Agrica*. 11: 142-149.
- BASSEY M. S., SHITTU E. A. & LAWAN Z. M. 2023. Agronomic potentials of sugarcane hybrid clones under Southern Guinea Savanna ecology of Nigeria. *International Journal of Research in Applied Sciences*, *Innovations and Technology (IJORIASIT)*. 2(1): 82-94.
- BASSEY M. S. & WADA A. C. 2024. Weed and disease management strategies for sustainable sugarcane production. Egyptian Sugar Journal. 21: 63-71. https://doi.org/10.21608/esugj.2024.27 3883.1053
- CHEEMA M. S., BASHIR S. & AHMAD F. 2010. Evaluation of integrated weed management practices for sugarcane. Pakistan Journal of Weed Science Research. **16**(3): 257-265.
- HASSAN M. U., FIAZ N., MUDASSIR M. A. & YASIN M. 2017. Exploring ratooning potentials of sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum L.) genotypes under varying harvesting times of plant crop. Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Research. 30(3): 303-309.

- FIGUEROA-RODRÍGUEZ K. A., HERNÁNDEZ-ROSAS F., FIGUEROA-SANDOVAL B., VELASCO-VELASCO J. & RIVERA N. A. 2019. What has been the focus of Sugarcane Research? A Bibliometric overview. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 16(18): 3326. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16183326
- RAJPUT M. A., RAJPUT N. A., SYED R. N., LODHI A. M. & QUE Y. 2021. Sugarcane smut: current knowledge and the way forward for management. *Journal of Fungi*. **7**(12): 1095. https://doi.org/10.3390/jof7121095
- WADA A. C. 2005. Quantitative and qualitative losses caused on sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum) by whip smut (Ustilago scitaminea Syd) and its races in Nigeria. PhD Thesis, University of Maiduguri, Maiduguri, Nigeria, 247 pp.
- WADA A. C. & ANASO A. B. 2016. Yield components and cane yield losses of two sugarcane varieties affected by whip smut (Sporisorium scitaminem Syd.) in Nigeria. Journal of Crop Science Research. 1(1): 1-15.
- WADA A. C. 2018. Ratooning ability of two sugar cane varieties affected by Whip Smut (Sporisorium scitamineum, Sydow) at Badeggi, Nigeria. International Journal of BioSciences, Agriculture and Technology (IJBSAT). 9(5): 32-42. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1486289

How to cite this article:

BASSEY M. S., SHITTU E. A., MONDAY S. A., OLALEKAN A. V., ETIM E. E., ETOPOBONG E. J. & EBENEZER F. 2024. Pesticidal plant species impact on whip smut reduction and sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) production in Nigeria. J. Plant Develop. **31**: 83-89. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.961

Research Article

COMPARATIVE EFFICACY OF NPK FERTILIZER AND POULTRY DROPPINGS ON THE GROWTH AND YIELD OF AMARANTHUS HYBRIDUS L.

Victor Onuche IKANI^{1*}, Bawa Gambo ZAKARI¹, Zubairu Gaddafi JIMETA¹, Ahmad IDI²

¹ Department of Plant Science, Modibbo Adama University, Yola – Nigeria.
 ² Department of Biotechnology, Modibbo Adama University, Yola – Nigeria.
 * Corresponding author. E-mail: vonuche@gmail.com, ORCID: 0009-0005-5589-3461

Abstract: The persistent reduction in soil fertility as a result of continuous cultivation of the soil has become a problem to vegetable farmers, both inorganic and organic fertilizers have been recommended as good sources of nutrients. This study sought to compare the performance of NPK (15:15:15) and poultry manure at different application rate on the growth and yield of *Amaranthus hybridus*. The experiment was done in duplicate and laid out using a Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with each plot measuring 1.2 m by 1.2 m. The plant height (117 cm), leaf length (22.70 cm), leaf width (14.60 cm), leaf area index (12.10 cm²), fresh weight (387.58 g) and dry weight (54.20 g) were significantly (P<0.05) higher in plant with application rate of 15 g poultry dropping compared to NPK fertilizer and wield of *A. hybridus*.

Keywords: leaf, inorganic, organic, plant, weight.

Introduction

Amaranthus hybridus L., commonly referred to as amaranth, is a member of the Amaranthaceae family, which includes over 60 species [ANJALI, 2013]. They are primarily monoecious but, few are dioecious. The high nutritional value of this crop has attracted the attention from various nations globally [SRIVASTAVA, 2011]. Its leaves constitute a cheaper and rich source of protein, carotenoids [SHUKLA & al. 2006] and minerals and vitamins [MUYONGA & al. 2008]. Due to farmers' desire to fulfill the rising demand for agricultural products, there has been a surge in the need for mineral fertilizers in emerging nations in order to raise crop production. The need to sustain and increase yields is one of the agricultural difficulties that are becoming more prominent due to the growing global population and changing eating preferences [ADEDEJI & al. 2019].

Inorganic fertilizers are produced using synthetic substances or extracted from mineral deposits and, are easily accessible nutrients to plants. They include: Nitrogen (N), Phosphorus (P) and Potassium (K) which are suitable for crop production in the tropics to improve the fertility of the soil. However, their use has not always been successful in the tropics due to increased soil acidity, easy nutrient leaching, low organic matter status, decreased crop yield, and degradation of soil physical properties. The ingredients of NPK fertilizer are important and necessary, for plant growth. The usage of NPK fertilizer is crucial to the agriculture sector's ability to feed the world's population and guarantee healthy crops but, because of its high cost

COMPARATIVE EFFICACY OF NPK FERTILIZER AND POULTRY DROPPINGS ON ...

and negative effects on the environment, impoverished farmers cannot afford it and, are therefore not a desired option [EKWEALOR & al. 2021].

Organic manure contains high amount of nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and other essential nutrients which are essential for soil fertility [OYEWOLE & OYEWOLE, 2011]. In contrast to inorganic fertilizer, organic fertilizer adds organic matter to the soil which improves soil structure, nutrient retention, aeration, soil moisture-holding capacity and water infiltration [DEKISSA & ALLEN, 2008]. Organic manure such as cow dung and chicken manure help to improve the soil by providing nutrients for growing crops and it also improves the soil quality because of its high organic matter content with available nutrients for plant growth. Although organic manure exists in readily available forms, cheap and easy to access, they need to be applied in large amounts to meet the nutrient requirement of crops [PRABU & al. 2003].

The persistent reduction in soil fertility as a result of continuous cultivation on the soil is becoming a problem to vegetable farmers. Application of poultry droppings to crops have been found to be an effective and cheap source of nutrient for sustainable production of vegetable crops [SHAGUFTA, 2012]. Poultry droppings contain significant amount of the macro and micro nutrients as well as organic matter that is capable of improving the soil aeration capacity, microbial activities, texture, structure and porosity levels that are very crucial for growth and yields of vegetables [MUSA & al. 2020]. ANO & AGWU (2005) reported that vegetables cultivated using organic manures such as poultry droppings are gaining popularity because of less chemical residue and better taste. This research compared the performance of inorganic fertilizer (NPK 15:15:15) and organic fertilizer (poultry manure) at different application rate on the growth and yield of *Amaranthus hybridus*.

Materials and methods

Study location

This study was carried out at the Botanical Garden (9°20'59"N, 12°29'7"E), of the Department of Plant Science, Modibbo Adama University, Yola. *Amaranthus hybridus* seeds and NPK (15:15:15) fertilizer were obtained from an agro-allied store while the poultry droppings used for the study was obtained from a poultry farm in Jimeta, Adamawa State Nigeria.

Sowing of seeds and experimental design

Seeds of *Amaranthus hybridus* were sown on a well-prepared nursery bed. The seedlings were transplanted one week after germination. Field experiment was done in duplicate and laid out using a Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with a total of sixteen plots, each measuring 1.2 m by 1.2 m. Eight plots each were assigned to poultry and NPK treated seedlings.

Different mass of NPK fertilizer and poultry droppings (5, 10, 15 g) were applied to the soil beside each seedling on each plot except for the control (0 g) plots where neither NPK fertilizer nor poultry droppings was applied. The experiment was carried out for a total duration of seven weeks.

Data collection

Plant height: height (cm) of three randomly tagged amaranth plants was measured and recorded using a meter rule at five weeks after transplanting of the seedlings.

Number of leaves: number of leaves on three randomly tagged amaranth plants were counted and recorded at five weeks after transplanting of the seedlings.

Leaf length: leaf length (cm) of three randomly tagged amaranth plants was measured from the leaf apex to the leaf base using a meter rule at five weeks after transplanting of the seedlings.

Leaf width: leaf width (cm) of three randomly tagged amaranth plants was measured from the leaf apex to the leaf base using a meter rule at five weeks after transplanting of the seedlings.

Leaf area: leaf area was determined using a portable leaf area meter (AM 350 model).

Leaf area index: leaf area was calculated by dividing the leaf area (m^2) with the ground area (m^2) according to the method of AHMAD & al. (2015).

Fresh weight: whole plants were uprooted for each application rate in each replication and weighed using a digital weighing balance (Sartorius ED2245 model) to obtain the fresh weight in gram, five weeks after transplanting.

Dried weight: whole plant was oven dried at a temperature of 70°C for 55 minutes and weighed using a digital weighing balance (Sartorius ED2245 model) to obtain the dry weight in gram, five weeks after transplanting.

Data analysis

One-way analysis of variance was used to compare the growth performance of amaranth subjected to different application rate of NPK and poultry fertilizer using R software version 4.05, Tukey's Honest Significant Difference was used to separate means where significant. All tests were done at $P \le 0.05$.

Results and discussion

The comparative effect of NPK fertilizer and poultry droppings on the growth and yield of *Amaranthus* is shown in Table 1.

Plant height of *Amaranthus* varied significantly across (P<0.05) the different treatments. The plant with the highest height (117 cm) were those on the soil that was treated with 15 g of poultry droppings while the lowest (68.80 cm) was in the control. The increase in height may be due to favourable nutrient mineralization. A similar report has been made by OLOWOAKE & OJO (2014) in *Amaranthus caudatus* where compost manure favoured plant height over NPK fertilizer. Number of leaves in each treatment did not vary significantly (P>0.05), however the highest number of leaves (36.80) was noted in plants treated with 15 g of poultry droppings and the lowest (24.20) was in the control treatment. Number of leaves in *Amaranthus* is an indication of the yield and the high number of leaves produced by 15 g of poultry droppings could be due to sustained release of nutrients in 15 g of poultry droppings over the other treatments. It depicts the efficiency of organic fertilizers in promoting the vegetative growth and yield of *Amaranthus*. This conforms to the report of YASSEN & al. (2009) that organic fertilizers (chicken manure and farm yard manure) improve the vegetative characters of spinach.

	Table 1. Effect of NPK and poultry droppings on the growth and yield of Amaranthus hybridus									
Aj	pp. rate	PH (cm)	NL	LL (cm)	LW (cm)	LA (cm²)	LAI	FW (g)	DW (g)	
	0g	$68.8{\pm}0.75^{b}$	$24.2{\pm}0.75^{a}$	16.1±0.125°	$9.28{\pm}0.225^{b}$	112±1.85ª	7.01 ± 0.120^{b}	103±0.900°	15.0±0.850e	
K	5g	$88.8{\pm}8.25^{ab}$	$47.2{\pm}19.2^{a}$	$20.8{\pm}~2.00^{abc}$	$12.9{\pm}1.07^{ab}$	202±36.0ª	$12.6{\pm}2.26^{ab}$	256±10.2 ^{abc}	34.7±1.07°	
dN	10g	$73.0{\pm}7.5^{b}$	30±1.00 ^a	19.9 ± 0.125^{abc}	$12.2{\pm}0.25^{ab}$	$183{\pm}2.58^{a}$	$11.4{\pm}~0.160^{ab}$	137±16.3bc	$21.3{\pm}0.890^d$	
	15g	$90.8{\pm}7.75^{ab}$	$35.2{\pm}0.75^a$	22.1 ± 0.875^{a}	$12.6{\pm}0.025\underline{0}^{ab}$	286±69.1ª	$11.6{\pm}1.93^{ab}$	246 ± 44.3^{abc}	35.5±1.18°	
	5g	69.5 ± 5.00^{b}	25.8±1.75 ^a	16.6 ± 0.625^{bc}	$9.38{\pm}0.125^{b}$	117±5.95ª	$7.31{\pm}0.370^{b}$	127±16.2bc	$25.3{\pm}1.36^d$	
PD	10g	100±9.25 ^{ab}	$31.2{\pm}1.25^{a}$	$21.4{\pm}0.625^{ab}$	$12.1{\pm}0.675^{ab}$	$194{\pm}16.5^{a}$	$12.1{\pm}1.03^{ab}$	$276{\pm}18.5^{ab}$	46.5 ± 1.15^{b}	
	15g	117±5.50ª	$36.8{\pm}3.25^{a}$	22.7 ± 0.190^{a}	14.6±1.88 ^a	249±29.8ª	15.5 ± 1.86^{a}	$387{\pm}58.8^{a}$	54.2 ± 1.20^{a}	
	<i>P</i> -value	0.0112 *	0.449	0.00634 **	0.0274 *	0.0591	0.031 *	0.00266 **	4.37e-07 ***	

COMPARATIVE EFFICACY OF NPK FERTILIZER AND POULTRY DROPPINGS ON ...

KEY: App.: application, PH – plant height, NL – number of leaves, LL – leaf length, LW – leaf width, LA – leaf area, LAI – leaf area index, FW – fresh weight, DW – dry weight, NPK: Nitrogen, Phosphorus, Potassium; PD: Poultry Droppings. Means with different superscript along each column are significantly different. * – significant, ** – highly significant, *** – very highly significant Leaf length and width varied significantly across the different application rates of the fertilizer. The highest in leaf length (22.70 cm) and leaf width (14.60 cm) was recorded in plants treated with 15 g of poultry droppings and lowest in the control plant with values of 16.10 cm and 9.28 cm respectively. Leaf area did not vary significantly (P>0.05) in the accessions studied, the highest (286 cm²) was recorded in 15 g of NPK treated plants and the lowest (112 cm²) was in the control treatment. The increased leaf length and leaf width due to treatment with organic fertilizer could in turn lead to a large surface area of the plant which will affect the photosynthetic ability of the plant and in turn the general productivity of the plant. This is in conformity with the findings of EKWEALOR & al. (2021) which showed that application of organic fertilizer improved the leaf length, width and area of cabbage.

Leaf area index, fresh weight and dry weight was highest (15.5, 387 g and 54.2 g) in plant treated with 15 g poultry and lowest (7.01, 103 g and 15 g) in the control plant. This report indicates that poultry droppings increased the leaf production and as well as improved the biomass production of *Amaranthus*. The leaf area index (LAI) is an important variable used to evaluate many processes such as canopy, photosynthesis and evapotranspiration which play an important role in the transformation of energy and mass between the atmosphere and plant canopy [AHMAD & al. 2015]. The report of MUSA & al. (2020) that poultry manure significantly enhanced the growth and yield of okra is in conformity with this study.

Conclusion

Both NPK fertilizer and poultry dropping significantly improved the growth and yield of *Amaranthus*. However, 15 g application rate of poultry dropping was the best for most of the growth and yield parameters studied. It is recommended that 15 g of poultry droppings be used by farmers for each plant stand to obtain optimum growth and yield of *Amaranthus hybridus*.

References

- ADEDEJI J. A., IDOWU-AGIDA O. O., AWOGBADE A. L., ONI O. O., OLADEJO L. F. & OLADOSU B. O. 2019. Effect of different organic fertilizers on yield and quality of *Amaranthus (Amaranthus hybridus)*. International Journal of Research and Scientific Innovation. 6(5): 332-337.
- AHMAD S., ALI H., REHMAN A., ZEB KHAN R., AHMAD W., ZARTASH F., ABBAS G., IRFAN M., ALI H., KHAN M. A. & HASANUZZAMAN M. 2015. Measuring leaf area of winter cereals by different techniques: a comparison. *Pakistan Journal of Life and Social Sciences*. 13(2): 117-125.
- ANJALI D. 2013. Relates to tribal education and health: evidence from rural Odisha, India. International Research Journal of Social Sciences. 2(11): 11-16.
- ANO A. I. & AGWU J. A. 2005. Effects of animal manures on selected soil chemical properties, organic matter, ph, exchangeable Ca and Mg. Nigerian Journal of Science. 15: 14-19.
- DEKISSA T. S. & ALLEN J. 2008. Effect of soil amendment with compost on growth and water use efficiency of Amaranth. In: Proceedings of the UCOWR/NIWR Annual Conference: International Water resources: challenges for the 21st century and water resources education, July 22-24, 2008, Durham, NC. p. 58.
- EKWEALOR U. K., IROKA F. C., EZE N. H. & OKAFOR N. P. 2021. Comparative effects of organic and inorganic manure on the growth and development of *Cucumis sativus*. *African Journal of Agriculture and Food Science*. 4(3): 51-58. https://doi.org/10.52589/AJAFSUMVFPNRE
- MUSA M., ABDULAZIZ B. K. & MUSA A. A. 2020. Influence of NPK fertilizer and poultry manure on the growth of Okra (Abelmoschus esculentus L. Moench) in Northern Sudan Savannah Region of Nigeria. International journal of Horticulture, Agriculture and Food science (IJHAF). 4(6): 196-204. https://doi.org/10.22161/ijhaf.4.6.1
- MUYONGA J. H., NABAKABYA D., NAKIMBUGWE D. N. & MASINDE D. 2008. Using food science and technology to improve nutrition and promote national development: efforts to promote amaranth production and consumption in Uganda to fight malnutrition. In: ROBERTSON G. L. & LUPIEN J. R. (eds.). 2008.

COMPARATIVE EFFICACY OF NPK FERTILIZER AND POULTRY DROPPINGS ON ...

Chapter 8. Using food science and technology to improve nutrition and promote national development. International Union of Food Science and Technology, Toronto: p. 1-10.

- OLOWOAKE A. A. & OJO J. A. 2014. Effect of fertilizer types on the growth and yield of Amaranthus caudatus in Ilorin, Southern Guinea Savanna Zone of Nigeria. Advances in Agriculture. Vol. 2014, Article ID: 947062: 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/947062
- OYEWOLE C. I. & OYEWOLE A. N. 2011. Crop production and the livestock industry, the interplay: a case study of manure and crop production. *Proceeding of the 16th Annual Conference of Agricultural Society of Nigeria*. 124-127.
- PRABU T., NARWADKAR P. R., SANINDRANATH A. K. & RAFI M. 2003. Effect of integrated nutrient management on growth and yield of amaranth. *Journal of Horticulture*. **31**(1): 17-21.
- SHAGUFTA R. 2012. Trends and techniques of horticulture, APH Publishing Corporation, Ansari Road, Darja Ganj, New Delhi110002, India, 300 pp.
- SHUKLA S. I., BHARGAVA A., CHATTERJEE A., SRIVASTAVA J., SINGH N. & SINGH S. P. 2006. Mineral profile and variability in vegetable Amaranth (*Amaranthus triculus*). *Plant Food for Human Nutrition*. 61(1): 23-28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-006-0004-x
- SRIVASTAVA R. 2011. Nutritional quality of some cultivated and wild species of Amaranthus L. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research. 2: 3152-3156. https://doi.org/10.13040/IJPSR.0975-8232.2(12).3152-56
- YASSEN A. A. & KHALID K. A. 2009. Influence of organic fertilizer on the yield, essential oil and mineral content of onion. *International Agrophysics*. 23(2): 183-188.

How to cite this article:

IKANI V. O., ZAKARI B. G., JIMETA Z. G. & IDI A. 2024. Comparative efficacy of NPK fertilizer and poultry droppings on the growth and yield of *Amaranthus hybridus* L. J. Plant Develop. 31: 91-96. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.942 **Research Article**

SOIL AND SUGAR QUALITY IMPROVEMENT INFLUENCED BY MULCHING AND WEED MANAGEMENT PRACTICES IN NIGERIA

Moses Samuel BASSEY¹*^(D), Emmanuel Abraham SHITTU², Ekaette Eunice ETIM³, Ekaette Joy ETOPOBONG¹

¹ National Cereals Research Institute, P.M.B. 8, Badeggi – Nigeria.
 ² Department of Agronomy, Bayero University, P.M.B 3011, Kano – Nigeria.
 ³ National Biotechnology and Development Agency, Arochuwu – Nigeria.
 * Corresponding author. Email: mosessamuel36@yahoo.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-9345-1112

Abstract: Yield decline is an issue that has plagued sugarcane production in Nigeria. The objective of the study was to evaluate the effects of sugarcane trash mulch and weed management practices on soil C and N, and sugar quality production. The treatments consisted of factorial combination of two sugarcane genotypes (Bida local and NCS 001), four sugarcane trash mulching levels (0, 3, 6, 9 t ha⁻¹) and four weed management practices: weedy check, 5 monthly hoe weeding (5MHW), pre-emergence (PE) application of diuron at 2 kg a.i./ha + Post-Emergence (POE) of 3-Maize force at 179.2 g/ha + Two hoe weeding (2HW), and PE Diuron + POE 3-Maize force arranged in a split plot design and replicated three times. The results showed that application of 9 t ha⁻¹ trash mulch significantly (P<0.05) produced the highest organic carbon, N, which in turn enhanced sugar yield. Similarly, the application of 9 t ha⁻¹ trash mulch plus PE+POE produced the highest NCS 001 sugar quality. Application of trash mulching at 9 t ha⁻¹ plus PE+POE effectively enhanced soil C and N, and sustained the productivity of NCS 001 sugar quality in the study area and related ecologies.

Keywords: genotypes, soil properties, sugar quality, trash mulch, weed management.

Introduction

Sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) family Poaceae is widely grown crop in Nigeria. It provides employment to over a million people directly or indirectly besides contributing significantly to the national exchequer [FAOSTAT, 2019]. It is widely grown in several tropical and subtropical countries of the world accounting approximately, 75% of world's sucrose production from sugarcane. Besides the production of raw sugar, of which sugarcane is mainly produced for, sugarcane also represents an important source of renewable energy which has recently gained attention because of ethanol production [PRIYANKA & al. 2019]. In Nigeria, it is grown on an estimated land area of over 500,000 hectares with a yield potential of over three million metric tons of sugarcane [BASSEY & al. 2021].

In the presence of climatic change, land degradation and biodiversity loss, soils have become one of the most vulnerable resources in the world [KANE, 2015]. Soils are a major carbon reservoir containing more carbon than the atmosphere and terrestrial vegetation combined. Soil organic carbon (SOC) is the main component of soil organic matter [KEILUWEIT & al. 2015]. As an indicator for soil health, SOC is important for its contribution to food production, mitigation and adaptation to climatic change. A high soil organic matter content provides nutrients to plants and improves water availability, both of which enhance soil fertility and ultimately improves food productivity [BALDOCCI & al. 2016]. Moreover, SOC

SOIL AND SUGAR QUALITY IMPROVEMENT INFLUENCED BY MULCHING AND WEED ...

improves soil structural stability by promoting aggregate formation which, together with porosity, ensures sufficient aeration and water infiltration to support plant growth [FAO & ITPS, 2015].

The gap between domestic production and the demand for sugar can be attributed to many factors. This include rapidly increasing population, increased demand for food, limited scope for extension of cultivation to new areas, diversified low yield potential, food scarcity, heavy importation and not self – sufficient in sugar production. The conventional cropping systems are exhaustive and depleting the soil badly, cultivable lands is decreasing due to urbanization and industrialization, enlarged families, and the current system of monocropping is not able to keep pace with increasing demands of farmers due low yield and subsistence farming is alarming [GEETHA & al. 2015; MOHAMMED & al. 2017].

One potential way to improve sugarcane production among small land holders and meet demand for sugar is by sugarcane trash mulching. Sugarcane genotypes vary in the production of trash which could be attributed to its high in-situ retention of trash as organic manures, replenishing soil quality by increasing soil nutrient status and enhancing chemical properties of the soil [CHOUDHARY & SINGH, 2016]. Weed management practices influences the addition of weed vegetation to the soil which decayed with time. This has also led to high accumulation of organic materials in the release of nutrients from decomposing microbial biomass, which translates to improved physical and chemical soil properties [AZADBAKHT & al. 2017; ABILOYE & al. 2018]. There is an urgent need to integrate these weed management options with trash mulching for improved soil fertility and boost the production of these sugarcane genotypes in order to meet the needs of increasing population. Hence, the objective of the study was to evaluate the effect of varying trash mulch and weed management practices on soil C and N, field sucrose and sugar quality production in the study area.

Material and methods

Field trial was conducted at the upland sugarcane experimental field of the National Cereals Research Institute, Badeggi (latitude 9°45'N, longitude 0.6°07'E) in the Southern Guinea savanna agro-ecological zone of Nigeria in 2016 and 2017 rainy season. At the commencement of the experiment, a composite sample from ten random points was collected, using a soil auger at 0-15 cm depth for both years. The initial soil properties of the experimental site are shown in Table 1. The total rainfall during the experimental period was 1504.1 mm in 2016 and 1045.4 mm in 2017, respectively. The mean air temperature during the sugarcane plant cropping season was 35 to 38 °C in 2016 and 34 to 36 °C in 2017 plant cropping seasons (Table 2). Prior to cultivation, the vegetative cover of the experimental site was manually cleared, ploughed and harrowed with a tractor. Tender healthy young stalks of six months old sugarcane were used as planting material. The stalks were cut into setts each containing three eye buds. The PE diuron was applied a day after planting at the rate of 2.0 kg a.i/ha while the POE 3-Maize force was applied at five weeks after planting (WAP) at rate of 179.2g a.i/ha. The weeds were identified using the hand book of West African Weeds [AKOBUNDU & al. 2016]. NPK fertilizer was applied at 150 kg N, 60 Kg P and 90 Kg K in equal halves at planting and 8 - 10 WAP. The treatments consists of factorial combination of two sugarcane genotypes, Bida local and NCS 001, four cane trash mulching levels, (0, 3, 6, 9 t ha⁻¹) and four weed management practices: weedy check, 5 monthly hoe weeding (5MHW), Pre-emergence of diuron at 2 kg a.i./ha (PE) + Post-Emergence (POE) 3-Maize force at 179.2 g/ha + Two hoe weeding (2HW), and PE diuron + POE 3-Maize force arranged as a split plot and replicated three times. Herbicides were applied

Moses Samuel BASSEY & al.

with knapsack (CP3) sprayer at a spray volume of 4 l/ha. Weed management practices and mulching were allocated in the main plot while sugarcane genotypes in the subplot. The gross plot size was 35 m^2 (7 m x 5 m), while the net plot size was 17.5 m^2 (3.5 m x 5 m). Each net plot consists of four rows of 5 m long. All data collected were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA). The means were separated using Duncan multiple range test at 5 % level of probability using SAS version 9.0 statistical package.

Results and discussions

The physical and chemical properties of the soil before planting in 2016 and 2017 showed that the soil was sandy loam and slightly acidic (Table 1). The soils were low in nitrogen, phosphorus and other essential nutrients which were inadequate for sugarcane production. In 2016, higher organic carbon was found in plots grown with NCS 001 (Table 2). However, in 2017, organic carbon content was higher in Bida local than NCS 001. The result also shows that NCS 001 had significantly higher total nitrogen in 2017 (Table 3). Application of 9 t ha⁻¹ trash mulch was associated with higher soil C and total N contents than that of the lower trash mulch rates (Table 3). With the exception of the weedy check, there was a significant increase in organic carbon and total nitrogen contents in all the other weed management practices in both years (Table 3). The application of Pre-emergence + Post-emergence herbicide produced the highest organic carbon and N. The interaction effects between trash mulch and weed management practices on soil nitrogen was significant (Table 4). Application of 9 t ha⁻¹mulch in combination with PE + POE and PE + POE + 2MHW had the highest Soil N in plant crop in 2016. The significant increase in organic carbon and total N in planted NCS 001 genotype, and only organic carbon content in Bida local genotype suggest their ability in producing and retaining sugarcane crop residues which was influenced by adequate rainfall and temperature. The retention of these residues can be considered as a method of arresting soil organic matter, which has the capacity to hold plant nutrients for sugarcane production [DU PREEZ & al. 2011].

Parameter	2016 Site	2017 Site
Sand (g kg ⁻¹)	722	765
Silt (g kg ⁻¹)	135	156
Clay $(g kg^{-1})$	143	79
Textural class	Sandy loam	Sandy loam
pH (H ₂ O) (g kg ⁻¹)	5.80	6.40
Organic Carbon (g kg ⁻¹)	2.37	3.45
Total Nitrogen (g kg ⁻¹)	0.06	0.33
Available Phosphorus (mg kg ⁻¹)	20.29	23.15
Ca++ (cmol kg ⁻¹)	2.48	4.18
Mg++ (cmol kg ⁻¹)	1.38	3.68
K+ (cmol kg ⁻¹)	0.16	0.30
Na+ (cmol kg ⁻¹)	0.09	0.22
Exchangeable acidity (cmol kg ⁻¹)	1.03	1.07
ECEC (cmol kg ⁻¹)	5.14	9.45

Table 1. Initial soil physical and chemical properties in 2016 and 2017 cropping seasons

Analyzed at National Cereals Research Institute Laboratory

Table 2. Temper	Table 2. Temperature and rainfall distribution from 2016 and 2017 cropping season at Badeggi							
Temperature (°C) Rainfall (mm)								
Months	2016	2017	2016	2017				
January	36	35	0.0	0.0				
February	38	37	0.0	0.0				
March	39	39	95.4	4.0				
April	40	39	18.7	4.5				
May	36	35	220.6	274.9				
June	32	33	286.8	146.4				
July	31	31	346.1	161.8				
August	31	30	203.8	251.7				
September	30	30	273.5	202.1				
October	33	33	59.2	28.2				
November	34	35	0.0	0.0				
December	35	34	0.0	0.0				
Total	415	375	1504.1	1073.6				

SOIL	AND) SUGAR	QUALITY IMP	ROVEMENT INF	LUENCED BY M	ULCHING AND WEED .
------	-----	---------	-------------	--------------	--------------	--------------------

Source: Weather station, National Cereals Research Institute Badeggi

Sugarcane genotypes significantly influenced field sucrose (% brix) at 12 MAP (Table 3). Industrial sugarcane recorded the highest sucrose than the local chewing cane. This may be due to the fact that industrial sugarcane has relatively thin and hard stem, thick ring (nodes) and usually contains more sucrose and less water content impacted by favorable rainfall and temperature. This confirms the findings of BUSARI & al. (2009) and SHAH & al. (2009) which states that improved sugarcane (industrial canes) variety usually have thin stems with high sucrose content and less water due to their varied genetic potential of sugarcane genotypes. Furthermore, the highest Brix content was found in sugarcane plants given 6 t ha⁻¹, but similar to that in 9 t ha⁻¹ in both years. Field sucrose was highest with the application of monthly hoe weeding which was similar to Pre-emergence + Post-emergence herbicide + 2 hoe weeding and application of Pre-emergence + Post-emergence herbicide only. The interaction effects between trash mulch and weed management practices on brix content was lowest in the non- application of mulch and weedy check treatment while mulch rate at 9 t ha⁻¹ mulch in combination with PE + POE produced the highest brix content in plant crop in 2017 (Table 5). This may be attributed to effective weed control which resulted in increasing yield promoting attributes. Our result is in agreement with the previous findings of SMITH & al. (2009) and SINGH & al. (2011) which reported that all the weed control treatments favorably influenced the yield contributing characters such as stalk height, stalk girth and brix.

Sugarcane genotypes and trash mulching had no significant influence on percent polarity at harvest in both years (Table 3). Polarity at harvest was significantly (P<0.05) affected by weed management practices (Table 3). Polarity was highest with the application of Preemergence + Post-emergence herbicide which was similar to monthly hoe weeding in 2016 and 2017 cropping seasons. The difference in percent polarity of sugarcane genotypes was due to their varied genetic potential which exploit edaphic and aerial factors of crop production. These results are in accordance with those of SHAH &. al. (2009) and BASHIR & al. (2012) who reported significant difference among the sugarcane genotypes for cane polarity. Sugarcane genotypes had significant influence on percent purity at harvest. Industrial sugarcane recorded higher purity than the local chewing cane in both cropping seasons (Table 3). Furthermore, the highest percent purity was found in sugarcane plants given 9 t ha⁻¹, but similar to that in 6 t ha⁻¹ in both years. Percent purity was highest with the application of Pre-

Moses Samuel BASSEY & al.

emergence herbicide which was similar to monthly hoe weeding in 2016 and 2017 cropping seasons. There was no significant influence of Sugarcane genotypes and weed management practices on percent fibre in both years of study. The variation in sugar quality for sucrose, polarity, purity and fibre could be attributed to heavy tillering, quick canopy formation and weed suppression which were enhanced by incorporation of sugarcane residues resulting in high SOC under the prevailing agro-ecological conditions. These results are in line with those of RASOOL & al. (2011) and GEETHA & al. (2015) who found significant variation in sugar quality for different residues/ sugarcane intercropping. The observed increase in sugar quality content might also be attributed to decrease in weed infestation, increased soil organic matter, improved physical and chemical properties and soil water regimes, which translates into better crop growth. This is in agreement with the work of NG CHEONG & TEELUCK (2015) and DE AQUINO & al. (2017) who reported that variation in sugar quality in sugarcanes could be attributed to varied varietal morphology and weed suppression under the prevailing agro-ecological conditions.

Treatment	Organic C		Tota	ıl N	Field sucrose	
in cutilitient	(g k	g-1)	(g k	g-1)	(%)	brix)
	2016	2017	2016	2017	2016	2017
Genotypes (S)						
Bida local	40.47	43.34	0.30	0.38	16.49	16.74
NCS 001	40.49	43.36	0.31	0.39	18.28	18.29
LSD (0.05)	0.005	0.007	0.02	0.005	0.62	0.58
Mulch rate (t ha ⁻¹)						
0	2.40	3.51	0.09	0.35	16.7	16.6
3	2.47	3.66	0.23	0.47	16.2	17.1
6	2.52	3.82	0.31	0.59	17.8	18.6
9	2.53	3.99	0.50	0.74	18.6	19.3
LSD (0.05)	0.29	0.006	0.009	0.006	0.8	0.7
Weed management (W)						
Weedy check	40.36	43.32	0.28	0.36	16.60	16.30
5 MHW	40.48	43.34	0.30	0.37	18.15	18.38
PE + POE + 2MHW	40.49	43.33	0.32	0.39	17.11	17.38
PE + POE	40.50	43.42	0.33	0.41	17.68	18.0
LSD (0.05)	0.01	0.006	0.005	0.004	1.29	0.82
Interaction						
M x W	NS	NS	*	NS	NS	*
Treatment (cont.)	Polarit	y (%)	Purity	y (%)	Fibre	e (%)
	2016	2017	2016	2017	2016	2017
Genotypes (S)					•	
Bida local	19.3	19.3	83.2	82.2	13.0	12.7
NCS 001	19.2	19.4	85.6	85.8	13.4	13.6
LSD (0.05)	0.7	0.6	1.7	1.2	0.9	0.6
Mulch rate (t ha ⁻¹)						
0	19.1	19.2	83.0	83.5	13.9	13.4
3	19.4	19.2	83.8	83.3	13.2	13.3
6	19.5	19.5	84.9	84.0	12.9	13.4
9	19.2	19.5	85.2	85.2	12.6	12.4
LSD (0.05)	1.0	0.9	2.2	1.7	1.3	0.9

 Table 3. Effects of sugarcane genotypes, mulch rates and weed management practices on organic C and N, field sucrose, polarity, purity and fibre at 12 MAP in 2016 and 2017 cropping seasons

Weed management (W)									
Weedy check	18.4	18.8	83.4	82.4	12.2	12.9			
5 MHW	19.6	19.8	85.0	84.8	13.6	13.1			
PE + POE + 2MHW	18.7	18.7	83.6	83.7	13.4	13.1			
PE + POE	20.2	20.1	86.6	85.2	13.5	13.6			
LSD (0.05)	1.0	0.9	2.5	1.7	1.3	0.9			
Interaction									
M x W	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS			

SOIL AND SUGAR QUALITY IMPROVEMENT INFLUENCED BY MULCHING AND WEED ...

LSD – least significant difference, MHW – monthly hoe weeding, PE – pre-emergence (Diuron at 2 kg a.i./ha) herbicide, POE – post-emergence (3-Maize force at 179.2 g/ha) herbicide, NS – not significant, * – significant.

 Table 4. Interaction between trash mulch and weed management practices on soil total nitrogen (g kg⁻¹) in 2016 cropping season

Mulah yata (t.h.a-1)	Weed management practices							
Mulch rate (t na ⁻)	Weedy check 5 MHW PE+POE+2M		PE+POE+2MHW	PE+POE				
Mulch rate (t ha ⁻¹)	Plant Crop 2016							
0	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.12				
3	0.19	0.22	0.24	0.25				
6	0.26	0.30	0.32	0.36				
9	0.42	0.50	0.54	0.56				
LSD (0.05)			0.06					

LSD - least significant difference, MHW - monthly hoe weeding, PE - Pre-emergence (Diuron at 2 kg a.i./ha) herbicide, POE - Post-Emergence (3-Maize force at 179.2 g/ha) herbicide

Table 5.	Interaction	between	trash r	nulch	and	weed	l manageme	nt practice	s on	Brix	(%)	at 12	MAF	' in
				20	017	croppi	ing season							

	Weed management practices							
	Weedy check	5 MHW	PE+POE+2MHW	PE+POE				
Mulch rate (t ha ⁻¹)	Plant Crop 2017							
0	13.52	17.87	16.00	18.05				
3	15.42	17.63	16.93	16.43				
6	17.88	18.67	17.60	18.40				
9	18.38	19.33	18.98	19.12				
LSD (0.05)			6.68					

LSD - least significant difference, MHW - monthly hoe weeding, PE - pre-emergence (Diuron at 2 kg a.i./ha) herbicide, POE - post-Emergence (3-Maize force at 179.2 g/ha) herbicide

Conclusion

This study has shown that the application of 9 t ha trash mulch with 5 MHW or PE diuron plus POE 3-maize force effectively increased some soil C and N, field sucrose and cane sugar quality, especially NCS 001 in this agroecology of Nigeria.

Acknowledgement

We want to use this medium to acknowledge and to thank the management of National Cereals Research Institute for the support in providing all that was needed for implementing present research.

References

ABILOYE A. E., ABRAHAM E., HITLER L., MAGU O. T., ADEOLA O. A., PHILIP M. & KINGSLEY E. 2018. Effects of different weed management system practices on some chemical properties of soils in University Teaching and Research Farms. *Elixir International Journal of Agriculture*. **123**(3): 51986-51991.

- AKOBUNDU I. O., EKELEME F., AYAKWA C. W. & OGAZIE C. A. 2016. A Handbook of West African Weeds. International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Ibadan
- AZADBAKHT A., ALEBRAHIM M. T., GHAVIDEL A., MOHAMMADDUST C. H. R. & KARBALAEI K. H. 2017. The effect of chemical and non-chemical weed management methods on chemical and biological properties of soil in Ardabil Province, Iran. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*. 15(3): 771-783.
- BALDOCCI D., RYU Y. & KEENAN T. 2016. Terrestrial Carbon cycle variability [version 1; peer review: 2 approved]. F1000Research 2016, 5(F1000 Faculty Rev): 2371 https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.8962.1
- BASHIR S., FIAZ N., GHAFFAR A. & KHALID F. 2012. Ratooning ability of sugarcane genotypes at different harvesting dates. *International Sugar Journal.* **114**(1360): 273-276.
- BASSEY M. S., KOLO M. G. M., DANIYA E. & ODOFIN A. J. 2021. Trash mulch and weed management practice impact on some soil properties, weed dynamics and sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) genotypes plant crop productivity. *Sugar Tech.* 23(2): 395-406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12355-020-00899-8
- BUSARI L. D. & MISARI S. N. 2009. Traditional method of processing "Mazarkawaila and Alewa" from sugarcane. National Cereal Research Institute. Agricultural Information Documentation and Dissemination. 1: 1-21.
- NG CHEONG L. R. & TEELUCK M. 2015. The practice of green cane trash blanketing in the irrigated zone of Mauritius: effects on soil moisture and water use efficiency of sugarcane. Sugar Tech. 18: 124-133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12355-015-0374-1
- CHOUDHARY H. R. & SINGH R. K. 2016. Effect of sequential application of herbicides on weeds and production of spring planted sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum L.). International Journal of Life Sciences. 11(1): 687-690.
- FOOD & AGRICULTURAL ORGANISATION STATISTICS, FAOSTAT. 2019. Available online: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/data/QC (Accessed on 21 August 2019), p. 9-12.
- DU PREEZ C. C., VAN HUYSSTEEN C. W. & MNKENI P. N. S. 2011. Land use and soil organic matter in South Africa 2: a review on the influence of arable crop production. South Africa Journal of Science. 107(5/6): 35-44. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajs.v107i5/6.358
- FAO & ITPS. 2015. Status of the world's soil reserves, Rome: Available online: http://faostat.fao.org (Accessed on 21 October 2015), p. 3-6.
- GEETHA P., SIVARAMAN K., TAYADE A. S. & DHANAPAL R. 2015. Sugarcane based intercropping system and its effect on cane yield. *Journal of Sugarcane Research.* 5(2): 1-10.
- DE AQUINO G. S., DE CONTI MEDINA C., DA COSTA D. C., SHAHAB M. & SANTIOGO A. D. 2017. Sugarcane straw management and its impact on production and development of ratoons. *Industrial Crop and Products*. 102: 58-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2017.03.018
- KANE D. 2015. Carbon sequestration potential on agricultural lands: a review of current science and available practices. Bulletin of the National Research Centre. 44(75): 1-16.
- KEILUWEIT M., BOUGOURE J. J., NICO P. S., PETT-RIDGE J., WEBER P. K. & WEBER M. 2015. Mineral protection of soil carbon counteracted by root exudates. *Nature Climate Change*. 5(6): 588-595. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2580
- MOHAMMED A., DIKKO A. U., AUDU M. & MOHAMMED B. S. 2017. Effects of cowpea residue incorporation and fertilizer nitrogen rates on nitrogen use efficiency and yields of millet in an Entisol of Sokoto Sudan Savanna zone of Nigeria. Nigerian Journal of Soil Science. 27: 137-149.
- PRIYANKA S., SINGH S. N., AJAY K. T., SANJEEV K. P., ANIL K. S. ,SANGEETA S. & NARENDRA M. 2019. Integration of sugarcane production technologies for enhanced cane and sugar productivity targeting to increase farmers' income: strategies and prospects. 3 Biotech. 9: 1-15.
- RASOOL A. M., FAROOQ A., ZUBAIR M., JAMIL M., AHMAD S. & AFGHAN S. 2011. Prospects of intercropping crops in autumn planted sugarcane. *Pakistan Sugar Journal*. 26(2): 25.
- SHAH S. M. A., HIDAYAT-UR-REHMAN Z., IQBAL F. M., ALI A., KHAN M. Y. & JAN D. 2009. Genotypic evaluation of sugarcane genotypes for rationing ability. *Sarhad Journal of Agriculture*. 24(4): 613-617.
- SINGH A. K., CHAUHAN R. S. & SRIVASTAVA T. K. 2011. Effect of pre-emergence application of sulfentrazone in spring planted sugarcane under sub-tropical India. *International Conference on APCHNE*.
- SMITH D. T., RICHARD E. P. & SANTO L. T. 2009. Weed controlling sugarcane and the role of triazine herbicides: p. 185-198. In: LEBARON H. M., MCFARLAND E. & BURNSIDE O. C. (eds.). 2009. *The Triazine Herbicides*. Elsevier, New York, USA.

How to cite this article:

BASSEY M. S., SHITTU E. A., ETIM E. E. & ETOPOBONG E. J. 2024. Soil and sugar quality improvement influenced by mulching and weed management practices in Nigeria. J. Plant Develop. 31: 97-103. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.962

Research Article

ASSESSING DIFFERENT STRATEGIES FOR CONTROLLING WEEDS IN MAIZE CULTIVATION WITHIN THE DERIVED SAVANNA AGRO-ECOLOGY IN NIGERIA

Olagbemi Peter AFON¹, <u>Oluwakemi Olajumoke AJAYI</u>^{1*}, Adesike Oladoyin OLAYINKA², Emmanuel Ajibola OLAGUNJU¹, Gabriel Olulakin ADESINA¹

¹Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, Department of Crop and Environmental Protection Ogbomoso Oyo State – Nigeria.

² Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, Department of Crop Production and Soil Science Ogbomoso Oyo State – Nigeria.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: ooajayi63@lautech.edu.ng, ORCID: 0009-0004-9748-9662

Maize is the second most cultivated crop in Nigeria in terms of hectares of land. In the world it ranks fourth Abstract: amongst cultivated cereals. However, its cultivation is faced with different challenges ranging from biotic to abiotic factors. Weeds are one of the biotic factors that threaten maize yield in the field because of the cost and labor associated with it control. Hence, using Randomized Complete block Design, a two-year study was carried out to assess different strategies that are used in controlling weeds in the derived savanna agroecological zone of Nigeria at Ogbomoso Girls High School, Ogbomoso (8°9'N, 4°15'E) and Surulere North LCDA Igbon (8°14'N, 4°18'E). The total land area used was 13 m x 23 m with plot size 2 m x 3 m in three replicates. Eight treatments were used which are weedy plots, weed free, manual I, manual II, Preemergence herbicide (Glyphosate-1.08 kg a.i ha⁻¹), Post-emergence herbicide (Nicrosulfuron- 0.12 kg a.i ha⁻¹), Cowpea+Maize and Potato+Maize) to give 24 plots. Data collected were on weed parameters and maize yield. Weed parameters include: weed population, dry weed biomass and weed control ratio at 3, 6 and 9 weeks after sowing. Parameters on maize yield include number of seeds per cob, grain weight of seeds per cob, cob length, weight of 100 seeds per plot, grain weight per plot and grain weight per hectare. The result on weed parameters shows that there is no significant difference in the weed control rating and the dry weed biomass of manual weeding, pre-emergence herbicide, post emergence herbicide, cowpea+ maize, and potato + maize. Though there was significant difference in the weed population among the treatments. For maize yield (GWH), there was no significant difference between Manual II and the use of post emergence herbicide. Also the yield obtained from pre-emergence herbicide, potato+maize, cowpea+maize were not significantly different. Hence, it is recommended that legumes and potatoes can be used rotationally to control weeds in maize plots.

Keywords: maize, maize yield parameters, weed control strategies, weed parameters.

Introduction

Maize (*Zea mays* L.) is a staple crop extensively cultivated in tropical regions, where various environmental factors, farming practices, and genetic considerations shape its performance. It is a staple food in Nigeria, where maize occupies the largest area under cereal cultivation [ABAH & al. 2021; WOSSEN & al. 2023]. The production area for maize in Nigeria continues to expand [OLANIYAN, 2015], driven by technological advancements [HARUNA & al. 2023]. Globally, maize production has consistently averaged over 1,000 million metric tons (MMT) in recent decades. With an annual output of 11 MMT, Nigeria is considered the second-largest maize producer in Africa, following South Africa, while Ethiopia ranks third.

ASSESSING DIFFERENT STRATEGIES FOR CONTROLLING WEEDS IN MAIZE CULTIVATION ...

Together, these three countries – South Africa, Nigeria, and Ethiopia – accounted for approximately 39% of Africa's total maize production in 2019 [ERENSTEIN & al. 2022; MAKAMA & al. 2022].

Maize serves as a staple food for millions of people, particularly in Africa, Latin America, and Asia, where it is consumed in various forms, such as maize flour, tortillas, polenta, and whole grain. According to POOLE & al. (2021), maize provides essential nutrients like carbohydrates, proteins, and fats, making it a vital food source for ensuring food security in many developing nations. BOUIS & al. (2011) underscore the role of biofortified maize in addressing malnutrition. A large proportion of global maize production is also used as animal feed. NUSS & TANUMIHARDJO (2010) noted that maize's high starch content makes it an excellent feed for energy-intensive livestock production, contributing to the global meat and dairy industries. Additionally, maize is a key feedstock for ethanol production, especially in the United States, where it plays a significant role in biofuel production. LU & MOSIER (2008) pointed out that the biofuel industry increases demand for maize, promoting energy security and reducing greenhouse gas emissions. SINGH & al. (2003) highlighted maize starch's versatility in products such as sweeteners, thickeners, adhesives, and biodegradable plastics. In Nigeria and across Africa, maize serves as a crucial income source. SMALE & MASON (2014) noted that maize farming supports the livelihoods of millions of rural households, contributing to poverty reduction and economic growth. FAO (2020) reported that maize is one of the most globally traded cereals, with exports driven by its use in food, feed, and industrial purposes. REVILLA & al. (2022) discussed maize's cultural significance, emphasizing its role as a symbol of heritage and identity in indigenous cultures.

Despite maize's significant economic importance, several limitations impact its production, particularly in developing countries like Nigeria. One of the main challenges is weed interference in maize fields. Weeds have a significant impact on maize cultivation, affecting crop growth, yield, and overall productivity. These unwanted plants compete with maize for essential resources such as sunlight, water, nutrients, and space, which can severely hinder crop development [SOLTANI & al. 2016]. The extent of weed interference depends on factors such as the type of weed species, their density, and the timing of weed emergence relative to the maize crop. Herbicide application is a widely used method for controlling weeds in maize cultivation. LUKANGILA & al. (2024) demonstrated that selective herbicides, when applied at the appropriate growth stage, can effectively reduce weed competition and improve maize vields. In addition to chemical methods, non-chemical approaches, such as crop rotation and intercropping, are also being explored. [LIEBMAN & ZIMDAHL, 2018] suggested that these practices can substantially reduce weed pressure and enhance maize yields, especially in organic farming systems. Given the critical role that weed pressure plays in maize production, this study aims to evaluate various weed control methods, including herbicides, in a derived savanna ecosystem.

Materials and methods

The experiments were carried out on arable fields of Ogbomoso North Local Government farms in Oyo State, Nigeria between April to August 2023 and 2024 in Ogbomoso North (8°9'N, 4°15'E). The climate of Ogbomoso is mostly influenced by the Northeast trade wind and Southwest trade wind. The annual rainfall of the area is between 1000 mm - 1286 mm. Temperature of the area ranges between 28 °C to 33 °C with a relative humidity of about 78% all year round except in January when the dry harmattan is at its peak. The soil type at the
location where the experiment was set up was sandy loam with 14% clay content as described by EWETOLA & OSHUNSANYA (2015).

The experiment consisted of eight treatments (Table 1) laid out in a randomized complete block design with three replicates making a total of 24 experimental plots. Each plot size was 3 m \times 2 m (6 m²). Each plot was separated with 1m space between them and 2 m space in between the replicates. The total land area was 13 m by 23 m. Soil samples were collected before sowing at 0-15 cm depth randomly to determine the physico-chemical properties of the soil.

The result indicates that the soil was slightly acidic, sandy loam with nitrogen level that is well below the critical level of 0.15%. Sites were cleared and ploughed to pulverize the soil manually. Oba Super 6, a pro-vitamin A hybrid maize variety was the maize variety grown. It was planted at a spacing of $0.6 \text{ m} \times 0.5 \text{ m}$. Two seeds were planted per hill and thinned down to one seedling per hill at 14 DAS to give a plant density of 20 plants per plot.

In plots intercropped with cowpeas, the variety IT18 was planted one seed per hill in at 0.10 m from maize planting hills at two weeks after planting of maize. In the plots intercropped with potato, potato vines were planted at two weeks before planting maize. All plots including the control received basal application of Fertilizer N:P:K, (15:15:15) which was applied basally two weeks after planting maize at the rate of 250 kg /ha and Urea (46% N) at the rate of 100 kg/ha at six weeks after planting to meet the nutrient requirement of the maize.

Pre-emergence herbicide (PeEH) plots were planted as previously described and then sprayed with herbicides on the day of sowing. Post-emergence herbicides (PoEH) were applied after three weeks of planting. Herbicides were applied using a hand-pumped Knapsack sprayer which delivers 380 liters/ha of spray liquids. Manual weeding in Manual I plots was done at three weeks intervals, for Manual II at two weeks intervals and weed free plot was weeded weekly. In the maize + cowpea plot, and maize + potato plot weeding was done only once at 3 weeks after planting. This simulated the smallholder farmer practice in Nigeria of planting maize.

Weed species composition, weed density and weed dry weight

Weed species composition and weed density were determined by placing two quadrats size of 50 cm \times 50 cm diagonally on each plot and then the weeds within each quadrat were uprooted, and sorted into broadleaf weeds, grasses, and sedges. The weed types were identified to the species level with the aid of weed identification manual of AKOBUNDU & al. (2016). The weeds were counted to calculate the weed density. Weed dry weight was estimated after oven-drying weed samples at 80 °C for 48 hours to constant weight.

Data collection and analysis

Data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) to test for treatment effects and interactions using the statistical analysis system (SAS) computer software package version 9.4 (SAS Institute, 2011). A combined ANOVA was conducted on plot means for all treatments in the two years. Significant differences between varieties were compared using the Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) at 5% probability level. Afterwards, Multiple Linear Regression Model (MLRM) was used to establish the linear relationship of dependent and independent variable [JEFFER, 1967] using PROC REG in SAS. The general linear model for MLRM in which response is related to a set of independent variables (X1) is given:

$$Y = \beta_o + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \dots \beta_k X_k + \varepsilon_i$$

Where Y = dependent variable, β_0 is the intercept, $\beta_1, \beta_2 \dots \beta_k$ are coefficients of the variables, $X_1, X_2 \dots X_k$ are kth independent variables and ϵ_i error term.

ASSESSING DIFFERENT STRATEGIES FOR CONTROLLING WEEDS IN MAIZE CULTIVATION ...

Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was performed to determine the parameters that account for most of the variations using R statistical software (Version 4.2.2) and was plotted using the package 'FactoMineR'.

	Table 1. Treatments and their description
Treatments	Description
T1 (Weedy)	No weeding was done throughout the experiment
T2 (Weedy free)	Hoe weeding was carried out every week
T3 (Manual I)	Hoe weeding was done at (3weeks interval) 3, 6, and 9 WAP
T4 (Manual II)	Hoe weeding was done at (2weeks interval) 2, 4, 6, and 8 WAP
T5 (PeEH)	Pre emergence herbicide Glyphosate at 1.08 kg a.i ha -1
T6 (PoEH)	Post emergence herbicide Nicosulfuron at 0.12 kg a.i .ha ⁻¹
T7 (Cowpea)	Maize was relayed into cowpea at 2 WAP
T8 (Potato vine)	Maize was relayed into potato at 2 WAP

Results

Weed biodiversity

The species list of weeds encountered during the study is presented in Table 2. Altogether, sixteen weed species were identified during the two years when this experiment was conducted. The overview of various weed species, their families, life cycles, and densities over two years are shown in Table 3. Understanding weed density and relative density is crucial for managing weed populations and ensuring healthy crop growth. The weeds belong to nine different families, with a dominance of species from the Asteraceae, Poaceae, and Euphorbiaceae families. 50% of these weeds belong to broadleaves while the rest 50% are grass family. Seven of these weeds were annual while eight were perennial and only Tithonia diversifolia can either be annual or perennial depending on various environmental factors that enhance the survival of this weed species. The relative densities are provided for Year 1 and Year 2, showing significant variations across the years. Euphorbia heterophylla exhibited the highest weed density in Year 1, with a relative density of 54.82%, indicating it was the most dominant weed. Imperata cylindrica which is a grass weed also showed significant presence with relative densities of 23.35% in Year 1 while Tithonia diversifolia dominated the field in Year 2, with a relative density of 37.43%. This broadleaf weed is both an annual and perennial, making it more resilient and harder to control.

Means separation across all the treatments for Weed density, dry weed biomass, weed control effectiveness {Rated (1-10)}, and Phytotoxicity also rated 0-5 were presented in Table 2. The highest weed population (46.778) was observed in the weedy treatment, where no control measures were applied and this shows the natural weed proliferation without intervention. Weed-free treatment had the lowest weed population (17.722); Manual I (27.222) and Manual II (24.389) plots were manually weeded at different interval, and both significantly reduced the weed population compared to the weedy treatment, although they did not perform as well as the weed-free treatment. All other treatments showed relatively weed control efficiencies. Cowpea (24.333) and Potato vine (25.389) treatment plots had moderate weed populations, similar to the manual weeding methods, showing that they provided reasonable control of weeds. The overall mean for weed population was 28.59, with significant variation between treatments as indicated by the LSD (Least Significant Difference) value of 6.45. This suggests that differences greater than 6.45 between treatment means are statistically significant. Similar inferences was drawn from weed biomass production from all the treatment plots. The average dry weed biomass

Olagbemi Peter AFON & al.

across all treatments was 0.04 kg/ha, with a significant difference between treatments at the LSD of 0.01 kg/ha. The average weed control rating was 7.28, indicating generally good control across treatments, with an LSD of 1.38, meaning differences in weed control ratings greater than 1.38 are statistically significant.

The overall analysis suggests that both manual and organic treatments (cowpea and potato vine) offer effective weed control with no phytotoxicity, while PoEH provides good control but with some crop damage. Weed-free and manual methods remain the most reliable in terms of reducing weed populations and biomass.

			Life	Weed	Density 1 ²)	Relative Density %		
Weed Species	Family	Class Life (m ²) Cycle Year		Year 2	Year 1	Year 2		
Acanthrospermum hispidum DC.	Asteraceae	Broadleaf	А	7		3.55		
<i>Tithonia diversifolia</i> (Hemsl.) A.Gray	Asteraceae	Broadleaf	A/P		64		37.43	
Tridax procumbens L.	Asteraceae	Broadleaf	Α	1		0.51		
Euphorbia heterophylla Desf.	Euphorbiaceae	Broadleaf	А	108		54.82		
<i>Cleome rutidosperma</i> DC.	Cleomaceae	Broadleaf	А	11		5.58		
Ipomoea triloba L.	Convolvulaceae	Broadleaf	Α		5		2.92	
Desmodium scorpiurus (Sw.) Poir.	Fabaceae	Broadleaf	Р		12		7.02	
Sida acuta Burm.f.	Malvaceae	Broadleaf	Р		5		2.92	
<i>Mimosa invisa</i> Mart. ex Colla.	Fabaceae	Broadleaf	Р		19		11.11	
Phyllanthus amarus Schumach. & Thonn.	Phyllanthaceae	Broadleaf	А		11		6.43	
<i>Imperata cylindrica</i> (L.) Raeusch.	Poaceae	Grass	Р	46		23.35		
Andropogon gayanus Kunth	Poaceae	Grass	Р	17		8.63		
<i>Chloris pilosa</i> Schumach.	Poaceae	Grass	Р	2		1.02		
<i>Chrysopogon</i> <i>aciculatus</i> (Retz.) Trin.	Poaceae	Grass	Р	5		2.54		
Pennisetum violaceum (Lam.) Rich.	Poaceae	Grass	Р		22		12.87	
Setaria barbata (Lam.) Kunth	Poaceae	Grass	А		33		19.30	

Table 2. Weed species list at the experimental site during study periods

Table 3, shows the effect of different treatments caused substantial variation in the number of seeds per cob, grain weight per cob in kg, cob length in m, weight of 100 seeds per plot in kg, grain weight per plot in kg and grain weight per hectare in kg/ha. Weedy free had the highest yield parameters when compared with all the treatment: number of seeds per cob (547.67), grain weight per cob (0.206 kg), cob length (27.00 m), number of seeds per plot (0.033 kg), grain weight per plot

ASSESSING DIFFERENT STRATEGIES FOR CONTROLLING WEEDS IN MAIZE CULTIVATION ...

(3.843 kg) and grain weight per hectare (6377.70). Manual I was significantly higher than Manual II only in terms of number of seeds per cob (452.67) and weight of seed per plot (0.029 kg). All other yield parameters in Manual I and Manual II were not significantly different. Treatment PoEH which is a post emergent herbicide had yield parameters that were significantly higher than treatments PeEH across all the yield parameters. This implies that when yield is being considered post emergence herbicide will give higher yield than pre emergence herbicides. However, for treatments Cowpea and Potato, there is no significant difference between the two treatments except in terms of seeds per plot in which, cowpea (0.026 kg) than potato (0.024 kg). This implies cowpea and potato interchangeable for weed control and still have the same yield.

	Weed parameters										
Treatments	Weed Population	Dry Weed Biomass	Weed Control	Phytotoxicity							
	$(0.5m^2)$	(kg/ha)	Rating (1-10)	Rating (0-5)							
Weedy	46.78a	0.07a	3.44c	0.00b							
Weed free	17.72c	0.02c	9.72a	0.00b							
Manual I	27.22b	0.04b	7.22b	0.00b							
Manual II	24.39b	0.04b	7.94b	0.00b							
PeEH	40.61a	0.04b	6.89b	0.00b							
PoEH	22.28bc	0.04b	7.89b	1.00a							
Cowpea	24.33b	0.04b	7.61b	0.00b							
Potato vine	25.39b	0.04b	7.50b	0.00b							
Mean	28.59	0.04	7.28	0.13							
LSD(0.05)	6.45	0.01	1.38	0.19							

Table 3. Mean value for weed parameters of the evaluated treatments across the two years in kg/ha

Means followed by the same letter in a column are not significantly different at 5% probability level. PeEH – pre emergence herbicide; PoEH – post emergence herbicides; LSD – least significant difference at 5% probability levels.

Multivariate analysis of weed and maize parameters

The correlogram illustrates the strength and direction of the linear relationships between parameters. In Figure 1, the dry weed biomass had a linear positive significant (p<0.05) relationships with weed population (r = 0.81). The weed population had a strong negative linear significant (p<0.01) relationship with the number of seeds per cob (r = -0.91). A similar trend was seen in grain weight per cob (r = -0.87), Dry weed biomass also had a strong negative linear significant (p<0.01) relationship with the number of seeds per cob (r = -0.91). A similar trend as that of weed population was seen in cob length (r = -0.85). Weed population also had a negative linear significant (p<0.05) relationship with cob length (r = -0.83) in similar manner as dry weed biomass with grain weight per plot (r = -0.82) for weed population and grain weight per plot (r = -0.83). For grain weight per hectare r = -0.83 and r = -0.81 respectively. However, there was very strong negative high correlation relationship (p<0.001) of dry weed biomass with weed control rating (r = -0.98) and grain weight per cob (r = -0.93).

Regression analysis examining the relationship between dry weed biomass and differences in yield parameters of maize (Table 5). It further indicates that dry weed biomass as controlled by the treatments in this experiment affects maize production negatively. This is further indicated by the strong significance of the regression coefficient (p<0.001 and p<0.01) and coefficient of determination ($R^{2}>0.9$) in Table 4. Consistent with the important differentiating parameter, a regression analysis examining the relationship between dry weed biomass and yield in maize. This is indicated in the strong significance in number of seed per cob, grain weight per cob, length of cob, weight of seed per cob and grain weight per plot for each treatment are not left out.

Principal component analysis (PCA) was based on the measured weed and maize parameters. The first two principal components (PCs) with eigenvalues >1 accounted for

Olagbemi Peter AFON & al.

approximately 91% of the total variation among the accessions. The first and second PCs explained 80.7% and 10.3% of the total variation among the accessions, respectively. The proportion of variance explained by the third PC was 4.1% and the fourth PC accounted for 3.2% of the total variation. The PCs loading visualized by the PCA biplot shows the contributions of the measured parameters to PC1 and PC2 (Figure 2). The vectors of phytotoxicity rating, grain weight per hectare, cob length, weed population, dry weed biomass, grain weight per cob and grain weight of seed per plot point in the direction of PC1. The strength of the vectors weed population and dry weed biomass denotes a strong positive influence on PC1. Conversely, the vectors weed control rating, phytotoxicity, number of seed per cob, grain weight per cob, cob length, weight of seed per plot, and grain weight per hectare points to the negative side of PC1, indicating a strong negative influence on PC1. Dry weed biomass and weed population had a strong positive influence on PC1 while only weed population influenced PC2 positively.

	Yield Parameters on Maize										
Treatments	Number of Seeds per Cob	Grain Weight per Cob (kg)	Cob Length (m)	Weight of Seed Per plot (kg)	Grain Weight Per Plot (kg)	Grain Weight per hectare (kg/ha)					
Weedy Weedy free Manual I Manual II PeEH PoEH Cowpea Potato Mean	177.00c 547.67a 452.67bc 493.83ab 346.17d 449.67bc 400.67cd 382.33cd 406.25	0.05d 0.21a 0.15b 0.15b 0.12c 0.15b 0.12c 0.12c 0.12c 0.12c 0.13	13.33c 27.00a 24.67a 24.50a 20.33b 26.00a 19.67b 20.33b 21.98	0.01d 0.03a 0.03abc 0.03bc 0.03bc 0.03ab 0.03bc 0.02c 0.03 0.01	0.24d 3.84a 2.90b 2.99b 1.52c 2.86b 1.56c 1.55c 2.18	399.30d 6377.70a 4750.50b 4970.00b 2140.70c 4761.80b 2593.30c 2473.70c 3558.37 760.07					
LSD (0.05)	22.94	0.02	5.28	0.01	0.30	/ 50.07					

Table 4. Mean value of yield parameters on maize for the evaluated treatments in kg/ha

Means followed by the same letter are not significantly different at 5% probability.

Table 5.	Contributions	of Dry We	ed Biomass	(DWB)	to difference	es in y	ield pa	arameters	of maize	based
				•	•					
			on ste	epwise r	egression					

Agronomic trait	Mean ± SE	Coefficient of determination (R ²)	Regression coefficient (β)	Intercept (α)	Significant F level	Regression equation $y = \beta x + \alpha$
Number of seeds per cob	406.25±28.95	0.40	-7082.25***	696.18	15.09	y =-7082.25x + 696.18
Grain weight per cob (kg)	0.13±0.01	0.87	-2.78****	0.25	37.60	y = -2.784x + 0.25
Cob length (cm)	21.979±1.144	0.769	-261.62**	32.689	15.33	y = -261.62x + 32.689
Weight of seed per cob (kg)	0.026±0.002	0.847	-0.354**	0.040	8.45	y = -0.354x + 0.040
Grain weight per plot (kg)	2.182±0.173	0.727	-65.765**	4.874	44.91	y = -65.765x + 4.874

*,**,*** = significant at 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 probability levels, respectively.

ASSESSING DIFFERENT STRATEGIES FOR CONTROLLING WEEDS IN MAIZE CULTIVATION ...



ns p >= 0.05; * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; and *** p < 0.001

Figure 1. Correlogram showing the relationship between average values of weed and maize parameters. Dark blue denotes a high positive correlation, whereas dark red represents a high negative correlation. The cell value denotes correlation coefficient (r) values. WP = Weed population; DWB = dry weed biomass; PhT = phytotoxicity rating; WsP = weight of 100s seed per plot (kg); WCR = weed control rating (1-10); NsC = number of seed per cob; GWC = grain weight per cob; CL = cob length (cm); GWP = grain weight per plot (kg); GWH = grain weight per hectare (kg/ha); *,**,*** = significant at 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 probability levels, respectively; ns = nonsignificant.



Figure 2. A two-dimensional principal component analysis (PCA) showing the relationships weed and maize parameters and checks evaluated. The first two components, PC1 (80.7%) and PC2 (10.3%) explaining the highest variance were plotted on the x-axis and y-axis, respectively. The arrows indicate weed and maize parameters contributing to the respective PCs and the correlation between parameters can be determined by the close arrow proximity. WP = weed population; DWB = dry weed biomass; PhT = phytotoxicity rating; WsP = weight of seed per plot (kg); WCR = weed control rating (1-10); NsC = number of seed per cob; GWC = grain weight per cob; CL = cob length (cm); GWP = grain weight per plot (kg); GWH = grain weight per hectare (kg/ha).

Discussions

The variation in weed density and species dominance between the two years indicates the dynamic nature of weed populations, likely influenced by environmental factors, crop rotations, or herbicide applications. The dominance of broadleaf species like *Euphorbia heterophylla* in Year 1 and *Tithonia diversifolia* in Year 2, as well as the emergence of grass weeds like *Imperata cylindrica* and *Setaria barbata*, suggests that integrated weed management strategies are required to target both broadleaf and grassy species.

The result shows that Manual I, Manual II, PeEH, PoEH, Cowpea, and Potato vine are all effective methods of weed control when compared to weedy plots as supported by IMOLOAME & OSUNLOLA (2017) and NGONADI & al. (2023). The weed control rating of this experiment also followed the same trend as they are not significantly different at 5% probability level. The effects of treatments on yield and yield components of maize shows that the use of post emergence herbicide (PoEH) method of weed control works effectively as Manual I and Manual II methods of weed control since there is no significant difference among them for all yield and yield components of maize. This finding is in accordance with the work of UGBE & al. (2016) and TIZHE & al. (2023). The yield in post emergence herbicide-PoEH was also significantly higher as a method of weed control when compared to that in Cowpea and Potato vine. This aligns with the findings of IMOLOAME (2017) and FALADE & al. (2023), who documented that the use of herbicides supports yield in maize. However, cowpea and potato vine treatments (cover crops) there was no significant difference in all the yield and yield components in maize production which implies they can be used interchangeably. This agrees with the works of NAYAN & al. (2020) and MAS-UD & al. (2021).

Regression analysis shows a significant effect between dry weed biomass and the yield and yield components of maize. It highlights the impact of the linear trends of the response of yield and yield components in maize. This signifies that a unit increase in dry weed biomass will likely lead to a decrease in yield and yield components in maize which is following the work of KOLAWOLE & OLAYINKA (2023) whose result on regression analysis shows that a unit increase in an independent variable can lead to an increase in the dependent variable (yield). The two-year combined data (2023-2024) in the correlogram shows that a positive highly significant correlation was revealed in the weight of seed per plot and weed control rating which is in accordance with the findings of VERMA & al. (2023). However, dry weed biomass, and weed population were highly negatively correlated with yield. This result supports the findings of VERMA & al. (2023) and DANIYA & al. (2013) who reported negative correlations between weed components and yield in cowpea and sesame respectively.

The PC analysis identifies two PCs accounting for 91% of the variations observed in which dry weed biomass and weed populations are the major parameters responsible as descriptors of yield and yield components in maize. This finding aligns with that of OLAYINKA & al. (2024) whose work identified four PCs to be collectively responsible for 73% of total variations in the research.

Conclusion

The different weed control efficacy assessment varied for all treatments-weed control methods. The weed-free plot stood out regarding maize yield and yield components. Postemergence weed control PoEH gave a yield that had no significant difference from that of Manual I and Manual II which may be laborious and expensive in areas where availability of

ASSESSING DIFFERENT STRATEGIES FOR CONTROLLING WEEDS IN MAIZE CULTIVATION ...

manpower is a limiting factor. This experiment affirms the reason why the use of herbicide is preferred over other control methods. Also, the findings from this experiment from the regression, correlation, and PC analysis show that weeds generally are principal factors determining yields in maize the derived savanna agroecology of Nigeria.

References

- ABAH D., ESHEYA S. & OCHOCHE C. O. 2021. Effect of maize production on agricultural output in Nigeria (1981-2019): Implication for sustainable development. *International Journal of Agricultural Economics*, *Management and Development* (IJAEMD). 9(1): 42-54.
- AKOBUNDU I. O., EKELEME F., AYAKWA C. W. & OGAZIE C. A. 2016. A handbook of West African weeds. International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Ibadan: p. 380-382.
- BOUIS H. E., HOTZ C., MCCLAFFERTY B., MEENAKSHI J. V. & PFEIFFER W. H. 2011. Biofortification: a new tool to reduce micronutrient malnutrition. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin.* 32(suppl.1): S31-S40. https://doi.org/10.1177/15648265110321s105
- DANIYA E., DADARI S. A., NDAHI W. B., KUCHINDA N. C. & BABAJI B. A. 2013. Correlation and path analysis between seed yield and some weed and quantitative components in two sesame (*Sesamum indicum* L.) varieties as influenced by seed rate and nitrogen fertilizer. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare* 3(15): 12-16.
- ERENSTEIN O., JALETA M., SONDER K., MOTTALEB K. & PRASANNA B. M. 2022. Global maize production, consumption and trade: trends and R&D implications. *Food Security.* 14(5): 1295-1319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12571-022-01288-7
- EWETOLA E. A. & OSHUNSANYA S. O. 2015. Artificial topsoil removal effect on some arable crops performance in Ogbomoso, Nigeria. Journal of Agriculture and Veterinary Science. 8(5): 90-98. https://doi.org/10.9790/2380-08519098
- FALADE A. A., LAGOKE S. T. O., ADIGUN J. A., PITAN O. R. & OSUNLETI O. S. 2023. Growth and yield of maize (*Zea mays* L.) as influenced by cropping pattern and weed control treatments in the forest – savanna agro-ecological zone of southwest Nigeria. *Acta Fytotechnica et Zootechnica*. 26(2): 155-162. https://doi.org/10.15414/afz.2023.26.02.155-162
- FAO. 2020. The State of Food and Agriculture 2020. Overcoming water challenges in agriculture. Rome. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb1447en
- HARUNA L. Z., SENNUGA S. O., BAMIDELE J., BANKOLE O. L., ALABUJA F. O., PREYOR T. J. & BARNABAS T. M. 2023. Factors influencing farmers' adoption of improved technologies in Maize Production in Kuje Area Council of FCT-Abuja, Nigeria. *GPH-International Journal of Agriculture and Research.* 6(4): 25-41. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7924557
- IMOLOAME E. O. 2017. Evaluation of herbicide mixtures and manual weed control method in maize (Zea mays L.) production in the Southern Guinea agro-ecology of Nigeria. Cogent Food & Agriculture. 3: 1375378. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2017.1375378
- IMOLOAME E. O. & OSUNLOLA O. S. 2017. Effect of method of weed control and insecticide (Lambda cyhalothrin) rates on the productivity of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata (L.) Walp.) in a southern Guinea savanna of Nigeria. Revista Brasileira de Herbicidas. 16(3): 216-229. https://doi.org/10.7824/rbh.v16i3.531
- JEFFERS J. N. R. 1967. Two case studies in the application of principal component analysis. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series C (Applied Statistics)*. 16: 225-236.
- KOLAWOLE A. O. & OLAYINKA A. F. 2023. Evaluation of the relationship between nitrogen fertilization and agronomic performance of maize (Zea mays L.) varieties. Open access journal of Agricultural Research 8(4): 000322. https://doi.org/10.23880/oajar-16000322
- LIEBMAN M. & ZIMDAHL R. L. 2018. Cultural techniques to manage weeds. Integrated weed management for sustainable agriculture. London: Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing, p. 203-226.
- LU Y. & MOSIER N. S. 2008. Current technologies for fuel ethanol production from lignocellulosic plant biomass. In: VERMERRIS W. (ed.) Genetic improvement of bioenergy crops. Springer, New York: p. 161-182. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-70805-8_6
- LUKANGILA M. A. B., TABU H. I., MUGISHO D. B., LUBOBO A. K. & MBOMBO A. K. M. W. 2024. Evaluating the effects of manual hoeing and selective herbicides on maize (*Zea mays L.*) productivity and profitability. *Heliyon.* 10(13): e33294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2024.e33294
- MAKAMA S. A., UMAR S. M., ISAH M. A., SADIQ M. S. & MAGAJI B. D. 2022. Socioeconomic factors influencing maize production in Giwa Local Government area of Kaduna state, Nigeria. *Journal of Agriculture and Environment.* 18(2): 135-139.

- MAS-UD M., DOKURUGU F. & KABA J. S. 2021. Effectiveness of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L.) living mulch on weed suppression and yield of maize (Zea mays L.). Open Agriculture. 6(1): 489-497. https://doi.org/10.1515/opag-2021-0031
- NAYAN G. S., TAKIM F. O., AREMU C. O. & OKUNOLA A. A. 2020. Effect of maize sweet potato intercrop over sole cropping system on weed infestation. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*. 445: 012007. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/445/1/012007
- NGONADI E. N., UKO I. & OKONKWO N. J. 2023. Profitability of selected weed control methods in maize (Zea mays L. Moench) production at Igbariam in three successive months. International Journal of Agriculture, Food and Biodiversity. 2(1): 37-42.
- NUSS E. T. & TANUMIHARDJO S. A. 2010. Maize: a paramount staple crop in the context of global nutrition. Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety. 9(4): 417-436. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-4337.2010.00117.x
- OLANIYAN A. B. 2015. Maize: Panacea for hunger in Nigeria. *African Journal of Plant Science*. **9**(3): 155-174. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJPS2014.1203
- OLAYINKA A. O., IBITOYE D. O. & ADERIBIGBE O. R. 2024. Unveiling phenotypic diversity among tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.) accessions: a comprehensive analysis of agronomic and physicochemical traits. *Technology in Horticulture.* **4**: e021. https://doi.org/10.48130/tihort-0024-0018
- POOLE N., DONOVAN J. & ERENSTEIN O. 2021. Agri-nutrition research: revisiting the contribution of maize and wheat to human nutrition and health. *Food Policy*. 100: 101976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2020.101976
- REVILLA P., ALVES M. L., ANDELKOVIĆ V., BALCONI C., DINIS I., MENDES-MOREIRA P., REDAELLI R., RUIZ DE GALARRETA J. I., VAZ PATTO M. C., ŽILIĆ S. & MALVAR R. A. 2022. Traditional foods from maize (Zea mays L.) in Europe. Frontiers in Nutrition. 8: 683399. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.683399
- SAS. 2011. Statistical Analysis System for windows. Release 9.4. SAS Institute Inc. Cary, North Carolina, USA.
- SINGH N., SINGH J., KAUR L., SODHI N. S. & GILL B. S. 2003. Morphological, thermal and rheological properties of starches from different botanical sources. *Food Chemistry*. 81(2): 219-231. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-8146(02)00416-8
- SMALE M. & MASON N. 2014. Hybrid seed and the economic well-being of smallholder maize farmers in Zambia. Journal of Development Studies. 50(5): 680-695. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2014.887690
- SOLTANI N., DILLE J. A., BURKE I. C., EVERMAN W. J., VANGESSEL M. J., DAVIS V. M. & SIKKEMA P. H. 2016. Potential corn yield losses from weeds in North America. Weed Technology. 30(4): 979-984. https://doi.org/10.1614/WT-D-16-00046.1
- TIZHE T. D., ALONGE S. O., ADEKPE D. I. & IOORTSUUN D. N. 2023. Evaluation of the effect of nicosulfuron and bentazone herbicides on growth and yield performance of two maize varieties in Mubi, Nigeria. Asian Journal of Agriculture. 7(2): 122-130. https://doi.org/10.13057/asianjagric/g070208
- UGBE L. A., NDAEYO N. U. & ENYONG J. F. 2016. Efficacy of selected herbicides on weed control, cowpea (Vigna uniguiculata L. Walp) performance and economic returns in Akamkpa, Southeastern Nigeria. International Journal of Research in Agriculture and Forestry. 3(5): 19-27.
- VERMA K. C., SINGH H., MEENA R., KHAN M., ATTAR S. K., KHATIK C. L., MAHALA S. C. & DHAKA S. R. 2023. Correlation coefficient and path analysis between grain yield and growth parameters, weed and yield attributes of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L.) as influenced by weed management practices under rainfed condition. The Pharma Innovation Journal. 12(6): 2142-2146.
- WOSSEN T., MENKIR A., ALENE A., ABDOULAYE T., AJALA S., BADU-APRAKU B., GEDIL M., MENGESHA W. & MESEKA S. 2023. Drivers of transformation of the maize sector in Nigeria. *Global Food Security*. 38: 100713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2023.100713

How to cite this article:

AFON O. P., AJAYI O. O., OLAYINKA A. O., OLAGUNJU E. A. & ADESINA G. O. 2024. Assessing different strategies for controlling weeds in maize cultivation within the derived savanna agro-ecology in Nigeria. J. *Plant Develop.* 31: 105-115. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.960

VARIABILITY AND ASSOCIATION STUDIES OF PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERS CONTRIBUTING TO YIELD IN FONIO MILLET (DIGITARIA IBURUA STAPF) ACCESSIONS

Abasianyanga Edem ISONG^{1*}, Vinothini NEDUNCHEZHIYAN², Wadi Sebastine MAMZA¹, Bhavyasree RAMAKRISHNAN³, Ibrahim Gaba MOHAMMED¹, Fatima Alhaji UMAR¹, Stephen Nanbahal DACHI⁴, Chioma Abasianyanga ISONG⁵, Samuel Oladele BAKARE¹, Ejiro ONOTUGOMA¹, Abdulrazaq JIMOH⁶

¹ National Cereals Research Institute, Badeggi – Niger State, Nigeria.
² SRM College of Agricultural Sciences, SRM Institute of Science and Technology, Chengalpattu, Tamil Nadu – India.
³ PAU-Regional Research Station, Gurdaspur – India.
⁴ University of Jos, Plateau State – Nigeria.
⁵ Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, Ogbomoso – Nigeria.
⁶ University of Nigeria, Nsukka – Nigeria.
* Corresponding author. E-mail: linkisong2@gmail.com; a.isong@ncribadeggi.org.ng, ORCID: 0009-0003-7425-5647

Abstract: The study on fourteen fonio accessions explored the available variability, investigated component association and grouped the total variability into Principal components. The experiment was conducted with three replications using Randomized Complete Block Design. Most characters showed Significant differences among the accessions at 5% probability level. Phenotypic coefficient of variability was more significant than genotypic coefficients, indicating environmental impacts, though minimal. Grain yield was highly influenced by number of tillers and height, as indicated by correlation and path coefficients. Plant height and days to maturity showed positive impact on fonio yield. Among the nine principal components realized, three had eigen values greater than one, contributing a total variation of about 79.2%. PC1 had the highest Eigen value of 3.77 with the highest load (-0.442) in days to maturity. Selection and hybridization with attention on plant height, number of tillers per plant and panicle length of the population could help improve on the grain yield.

Keywords: correlation, fonio, principal components analysis, variability, yield.

Introduction

Fonio (*Digitaria* spp.), sometimes called fundi in most West African Countries but specifically known as acha in Nigeria [KALAT, 2014], is indigenous to West Africa. The cereal (*Digitaria* spp.) represents a unique component of millets biodiversity. It is regarded as the oldest cultivated African cereal [CRUZ & BEAVOGUI, 2016; DACHI & al. 2016]. Over 300,000 ha is devoted to fonio cultivation yearly in West Africa [BEZPALY, 1984]. FAO (2009) statistics showed that 448,247 ha of fonio was harvested and 480,227 tons of grains produced during the 2008/2009. In Nigeria, two cultivable species (*D. iburua* and *D. exilis*) are recognized. *Digitaria iburua*, also called black fonio, is less recognized for improvement [ADOUKONOU-SAGBADJA & al. 2010]. *D. iburua* has a high amount of magnesium, zinc and manganese compared to other cereals. It also contains a significant amount of thiamine (Vitamin B1), riboflavin (Vitamin B2), calcium and phosphorous compared to white rice [NRC,

Received: 1 April 2024 / Revised: 8 October 2024 / Accepted: 25 October 2024

VARIABILITY AND ASSOCIATION STUDIES OF PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERS CONTRIBUTING...

1996]. *Digitaria iburua* is autogamous, variability is mostly among component lines with little adaptation and less flexibility. According to BUDAK & al. (2004), there are changes in the population's genetic structure by selection because of the preserved superior alleles. When selection is applied, the genetic variance may be reduced to attain specific breeding objectives. According to SUNESON (1956), the population's improvement will be slow but in the long run, sufficient for obtaining attractive plant material. Assessing variability in *D. iburua* population is essential step towards its improvement [MISHRA & al. 2015], because environment is reported to have a high influence on yield, and polygenes are a complex character in most crop plants [ISONG & BALU, 2017].

Partitioning of the variability into heritable and non-heritable can be done using the genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV), phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV), heritability (H²), and genetic advance expressed as a percentage of the mean (GAM%). The combination of heritability and genetic advance is more effective and reliable for predicting breeding value by selection [MISHRA & al. 2015; RAMANJINAPPA & al. 2011; PATIL & al. 1996]. Fonio yield depends on its components and their interaction. The relationship may result either from developmental or genetic factors [BALOCH & al. 2014]. The contributing components of the complex characters are obtained from the correlation, however, path analysis is accurate in analysing the direct and indirect components of a character [ISONG & BALU, 2017]. Some authors [LIAQAT & al. 2015; IQBAL & al. 2006] also pointed out that in majority of crop species, the selection criterion for complex traits is developed using path coefficient analysis and the interaction between the traits. Hence, parameters affecting yield improvement can be analyzed using correlation and path coefficient analysis [REDDY & al. 2015]. Canonical or vector analysis (Principal Component Analysis) can also be used to indicate the character(s) contributing most of the variability in the population. In lieu of the aforementioned, this investigation seeks to analyse the variability as well as component association and to group the total variability into Principal components for effective selection in the population.

Material and methods

Location of the experiment

The location for the investigation was Acha (Fonio) research field of Acha Research Programme, National Cereals Research Institute, Badeggi, Nigeria. Badeggi is located at Latitude 9°45' N and Longitude. 6°07' E in the Southern Guinea Savannah of Nigeria.

The genetic materials and field experimentation

Fourteen (14) *D. iburua* accessions; Asaogba, Eburi iki, Eburi okwa, Eburi istimu, Eburi suum, Eburu Anime, iacho, egboba, ikiota, Kojegicho, Kojegichoonobi, Nachelenchia, Naram, Nashelleng and Tuwonta were raised in three replications in Randomized Block Design (RBD). The genetic materials were planted in plots of 3 m x 4 m each by broadcasting method with a seed rate of 25 kg/ha. Cultural practices like irrigation, soil conditioning, fertilizer application, weed and pest control were followed. The nutrient requirement was 15:15:15 NPK inorganic fertilizer, applied in two splits of 30 kg N/ha, 30 kg P_2O_2 and 30 kg/ha K_2O at 4 and 8 weeks after planting (WAP), respectively.

Data collection

The observations from randomly tagged 5 plants per plot were made on number of tillers per plant (NTPP), number of nodes per tiller (NNPT), spike length (SL), number of

panicles per plant (NPPP), panicle length (PL), plant height (PH), days to 50% flowering (DFPF), days to maturity (DM) and grain yield (GY).

Statistical Analysis

AGRISTAT statistical analyses software was used to obtain the mean data for *per se* performance, analysis of variance (ANOVA) and variability parameters viz; phenotypic, genotypic and environmental variations, according to LUSH (1940), phenotypic and genotypic coefficient of variation, according to BURTON (1952). Broad sense heritability (Hb%) according to LUSH (1940) and Genetic advance over mean (%) as described by JOHNSON & al. (1955). In ANOVA, where the mean showed significant difference at a 5% probability level, Least Significant Difference (LSD) was used for mean separation. Also, association studies were carried out using correlation matrix and Path coefficient analyses. Statistical Tools for Agricultural Research package (STAR), version 2.0.1 of 2014 was employed to group the variability into different Principal components as described by SAEED & al. (2014).

Results and discussions

Analysis of variance, per se performance and descriptive statistics results are presented in Table 1, Genetic and Phenotypic Variability are in Table 2, Correlations are presented in Table 3, Regression and Direct Path are in Table 4 while Principal Components analysis is indicated in Table 5.

At 5% probability level, all the traits studied showed significant differences among the mean values implying that sufficient variability existed amongst the traits, breeders have a high opportunity to improve the traits by selection and hybridization according to [UMAR & al. 2020]. The accession Eburi iki recorded the highest yield value (836.10kg/ha) while Naram had the lowest yield of 425.00 kg/ha. Nashelleng, a *D. iburua* species recorded the tallest plants, corroborating the reports of ISONG & al (2022). Nashelleng also had the highest number of tillers per plant and number of nodes per tiller but required more days for 50% flowering and are late maturing. The phenotypic coefficient of variation ranged from 7.09 in plant height to 19.60 in grain yield. Also, genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV) values were from 7.0981 in plant height to 19.5633 in grain yield. Following the classification by SIVASUBRAMANIAN & MADHAVAMENON (1973), plant height was low for both parameters; grain yield was high for both parameters, while the other seven traits were moderate for the two variance parameters. In all the traits under study, the phenotypic coefficient of variability was higher than the genotypic coefficients of variation, indicating that the environment imparted though minimally on all the traits TEJASWINI & al. (2017).

Heritability, the proportion of genotypic variance in the phenotypic variance, was determined broadly by a method prescribed by LUSH (1940). According to JOHNSON & al. (1955) classification, all the traits recorded high heritability.

The expected genetic advance under selection indicated that all the traits under study had high genetic advance over mean (GAM) [JOHNSON & al. 1955]. By the findings of SAKTHI & al. (2007), heritability of all traits in this population is associated with high genetic advance, implying that cumulative gene effects are related to the heritability, also selection could be effective. Correlation analysis provided the basis to predict the corresponding change in one character at the expense of proportionate change in the other character. Genotypic correlation co-efficient between fonio grain yield with eight (8) biometric traits and inter-correlation among themselves were analyzed, and the result showed that phenotypic characters are higher than the magnitude of genotypic correlation. The fonio grain yield has positive correlation with number

VARIABILITY AND ASSOCIATION STUDIES OF PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERS CONTRIBUTING...

of tillers, nodes, height and length of panicle. At 5% probability level, panicle length was significantly correlated with grain yield, while number of tillers per plant and plant height were significantly correlated with grain yield at 1% probability for both phenotypic and genotypic correlations. According to AGUADO & al. (2008), the selection of these desired traits could help improve the grain yield of the fonio. The correlation among the yield component traits is important in deciding which trait to be given due attention in exercising selection. The association between the quantitative yield contributing traits like tillers with length of panicle and height; spike length with panicle length, plant height, days to 50% flowering and days to maturity; panicle length with plant height, days to 50% flowering with days to maturity; plant height with days to 50% flowering and days to maturity are all positively and significantly correlated at 1% probability level at N minus 2 degrees of freedom for both the genotypic and phenotypic associations. This inter-correlation result corresponds with the findings of BASBAG & GENCER (2007) working on interspecific cotton hybrids. Therefore, selection based on these important yield contributing traits could bring about a breakthrough in fonio grain yield under interspecific hybridization.

Path coefficient analysis was derived following the methods described by DEWEY & LU (1959) to differentiate the genotypic correlation coefficients into direct and indirect effects. Based on the direct and indirect effects classification scale given by LENKA & MISHRA (1973), spike length and days to 50% flowering had very high but negative direct path effects on fonio grain yield. Conversely, plant height and days to maturity also demonstrated very high but positive direct path effects on fonio grain yield. The implication for direct selection of plant height and days to maturity as yield components will be directly felt in the early generation of population development. Panicle length was high and positive, while panicles in each plant had low direct, but positive path effects on fonio grain yield. From the study of grain yield and its components, high genetic variability, as indicated by the analysis of variance and variance components, existed amongst the components in fonio. KHAN (2003) suggested how to indicate the variability pattern and possibly group them into components. Following the method described in ISONG & al. (2017), mean data of fourteen (14) D. iburua accessions were subjected to Principal Component (PC) analysis. Nine (9) principal components were realized, and only three (3) of them had eigen values greater than one, contributing variations of about 79.2% of the total variation in the population. Therefore, the three (3) principal components are important in explaining the total variability and grouping of the components. The highest variability of 41.9% recorded by the first PC was contributed mostly by spike length, panicle length, days to 50% flowering and days to maturity. The second and third PCs having 23.4% and 13.9% respectively were mostly associated with the grain yield, number of tillers per plant and number of panicles per plant.

Abasianyanga Edem ISONG & al.

Accessions	NTPP	NNPT	SL (cm)	NPPP	PL (cm)	PH (cm)	DFPF	DM	GY (Kg/ha
Asaogba	11.00	16.40	12.23	8.00	11.40	123.43	68.33	89.67	741.67
Eburi iki	20.33	13.60	15.70	9.33	19.50	131.43	74.67	99.67	836.10
Eburi okwa	16.00	13.40	15.50	7.00	15.53	120.80	78.33	101.00	516.67
Eburi istimu	14.00	15.43	14.50	9.00	13.43	110.40	69.33	100.00	541.67
Eburi suum	15.00	11.80	14.50	8.00	12.80	129.70	84.33	100.33	538.87
Eburu Anime	13.00	11.90	16.10	10.00	14.33	118.43	81.00	104.00	480.53
iacho-egboba	16.00	14.80	9.70	9.00	11.23	117.63	69.00	89.00	608.33
ikiota	18.00	11.80	15.10	10.00	14.43	116.20	73.33	103.00	686.13
Kojegicho	15.00	15.10	12.10	8.00	10.50	119.80	68.33	98.00	538.87
Kojegichoonobi	19.00	12.40	11.50	7.00	11.80	112.80	72.67	103.00	650.00
Nachelenchia	17.00	16.87	10.90	9.00	12.70	113.80	57.67	84.00	756.73
Naram	12.00	16.57	11.10	7.00	11.50	106.40	69.00	91.67	425.00
Nashelleng	21.00	16.87	11.83	8.00	14.50	134.40	88.00	108.67	758.33
Tuwonta	19.00	16.80	8.90	10.00	11.20	109.60	60.67	84.00	666.67
Mean	16.17	14.55	12.83	8.52	13.20	118.92	72.48	96.86	624.80
Max	21.00	16.87	16.10	10.00	19.50	134.40	88.00	108.67	836.10
Min	11.00	11.80	8.90	7.00	10.50	106.40	57.67	84.00	425.00
SE	0.13	0.37	0.35	0.13	0.03	0.09	1.69	0.84	6.44
CV%	0.95	3.08	3.35	1.81	0.27	0.09	2.86	1.06	1.26
LSD 5%	0.46	1.35	1.29	0.46	0.11	0.32	6.25	3.08	23.71

 Table 1. Per se performance, descriptive statistics and analysis of variance for yield and yield attributes of 14 Digitaria iburua accessions

N/B: NTPP = number of tillers per plant; NPPP = number of panicles per plant; SL= spike length; NNPT = number of nodes per tiller; PL= panicle length; PH = plant height; DFPF = days to 50% flowering; DM = days to maturity and GY= grain yield.

 Table 2. Variance components, heritability and genetic advance for grain yield and yield components in 14 accessions of Digitaria iburua studied

Comp onents	Phenotypi c variance	Genotypic variance	Environmen tal variance	Phenotypic coefficient of variation	Genotypic coefficient of variation	Broad sense herita-bility (%)	Genetic advance over mean (%)
NTPP	9.43	9.41	0.02	18.99	18.97	99.75	39.03
NNPT	4.24	4.04	0.20	14.16	13.82	95.25	27.78
SL	5.69	5.51	0.19	18.59	18.29	96.75	37.05
NPPP	1.24	1.22	0.02	13.07	12.95	98.08	26.42
PL	5.64	5.64	0.001	17.99	17.98	99.98	37.05
PH	71.26	71.25	0.01	7.09	7.09	99.98	14.62
DFPF	73.74	69.43	4.31	11.85	11.49	94.16	22.98
DM	61.10	60.06	1.05	8.07	8.00	98.29	16.34
GY	15002.53	14940.41	62.12	19.61	19.56	99.59	40.22

N/B: NTPP = number of tillers per plant; NPPP = number of panicles per plant; SL = spike length; NNPT = number of nodes per tiller; PL = panicle length; PH = plant height; DFPF = days to 50% flowering; DM = days to maturity and GY = grain yield.

		ATPP	LdNN	SL	dddN	PL	Hd	DFPF	DM	GY
	r									
NTPP	g	1.000	-0.051	-0.106	0.192	0.429**	0.324*	0.141	0.244	0.621**
	р	1.000	-0.060	-0.104	0.197	0.428**	0.324*	0.135	0.238	0.619**
NNPT	g		1.000	-0.690**	-0.089	-0.357*	-0.195	-0.519**	-0.596**	0.226
	р		1.000	-0.665**	-0.115	-0.347*	-0.191	-0.483**	-0.562**	0.219
SL	g			1.000	0.119	0.719**	0.383*	0.580**	0.675**	-0.133
	р			1.000	0.117	0.707**	0.376*	0.559**	0.662**	-0.130
NPPP	g				1.000	0.224	-0.054	-0.215	-0.159	0.295
	р				1.000	0.222	-0.053	-0.212	-0.166	0.291
PL	g					1.000	0.523**	0.447**	0.482**	0.368*
	р					1.000	0.523**	0.434**	0.479**	0.367*
PH	g						1.000	0.697**	0.480**	0.443**
	р						1.000	0.676**	0.475**	0.442**
DFPF	g							1.000	0.864**	-0.141
	р							1.000	0.831**	-0.139
DM	g								1.000	-0.111
	р								1.000	-0.110
GY	g									1.000
	р									1.000

VARIABILITY AND ASSOCIATION STUDIES OF PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERS CONTRIBUTING...

Table 3. Genotypic and phenotypic correlations of yield and yield attributes of 14 D. iburua accessions

N/B: NTPP = number of tillers per plant; NPPP = number of panicles per plant; SL = spike length; NNPT = number of nodes per tiller; PL = panicle length; PH = plant height; DFPF = days to 50% flowering; DM = days to maturity and GY = grain yield; g = genotypic; p = phenotypic; ** = significant at 1% probability; * = significant at 5% probability

	NTPP	NNPT	SL	NPPP	PL	РН	DFPF	DM	Correlation Coefficient
NTPP	-0.356	0.015	0.137	0.036	0.385	0.358	-0.223	0.268	0.621**
NNPT	0.018	-0.293	0.892	-0.016	-0.321	-0.215	0.817	-0.656	0.226
SL	0.038	0.202	-1.293	0.022	0.646	0.423	-0.914	0.744	-0.133
NPPP	-0.068	0.026	-0.154	0.185	0.202	-0.060	0.340	-0.175	0.295
PL	-0.153	0.104	-0.929	0.041	0.899	0.578	-0.704	0.531	0.368*
PH	-0.115	0.057	-0.495	-0.010	0.470	1.106	-1.098	0.529	0.443**
DFPF	-0.050	0.152	-0.750	-0.040	0.402	0.770	-1.576	0.951	-0.141
DM	-0.087	0.175	-0.873	-0.029	0.433	0.531	-1.361	1.101	-0.111

Table 4. Path coefficients of grain yield with yield components in D. iburua accessions studied

RESIDUE = 0.3738. Bold figures in Diagonals indicate direct effect on fonio grain yield

N/B: NTPP = number of tillers per plant; NPPP = number of panicles per plant; SL = spike length; NNPT = number of nodes per tiller; PL = panicle length; PH = plant height; DFPF = days to 50% flowering; DM = days to maturity and GY = grain yield.

Abasianyanga Edem ISONG & al.

Table 5. Prin	Table 5. Principal component analysis (PCA) for 9 variables in 14 D. iburua accessions												
Variables	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6	PC7	PC8	PC9				
NTPP	-0.172	0.509	0.124	-0.643	0.164	-0.122	0.240	0.294	0.311				
NNPT	0.340	0.229	0.349	0.408	0.116	-0.691	-0.116	0.121	0.161				
SL	-0.417	-0.193	-0.328	0.318	0.264	0.028	-0.203	0.305	0.613				
NPPP	-0.017	0.307	-0.698	0.012	-0.540	-0.351	-0.021	0.015	-0.061				
PL	-0.400	0.233	-0.190	0.254	0.537	-0.176	0.372	-0.242	-0.412				
РН	-0.367	0.214	0.349	0.388	-0.431	0.227	0.215	0.478	-0.189				
DFPF	-0.432	-0.174	0.289	-0.033	-0.353	-0.260	0.203	-0.588	0.346				
DM	-0.442	-0.167	0.144	-0.280	0.012	-0.326	-0.625	0.146	-0.400				
GY	-0.067	0.632	0.082	0.153	0.022	0.358	-0.521	-0.390	0.114				
Statistics													
Proportion of variance	0.419	0.234	0.139	0.076	0.056	0.041	0.023	0.009	0.004				
Cumulative proportion	0.419	0.653	0.792	0.868	0.924	0.965	0.988	0.996	1.000				
Eigen Values	3.769	2.108	1.252	0.685	0.499	0.372	0.205	0.078	0.034				

N/B: NTPP = number of tillers per plant; NPPP = number of panicles per plant; SL = spike length; NNPT = number of nodes per tiller; PL = panicle length; PH = plant height; DFPF = days to 50% flowering; DM = days to maturity and GY = grain yield.

Conclusions

Sufficient positive genetic variability was recorded in the fonio population, all the traits under study showed significant differences at 5% probability level. Environment had minimal impact on all the traits under study. The phenotypic coefficient of variability showed higher figures than the genotypic coefficients of variation. High heritability and high Genetic Advance over mean (GAM) associated with all traits, indicates that heritability is largely due to additive gene effects. Selection based on correlation, path coefficient and Principal component analyses results will bring breakthroughs in breeding for fonio grain yield under interspecific hybridization. Plant height and days to maturity showed a direct positive effect on the grain yield, direct selection of these traits would be directly felt in the early generation of population development.

Acknowledgements

The Authors do sincerely acknowledge and appreciate the National Cereals Research Institute, Badeggi, Nigeria for providing seeds, field and supporting staff in the Research.

VARIABILITY AND ASSOCIATION STUDIES OF PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERS CONTRIBUTING... References

- ADOUKONOU-SAGBADJA H., WAGNER C., ORDON F. & FRIEDT W. 2010. Reproductive system and molecular phylogenetic relationships of fonio millets (*Digitaria* spp., Poaceae) with some polyploid wild relatives. *Tropical Plant Biology*. 3: 240-251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12042-010-9063-0
- AGUADO A., SANTOS B. D. L., BLANCO C. & ROMERO F. 2008. Study of gene effects for cotton yield and Verticillium wilt tolerance in cotton plant (Gossypium hirsutum L.). Field Crops Research. 107: 78-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2007.12.018
- BALOCH A. W., SAHITO J. S., ALI M., BALOCH G. A., ABRO S., CHANNA S. A., BALOCH A. M., BALOCH G. H. & BALOCH G. M. 2014. Association analysis of yield and fiber traits in advance Pakistani upland cotton cultivars (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.). Advanced and Applied Agricultural Sciences. 2(12): 73-80.
- BASBAG S. & GENCER O. 2007. Investigation of some yield and fibre quality characteristics of interspecific hybrid (Gossypium hirsutum L. x G. barbadense L.) cotton varieties. Hereditas. 144: 33-42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2007.0018-0661.01962.x
- BEZPALY I. 1984. Les plantes cultivées en Afrique Occidentale. Ouvrage sous la direction de Oustimenko. Bakoumovski. Editions MIR. Moscow: 84-87.
- BUDAK H., BOLEK Y., DOKUYUCU T. & AKKAYA V. A. 2004. Potential uses of molecular markers in crop improvement. *KSU Journal of Science and Engineering*. **7**(1): 75-79.
- BURTON G. W. 1952. Quantitative inheritance in grasses. Proceedings of the 6th International Grassland congress 1: 277-283.
- CRUZ J. F. & BEAVOGUI F. 2016. Fonio, an african cereal. CIRAD, France, 25 pp.
- DACHI S. N., FATIMA U., BAKARE S. O., UMAR A., MAJI E. A., ABO M. E. & AGBOIRE S. 2016. Morphological traits and yield evaluation of hungry rice (*D. iburua* Kippis Stapf) at Badeggi Southern Guinea Savannah of Nigeria. *Proceedings of the 50th Annual conference of the Agricultural Society of Nigeria*: 571-573.
- DEWEY D. R & LU K. H. 1959. A correlation and path-coefficient analysis of components of crested wheatgrass seed production. *Agronomy Journal.* **51**(9): 515-518. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1959.00021962005100090002x
- FAO. 2009. Food and Agriculture Organization. Production year Book, Rome, Italy.
- IQBAL M., HAYAT K., KHAN R. S. A., SADIQ A. & ISLAM N. 2006. Correlation and path coefficient analysis for earliness and yield traits in cotton (*G. hirsutum* L.). Asian Journal of Plant Science. 5(2): 341-344. https://doi.org/10.3923/ajps.2006.341.344
- ISONG A. & BALU P. A. 2017. Variability, heritability and genetic advance for yield and quality components in interspecific F1 hybrids of cotton. *Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding*. 8(1): 361-364. https://doi.org/10.5958/0975-928X.2017.00054.0
- ISONG A., BALU P. A. & RAMAKRISHNAN P. 2017. Association and principal component analysis of yield and its components in cultivated cotton. *Electronic Journal of Plant Breeding*. 8(3): 857-864. https://doi.org/10.5958/0975-928X.2017.00140.5
- JOHNSON H. W., ROBINSON H. F. & COMSTOCK R. E. 1955. Estimates of genetic and environmental variability in soybean. Agronomy Journal. 47: 314-318. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1955.00021962004700070009x
- KALAT P. D. 2014. Productivity of hungry rice (Digitaria exilis) in selected local government areas of Kaduna State, Nigeria. MSc thesis School of Postgraduate Studies, Ahmadu Bello University, Department of Agricultural Economics and Rural Sociology, Faculty of Agriculture: 1-86.
- KHAN N. U. 2003. Genetic analysis, combining ability and heterotic studies for yield, its components, fibre and oil quality traits in upland cotton (G. hirsutum L.). PhD Thesis. Sindh Agricultural University Tandojam, Pakistan.
- LENKA D. & MISHRA B. 1973. Path coefficient analysis of yield in rice varieties. *Indian Journal of Agricultutral Sciences*. **43**: 376-379.
- LIAQAT S., AHMED R. I., RAFIQ M., AHMAD S., QAYYUM A., RAFIQ M., BIBI A. & HUSSAIN N. 2015. Correlation and path analysis for genetic divergence of morphological and fiber traits in upland cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.). International Journal of Agronomy & Agricultural Research. 7(4): 86-94.
- LUSH J. L. 1940. Intro-sire correlation and regression of offspring on dams as a method of estimating heritability of characters. *Proceedings of American Society of Animal Production*. **33**: 293-301.
- MISHRA P. K., RAM R. B. & KUMAR N. 2015. Genetic variability, heritability, and genetic advance in strawberry (*Fragaria* × ananassa Duch.). Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry. **39**(3): 451-458. https://doi.org/10.3906/tar-1408-99
- NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL (NRC). 1996. Nutrient content of various feed grains. National Academy Press, Washington DC.
- PATIL Y. B., MADALAGERI B. B., BIRADAR B. D. & HOSHMANI R. M. 1996. Variability studies in okra (Abelmoschus esculentus L. Moench.). Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences. 9: 289-293.

- RAMANJINAPPA V., ARUNKUMAR K. H., HUGAR A. & SHASHIBHASKAR M. S. 2011. Genetic variability in okra (Abelmoschus esculentus L. Moench.). Plant Archives. 11(1): 435-437.
- REDDY K. B., REDDY V. C., AHMED M. L., NAIDU T. C. M. & SRINIVASARAO V. 2015. Correlation and path coefficient analysis in upland cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum L.*). International Journal of Pure & Applied Bioscience. 3(3): 70-80.
- SAEED F., FAROOQ J., MAHMOOD A., RIAZ M., HUSSAIN T. & MAJEED A. 2014. Assessment of genetic diversity for cotton leaf curl virus (CLCuD), fiber quality and some morphological traits using different statistical procedures in *Gossypium hirsutum L. Australian Journal of Crop Sciences*. 8(3): 442-447.
- SAKTHI A. R., KUMAR M. & RAVIKESAVAN R. 2007. Variability and association analysis using morphological and quality traits in cotton (Gossypium hirsutum). Journal of Cotton Research and Development. 21(2): 148-152.
- SIVASUBRAMANIAN S. & MADHAVAMENON P. 1973. Genotypic and phenotypic variability in rice. *Madras* Agriculture Journal. **60**(9/13): 1093-1096.
- STATISTICAL TOOL FOR AGRICULTURAL RESEARCH. 2014. version 2.0.1 International Rice Research Institute, Philippines.
- SUNESON C. A. 1956. An evolutionary plant breeding method. Agronomy Journal. 48: 188-191. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1956.00021962004800040012x
- TEJASWINI K. L. Y., RAVI KUMAR B. N. V. S. R., LAL AHAMED M., RAJU S. K., SRINIVAS M. & RAMANA RAO P. V. 2017. Genetic variability, heriatability, genetic advance and correlation studies F₅ families in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). International Journal of Agricultural Science and Research. 7(1): 75-82.
- UMAR F. A., ISONG A., DACHI S. N., ONYIA K. C., OGEH B. O., EKAETE J., UYOKEI U. & SHEHU H. 2020. Genetic variability, heritability and genetic advance for yield and some agronomic traits in *Digitaria exilis* Accessions. *Indian Journal of Pure and Applied Biosciences*. 8(1): 1-5. https://doi.org/10.18782/2582-2845.7956

How to cite this article:

ISONG A. E., NEDUNCHEZHIYAN V., MAMZA W. S., RAMAKRISHNAN B., MOHAMMED I. G., UMAR F. A., DACHI S. N., ISONG C. A., BAKARE S. O. & ONOTUGOMA E. 2024. Variability and association studies of phenotypic characters contributing to yield in Fonio Millet (*Digitaria iburua* Stapf) accessions. J. Plant Develop. 31: 117-125. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.940

Research Article

STUDIES ON CRITICALLY ENDANGERED GENUS *CEROPEGIA* FROM WESTERN GHATS OF NASHIK DISTRICT, MAHARASHTRA, INDIA

Madhukar Pandharinath SANGALE¹, Sanjay Ragho KSHIRSAGAR², <u>Hemendra Prabhakar SHINDE^{1*}</u>

¹ Department of Botany, Kr. V. N. Naik Arts Commerce & Science College, Nashik, Maharashtra – India.
 ² Department of Botany, Late Karmaveer Dr. P. R. Ghogrey Science College, Dhule, Maharashtra – India.
 * Corresponding author. E-mail: shindehemant79@gmail.com, ORCID ID 0000-0002-0582-4039

Abstract: Ceropegia is tuberous herb, mostly found growing on grassy slopes of hills and plateaus. Species of Ceropegia are recognized mostly for its peculiar ornamental and/or medicinal properties. Most species from the genus Ceropegia are included in threatened category because of special requirements in terms of climate and habitat. Earlier studies have indicated that habitat destruction and collecting of tubers for local consumption are the major threats. However; during recent years; their populations have been found declining rapidly due to habitat modifications and anthropogenic pressures like grazing, tourism and trampling, land use changes, etc. Since the majority of the reported Ceropegia species were previously classified as vulnerable or endangered by the IUCN, conservation efforts ought to be pursued in order to slow the rate at which these species are becoming extinct. Present research article deals with taxonomy, flowering and fruiting period, present status, threats of critically endangered Ceropegia species found in and around Western Ghats region of Nashik district. The present study would help in identifying the species habitats and the areas to be prioritized for their conservation.

Key words: Ceropegia, Western Ghats, Nashik, Conservation.

Introduction

The Western Ghats is also called the 'Sahyadri' and the northern part of Western Ghats is the 'hotspot' having very high biological diversity. The Western Ghats range begins south of the Tapti River, close to the Gujarat-Maharashtra boundary. It passes 1,600 km across the states of Maharashtra, Goa, Karnataka, Tamil Nadu, and Kerala before terminating in Kanyakumari, which is located at the southernmost point of India [VENCATESAN & DANIELS, 2008]. The north-south run of Western Ghats is about 750 km and average breadth is 85 km. In Maharashtra, there are numerous naturally occurring vulnerable, rare, endangered and threatened (RET) plant species found in districts of northern Western Ghats, like Dhule, Jalgaon, Nandurbar, and Nashik [KSHIRSAGAR & PATIL, 2008; SANGALE & al. 2023]. Vegetation of the Northern Western Ghats can be divided into altitudinal zones. At elevations of 200-500 m, there is semideciduous and schrub vegetation. The moist deciduous forests with pockets of evergreen type in areas with more rainfall are found on the windward side of the Ghats, which receives the most rainfall [GAIKWAD & al. 2014].

Genus Ceropegia L. is tuberous herb and found growing on grassy slopes of hills.

It belongs to the Apocynaceae family and is indigenous to Australia, southern Asia, and Africa. Carl Linnaeus gave it its name; he originally described this genus in volume 1 of his 1753 publication *Species plantarum*. The blooms appeared to Linnaeus like a wax fountain. The

STUDIES ON CRITICALLY ENDANGERED GENUS CEROPEGIA FROM WESTERN GHATS OF ...

scientific word, "keros" (wax) and "pege" (spring) were taken from this. There are 160-200 different species of genus *Ceropegia*.

It has been reported as critically endangered and endemic to Western Ghats of Maharashtra [MISHRA & SINGH, 2001]. It is one of the genera in the Apocynaceae family's subfamily Asclepiadoideae (milkweeds). The genus *Ceropegia* comprises 244 species distributed in Africa and Madagascar, extending in the east to Arabia, India and China, northern part of Australia as far as Canary Islands [BRUYNS, 2014; WFO Plant List, 2024; NIKAM & al. 2023]. Highest diversity of the genus occurs in South Africa, followed by Kenya, Madagascar and India [MURTHY & al. 2012]. In India, the genus is represented by 53 species, 2 subspecies and 6 varieties of which 37 are endemic to Peninsular India [AHMEDULLAH & NAYAR, 1986]. Majority of *Ceropegia* species in India occurs along steep hill slopes, rock crevices at low to high elevation lateritic plateaus, along with bushes, forest margins, grasslands of dry deciduous forests, shola forest margins and still others prefer to grow at slightly drier habitats. The northern Western Ghats region of Nashik district, includes places with dense vegetation like Peth, Baglan, Igatpuri, Trambakeshwar, and Sinnar which are exhibiting the presence of *Ceropegia* species.

Due to the habitat destruction or destructive collecting, most of the *Ceropegia* species are threatened. Not only these are genetically rare, but also scarcely available. It is noted that the majority of the species listed were previously classified as vulnerable or endangered by the IUCN RED list; as a result, conservation efforts ought to be made to slow the rate of extinction of these species [SUBBAIYAN & al. 2015].

Diverse conservation measures are available viz. *in situ, ex situ, in vitro*, participatory approach, local biodiversity boards etc. for critically endangered plants species like *Ceropegia*; However; there is a need for more research in terms of adoption of microhabitat/climatic specific, most suitable and feasible strategies [PATEL & al. 2017; AVHAD & al. 2023].

Germplasm conservation measures are being undertaken effectively so as to conserve narrowly endemic and critically endangered *Ceropegia* species. For example, *C. andamanica* acclimatized successfully through an *ex situ* conservation measures at Andaman & Nicobar Islands of India [DHOLE & al. 2023]. Recently a new species of *Ceropegia* namely *C. shivrayiana* is described at the Vishalgad fort in the Kolhapur district of Maharashtra state, India that resembles *Ceropegia lawii* Hooker f., which is distinguished by its hairy peduncles, obovate corolla cage, and reflexed corolla lobes [JANGAM & KAMBALE al. 2024].

Material and methods

Study area

Nashik district is located between latitudes 19°35' and 20°50' and the longitudes 73°30' and 74°55'. It covers the area of 15,582 sq. km. The prominent areas surveyed repeatedly, include mainly hilly areas like Anjaneri, Salher-Mulher, Ramshej, Saptashringi hill, Peint, Surgana, Chambhar leni, Sinnar ghat, and Igatpuri etc. (Figure 1).

Field visits and observations

Extensive field visits and botanical excursions were conducted during monsoon months (June to December) of year 2020-2022 covering to different corners and pockets of the northern part of Western Ghats of Nashik district. Systematic enumeration of observed *Ceropegia* species within their natural habitat, was done with reference to taxonomy, flowering and fruiting period, precise locations, ecology, threats, present status, etc. (Table 1). The

Madhukar Pandharinath SANGALE & al.

identification was done with the help of floras and available standard literature [COOKE, 1957; NAYAR & SASTRY, 1988; LAKSHMINARASIMHAN & SHARMA, 1991; PRADHAN & SINGH, 1999; MISHRA & SINGH, 2001]. Voucher specimens have been deposited in the Herbarium, Department of Botany, Kr. V. N. Naik Arts Commerce & Science College, Nashik, Maharashtra.



Figure 1. Location map showing distribution of *Ceropegia* species within Nashik district (Source: Maps of India.com)

Results and discussions

Systematic Enumeration

1. Ceropegia anjanerica Malpure, M. Y. Kamble & S. R. Yadav, Curr. Sci. 91(9): 1141. 2006; Karthik. et al., Fl. Pl. India 1: 160. 2009; Kambale & S. R. Yadav, Asklepios 115: 29. 2012. Type: INDIA, Maharashtra, Nashik district, Anjaneri hill, 10.09.2005. N.V. Malpure Malpure 1 (holo CAL! iso K! BSI! BLAT! SUK!).

Herb, flowers 2.5-3.5 cm long, usually slightly curved greenish yellow. Flower-tube is 1.2-1.5 cm gradually dilated at base, channelled with purple lines inside, lower inflated part deep purple. Petals are narrowly obovate. Flowers arise singly, on stalks 1-3 mm ling. Bracts are solitary, linear, sepals linear long-pointed, rough. Stem is round, rough, usually unbranched, up to 20 cm high. Leaves are opposite narrowing into stalks 2-5 mm long. Seeds 5×2 mm, ovate, coma white, silky. The tubers are edible and consumed by locals is one of the major threat observed during the study. The status of *C. anjanerica* recorded as endangered and endemic [PETHE & TILLU, 2016; NIKAM & al. 2023].

2. *Ceropegia bulbosa* var. *bulbosa* Roxb, cor. Pl. v. 1 (1795) p. 11, t. 7. Fl. B. I. v. 4, p. 67; Woodr. In Journ. Bomb. V. 12(1898) p.168; Watt, Dict: Econ. Prod. V. 2, p. 262.

Twiner, root tuberous, the size of a small turnip, a little flattened, with several fibres from its base, stem very slender, usually glabrous. Leaves excessively variable. Flowers pedunculated, umbellate cymes. peduncles long, arising from between the petioles; pedicels long slender. Corolla long greenish tube inflated at the base lobes long linear from

STUDIES ON CRITICALLY ENDANGERED GENUS CEROPEGIA FROM WESTERN GHATS OF ...

deltoid base, hairy, connate at the tips, violet-purple inside outer corona-lobes inner coronalobes narrowly linear, in long follicles, cylindrical, tapering towards an acute apex. Seeds long, ovate-oblong, flattened, with a broad sub membranous margin.

Over exploitation and habitat degradation are the important threats recorded during study. The status of *C. bulbosa* var. *bulbosa* is recorded as endangered

3. *Ceropegia bulbosa* var. *lushii* (Grah.) Hook. *f*. Fl. Brit. India 4: 68. 1883; Cooke, Fl. Pres. Bombay 2: 241. 1958 (Repr.); Ansari in Fasc. FL India 16: 11. 1984; Jagtap et al. Singh, N.P. in Fasc. Fl. India 24: 218. 1999. *C. lushii* Grah. in Bot. Mag. t. 3300. 1834. *C. acuminata* Roxb. Pl. Corom. 1: 12, t. 8. 1795; Hook. *f*. Fl. Brit. India 4: 78. 1883.

Tuberous twiners. Leaves 6-7 x 1.2-2.1 cm, acuminate. Flowers in axillary cymes; corolla 1.0-1.1 cm long; corona biseriate. Major threats were recorded as its over exploitation and habitat degradation. The status of C. *bulbosa* var. *lushii* is endangered.

4. *Ceropegia hirsuta* Wight &Arn. in Wight, Contrib. (1834) p.30. Fl. B. I. v. 4, p. 71; Woodr. in Journ. Bomb. Nat. v. 12 (1898) p. 168. *Ceropegia jucquemontiana* Dalz. and Gibs. Bo. Fl.p.153. *C. ophiocephala* Dalz. in Kew Journ. Bot. v. 2 (1850) p. 259; Dalz. & Gibs. p. 154.

Saffruticose, twining, hirsute or pubescent roots tuberous, membranous, 5-10 cm. long, varying from ovate-cordate, obtusely cuminate, to narrowly lanceolate, acute, petioles long. Flowers umbellate cymes, peduncles long, arising from the petioles, acute, hirsute with rigid hairs. Corolla greenish, blotched with a very large club-shaped head tube inflated at base, enlarged at the mouth lobes as long as the tube. Seeds long, narrowly oblong.

Over exploitation and habitat degradation are the major threats recorded and the status of C. *hirsuta* is endangered.

5. *Ceropegia lawii* Hook *f*. Fl. Brit. India 4: 67, 1883; Cooke, Fl. Pres. Bombay 2: 240. 1958 pp. (Repr,ed.); Blatt, in J. Bombay nat. Hist. Soc. 36 (3): 534. 1933; Sant. Fl Purandhar 80. 1958, Sant. & Irani in Bull. Bot. Soc.

Herbs, erect, tuberous; stems pubescent above. Leaves opposite, petiolate, ovatelanceolate, usually rounded at base, puberulous above. Cymes many flowered; peduncles and pedicels hairy. length of corolla 1.8-4 cm, with a tube length of 1.5 - 3.1 cm., inside a ring of hairs at the bottom of inflated base, rest glabrous; lobes $5-9 \times 3-5$ mm, ovate-cordate, hairy or glabrous inside. Outer corona of 10 obtuse lobes, hairy; inner linear, erect, 3-4 times as long as outer. Major threats recorded was its over exploitation and the status of *C. lawii* is endangered.

6. *Ceropegia media* (Huber) Ansari in Bull. Bot. Surv. India 11 (1 & 2): 199. (1969) 1971; Raghavan & Singh in Jain & Sastry (eds.), P1. Cons. Bull 3: 9. 1983; Ansari in Fasc. Fl. India 16: 24, t. 4 (18), f. 13. 1984; Singh & Raghavan in J. Econ. Tax. Bot. 8(1): 31. 1986.

Herbs, twining, tuberous; stems glabrous. Leaves opposite, petiolate, $5-15 \times 1.5 \text{ cm}$, linear-lanceolate, puberulous above. Cymes 2-4-flowered; peduncles 1-2 cm long, pubescent; pedicels up to 1 cm long, hairy; length of bracts and bracteoles ranges 1-4 mm, lanceolate, glabrous. length of corolla 2.8 cm, with a tube length 2 cm, base slightly inflated, glabrous inside; lobes ca 8 x 2.5 mm, oblong, glabrous. Major threats were recorded as its over exploitation and the status of *C. media* is endangered.

7. Ceropegia mahabalei Hemadri et al. & Ansari in Indian For. 97(2)7 105. t, 1 (b). f. 1-4, 1971. Raghavan Singh in lain & Sastry (eds.). Pi. Cons. Bull, 3: 9. 1983; Amain in Fast Fl.

Madhukar Pandharinath SANGALE & al.

India 16: 24. t. 3 (17). 1984: Raghavan & Singh in J. Econ. Tax. Bot. 5(14: 159. 1984; Singh & Raghavan in ibid. 8 (1): 31. 1986.

Herb, erect ca 20-65 cm high, tuberous; stem hairy. Leaves opposite. subsassile, 3-15 x 0.3-1 cm, linear to linear-lanceolate, hairy above. Cymes 1-floweted; peduncles 1,3 mm long, hairy; pedicels 5-10 mm long. hairy bracts 5-15 mm long, subulate. Calyx 5-partite, lobes 1.1.75 cm long. hairy. Corolla 5.5-10 cm long; tube 3.5-6.5 cm long, base largely inflated. Narrowed in the neck, enlarging towards mouth, glabrous inside; lobes 1. 5-3 cm long, linear, elongated above from ovate deltoid base, hairy within. Seeds many, ovoid; coma ca 6 mm long, white. Major threats were recorded as its over exploitation and the status of *C. mahabalei* is endangered.

8. *Ceropegia sahyadrica* Ansari and B.G. Kulk. in Indian For. 97 (12): 68S, t.1, f. 1-4, t. 2, f. A (1, 2). 1971; Raghavan & Singh in Jain & Sastry (eds.), Pl. Cons. Bull. 3: 10. 1983 et in J. Econ. Tax. Bot. 5 (I): 159. 1984: Ansari in Fasc. Fl. India 16: 29, t. 4 (24). 1984; Mistry, Fl. Ratnagiri. I: 391. 1986 (*PhD. Thesis*); Ahmedullah & Nayar, Endemic Pl. Indian Reg. 1: 122. 1987.

Herbs, erect, 30-100 cm high, tuberous; stems, pubescent above, leaves opposite, 4-11 x 2-8 cm, ovate or ovate-lanceolate, cordate or rounded at base. Cynics few to ninny flowered; peduncles 1-5.5 cm long, hairy; pedicels 10-17 mm long, hairy; bracts 5-7 x ca I mm, linear, Sepals 5-7 mm long, glabrous. Corolla slightly curved, tube up to 4.4. cm long, base inflated with a ring of hairs inside at bottom, rest glabrous; lobes up to 2 x 8 mm, ovate, subcordate, glabrous. Follicles in pairs, up to 1.5 cm long, many seeded. Major threats were recorded as its over exploitation and the status of *C. sahyadrica* is endangered.

The present record of *Ceropegia* species are from different locations across the Nashik district like Sinnar, Anjaneri, Chambhar leni- Nashik, Igatpuri etc. which is restricted to small biogeographical areas and are rare in occurrence. (Table 1, Figure 1). Moreover, their populations have been declining rapidly due to habitat modifications and anthropogenic pressures. Therefore, *ex situ* and *in situ* conservation practices are recommended so as deal with various threats recorded during the study. Out of total *Ceropegia* species recorded, most species have been reported earlier from the Konkan region of Western Ghats. [PUNEKAR & al. 2006; KAMBALE & YADAV, 2019]. Species like *C. mahabalei, C. sahyadrica, C. bulbosa, C. hisrsuta* and *C. media* were discovered to be mostly growing on the dry cliffs and hill passes of the Western Ghats of Nashik district; which are known as ecologically specialized microhabitat. [DATAR & WATVE, 2018; SANGALE & al. 2021.

STUDIES ON CRITICALLY ENDANGERED GENUS CEROPEGIA FROM WESTERN GHATS OF ...

Table 1. Checklist of Ceropegia species observed at different locations within Nashik district

Species	Local Name	Habit	Habitat	Flowering Season	Locations	Latitude	Longitude
Ceropegia anjanerica Malpure, M.Y. Kamble & S.R. Yadav	Lahani Kharpudi	Herb	High altitude, Moist soil, Open Plateaus Rocky areas among the grasses.	August- September	Anjaneri, Trymbakeshwar	19.921 N	73.570 E
Ceropegia bulbosa var. bulbosa Roxb,	Hamil	Twiner	Moist soil, among the bushes	August-	Igatpuri	19.704 N	73.568 E
			and cactus plants September winer Moist soil, among the bushes and cactus plants July-October Pet		Sonambe	19.767 N	73.927 E
Ceropegia bulbosa var. lushii (Grah.) Hook.	Hamil	Twiner	Moist soil, among the bushes and cactus plants	July-October	Peth forest	20.258 N	73.510 E
					Sonambe	19.767 N	73.927 E
Caronagia hirsuta Wight & Arn	Khutti,	Twining	Hilly slopes among Cactus	August-	Adwadi	19.737 N	73.922 E
Ceropegia misula wight @Ain	Haaman	Climber	Thiry stopes, among cactas	September	Dubere	19.794 N	73.958 E
				September Dubere Salher		20.723 N	73.945 E
Ceropegia lawii Hook f	Moti	Twining	High altitude, hilly slopes,	August-	Adwadi,	19.737 N	73.922 E
	Kharpudi	Herb	moist soil, rocky areas	October	Anjaneri hill	19.921 N	73.570 E
Ceropegia media (Huber) Ansari	Medi Kharchudi	Twining Herb	High altitude, hilly slopes, moist soil, rocky areas	July-October	Igatpuri	19.704 N	73.568 E
<i>Ceropegia mahabalei</i> Hemadri et al. & Ansari	Kharchudi	Herb	Moist soil, Open Plateaus Rocky areas among the grasses.	August- October	Chambhar leni Nashik	20.068 N	73.788 E
		** 1	Moist soil. Open Plateaus	August-	Advadi Sinnar	19.737 N	73.922 E
Ceropegia sahyadrica Ansari & B.G. Kulk.	Kharpudi	Herb	among the grasses.	October	Anjaneri, Trymbakeshwar	19.921 N	73.570 E

Madhukar Pandharinath SANGALE & al.



Figure 2. Ceropegia species records in Western Ghats region of Nashik district

A – Ceropegia anjanerica Malpure, M. Y. Kamble & S. R. Yadav; B – Ceropegia bulbosa Roxb. var. bulbosa; C – Ceropegia bulbosa Roxb. var. lushii (Graham) Hook. f.; D – Ceropegia hirsuta Wight & Arn.; E – Ceropegia mahabalai Hemadri & Ansari; F – Ceropegia media (H. Huber) Ansari; G – Ceropegia lawaii Hook. f.; H – Ceropegia sahyadrica Ansari & B. G. Kulk.

STUDIES ON CRITICALLY ENDANGERED GENUS CEROPEGIA FROM WESTERN GHATS OF ... Conclusions

It is found that except the places like Anjaneri, Trymbakeshwar and Igatpuri in the northern part of Nashik Western Ghats, most of the locations in the study area are not densely forested. These pockets were explored in earlier similar works and most of the *Ceropegia* species recorded have already been documented during earlier studies. However, few *Ceropegia* species were observed at places like Advadi, Sonambe, Dubere of Sinnar tehsil and Chambhar leni from Nashik City area, where the forest cover is relatively low and the rainfall is also less.

Moreover, human intervention is increasing on a large scale in all the above areas due to local development projects and continuously changing rainfall patterns etc. Thus the habitats of few *Ceropegia* species are also found changing to a large extent. Similarly, there are some new habitats that have not been recorded in such previous studies.

It is found that insufficient study has been done in case of recorded critically endangered and endemic species especially, *C. anjanerica*. Prompt conservational actions should be undertaken by the concerned authorities as well as NGO's and other conscious peers of the society. Also, the *Ceropegia* species enumerated in the present study require a species recovery program, whereby these are conserved in botanical gardens and in order to ensure their establishment; these can be reintroduced in their original habitats under careful observation. This study would help in identifying the species habitats and the areas to be prioritized for conservation.

Acknowledgements

The authors are thankful to the Principal, Late Karmaveer Dr. P. R. Ghogrey Science College, Dhule and Kr. V.N. Naik College, Nashik for providing library and laboratory facilities.

References

- AVHAD A., PATIL N. & ZUNJARRAO R. 2023. Overview of *in vitro* strategies to conserve rare and endangered plant species in India International Journal of Science and Research Archive. 09(01): 650-669. https://doi.org/10.30574/ijsra.2023.9.1.0486
- AHMEDULLAH M. & NAYAR M. P. 1986. Endemic Plants of Indian Region. Vol. 1. Botanical Survey of India, Calcutta, India. 119 pp.
- BRUYNS P. V. 2014. The Apocynaceae of Namibia. Strelitzia 34. South African National Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria. http://pza.sanbi.org/references/bruyns-pv-2014-apocynaceae-namibia-strelitzia-34- south-africannational-biodiversity.
- COOKE T. 1957. The flora of the presidency of Bombay. Reprinted 1967, by BSI, Calcutta. 2: 238-246.
- DATAR M. N. & WATVE A. V. 2018. Vascular plant assemblage of cliffs in northern Western Ghats, India. *Journal* of Threatened Taxa. **10**(2): 11271-11284. http://doi.org/10.11609/jott.3611.10.2.11271-11284
- DHOLE P. A., DEY B. C., EKKA G. A., KUMAR M. A., MUTHUKUMAR S., VIVEK C. P., PUROHIT C. S. & SINGH L. 2023. Critically endangered and narrowly endemic species of *Ceropegia L.* (Apocynaceae: Ceropegieae): Conservation Measures in Andaman & Nicobar Islands, India. *Journal of Andaman Science Association*. Port Blair (A & N Islands) India: 62-66.
- GAIKWAD S., GORE R., GARAD K. & GAIKWAD S. 2014. Endemic flowering plants of northern Western Ghats (Sahyadri Ranges) of India: a checklist. *Check List.* **10**(3): 461-472. https://doi.org/10.15560/10.3.461
- JANGAM A. P., KAMBALE S., YADAV S. R., MORE R. V. & PAWAR N. V. 2024. Ceropegia shivrayiana (Apocynaceae: Ceropegieae), a new species from Western Ghats, India. *Phytotaxa*. 662(1): 102-108. https://doi.org/10.11646/phytotaxa.662.1.8
- KAMBALE S. & YADAV S. R. 2019. Taxonomic revision of *Ceropegia* (Apocynaceae: Ceropegieae) in India. *Rheeda*. 29(1): 1-115. https://doi.org/10.22244/rheedea.2019.29.1.01
- KSHIRSAGAR S. R. & PATIL D. A. 2008. Flora of Jalgaon district, Maharashtra. Bishen Singh Mahendra Pal Singh, Dehradun.

LAKSHMINARASIMHAN P. & SHARMA B. D. 1991. Flora of Nashik district. *Botanical Survey of* India: 17-26. MISHRA D. & SINGH N. P. 2001. Endemic and threatened flowering plants of Maharashtra. *Botanical Survey of India*,

- Ministry of Environment and Forest. India. MURTHY K. S. R., KONDAMUDI R., CHANDRASEKHARA R. M., KARUPPUSAMY S. & PULLAIAH T. 2012. Check list and conservation strategies of the genus *Ceropegia* in India. *International Journal of Biodiversity*
- and Conservation. 4(8). 304-315. https://doi.org/10.5897/IJBC12.011 NAYAR M. P. & SASTRY R. K. 1988. Red data book of Indian plants. *Botanical Survey of India*: 39-61; 49-72.
- NIKAM P. D., SHINDE H. P., PAWAR R. P. & WAGHMODE A. V. 2023. Occurrence and conservation status of *Ceropegia anjanerica* Malpure *et al.*, in Nashik District. *International Journal of Plant and Environment*. 9(1): 81-84. https://doi.org/10.18811/ijpen.v9i01.13
- PATEL S. K., PUNJANI B. L., DESAI P. R., PANDEY V. B., CHAUDHARY Y. S. & JOSHI P. N. 2017. Additional record and conservation measures of *Ceropegia odorata* Nimmo ex J. Graham from Gujarat State, India. *Journal of Threatened Taxa*. 9(8): 10618-10622. http://doi.org/10.11609/jott.3432.9.8.10618-10622
- PETHE J. & TILLU A. 2016. Additional records of the highly threatened Ceropegia mahabalei Hemadri & Ansari from Nashik District, Maharashtra, India. Journal of Threatened Taxa. 8(5): 8844-8845. https://doi.org/10.11609/jott.2821.8.5.8844-8845
- PRADHAN S. G. & SINGH N. P. 1999. Flora of Ahmednagar District (Maharashtra). Vol. 1. Botanical Survey of India.
- PUNEKAR S., JAGTAP S. & DEOKULE S. S. 2006. A new variety of *Ceropegia oculata* Hook. (Apocynaceae: Asclepiadoideae) from Satpuda hill ranges of Maharashtra, India. *Current Science*. **91**(9): 11-42.
- SANGALE M. P., KSHIRSAGAR S. R. & SHINDE H. P. 2023. Floristic studies on some rare plants in Western Ghats of Nashik District, M. S. Sustainability, Agri, Food and Environmental Research. 11(10): 1-16. https://doi.org/10.7770/safer-V11N1-art2543
- SANGALE M. P., KSHIRSAGAR S. R. & SHINDE H. P. 2021. Studies on floristic diversity of some endangered plant species from Western Ghats of Nashik district, Maharashtra. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Science and Technology*. 8(2): 278-286. https://doi.org/10.32628/IJSRST218235
- SUBBAIYAN B., JAGATHESKÜMAR S., VENKATACHALAPATHI A., ARAVINDHAN V., SAMYDURAI P. & THANGAPANDIAN V. 2015. Notes on taxonomic identity, distribution and ecological status of the genus *Ceropegia* L. in Western Ghats of Coimbatore district, Tamil Nadu. *American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural* & Environmental Sciences. 15(10): 2021-2028. https://doi.org/10.5829/idosi.aejaes.2015.15.10.12674
- VENCATESAN R. J. R. & DANIELS J. 2008. Western Ghats. Rupa and Company, New Delhi.

WFO Plant List (June 2024). https://list.worldfloraonline.org/wfo-0000506763

How to cite this article:

SANGALE M. P., KSHIRSAGAR S. R. & SHINDE H. P. 2024. Studies on critically endangered genus Ceropegia from Western Ghats of Nashik District, Maharashtra, India. J. Plant Develop. 31: 127-135. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.935

Research Article

IN-SITU CONSERVATION OF *EPIPACTIS PALUSTRIS* (L.) CRANTZ IN THE REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA

<u>Olga IONIȚA</u>^{1*}, Natalia JARDAN²

 ¹ "Alexandru Ciubotaru" National Botanical Garden (Institute), Moldova State University, Chisinau – Republic of Moldova.
 ² Reserve "Codrii", Lozova, Strășeni – Republic of Moldova.
 * Corresponding author. E-mail: olgaionita.gbn@gmail.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-9222-6087

Abstract: The given paper provides recent data on the rare species, *Epipactis palustris* (L.) Crantz, (family Orchidaceae) from the "Codrii" Scientific Reserve, Republic of Moldova, including the current state of the taxon population, the degree of threat, the endangered category (according to IUCN requirements). Likewise, it contains the morphological description of the species, the ecological and chorological particularities and the characteristics of the habitat under study. Limiting factors are identified and protective measures are proposed.

Keywords: Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz, rare taxa, bioecology, conservation, Republic of Moldova.

Introduction

In the flora of the Republic of Moldova genus *Epipactis* Zinn represents the most numerous and interesting genus in the family Orchidaceae, especially from a taxonomic perspective. Until 1979, 2 species of the genus *Epipactis* were known in the spontaneous flora of the Republic of Moldova – *E. helleborine* (L.) Crantz and *E. palustris* (L.) Crantz. In the same year, 1979, V. KIRTOKA as a result of field research and analysis of herborized materials identified two more species: *Epipactis purpurata* Smith and *E. atrorubens* (Hoffm.) Schult [KIRTOKA, 1979]. Recently, in 2023, a new species has been identified – *Epipactis leptochila* (Godfery) Godfery [SFECLĂ & al. 2023]. Thus, currently, in the flora of the Republic of Moldova there are 5 species of *Epipactis*, all of which are endangered taxa.

Rare species research is included both in the provisions of national laws and strategies, as well as in the international obligations of the Republic of Moldova, and the protection *in situ* of threatened species is a priority objective, included in the Biodiversity Conservation Strategies. Periodic assessment of the ecological status of rare plant species, as well as monitoring of populations of endangered floristic taxa is necessary, the data obtained provide updated information on the real state of species and the dynamics of their populations [IONIȚA & JARDAN, 2023]. This study refers to *Epipactis palustris* (L.) Crantz – Critically Endangered species (CR), protected by law, included in the Red Book of the Republic of Moldova (2nd and 3rd ed.). Beyond the borders of the republic, the species is spread from Europe to the Caucasus and Mongolia [powo.science.kew.org]. *Epipactis palustris* is distributed throughout Europe, but it is extremely rare in the southern Mediterranean region [JACQUEMYN & al. 2014; DJORDJEVIC & al. 2017] (Figure 1).

IN-SITU CONSERVATION OF EPIPACTIS PALUSTRIS (L.) CRANTZ IN THE REPUBLIC OF...



Figure 1. *Epipactis palustris* (L.) Crantz distribution worldwide powo.science.kew.org

– Native
– Introduced

Material and methods

The study is based on floristic field research of the species *Epipactis palustris* (L.) Crantz (family Orchidaceae) conducted during 2021-2023 within the Scientific Reserve "Codrii", located in the center of the Republic of Moldova. During the investigations, scientific publications containing information about the bioecology and chorology of the species *Epipactis palustris* were reviewed, the existing herborized collections kept in the Herbarium of the National Botanical Garden (Institute) "Alexandru Ciubotaru" and the Museum of Natural Sciences of the State University of Moldova were critically processed, in order to specify the chorology of the species. Floristic research and critical analysis were carried out in accordance with the classical comparative-morphological method [KOROVINA, 1986]. The nomenclature and description of the species is presented according to current databases (The International Plant Names Index [IPNI, 2023], Plants of the World Online [POWO, 2023], The World Flora Online [WFO, 2023]) and fundamental works in the field [GHEIDEMAN, 1986; MOSER & al. 2002; PÂNZARU & al. 2002; NEGRU, 2007; MATCHUTADZE, 2014].

During the study, the area of the population was determined, its number was established, specifying the ontogenetic stage of each individual, vegetative or generative. The geographic coordinates were recorded using the GPSMAP® 64s GPS device CARMIN. The population assessment of *Epipactis palustris* species was carried out, the degree of threat was estimated and the endangered category established, according to the requirements of the International Union for Conservation of Nature [BILZ & al. 2011; IUCN, 2012] and the Legislation of the Republic of Moldova [Legislația, 1999], identifying limiting factors and proposing protection measures. The color photos are original, taken by authors with a Nikon D 3100 digital camera.

Results and discussions

Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz, Stirp. Austr. Fasc., ed. 2. 2(6): 462 (1769).

Basionym: Serapias helleborine var. palustris L. Sp. Pl. 2: 950 (1753).

Long, recurrent, branched stoloniform rhizome. Stem 15-60 (80) cm long, erect, pubescent in the upper part, at the base with 1 or more scale-shaped, sheathed leaves. Leaves 4-8. spirally arranged, 5-17 cm long, oblong-ovate to oblong-lanceolate, acute, adaxially concave, abaxially, often purple; the upper ones narrow, acuminate, bracteiform; all \pm erect, folded, abaxially prominently veined. Inflorescence - raceme 6-15 (20) cm long, lax, with 7-14 flowers. Bracts 5-25 mm long, lanceolate, acute, the lower \pm equal to or slightly longer than the ovary. Flowers inodorous, zygomorphic, bisexual, initially campanulate, nutant, later wide-open, horizontal, finally pendulous, cream-white or, rarely white, more or less purplish-red or brown streaked. Outer perianth segments 7-12 mm long, lateral segments slightly longer than median segment, rounded on one side, brown, whitish or dull green outside, purple-red inside, lanceolate, obtuse to acute apex, concave, prominently 3-5-nerved, abaxially pubescent, adaxially glabrous. Inner perianth segments shorter and narrower than outer, whitish with purple veins at base, lanceolate, obtuse, glabrous, with branched veins. Label 10-12 mm long, equal to the external segments of the perianth. Gynostemium short, yellowish-green, extended upwards. Anther elliptic or subtetraangular, slightly bilobed. Pollen granular, oval, vellowish-white, friable: caudicles missing. Stigma transverse-elliptic or subtetraangular, bilobed, Glandular rostellum; viscidium obvious, white, sticky, present in open flowers. Ovary 9-16 mm long, narrow-pyriform, puberulent. Fruit - capsule 13-18 mm long, pendent. Seeds ovoid, 1.2-1.5 mm long, light brown [PAUCĂ & MORARIU, 1972; MOORE, 1980; CIUBOTARU & al. 2007; JACQUEMYN & al. 2014; OPREA, 2019; FLORA OF CHINA, 2024] (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Epipactis palustris: flower; habitus, inflorescence in fruit.

According to literature data, in the flora of the Republic of Moldova, over the last 50 years the state of the population has fluctuated considerably. Although in some publications *E*.

IN-SITU CONSERVATION OF EPIPACTIS PALUSTRIS (L.) CRANTZ IN THE REPUBLIC OF...

palustris is quoted from two locations: Răciula village, Călărași district and Lozova commune, Strășeni district [CHIRTOACĂ, 2002; PÂNZARU & al. 2002; POSTOLACHE, 2015], currently the presence of the species in the former remains uncertain, because neither concrete data nor herborized materials have been found from this point of distribution. According to the results of studies published by GHEIDEMAN T. (1986) and KIRTOKA V. (1988) stated that on the territory of the republic *Epipactis palustris* they grow only in the "Codrii" Reserve [GHEIDEMAN, 1986; KIRTOKA, 1988] (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Distribution of *Epipactis palustris* in the Republic of Moldova:
– currently existing population
– extinct or probably extinct population

As a result of the critical analysis of the exsiccatae kept in the herborized collections of the country, in the Herbarium of the National Botanical Garden, 11 specimens of *Epipactis palustris* has been identified, three of which were collected from southern Bessarabia in 1927 and 1929 by the renowned scientists C. ZAHARIADI and N. ZELENETSKII, but not part of our study. The other 8 specimens were collected from the same location as follows: 4 specimens collected near the commune Lozova, Strășeni district (Figure 4), from the wet meadow with *Eriophorum latifolium* Hoppe near the Forestry Department (NICOLAEVA, GHEIDEMAN, 17.07.1952); 1 specimen each collected from the same location by other researchers (TEPLOVA, 25.06.1955; BOGONINA, 07.05.1956; CIORNÎH, 24.06.1977; KIRTOKA, 21.07.1977).

Olga IONIȚA & Natalia JARDAN



Figure 4. Specimen of Epipactis palustris collected from Lozova, in 1977

Thus, as a result of field research in recent years, the population reported in the vicinity of Lozova commune, from the "Codrii" Scientific Reserve, was assessed, the first collections here dating back to 1952. *E. palustris* grows through wet meadows of easily floodplain phytocoenoses. On the territory of the reserve it grows in the meadow located in the wide valley of the river between the forested slopes (N 47°06'16.7", E 28°21'46.9"), with an abundance of 1-2, on a wet meadow with vegetation dominated by grasses and various species of meadow. *Epipactis palustris* is the only species of the genus *Epipactis* that in the spontaneous flora of the Republic of Moldova grows outside the forest habitat and does not tolerate shading.

The sector in which *Epipactis palustris* grows was declared in 1975 a protection zone, being a representative sector with meadow vegetation "Meadow with *Eriophorum latifolium* Hoppe", association which includes other relict species, such as: *Dactylorhiza incarnata* (L.) Soó, *Thelypteris palustris* Schott, *Hypericum tetrapterum* Fries [KIRTOKA, 1982], all being included in the Red Book of the Republic of Moldova, 3rd ed. In the composition of the grassy carpet were also reported species such as: *Angelica sylvestris* L.f, *Arctium lappa* L., *Cirsium canum* (L.) All., *Cirsium vulgare* (Savi) Ten., *Inula helenium* L., *Orchis palustris* Jacq., *Symphytum officinale* L., *Valeriana officinalis* L., etc. (Figure 5).

IN-SITU CONSERVATION OF EPIPACTIS PALUSTRIS (L.) CRANTZ IN THE REPUBLIC OF ...



Figure 5. Epipactis palustris in natural habitat

Bioecology. Perennial plant, Eurasian geophyte [CIOCÂRLAN, 2009], mesohygrophyte species. It blooms in June-July, capsules ripen in August. It is pollinated by insects. Multiply vegetatively, from buds on the rhizome and generatively, but young seedlings, provenient from seeds, were practically not reported. The rhizomes are thin, branched and located close to the soil surface, The tip of the rhizome grows upward each year to produce the aerial stem, while horizontal growth is continued by a new bud (or 2) emerging from the base of the vertical stem. Thus, over the course of a few years, a single plant can emit a considerable number of floriferous stems and vegetative shoots [JARDAN & CHIRIAC, 2008; JACQUEMYN & al. 2014; http://www.orchidsofbritainandeurope.co.uk/Epipactispalustris.html].

Decorative plant during flowering. It grows in groups, the herd and morphological parameters vary from year to year. In the summer of 2023, the population of the species *E. palustris* covered an area of about 56 m² with \pm 100 phytoindividuals, predominating mature, floriferous specimens reaching 30-70 cm in height. Taking into account the data from the literature, according to which in 2001 the population contained 20-30 phytoindividuals [CHIRTOACĂ, 2002], and in 2015 there were 10-30 specimens [POSTOLACHE, 2015], we find with certainty that the conservation status of the taxon within the habitat is relatively favorable, stimulating the increase of the numerical population. Among the basic threats that can cause a decrease in the number of individuals we can mention: the change in the degree of soil moisture, often caused by long drought, which leads to drying of the biotope and negatively influences plant development, floodplain invasion by woody and/or invasive species, grassland valorization.
Sozologic status. In the Republic of Moldova *Epipactis palustris* is an endangered species, categorized, according to the guide developed by the International Union for Conservation of Nature as Critically Endangered [CR B2ab(ii,iii,v)].

At the same time, *Epipactis palustris* is a rare species in the countries bordering the Republic of Moldova, being included in the Red Book of Ukraine, in the category "Вразливий" – vulnerable [TIMCHENKO & KUZYARIN, 2009], as well as in the Red List of superior plants in Romania [OLTEAN & al. 1994].

At the European level, *Epipactis palustris* is widespread and often forms dense populations. Although populations are decreasing, existing threats are unlikely to cause them to decline severely in the near future. Therefore, in 2014, *Epipactis palustris* was assessed and included in the IUCN Red List as a low-risk threat [LC] species [MATCHUTADZE, 2014]. *Epipactis palustris* is also listed in *Annex II* of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora [CITES]. Several national red lists are included in European countries *Epipactis palustris* and are Endangered in Bulgaria [PETROVA & VLADIMIROV, 2009], Czech Republic [HOLUB & PROCHÁZKÁ, 2000], Norway and Finland; Vulnerable in Germany, Near Threatened in France and Hungary [KIRÁLY, 2007], Low risk in Denmark, Switzerland [MOSER & al. 2002] and the United Kingdom [MATCHUTADZE, 2014].

Protective measures. *Epipactis palustris* is an important species from the point of view of biodiversity conservation. Territorially, in the Republic of Moldova, it is protected in the Scientific Reserve "Codrii". As effective protection measures, we propose the rigorous observance of the reserve regime, an essential condition for the conservation *in situ* of endangered species, the protection of the only growing place, the monitoring of the population status, the management of grazing and regulated mowing to control the excessive growth of vegetation, ensuring the water regime by avoiding water leakage, the conservation of the species in *ex situ* conditions, preservation of germplasm in gene banks.

Conclusions

It is important to note that although the species has been evaluated by the International Union for Conservation of Nature and categorized as LT (Least Concern) – at low risk of extinction, still requires compliance with conservation and population monitoring measures. Even if currently in the spontaneous flora of the Republic of Moldova the population of the species *Epipactis palustris* apparently it seems stable, its protection should not be reduced, because it is precisely the fact that conservation measures have been rigorously observed that has led to stopping the decline and the favorable status of the population. Estimated regional conservation status in Republic of Moldova: Criticaly Endangered [CR B2ab(ii,iii,v)].

Because the species is very rare, definitely identified in only one locality, it is necessary to comply with effective conservation measures such as: surveillance and monitoring of the existing population, study of its dynamics, favoring the conditions of expansion. Thus, limiting factors can be quickly identified and urgent and effective measures can be taken to halt the decline of populations of species threatened with their extinction and conservation.

Acknowledgements

The research was supported by the Moldova State University through the Project "Research and *ex situ, in situ* conservation of the plant diversity of the Republic of Moldova" (010101).

IN-SITU CONSERVATION OF EPIPACTIS PALUSTRIS (L.) CRANTZ IN THE REPUBLIC OF... References

BILZ M., KELL S. P., MAXTED N. & LANSDOWN R. V. 2011. European Red List of Vascular Plants. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

https://www.bgci.org/files/Plants2020/Target 2/euplants final web.pdf [accessed 25. 01. 2024].

CHIRTOACĂ V. 2002. Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz. In: Cartea Roșie a Republicii Moldova. – 2nd ed. Chișinău: Știința, 87 pp.

CIOCÂRLAN V. 2009. Flora ilustrată a României Pteridophyta et Spermatophyta. București: Edit. Ceres, 1141 pp.

- CIUBOTARU A., POSTOLACHE G., TELEUȚĂ A. & al. 2007. In: Lumea vegetală a Moldovei. Plante cu flori III, Vol. 4, Chișinău: Editura Știința: 74 pp.
- DJORDJEVIC V., LAKUSIC R. & STEVANOVIC V. 2017. Distribution and conservation status of some rare and threatened orchid taxa in the central Balkans and the southern part of the Pannonian Plain. *Wulfenia*. 24: 143-162.
- FLORA OF CHINA. http://www.efloras.org/florataxon.aspx?flora_id=2&taxon_id=242320667 [accessed 23.01.2024]. GHEIDEMAN T. S. 1986. Opredelitel' vysših rastenij Moldavskoj SSR. Chisinau: Stiința: 129-131.
- HOLUB J. & PROCHÁZKÁ F. 2000. Red list of vascular plants of the Czech Republic. Preslia. 72: 187-230.
- IONIŢA O. & JARDAN N. 2023. In situ conservation of Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz in the Republic of Moldova. International Scientific Symposium "Modern Trends in the Agricultural Higher Education", October 5-6: Book of Abstracts. – Chisinau: [Tehnica-UTM], 2023, p. 91.
- JACQUEMYN H., BRYS R. & HUTCHINGS M. J. 2014. Biological Flora of the British Isles. No. 276: Epipactis palustris. Journal of Ecology. 102 (5): 1341-1355. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12287
- JARDAN N. & CHIRIAC E. 2008. Particularitățile biomorfologice ale unor orhidacee din cadrul rezervației Codrii. Mediul Ambiant. 5(41): 29-31.
- KIRÁLY G. (ed.). 2007. Vörös Lista. A magyarországi edényes flóra veszélyeztetett fajai. [*Red list of the vascular flora of Hungary*]. Saját kiadás, Sopron, 73 pp.
- KIRTOKA V. A. 1979. Novye dlya flory Moldavii vidy roda Epipactis Zinn (Orchidaceae). Izvestiya Akademii Nauk Moldavskoy SSR. Seriya biologichekikh i khimicheskikh nauk. 4: 23-25.
- KIRTOKA V. A. 1982. Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz. In: GEYDEMAN T. S., VITKO K. R., ISTRATIY A. I. i Dr. REDKIE. Vidy flory Moldavii. Kishinev: Stiința, 102 pp.
- KIRTOKA V. A. 1988. Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz. Rasteniya lugovye. pribrezhnye. vodnye i solonchakovye. Rastitelnyy mir Moldavii. Kishineu. 4: 67-68.
- KOROVINA O. N. 1986. Metodicheskie ukazaniya k sistematike rasteniy. Leningrad. SSSR, 210 pp.
- MATCHUTADZE I. 2014. Epipactis palustris. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2014-1.RLTS.T175923A22569935.en
- MOORE D. M. 1980. Epipactis Zinn. In: Flora Europaea. Cambridge University Press. V: 326-328.
- MOSER D., GYGAX A., BÄUMLER B., WYLER N. & PALESE R. 2002. Liste Rouge des fougères et plantes à fleurs menacées de Suisse. Ed. Office fédéral de l'environnement, des forêts et du paysage, Berne; Centre du Réseau Suisse de Floristique, Chambésy; Conservatoire et Jardin botaniques de la Ville de Genève, Chambésy. Série OFEFP «L'environnement pratique», 118 pp.
- NEGRU A. 2007. Determinator de plante din flora Republicii Moldova. Chișinău: Edit. Universul, 391 pp.
- OLTEAN M., NEGREAN G., POPESCU A., ROMAN N., DIHORU G., SANDA V. & MIHĂILESCU S. 1994. Lista roșie a plantelor superioare din România. In: OLTEAN M. Studii, sinteze, documentații de ecologie, Academia Română, Institutul de Biologie, București, 52 pp.
- OPREA A. 2019. *Epipactis palustris* (L.) Crantz. Harta ilustrativă a speciilor de orhidee dunărene. Manifest SRL, Suceava, p. 40.
- PÂNZARU P., NEGRU A. & IZVERSCAIA T. 2002. Taxoni rari din flora Republicii Moldova. Chișinău, 148 pp.
- PAUCĂ A. & MORARIU I. 1972. Genul *Epipactis* Zinn. In: *Flora Republicii Socialiste România*. București: Edit. Academiei Republicii Socialiste Române. **12**: 757-768.
- PETROVA A. & VLADIMIROV V. 2009. Red List of Bulgarian vascular plants. Phytologia Balcanica. 15(1): 63-94.
- POSTOLACHE G. 2015: Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz. In: Cartea Roșie a Republicii Moldova, 3rd ed., Știința, Chișinău, Republica Moldova, 157 pp.
- SFECLĂ V., SFECLĂ I. & GHENDOV V. 2023. *Epipactis leptochila* (Godfery) Godfery (Orchidaceae) specie nouă pentru flora Republicii Moldova. *Revista Pădurilor*. **138**(2): 37-48.
- TIMCHENKO I. A. & KUZYARIN O. T. 2009. *Epipactis palustris* (L.) Crantz. In: *Chervona kniga Ukraïni. Roslinniy svit.* / red. Ya. P. Didukha. K.: Globalkonsalting, 179 pp.
- *** CITES. Disponible: https://checklist.cites.org/#/en [accessed 22 12 2023].
- *** IUCN. 2012. Guidelines for Application of IUCN Red List Criteria at Regional and National Levels: Version 4.0. Disponible: https://www.iucnredlist.org/resources/regionalguidelines [accessed 19.12. 2023].

Olga IONIȚA & Natalia JARDAN

*** IPNI. 2023. International Plant Names Index. Disponible: https://www.ipni.org/n/633244-1 [accessed 18.12. 2023]. *** POWO. Disponible: http://www.plantsoftheworldonline.org/ [accessed 19.12.2023].

*** Legislația ecologică a Republicii Moldova (1996-1998).1999. Chișinău, 233 pp.

***WFO. Disponible: http://www.worldfloraonline.org/taxon/wfo-4000013619 [accessed 18.12. 2023].

https://powo.science.kew.org/taxon/urn:lsid:ipni.org:names:633289-1 [accessed 25.04.24.].

http://www.orchidsofbritainandeurope.co.uk/Epipactispalustris.html [accessed 19.12.2023].

How to cite this article:

IONIŢA O. & JARDAN N. 2024. In situ conservation of Epipactis palustris (L.) Crantz in the Republic of Moldova. J. Plant Develop. 31: 137-145. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.944

Research Article

RECONFIRMATION OF RARE PLANTS ON THE NORTHWESTERN BLACK SEA COAST

<u>Mihai DOROFTEI</u>^{*}, Simona Dumitrița CHIRILĂ¹, Silviu COVALIOV¹, Adrian OPREA², Culită SÎRBU³

 ¹ "Danube Delta" National Institute for Research and Development, 165 Babadag Street, Tulcea 820112 – Romania.
 ² "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi, "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, Dumbrava Roşie Street no. 7-9, Iaşi – Romania.
 ³ University of Life Sciences "Ion Ionescu de la Brad", Faculty of Agriculture, 3 Mihail Sadoveanu Alley, 700490, Iaşi – Romania.
 * Corresponding author. E-mail: mihai.doroftei@ddni.ro, ORCID: 0000-0002-8388-087X

Abstract: Rare plant species are particularly vulnerable to anthropogenic influences, which contribute to reducing their populations and restricting their distribution areas. The objective of this study was to reconfirm the information on the distribution of three rare plant species – *Tripidium ravennae*, *Trachomitum venetum*, and *Stachys maritima*, within the Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve, Romania. The research was carried out between 2019 and 2023. The results highlighted that the respective species are rare by showing limited distribution and small populations. Among the main threats to the survival of these species in specific communities, showcasing its selective habitat preferences. *Tripidium ravennae* is a rare species in specific plant subassociations and plant associations, indicating its limited distribution. *Stachys maritima* is rare within different plant communities, reflecting its adaptability to varied environmental conditions within the Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve.

Keywords: Danube Delta, Romania, Stachys maritima, threats, Trachomitum venetum, Tripidium ravennae.

Introduction

At the global level, biodiversity faces threats [BUTCHART & al. 2010] due to impacts stemming from human activities [REICH & al. 2001; FAGERLI & al. 2011]. Rare species confront an elevated risk of extinction [CHICHORRO & al. 2019]. The reasons behind the persistence of certain plant species as rare, while others thrive abundantly, remain a subject of investigation and debate [TITTENSOR & al. 2010; WAMELINK & al. 2014]. This rarity may result from intrinsic factors, limitations in dispersal capacity, the impact of management practices, or abiotic conditions. Understanding the habitat preferences of rare plants is essential for effective conservation and management strategies. Rare plants often have specific habitat requirements or they are at the limit of their spreading area that can be influenced by factors such as soil pH, moisture levels, light availability, and specific symbiotic relationships. Recognizing these preferences helps identify critical habitats that require protection and can guide restoration efforts in degraded areas [WAMELINK & al. 2014].

The distribution of a species may also be constrained by its dispersal capacity [VERBERK, 2011]. This occurs, for instance, when the conditions of a habitat align with a species' needs, but it fails to reach that suitable habitat due to natural limitations in its spread [NORMAND & al. 2011]. Anthropogenic impact on rare species and their distribution is often

RECONFIRMATION OF RARE PLANTS ON THE NORTHWESTERN BLACK SEA COAST

exacerbated by habitat alterations, such as urbanization, infrastructure development, changes in water management practices, and intensified agriculture [NEWBOLD & al. 2015; CEBALLOS & al. 2017]. These human actions can disrupt ecological balance and drastically limit the natural spaces essential for the survival of rare species.

Understanding threats to rare plant species is important for developing biodiversity conservation and management strategies [McCLINTON & al. 2022]. This understanding relies on three main pillars, namely: 1) individual species assessments [GASTON & FULLER, 2009; IUCN, 2020]; 2) general knowledge about threats [SALA & al. 2000; PIMM & al. 2014], and 3) the role of protected areas [RODRIGUES & al. 2004; FELIX RIBEIRO & al. 2022].

The conservation strategies are essential for addressing these species' specific needs and vulnerabilities. For example, habitat destruction, whether through urbanization or agriculture, removes the unique conditions many rare plants rely on for survival. Similarly, climate change can alter the temperature and precipitation patterns critical to the life cycles of these plants, further endangering their existence [CORLETT, 2016]. Invasive species pose another significant threat: they can outcompete native flora for resources, alter habitat structures, and introduce diseases. The resilience of rare plant species to these threats is often low due to their limited distribution and specialized habitat requirements, making them more susceptible to decline or extinction [EARLY & al. 2016]. Rare plant species often serve as indicators of the overall status of an ecosystem, as they may be susceptible to changes in their environment. Studying these plants can provide valuable insights into the effects of climate change, habitat destruction, and the impact of invasive species. Understanding rare plants' distribution, ecology, and conservation status is essential for effective biodiversity conservation strategies.

The Danube Delta, recognized as a UNESCO World Heritage site, Biosphere Reserve, and Natura 2000 site, stands as proof of the complexity and richness of natural ecosystems, offering a habitat for a myriad of plant species, among which rare and endemic species hold a place of significant interest for conservationists and scientists alike [CLAUDINO-SALES, 2019; IUCN 2017]. The conservation and study of these rare plant species are not merely acts of environmental stewardship but are essential for maintaining the biodiversity and ecological balance that underpin the status and function of the ecosystem.

Material and methods

Fieldwork for this study was conducted in the Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve (Figure 1), spanning from March 2019 to July 2023. Plant species identification followed CIOCÂRLAN (2009), and species nomenclature adhered to the Euro+Med PlantBase standards [EURO+MED, 2024]. COLDEA & al. (2012) guided the categorization of plant communities (as plant associations), and habitat classification was aligned with the EUNIS [CHYTRY & al. 2020]. This research offers an in-depth examination of the species studied, encompassing their distribution, factors affecting their presence, conservation status, and plant communities. Geographic mapping of the findings utilized QGIS software, version 3.28.3 [QGIS Development Team, 2024]. To assess the rarity of species within the plant communities wherein they are situated, we evaluated based on Gaston's measure of rarity method [GASTON, 1994]. Gaston's measure of rarity is a method used to assess the rarity of plant species based on their geographic distribution, habitat specificity, local abundance, and population size and fragmentation as follows: + very rare or occasional, present but insignificant in coverage; 1 - rare but noticeable, with low density and limited impact on vegetation cover; 2 - more frequent but still sporadic, coverage is less than 25%; 3 - common and widespread, coverage is between

Mihai DOROFTEI & al.

25% and 50%; 4 – dominant, occupying significant space, with coverage between 50% and 75%; 5 – very dominant, overwhelmingly present, with coverage exceeding 75%. This involved recording the aggregate abundance of individual species within one-meter relevés at sites where the respective plant species were identified. Notably, irrespective of a species' high numerical presence within a specific quadrat, it was categorized as rare if its abundance did not demonstrate consistency across multiple relevés within a given area.

Acronymes: DDBR is for Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve; ass. is for plant community/plant association.



Figure 1. Maps of the study area: a) at the national level; b) at the regional level

Results and discussions

• Trachomitum venetum (L.) Woodson - Fam. Apocynaceae Juss.

Syn. Apocynum venetum L., Trachomitum venetum (L.) Woodson subsp. venetum

During the study period, the species was identified on the Sand Islet of Perişor (Tulcea County; Figure 2). The species was considered rare in the protected area and was identified in the following plant communities/plant associations: ass. *Artemisio santonici-Juncetum maritimi* Šeljag-Sosonko *et al.* 2000, ass. *Schoeno nigricantis-Plantaginetum maritimae* Horvatić 1934, and ass. *Salsolo ruthenicae-Xanthietum strumarii* Oberd. *et* Tx. 1950. The *Salsolo ruthenicae-Xanthietum strumarii* association has been identified as neighboring *Artemisio santonici-Juncetum maritimi*, with the studied species found in both associations, although evidently more abundant in the latter mentioned association. In the *Salsolo ruthenicae-Xanthietum strumarii* association, the species *Trachomitum venetum* is grazed; the specimens are small, permanently consumed, and exhibit a creeping plant appearance. The main factors limiting the survival of this species include the grazing, as well as the diminution and degradation of natural habitats, such as the dunes area, caused by these activities. Pollution is a significant negative factor as well.

At the site level, *T. venetum* was found in three plant communities, two of them being framed in a single Natura 2000 habitat, as follows: 1410 Mediterranean salt meadows (*Juncetalia maritimi*) within the ass. *Artemisio santonici-Juncetum maritimi* Šeljag-Sosonko *et al.* 2000 - 15 out of 27 relevés (55%), the species is considered frequent and ass. *Schoeno nigricantis-Plantaginetum maritimae* Horvatić 1934 - 5 out of 21 relevés (23%), the species is considered rare. In ass. *Salsolo*

RECONFIRMATION OF RARE PLANTS ON THE NORTHWESTERN BLACK SEA COAST

ruthenicae-Xanthietum strumarii Oberd. *et* Tx. 1950 the species was found in 4 out of 15 relevés (26%), which is considered rare.



Figure 2. *Trachomitum venetum*: a) stems and leaves, b) habitat, and c) the distribution of the species in DDBR (photos a, b – Adrian Oprea, figure c – Simona Chirilă)

Description. *T. venetum* is a perennial species [NYÁRÁDY, 1961; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009] with a spreading rhizome [NYÁRÁDY, 1961; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009]. The stem is erect and richly branched, with a height of 50 (-70) cm [NYÁRÁDY, 1961; FloraVeg, 2024]. The leaves are elongated or elongated-lanceolate, very short petiolate, glabrous, mucronate [NYÁRÁDY, 1961; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009], with a length between 20-40 cm and a width between 5-10 cm. The flowers, small in size and with short pedicels, are surrounded by bracts and are pale pink; fruits are pendulous follicles between 5-15 cm long. The plant contains toxic latex [NYÁRÁDY, 1961; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009] and reproduces by seeds. Insects carry out pollination (is an entomophilous plant species), and the action of the wind disperses the seeds. The species is considered a relict of Romanian flora [DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009].

Distribution, conservation status, ecology, and coenology

The species *T. venetum* is widespread in Southern, Eastern, and Central Europe up to Eastern Asia [NYÁRÁDY, 1961; KOZUHAROV & PETROVA, 1982; GBIF, 2024a] (it is cited to grow, also, in China [NYÁRÁDY, 1961], but it is not yet mentioned in Flora of China [FLORA OF CHINA, 2024]. In Romania, the species was reported in Dobrogea, Tulcea County, at grindul Perişor [BRÂNDZĂ, 1898; PRODAN, 1939; CIOCÂRLAN, 1994; SÂRBU & al. 2013]. The species is not evaluated at the Global and European levels [EEA, 2024a]. In

Romania, the species was considered "extinct" [OLTEAN & al. 1994] or "critically endangered" [OPREA, 2005; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009]. At the Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve level, the species was considered "endangered" [OŢEL, 2000]. The species *T. venetum* would grow in marshes, sands, sandy places, and on well-drained, moist soil [NYÁRÁDY, 1961; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009]. In fact, on Perişor Sand Islet, the only location in Romania, it grows along wet depressions, on salty sands, among the *Juncus maritimus/J. littoralis* tufts; marginally, it will be met within *Plantago maritima* and *Salsola kali* subsp. *ruthenica* plant communities.

• Tripidium ravennae (L.) H. Scholz – Fam. Poaceae Barnhart

Syn. Andropogon ravennae L., Erianthus ravennae (L.) P. Beauv., Ripidium ravennae (L.) Trin., Saccharum ravennae (L.) Murray



Figure 3. *Tripidium ravennae*: a) inflorescence, b) habitat and plant habitus, c) ligule very short and hairy, and d) the distribution of the species in DDBR (photos a, b and figure d – Simona Chirilă, photo c – Silviu Covaliov)

The species *T. ravennae* was reconfirmed on Chituc Sand Islet (Figure 3) in 2023. During the study period, the species was identified in the following plant communities/plant associations: ass. *Lactuco tataricae-Glaucietum flavae* Dihoru *et* Negrean 1976 [DIHORU & NEGREAN, 1976; NEGREAN & DIHORU, 1976.], and ass. *Puccinellietum limosae* Magyar ex Soó 1933 subass. *elymetosum elongati* (Şerbănescu 1965) Coldea *et al.* 2012. Limiting factors include intensive grazing and invasive species such as *Xanthium orientale* subsp. *italicum* (Moretti) Greuter, and dune subsidence. These conditions can lead to the degradation of the species' natural habitat, negatively affecting its survival and dissemination. At the site

RECONFIRMATION OF RARE PLANTS ON THE NORTHWESTERN BLACK SEA COAST

level, *T. ravennae* encountered the above-mentioned two plant communities, each of them being framed in two different Natura 2000 habitat types as follows: a) 1210 Annual vegetation of driftlines, the ass. *Lactuco tataricae-Glaucietum flavae* Dihoru *et* Negrean 1976 – 4 out of 11 relevés (36%), the species is considered rare, and b) 1530* Pannonic salt-steppes and salt-marshes, the ass. *Puccinellietum limosae* Magyar ex Soó 1933 subass. *elymetosum elongati* (Şerbănescu 1965) Coldea *et al.* 2012 – 6 out of 17 relevés (35%).

Description. *T. ravennae* (Figure 3) is a perennial plant [GHIŞA, 1972; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009], with a height between 1 and 2 m. The stem is smooth and vigorous. The leaves are linear, with a width between 1 and 1.5 cm. The ligule is short, with long, dense, white hairs. The inflorescence is ovoid, panicle-type, white-hairy, up to 60 cm long. The lower glumes are pale, long, finely pointed, and distinctly 3-nerved. The lema presents an arista two times longer (than the lema) [GHIŞA, 1972].

Distribution, conservation status, ecology, and coenology

The species is distributed across Europe, North America, South America, Asia, and Africa [LANSDOWN, 2013; GBIF, 2024b]. It has been documented in Romania in the Constanța and Tulcea counties [GHIŞA, 1972]. In Dobrogea, the species has been reported in Tulcea County, in Danube Delta [GHIŞA, 1972], on Letea Sand Islet [NEGREAN & DIHORU, 1976], and in Constanța County, on Chituc Sand Islet [CIOCÂRLAN & SÂRBU, 1998; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009; SÂRBU & al. 2013], and between Caraorman (Tulcea County) and Capul Midia (Constanța County) [ZAHARIADI, 1940; GHIŞA, 1972]. At the Global [LANSDOWN, 2013], European [LANSDOWN, 2011], and European Union [EEA, 2024b] levels, the species is considered "Least Concern". In the DDBR level, the species was included in the "endangered" category. This plant species is in danger of extinction, whose survival is unlikely if the causal factors continue to operate. The number of individuals in the reported populations has been reduced to a critical level [OŢEL, 2000]. The species is usually found in sandy or marshy lands, river banks, and alluvium [GHIŞA, 1972]. The DDBR grows on salty, moist sands, more or less close to the Black Sea beach.

• Stachys maritima Gouan – Fam. Lamiaceae Lindl.

In 2010, the species was reconfirmed at Portița (Fig. 4) and was identified in the plant communities/plant associations as ass. *Cakileto euxiniae-Salsoletum ruthenicae* Vicherek 1971 and ass. *Crambetum maritimae* (I. Şerbănescu 1970) Popescu *et al.* 1980 (*Cakiletea maritimae* Tx. et Preising in Tx. ex Br.-Bl. et Tx. 1952). On the total evaluated surface of 200 m², the number of individuals was between 30 and 40; on the total assessed surface of 400 m², the number of individuals was between 10 and 40. The limiting factors identified were marine erosion, grazing, and vehicle traffic. In 2022, the species was identified on Corbu beach sands (Constanța county) and between Sulina and Câşla Vădanei (Tulcea county). At Corbu, the species was identified within the ass. *Artemisietum tschernievianae (arenariae)* Popescu *et* Sanda 1977. On the total evaluated surface of 100 m², the number of individuals is between 10 and 20. The limiting factors identified were uncontrolled tourism that destroyed vegetation and grazing in the beach area. At the beach sector between Sulina and Câşla Vădanei, the species was identified within the ass. *Lactuco tataricae-Glaucietum flavae* Dihoru *et* Negrean 1976, the limiting factors are the accentuated marine erosion. The species is limited in development due

Mihai DOROFTEI & al.



to the reduced specific areas of habitat (coastal region) between the shoreline and marsh vegetation.

At the site level, *S. maritima* was identified within four plant communities, each of them being framed in two different Natura 2000 habitat types as follows: a) 1210 Annual vegetation of drift-lines with ass. *Cakileto euxiniae-Salsoletum ruthenicae* Vicherek 1971 - 8 out of 35 relevés (22%), the species is considered rare and ass. *Lactuco tataricae-Glaucietum flavae* Dihoru *et* Negrean 1976 - 10 out of 31 relevés (32%), the species is considered rare; b) 2110 Embryonic shifting dunes with *Crambetum maritimae* (I. Şerbănescu 1970) Popescu *et al.* 1980 – 7 out of 11 relevés (63%), the species is considered frequent and ass. *Artemisietum tschernievianae* (arenariae) Popescu *et* Sanda 1977 – 5 out of 36 relevés (14%), the species is considered very rare.

Figure 4. *Stachys maritima*: a) habitat, b) inflorescence, and c) the distribution of the species in DDBR (photos a, b - Mihai Doroftei, figure c - Simona Chirilă)

Description. *S. maritima* is a perennial species [RÅVÅRUŢ, 1961; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009], with a height between 15 and 30 cm [RÅVÅRUŢ, 1961]. The rhizome is red, and the leaves are oblong, obtuse, and crenate [RÅVÅRUŢ, 1961; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009], with a length between 2 and 3 cm and a width between 7 and 15 mm. The flowers are almost sessile, 4-6 in the whorls, distant in the lower part, and close in the upper part. The calyx is grey-wooly tomentuous, tubular bell-shaped, between 5 and 8 mm long, with ovate-lanceolate and mucronate teeth, and the corolla is yellow, twice as long as the calyx. The stamens are slightly longer than the corolla tube, with hairy filaments in the lower part, and the fruit is a black nut with three edges rounded in the upper part [RÅVÅRUŢ, 1961].

RECONFIRMATION OF RARE PLANTS ON THE NORTHWESTERN BLACK SEA COAST

Distribution, conservation status, ecology, and coenology

S. maritima is widespread in Mediterranean Europe and SE Asia Minor [RĂVĂRUT, 1961]. In Romania, the species was reported in Constanta County [RĂVĂRUT, 1961; DOLTU & al. 1983], in Mamaia [PRODAN, 1939; SÂRBU & al. 2013], Eforie Sud [MORARIU, 1957; NYÁRÁDY, 1959: SÂRBU & al. 2013]. Eforie Nord and Eforie Sud [DIHORU & NEGREAN. 2009], Tuzla [PRODAN, 1939; SÂRBŪ & al. 2013], Palazu Mare and Agigea [SĂLĂGEANU, 1978: SÂRBU & al. 2013], Vama Veche [POP, 1969; SÂRBU & al. 2013], Techirghiol [PRODAN, 1939], Chituc Sand Islet [FĂGĂRAS & GOMOIU, 2002; SÂRBU & al. 2013], Costinesti and Mangalia [DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009], and Tulcea county: between Portita and Perisor [DIHORU & NEGREAN, 1976; SÂRBU & al. 2013], Periboina and Periteasca [FĂGĂRAȘ, 2014]. It occurs on littoral sands [RĂVĂRUŢ & al. 1961; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009]. In Romania, the species S. maritima was considered "critically endangered" [DIHORU & NEGREAN, 2009], "endangered" [OLTEAN & al. 1994; DIHORU & DIHORU, 1994] or rarely [BOSCAIU & al. 1994]. The species is not evaluated at the Global and European levels [EEA, 2024c]. At the DDBR level, the species was included in the "endangered" category; thus, the species is in danger of extinction, whose survival is unlikely if the causal factors continue operating; the number of individuals in the reported populations has been reduced to a critical level [OTEL, 2000].

Conclusions

Trachomitum venetum is considered rare in the plant communities Salsolo ruthenicae-Xanthietum strumarii, and Schoeno nigricantis-Plantaginetum maritimae, and frequent in Artemisio santonici-Juncetum maritimi. Regarding the species Tripidium ravennae, this is rare in the Elymetosum elongati subassociation (Puccinellietum limosae association) and the Lactuco tataricae-Glaucietum flavae association. In the case of the species Stachys maritima, this is considered frequent in the Crambetum maritimae association, rare in the Lactuco tataricae-Glaucietum flavae association and very rare in the Artemisietum tschernievianae (arenariae) association. When a plant's natural habitat is at risk due to development, climate change, or other anthropogenic pressures, transplanting it to a safer location can help preserve the species.Transplanting species can be one of the measures for rare plant protection, and it is a recognized conservation strategy known as assisted migration or plant translocation. However, it is a complex process that must be approached with careful planning and consideration of ecological, genetic, and practical factors.

Acknowledgments

This study is an outcome of the project *Revision of the Management Plan and the D.D.B.R. Regulation* (Code SMIS 123322). Project financed by the Large Infrastructure Operational Program [POIM) /178/4/1/Increasing the protection and conservation of biodiversity and restoration of degraded ecosystems.

References

BOŞCAIU N., COLDEA G. & HOREANU C. 1994. Lista roşie a plantelor vasculare dispărute, periclitate, vulnerabile şi rare din flora României. Ocrotirea Naturii Mediului Înconjurător. 38(1): 45-56.

BRÂNDZĂ D. 1898. Flora Dobrogei. București: Inst. Arte Grafice Carol Göbl, 490 pp. + 12 pp. preface.

- BUTCHART S. H. M., WALPOLE M., COLLEN B., VAN STRIEN A., SCHARLEMANN P. J., ALMOND R. E. & WATSON R. 2010. Global biodiversity: indicators of recent declines. *Science*. 328(5982): 1164-1168. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1187512
- CEBALLOS G., EHRLICH P. R. & DIRZO R. 2017. Biological annihilation via the sixth mass extinction signaled by vertebrate population losses and declines. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **114**(30): E6089-E6096. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1704949114
- CHICHORRO F., JUSLÉN A. & CARDOSO P. 2019. A review of the relation between species traits and extinction risk. *Biological Conservation*. 237: 220-229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.07.001
- CHYTRÝ M., TICHÝ L., HENNEKENS S. M., KNOLLOVÁ I., JANŠSEN J. A., RODWELL J. S., ... & SCHAMINÉE J. H., 2020. EUNIS Habitat Classification: expert system, characteristic species combinations, and distribution maps of European habitats. *Applied Vegetation Science*. 23(4): 648-675. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12519
- CIOCÂRLAN V. & SÂRBU I. 1998. Flora Rezervației Biosferei Delta Dunării. Addenda et corrigenda. Buletinul Grădinii Botanice. Universitatea "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" Iași. 7: 97-100.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 1994. Trachomitum venetum (L.) Woodson in Flora României. Acta Horti Botanici Bucurestiensis. 24: 19-21.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 2009. Flora ilustrată a României. Pteridophyta et Spermatophyta. 3rd ed. București: Edit. Ceres, 1141 pp.
- CLAUDINO-SALES V. 2019. Danube Delta, Romania, p. 93-97. In: Coastal World Heritage Sites. 28. Dordrecht: Springer - Coastal Research Library, 602 pp.
- COLDEA G., OPREA A., SÂRBU I., SÎRBU C. & ȘTEFAN N. 2012. Les associations végétales de Roumanie. Tome 2: Les associations anthropogénes. Cluj-Napoca: Presa Universitară Clujeană, 482 pp.
- CORLETT R. T. 2016. Plant diversity in a changing world: Status, trends, and conservation needs. *Plant Diversity*. **38**(1): 10-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pld.2016.01.001
- DIHORU G. & DIHORU A. 1994. Plante rare, periclitate și endemice în flora României lista roșie. Acta Botanica Horti Bucurestiensis. /1993-1994/ 23: 173-197.
- DIHORU G. & NEGREAN G. 1976. Sintaxoni specifici Deltei Dunării. Peuce, Muzeul Deltei Dunării, Tulcea. 5: 101-118.
- DIHORU G. & NEGREAN G. 2009. Cartea Roșie a plantelor vasculare din România. București: Edit. Academiei Române, 390 pp.
- DOLTU M. I., SANDA V. & POPESCU A. 1983. Caracterizarea ecologică şi fitocenotică a florei terenurilor nisipoase din România. Studii şi Comunicări, Ştiințe Naturale, Muzeul Brukenthal, Sibiu. 25: 87-151.
- EARLY R., BRADLEY B. A., DUKES J. S., LAWLER J. J., OLDEN J. D., BLUMENTHAL D. M., GONZALEZ P., GROSHOLZ E. D., IBAÑEZ I., MILLER L. P., SORTE C. J. B. & TATEM A. J. 2016. Global threats from invasive alien species in the twenty-first century and national response capacities. *Nature Communications*. 7: 12485. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12485
- FĂGĂRAŞ M. & GOMOIU M. T. 2002. The conspectus of vascular flora from Romanian Black Sea shore. Annals of Biology-Ecology, "Ovidius" University Constanța: 1-50.
- FĂGĂRAŞ M. 2014. Psammophilous plant associations from the coastal area of the Black Sea between Periboina and Periteaşca (Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve), Analele Universitatii din Craiova, Seria Agricultura-Montanologie-Cadastru, vol. XLIV, 89-100.
- FAGERLI H., GAUSS M., BENEDICTOW A., GRIESFELLER J., JONSON J. E., NYÍRI A., SCHULZ M., SIMPSON D., STEENSEN B. M., TSYRO S., VALDEBENITO A. & WIND P. 2011. Transboundary acidification, eutrophication and ground level ozone in Europe in 2009. EMEP Report 1/2011. Oslo: Norwegian Meteorological Institute. Available from https://emep.int/publ/reports/2011/status_report_1_2011.pdf (Accessed 20 January 2024)
- FELIX RIBEIRO K. A., DE MEDEIROS C. M. & SANCHEZ AGUDO J. A. 2022. How effective are the protected areas to preserve endangered plant species in a climate change scenario? The case of three Iberian endemics. *Plant Biosystems-an International Journal Dealing with all aspects of Plant Biology*. 156(3): 679-692. https://doi.org/10.1080/11263504.2021.1918777
- GASTON K. J. & FULLER R. A. 2009. The sizes of species' geographic ranges. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **46**(1): 1-9. GASTON K. J. 1994. Rareness as double jeopardy. *Nature*. **368**: 29. https://doi.org/10.1038/368029a0
- GHIŞA E. 1972. Erianthus L. C. Rich. p. 62-65. In: SĂVULESCU T., NYÁRÁDY E. I., ANGHEL G., BELDIE A., BUIA A., CSŰRÖS Ş., DOBRESCU C., GERGELY I., GHIŞA E., MORARIU I., NYÁRÁDY A., PAPP C.,

RECONFIRMATION OF RARE PLANTS ON THE NORTHWESTERN BLACK SEA COAST

PĂUCĂ A., RĂVĂRUŢ M., ŞERBĂNESCU I., ŞTEFUREAC T., TODOR I., ŢOPA E., VÁCZY V. & VELICAN V. Flora Republicii Populare Române. XII. Bucureşti: Edit. Academiei Republicii Socialiste România, 810 pp.

- KOZUHAROV S. I. & PETROVA A. 1982. Trachomitum venetum. Available from http://eecodb.bas.bg/rdb/en/vol1/Travenet.html (Accessed 19 February 2024)
- LANSDOWN R. V. 2011. *Tripidium ravennae* (Europe assessment) (errata version published in 2019). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2011: e.T175232A148814526 (Accessed 21 February 2024)
- LANSDOWN R. V. 2013. *Tripidium ravennae* (errata version published in 2019). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T175232A148815157. https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.20131.RLTS.T175232A148815157.en (Accessed 20 February 2024)
- McCLINTON J. D., KULPA S. M., GRAMES E. M. & LEGER E. A. 2022. Field observations and remote assessment identify climate change, recreation, invasive species, and livestock as top threats to critically imperiled rare plants in Nevada. *Frontiers in Conservation Science.* 3: 1070490. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcosc.2022.1070490
- MORARIU I. 1957. Contribuții la cunoașterea vegetației litoralului Mării Negre. Buletin științific. Secția de biologie și științe agricole (Seria botanică), Academia Republicii Populare Romîne. 9(4): 361-382.
- NEGREAN G. & DIHORU G. 1976. Analiza critică a unor taxoni din Delta Dunării. *Peuce, Muzeul Deltei Dunării, Tulcea.* **5**: 119-124.
- NEWBOLD T., HUDSON L. N., HILL S. L., CONTU S., LYSENKO I., SENIOR R. A., [...] & PURVIS A. 2015. Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. *Nature*. 520(7545): 45-50. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14324
- NORMAND S., RICKLEFS R. E., SKOV F., BLADT J., TACKENBERG O. & SVENNING J. C. 2011. Postglacial migration supplements climate in determining plant species ranges in Europe. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences.* 278(1725): 3644-3653. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.2769
- NYÁRÁDY A. 1961. Apocynum L. p. 485. In: SĂVULESCU T., BELDIE A., BUIA A., GRINŢESCU G., GRINŢESCU I., GUŞULEAC M., MORARIU I., NYÁRÁDY A., NYÁRÁDY E. I., PAUCĂ A., PRODAN I., RĂVĂRUŢ M. & ŢOPA E. Flora Republicii Populare Romîne. VIII. Bucureşti: Edit. Academiei Republicii Populare Romîne, 707 pp.
- NYÁRÁDY E. I. 1959. Despre flora și vegetația nisipăriilor litoralului nostru dintre Capul Midia și Costinești. Academia Republicii Populare Romîne. Omagiu "Traian Săvulescu": 537-556.
- OLTEAN M., NEGREAN G., POPESCU A., ROMAN N., DIHORU G., SANDA V. & MIHĂILESCU S. 1994. Lista roșie a plantelor superioare din România. *Studii, sinteze, documentații de ecologie, Academia Română, Institutul de Biologie, București.* 1: 1-52.
- OPREA A. 2005. Lista critică a plantelor vasculare din România. Iași: Edit. Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza", 668 pp. (in Romanian)
- OŢEL V. (ed.). 2000. The Red List of Plant and Animal species from the Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve Romania. Institutul Național de Cercetare-Dezvoltare Delta Dunării /Danube Delta Național Institute/, edited by Fundația Aves, 132 pp.
- PIMM S. L., JENKINS C. N., ABELL R., BROOKS T. M., GITTLEMAN J. L., JOPPA L. N., [...] & SEXTON J. O. 2014. The species' biodiversity and their extinction rates, distribution, and protection. *Science*. 344(6187): 1246752. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1246752
- POP I. 1969. Contribuții la cunoașterea vegetației litoralului Mării Negre din împrejurimile localității Vama Veche (Dobrogea). Studia Universitatis "Babeş-Bolyai", Cluj, Seria Biologie, f. 1: 9-19.
- PRODAN I. 1939. Conspectul florei Dobrogei, p. a III-a. Buletinul Facultății de Agronomie, Cluj. VII/1938/: 1-96.
- RĂVĂRUŢ M. 1961. Stachys L. p. 208-233. In: SĂVULESCU T., BELDIE A., BUIA A., GRINŢESCU G., GRINŢESCU I., GUŞULEAC M., MORARIU I., NYÁRÁDY A., NYÁRÁDY E. I., PAUCĂ A., PRODAN I., RĂVĂRUŢ M. & ŢOPA E. Flora Republicii Populare Romîne. VIII. Bucureşti: Edit. Academiei Republicii Populare Romîne, 707 pp.
- REICH P. B., KNOPS J., TILMAN D., CRAINE J., ELLSWORTH D., TJOELKER M., [...] & BENGSTON W. 2001. Plant diversity enhances ecosystem responses to elevated CO₂ and nitrogen deposition. *Nature*. 410(6830): 809-810. https://doi.org/10.1038/35071062
- RODRIGUES A. S., ANDELMAN S. J., BAKARR M. I., BOITANI L., BROOKS T. M., COWLING R. M., [...] & YAN X. 2004. Effectiveness of the global protected area network in representing species diversity. *Nature*. 428(6983): 640-643. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02422
- SALA O. E., STUART CHAPIN F. I. I. I., ARMESTO J. J., BERLOW E., BLOOMFIELD J., DIRZO R., [...] & WALL D. H. 2000. Global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. Science. 287(5459): 1770-1774. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5459.1770

- SĂLĂGEANU G. 1978. Rezervații, monumente și frumuseți ale naturii din județul Constanța. Complexul Muzeal de Științe ale Naturii, Constanța, 102 pp.
- TITTENSOR D. P., MORA C., JETZ W., LOTZE H. K., RICARD D., BERGHE E. V. & WORM B. 2010. Global patterns and predictors of marine biodiversity across taxa. *Nature*. **466**(7310): 1098-1101. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09329
- VERBERK W. 2011. Explaining general patterns in species abundance and distributions. *Nature Education Knowledge*. 3(10): 38. Available from https://www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/explaining-general-patternsin-species-abundance-and-23162842/ (Accessed 19 February 2024)
- WAMELINK G. W. W., GOEDHART P. W. & FRISSEL J. Y. 2014. Why some plant species are rare. PLoS ONE. 9(7): e102674. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102674
- ZAHARIADI C. 1940. Plantes nouvelles ou rares pour la flore de Bessarabie et de la Dobrogea. *Bulletin de la Section Scientifique de l'Académie Roumaine*. **XXIII**: 1-10.
- ***EEA. 2024a. *Poacynum venetum* (L.) Mavrodiev, Laktionov & Yu. E. Alexeev. Available from https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/439955 (Accessed 21 January 2024)
- ***EEA. 2024b. Tripidium ravennae (L.) H. Scholz. Available from https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/441171 (Accessed 20 January 2024)
- ***EEA. 2024c. Stachys maritima Gouan. https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/species/173378
- ***EURO+MED. 2024. Euro+Med PlantBase the information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity. Available from http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed (Accessed 20 January 2024)
- ***Flora of China. 2024. URL: http://www.efloras.org/browse.aspx?flora_id=2&name_str=Trachomitum+venetum (Accessed 01 March 2024)
- ***FloraVeg 2024. Database of European Vegetation, Habitats and Flora. /www.floraveg.eu/
- ***GBIF. 2024a. *Trachomitum venetum* (L.) Woodson. Available from https://www.gbif.org/species/6421848 (Accessed 19 February 2024)
- ***GBIF. 2024b. *Tripidium ravennae* (L.) H. Scholz. Available from https://www.gbif.org/species/6431296 (Accessed 19 February 2024)
- ***IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature). 2020. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2020-3. https://www.iucnredlist.org (Accessed 01 March 2024)
- ***IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature). 2017 Danube Delta Conservation Outlook. http://www.worldheritageoutlook.iucn.org/explore-sites/wdpaid/67728 (Accessed 08 March 2024)
- ***QGIS Development Team. 2024. Geographic Information System API Documentation. QGIS Association.

How to cite this article:

DOROFTEI M., CHIRILĂ S. D., COVALIOV S., OPREA A. & SÎRBU C. 2024. Reconfirmation of rare plants on the northwestern Black Sea coast. J. Plant Develop. 31: 147-157. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.937

Research Article

NEW CONTRIBUTIONS TO VEGETATION KNOWLEDGE OF THE DANUBE DELTA, ROMANIA (I)

Adrian OPREA^{1*}, Culiță SÎRBU², Mihai DOROFTEI³, Silviu COVALIOV³

¹ "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi, "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, Dumbrava Roșie Street no. 7-9, 700487 Iaşi – Romania.

² "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" University of Life Sciences Iași, Faculty of Agriculture,

Mihail Sadoveanu Alley no. 3, 700490 Iași - Romania.

³ National Research and Development Institute "Delta Dunării", Babadag Street no. 165, 820112 Tulcea – Romania.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: a aoprea@yahoo.co.uk, ORCID: 0000-0003-4875-877X

Abstract: New investigations on the flora, vegetation, and natural habitats of the Danube Delta (Romania) were recently carried out. Thus, more than 1,200 vascular plant species were inventoried, phytocoenoses of 253 plant communities, and 32 Natura 2000 habitats were recorded, all mapped on a large scale.

As part of the reviewing process of the Standard Form of the Natura 2000 site ROSCI0065 Danube Delta - Romania, the natural habitats included within it were also revised. Thus, it was found that black alder forests were omitted, which was one the purposes of this work, namely to fill this gap.

Following the recordings of all black alder forests in the Danube Delta, a phytocoenotaxon is proposed as new for science, namely Ass. *Periploco graecae-Alnetum glutinosae* ass. nov.

The Natura 2000 habitat in the Danube Delta that include this newly proposed plant community is: 91E0* Alluvial forests with *Alnus glutinosa* and *Fraxinus excelsior* (*Alno-Padion*, *Alnion incanae*, *Salicion albae*).

Key words: Alnus glutinosa, Natura 2000 habitats, new coenotaxon, Periploca graeca, Romania.

Introduction

As a result of the many surveys on the flora and vegetation of the Danube Delta, Romania, more than 1,200 vascular plant species [DIHORU & NEGREAN, 1976a; CIOCÂRLAN, 1994, 2011; DOROFTEI & al. 2011] and 157 plant communities [SIMON, 1960; DIHORU & NEGREAN, 1975, 1976b; POPESCU & al. 1997; SÂRBU, 2002] have been inventoried so far.

However, new phyto- and coenotaxa are still being identified, or new plant communities are being proposed for science.

Thus, in addition to those already inventoried plant communities so far, phytocenoses of another 96 plant communities were identified [Revision of the Management Plan ..., 2014-2021]. Those 253 plant communities identified so far are assigned to 32 natural habitats (it should be noted that a complete inventory of the existing natural habitats in the Danube Delta, with the allocation of plant community's characteristic of each natural habitat, has not been yet published).

Under provisions of the Article 17 of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC, each Member State must report each six years to the European Commission "on the measures taken under this Directive..." and the conservation status of both plant species and natural habitats on their territories [European Commission, Council Directive 92/43/EEC, 1992]. Thus, by analyzing the

respective plant species, as well as the habitats within the Standard Form of ROSCI0065 Danube Delta, it was found that the black alder forests were completely omitted [Formularul Standard al ROSCI0065 Delta Dunării, 2008].

Alnus glutinosa (L.) Gaertn. (Syn. *Betula alnus* L. var. *glutinosa* L.), black alder or common alder, is a tree (Ph as life form) to 20 m high, flowering in March-April in Romania. It is frequently distributed across the country, from the pedunculate oak zone to the sessile oak zone, along the rivers, as isolated trees or in stands, sometimes growing in eutrophic swamps. It could be defined as a mesotrophic, hygrophyllous, and heliosciophyle species. The black alder prefers humid places, with groundwater on the surface, rich in humus and mineral substances, characterized by short-term floods and with as little amplitude as possible of the water level during floods [DRAGOMIR & BĂRBAT, 1961; LEANDRU, 1971]. It belongs to the alliances *Alnion glutinosae* or *Alno-Padion*, and class *Alnetea* [SANDA & al. 1980] or to alliance/suballiance *Alnion glutinosae/Alnenion glutinoso-incanae* [CHIFU & al. 2006; CHIFU & IRIMIA, 2014].

Distribution in Romania: *A. glutinosa* is natural distributed in historical provinces of Transylvania, Sătmar-Maramureş, Crişana, Banat, Oltenia, Muntenia, Moldavia, Bukovina, and Dobrogea [COLDEA & URSU, 2016] - from 1-2 m a.s.l. as minimum altitude to 1,250 m a.s.l. as maximum altitude in Southern Carpathians [GEORGESCU, in: SĂVULESCU, 1952].

The presence of the black alder in the Danube Delta, Romania, must be related to the smaller variations in the water level. The trees grow there on the high mounds, where the water is maintained for a large part of the year, their growth being quite vigorous [LEANDRU, 1970, 1971].

It should be mentioned that the marshes with black alder in the Danube Delta are part of a group of periodically flooded phytocoenoses [POPESCU & al. 1997].

According to MUNTEANU & CURELARIU (1996), surface deposits of *Alnus glutinosa* sites in the Danube Delta, are as follows:

- inside of the Nature Reserve "Arinişul Erenciuc" and along the right side of the Sf. Gheorghe arm: clay-loamy, loamy-clay (32-60% clay content), weakly carbonate, of fluvial and fluvial-lakes deposits; organic stratifications (sometimes marly) are frequently present in the low areas; the presence of <u>peat deposits</u> between 20 and 50 cm thick is indicated in several places;

- inside of the "Gârla Turcească" area: clayey, fluvial carbonate, and fluvial-lacustrine deposits, sometimes with thin sandy or organic stratifications (<10 cm thick).

It has been found that black alder trees within the Danube delta prefers poor freshwater habitats, settling on mollic/histic sandy soils, and constant high-water tables [HANGANU & al. 1994].

To mention, the Danube Delta itself, on the territory of Romania, covers an area smaller than the entire Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve [GÂȘTESCU & al. 2006]. The distribution area of black alder within the Danube Delta includes only the maritime delta, east of the Periprava-Crișan-Crasnicol line.

Study area

The study area is the Danube Delta (Romania), which is entirely made up of the Danube River, one of the most important European waterways. The Danube River flows into the Black Sea through a delta, situated in the north-western part of the Black Sea, between 44°25' and 45°30' northern latitude and 28°45' and 29°46' eastern longitude, being bordered by the Bugeac Plateau to the north and by the Dobrogea orogenic area to the south. The Danube Delta is one

Adrian OPREA & al.

of the main elements of the Danube River - Danube Delta - Black Sea Geosystem. This delta can be divided into three major depositional systems, as they are: delta plain, delta front, and prodelta [PANIN, 1989; PANIN & RĂDAN, 2011].

The delta plain is separated into 2 large parts by an old chain of littoral cordons (today the large sandy islets of Letea, Caraorman, etc., which mark a former coastline – Periprava-Crişan-Crasnicol), in: 1) fluvial delta (upstream) and 2) maritime delta (downstream). The fluvial delta is more developed and older (among other reasons, it has well-developed reed swamps), while the maritime delta is younger, sandier, having a higher saline potential [HANGANU & al. 2002].

Climate

The climate of the Danube Delta (according to the meteo station of Sulina town) is excessively continental-temperate [PAŞCOVSCHI & DONIŢĂ, 1967] or of the so-called "dry steppe" [DONIŢĂ & IVAN, 1992].

The meteorological station of Sulina is placed at an altitude of 3 m a.s.l. (above sea level); thus, the average annual temperature is 11.1 °C, while the quantity of precipitations is of 359 mm/year, respectively. The number of recorded years is 61 for temperatures and 55 for precipitations [PA\$COVSCHI & DONIȚĂ, 1967; PA\$COVSCHI, 1976-1977].

Materials and methods

Data collection

The aquatic and terrestrial vegetation research was performed in several points of the Danube Delta during the summers of 2020 to 2024. They consisted in field trips, on which occasion there were made relevés within varied phytocoenoses. Also, all the peculiarities of the vegetation encountered on the field were recorded. Phytosociological relevés were made in the field following the methodology of Central European Zürich-Montpellier School; the field data were processed in the laboratory, according to the principles of the same Central-European floristic-sociological criteria to characterize the floristic composition of plant communities [BRAUN-BLANQUET, 1964].

The similar phytocoenoses were grouped in synthetic tables based on which were achieved the description of the vegetation considering several features, as: chorology, floristic composition and synmorphology, synecology, syndynamics, coenotaxonomy, importance, conservative value, and so on. The hierarchical syntaxonomy and syntaxon nomenclature is according to COLDEA & al. (2012, 2015, 2017).

The nomenclature of plant species follows the opera *Flora Europaea* [TUTIN & al. 1964-1980, 1993], Euro+Med Plant bases [https://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed/PtaxonDetail ...; europlusmed.org/cdm_dataportal/taxon ...], and a field identification book [SÂRBU & al. 2013].

The authors' abbreviation of the Latin names of vascular plants in paper followed, in this work, BRUMMITT & al. (1992).

The new syntaxon was named taking into account the provisions of the International Code of Phytosociological Nomenclature [WEBER & al. 2000].

The maps were designed on a raster downloaded for free from the internet [https://www.geamap.com/en/ ...]. Some of the geographical maps were made with the help of the unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV)/aerial drones, which flew at low altitudes (between 50 m and 100 m).

Indices of soil moisture (humidity=U), air temperature (T), and soil reaction (ph, R) were given following certain works dealing with the indices of ecological characteristics of the wild vascular plant species of Romania [SANDA & al. 1983; SÂRBU & al. 2013].

Aim of the study

The purposes of this study are as follow: i) to demonstrate, once again, that *Alnus glutinosa* is present in the Danube Delta, Romania, and this species has been forming wellstructured forests for decades in the lower part of the maritime delta, ii) to inform scientists, authorities responsible for biodiversity management and conservation, as well as the public or interested tourists, about the entire distribution of black alder (*Alnus glutinosa*) within the Danube Delta, and iii) to propose a new phytocoenotaxon for science, which includes black alder (*Alnus glutinosa*) plant communities, constantly accompanied by the silkvine (*Periploca graeca*), communities distributed exclusively on the territory of the Danube Delta.

Results and discussion

Black alder (*Alnus glutinosa*) is a native species to almost all continental Europe (except for the extreme North and South), the United Kingdom, and Ireland [https://europlusmed.org/cdm_dataportal/taxon/...]. Its range in Asia includes Turkey, Iran, and Kazakhstan; in North Africa, it is found in Tunisia, Algeria, and Morocco [GEORGESCU, in: SĂVULESCU, 1952].

Black alder is pretty common spread in the hilly and submontane-montane areas of Romania [GEORGESCU, 1952]. But, the plant communities dominated by black alder are frequently distributed in valleys along rivers and streams in hilly and submontane areas, being grouped in Ass. *Stellario nemorum-Alnetum glutinosae* Lohmeyer 1957 [COLDEA & URSU, 2016].

Although black alder is a common species in the vegetation belts mentioned above, in the plain area of Romania it is a fairly rare species, being cited as such in:

- fragmentary in the Muntenia Plain - in Chitila forest, Ilfov County, along the numerous meanders that the Colentina River makes there [SANDA & POPESCU, 1972; POPESCU & al. 1984], being considered as a scientific curiosity over there, with the trees growing on high mounds, around which the water never dries up [PA\$COVSCHI & LEANDRU, 1958];

- in the forests of Frasinu and Spătaru, Buzău County [SANDA, 1970];

- small patches of black alder (grouped in Ass. *Alnetum glutinosae* Meijer-Drees 1936, in orig.) are found scattered in the Tecuciului Plain, as part of the northeastern Romanian Plain, along the banks of the Siret River, close to Cosmești-Vale and Cosmești-Deal villages, Galați county [MITITELU & al. 1993];

- along the lower part of the Siret River, in Galați and Vrancea Counties [MONAH, 2001].

Although *Alnus glutinosa* has also been cited in other areas of the Steppic Bioregion, sensu Habitat Directive EUR 27 of the European Union [INTERPRETATION MANUAL ..., 2007], such as they are along the Colentina River, on the banks of the Siret River, or the forests of Frasinu and Spătaru and so on, black alder forms true groves, so characteristic on the embankments of the Danube River, in fluvial-maritime section of the Danube Delta, which presents a series of particularities as will be seen below.

Origins and Natural Distribution of Alnus glutinosa in the Danube Delta

A. On the fluvial-maritime sand islets

On the fluvial-maritime sand islet of Letea, in the northern part of it, towards the Chilia arm, between the villages of C. A. Rosetti (former Satu Nou), Letea, and Periprava, *A. glutinosa* enters the composition of the stands with naturally established species, which together form the "Hasmacul Mare" forest body. The low percentage of black alder existing today in the composition of that forest is explained by the gradual extraction of many trees by the inhabitants of the neighboring settlements, the bark being highly sought after for dyeing fabrics, and the wood for the construction of small boats, houses, and furniture [DRAGOMIR & BĂRBAT, 1961]. Another reason for the rarity of black alder on the fluvial-maritime sand islets is the presence of so-called "wild horses", who eats the bark especially in the winter season, so the trees dry out over time.

B. On the fluvial sand islets

The black alder has also settled naturally on the fluvial sand islets formed on both banks of the Sf. Gheorghe arm, in the downstream area, towards its discharge into the Black Sea, over a length of about 20 Km, where the amplitude of the water level during floods registers the minor variations. The first natural grove of black alder appeared on the low fluvial, left bank, of the Sf. Gheorghe arm, at Km 20, in the southeastern part of the Erenciuc Lake. At this point, the black alder forms pure stands as a floodplain, riparian forests. Thus, a nature reserve was designated, called "the Forestry reserve Arinişul Erenciuc", with an area of 50 ha [LAW No. 5 ..., 2000], the trees being about 110 years old and average diameters between 28 and 50 cm, and average heights between 10 and 20 m; the consistency of the stand is between 0.7 and 0.9, with an average increase of about 8 m³/year/ha; it is mentioned that current trees derive from shoots due to the exploitation of the initial trees, all of which originated from seeds [INCEF, 1960].

It is worth noting that due to the very low terrain in front of the Erenciuc Lake (2.5 hydro-degrees), the specimens of black alder developed adventive roots (as pneumatophores, more or less), which caught the annually deposited sediments, fixing themselves in the soil like giant stools placed on the ground. It was mentioned that downstream from the Erenciuc stand, there are isolated specimens or small clumps of black alder, aged up to 80 years, scattered among the specimens of white willow (*Salix alba* subsp. *alba*), grey willow (*Salix cinerea*), crack willow (*Salix fragilis*), almond willow (*Salix triandra*), the narrow-leaved ash (*Fraxinus angustifolia* subsp. *oxycarpa*), downy ash (*Fraxinus pallisae*), alder buckthorn (*Frangula alnus*), etc., located on the very low sand islets, of more recent formation, on both banks of the Sf. Gheorghe arm, until close to its discharge into the Black Sea [DRAGOMIR & BĂRBAT, 1961].

The locations already mentioned with *Alnus glutinosa* from the Danube Delta are: Letea forest [KANITZ, 1879-1881; BRÂNDZĂ, 1898]; Caraorman forest [PRODAN, 1923]; along the Danube River [PRODAN, 1935]; Erenciuc [PAŞCOVSCHI & LEANDRU, 1958; LEANDRU & al. 1960; DONIȚĂ & IVAN, 1992; MITITELU & al. 1997]; Sf. Gheorghe [MITITELU & al. 1968]; North of Cardon [ȘTEFUREAC & MOHAN, 1969]; "Hasmacul Mare" forest on Letea Sand Islet [IANCULESCU, 1970; DONIȚĂ & IVAN, 1992]; Sulina (without an exact distribution inhere) [DIHORU & NEGREAN, 1976a] (Figure 1 - black dots). In the last years there were identified new locations with black alder within the Danube Delta (Figure 1 - red rhombic signs), as they are: around Erenciuc lake (Figure 2), nearby and inside of "Cotu Ivancea" - on the right side of Sf. Gheorghe arm, along Sf. Gheorghe arm toward Sf. Gheorghe village (Figure 3), South of Sf. Gheorghe village (within the "Gârla Turcească" area)

(Figure 4), and Periprava - at the "tail" of Nebunu (also called Durnoi by the locals) lake. The geographical maps (Figures 2-4) were made with the help of aerial drones, which flew at low altitudes (between 50 and 100 m).



Figure 1. Distribution map of the black alder (*Alnus glutinosa*) in the Danube Delta (legend: ● old locations; ◆ newly identified locations; explanations above in the text)





Figure 3. Locations of black alder with silkvine communities - along Sf. Gheorghe arm toward Sf. Gheorghe village



Figure 4. Locations of black alder with silkvine communities - south of Sf. Gheorghe village toward "Gârla Turcească" area

In some places of the Danube Delta, the black alder forms pure natural stands (locally called "aninişuri" or "arinişuri") while in other places it enters into association with other species, such as pedunculate oak (*Quercus robur* L.), grayish oak (*Quercus pedunculiflora* K. Koch), downy ash (*Fraxinus pallisae* Willm.), white poplar (*Populus alba* L.), quaking poplar (*Populus tremula* L.), and so forth [DRAGOMIR & BĂRBAT, 1961; DONIȚĂ & IVAN, 1992]. It is added that the black alder does not tolerate large variations in the amplitude of the flood level, from annual or periodic floods [RĂDULESCU & al. 1960]. Thus, the black alder could only settle close to the Danube River branches flowing into the Black Sea, on the fluvial-maritime beds of older formations, or, sometimes, on the fluvial beds of more recent formations [DRAGOMIR & BĂRBAT, 1961].

In recent years of our scientific trips, a lot of observations have been made on the companion plant species of black alder. Thus, one of them is the Balkan-east Mediterranean species *Periploca graeca* (silkvine, as its English vernacular name), which constantly accompanies the black alder in the Danube Delta. Thus, a new plant community/plant association is proposed here for science, to better characterize these plant communities from the Danube Delta (Romania), that is classified from a syntaxonomic point of view as follows:

Cl. ALNETEA GLUTINOSAE Braun-Blanq. & Tüxen ex V. Westh., J. Dijk, Passchier & G. Sissingh 1946

Ord. Alnetalia glutinosae Tüxen 1937

All. Alnion glutinosae Malcuit 1929

Ass. Periploco graecae-Alnetum glutinosae ass. nov. (syn. pro parte Ass. Carici acutiformis-Alnetum (Soó 1957) Dostal 1933 subass. periplocaetosum graecae Mititelu & al. 1997) (Table 2)

Relevé no. 1 is the <u>type relevé</u> for this newly proposed plant community (Table 2 includes 15 phytosociological relevés with the occurrence of *Alnus glutinosa* as the dominant species, in different points of the Danube Delta, Romania).

Why was it necessary to propose a new plant community for science?

Considering the plant structure of this newly proposed plant community (Table 2), we only partially agree with the point of view of MITITELU & al. (1997). According to the provisions of the International Code of Phytosociological Nomenclature, this syntaxon was not validly published, because it is neither accompanied by a vegetation table with relevés, nor is a type relevé previously identified in any described valid taxon indicated before 1.1.1979 (Art. 7, Rec. 7A) [WEBER & al. 2000]. Here's why it was proposed a new phytocoenotaxon for science, with relevés made in various points on both sides of the Sf. Gheorghe arm, Danube Delta, including those from the Nature Reserve "Arinişul Erenciuc", under the name: Ass. *Periploco graecae-Alnetum glutinosae* ass. nov.

The diagnostic species for this newly proposed syntaxon are the silkvine (*Periploca graeca*) and the black alder (*Alnus glutinosa*).

It is mentioned that on river levees in the maritime part of the Danube Delta, where the Sf. Gheorghe arm cuts through extensive peaty landscapes, black alder trees mix into the white willows (Salix alba) on the narrow clayey river levees. Often, they grow together with narrow leaved ash (Fraxinus angustifolia subsp. oxycarpa) and downy ash (F. pallisae). In such cases, the ashes grows in the highest part of the levees, accompanied by bushes of guelder rose (Viburnum opulus). It has been found that the silkvine (Periploca graeca), a Balkan-east Mediterranean plant species, constantly accompanies the river levee forests where the black alder is present in Danube Delta. The plant communities of black alder and silkvine prefers base-poor freshwater habitats with mollic/histic sandy soils, and constant high-water tables. Due to the precipitation (rain and snow) deficit recorded in the Danube Delta, the black alder habitat is normally too salinized to be suitable for this species. This is reflected in the isolated character and small to medium size of the tree stands with Alnus glutinosa in the Danube Delta, as well as the apparently weak vitality of black alder trees in some stands, such as those found along the Sf. Gheorghe arm. Nevertheless, this position at the margin of the distribution area makes the black alder stands of the Danube Delta important sites, both from geobotanic and conservation points of view [HANGANU & al. 1994].

It is worth noting that there have been several attempts to describe, or just cite, by various authors, the presence of black alder plant communities located in the Danube Delta, under the same name, more or less, as:

1. Ass. *Carici acutiformis-Alnetum* (Dostál 1933) Soó 1957 - a plant community cited without an exact locations in the Danube Delta; in fact, the cited work intended to present only an inventory list of all the plant communities in the vegetation of Romania, with scattered locations by historical provinces, mountain ranges, etc., but nothing else; <u>the work did not include any vegetation table</u> to argue the presence of the above indicated phytocoenotaxon in the Danube Delta vegetation [SANDA & al. 1980];

2. Ass. *Carici acutiformis-Alnetum* Soó 1963 - the authors cited the presence of this phytocoenotaxon only in a few locations in the Danube Delta, such as "Hasmacul Mare" forest at Letea and Erenciuc point, being characterized by the edifying species *Alnus glutinosa* and other hygrophilous species; <u>the work did not include any vegetation table</u> that would argue the presence of the indicated phytocoenotaxon in the Danube Delta, either [DONIȚĂ & IVAN, 1992];

3. Ass. *Carici (acutiformis)-Alnetum* (Soó 1957) Dostal 1933 subass. *periplocaetosum graecae* Mititelu, Baisan, Dumitraşcu & Parincu 1997 - the authors said that the black alder phytocoenoses from Erenciuc point were taken over in a conservation area under the name "the Forestry Reserve Arinişul Erenciuc", with an area of 11.6 ha at those times, where the substrate (soil) is permanently wet and represents an eutrophic peat, in a layer up to 1 m deep; the authors present only a synthetic vegetation relevé (<u>no analytical table of vegetation is included</u> in the original work), where *Alnus glutinosa* and *Carex acutiformis* only have AD indices (AD=4); the other species in the list do not have attached AD indices [MITITELU & al. 1997];

4. Ass. *Thelypteridi-Alnetum* Klika 1940 - this plant community was mentioned in the following areas: 1) Erenciuc point [POPESCU & al. 1997; SANDA & ARCUŞ, 1999]; 2) along St. Gheorghe arm to near its mouth into the Black Sea [POPESCU & al. 1997]; 3) Letea - at "Hasmacul Mare" [POPESCU & al. 1997]. There is <u>no vegetation table</u> included in the two works cited above.

MITITELU & al. (1997) observing that the black alder forests of the Danube Delta (Romania), being constantly accompanied by the Balkan-east Mediterranean liana *Periploca graeca*, are clearly different from other types of black alder forests (such as those included in Ass. *Carici acutiformis-Alnetum* and/or Ass. *Thelypteridi-Alnetum*); that why, the authors gave those forest communities a new name - "*Carici (acutiformis) alnetum* (Soó 57) Dostal 33 subass. *periplocaetosum graecae*" (in original).

According to the most recent synthesis on the woody vegetation of Romania, Ass. *Carici acutiformis-Alnetum* (Dostál 1933) Soó 1957, Ass. *Carici acutiformis-Alnetum* Soó 1963, and Ass. *Carici (acutiformis)-Alnetum* (Soó 1957) Dostal 1933, are all synonyms for Ass. *Thelypterido palustris-Alnetum glutinosae* Klika 1940 [COLDEA & al. 2015].

Comparing the presence of those species with the highest K (constancy classes K=III-V) within the given association (Ass. *Thelypterido palustris-Alnetum glutinosae* Klika 1940) in the other provinces of Romania [COLDEA & al. 2015] and the plant communities of *A*. *glutinosa* in the Danube Delta (Table 1) it can be easily observed that:

1) Ass. *Periploco graecae-Alnetum glutinosae* ass. nov. has as characteristic species *Periploca graeca*, with a maximum constancy (K=V) and the dominat species *Alnus glutinosa*, also with a maximum constancy (K=V); this combination of plant species is completely absent in the other regions, according to current knowledge regarding the vegetation cover of Romania; it is not excluded that this newly proposed plant community will be identified in the future in other areas, perhaps along the Danube River, where the silkvine (*Periploca graeca*) has been identified over time [ŢOPA, 1961]; we assume that the silkvine is widespread at its northernmost limit, in Romania, along the Danube River (see the species distribution map in Euro+Med PlantBase [https://europlusmed.org/cdm_dataportal ...].

2) *Carex acutiformis* (cited within the Ass. *Carici acutiformis-Alnetum* (Dostál 1933) Soó 1957) has a low constancy (K=I) and a quite random presence, nowadays, in black alder phytocoenoses in the Danube Delta, while achieving the greatest constancy (K=V) in the other provinces, as well as in other plant communities in Romania.

One can observe some similarities of those plant communities with *Alnus glutinosa* and *Thelypteris palustris* recorded in different regions of Romania, as well as in central and eastern European area, excluding the Danube Delta [COLDEA & al. 2015] with the new plant community proposed here (see the analytical Table 2), namely:

1. a series of taxa, identified in the black alder communities of the Danube Delta, such as *Periploca graeca*, *Iris pseudacorus*, *Stachys palustris*, *Phalaroides arundinacea* subsp.

arundinacea, Fraxinus pallisae, Rumex hydrolapathum, Jacobaea paludosa subsp. angustifolia, could be considered as diagnostic taxa for this new plant community.

2. the characteristic taxa for the Ass. *Thelypterido palustris-Alnetum glutinosae* Klika 1940 seems to be the next ones: *Thelypteris palustris, Carex acutiformis, Galium palustre, Eupatorium cannabinum, Lemna minor* [COLDEA & al. 2015] (Table 1).

3. there is no black alder plot in the Danube Delta where the fern *Thelypteris palustris* is present nowadays, though it has been reported in the past works [MITITELU & al. 1997; POPESCU & al. 1997].

 Table 1. Synoptic table reflecting the difference between the Ass. Periploco grecae-Alnetum glutinosae

 ass. nov. and Ass. Thelypterido palustris-Alnetum glutinosae Klika 1940; only species with a constancy

 of at least III (presence of at least 41%) in each association were recorded

Species	P-A	T-A
Periploca graeca	V	-
Rubus caesius var. arvalis	V	II
Salix alba subsp. alba	V	-
Carex riparia	V	II
Iris pseudacorus	V	Ι
Stachys palustris	IV	-
Amorpha fruticosa	IV	-
Phalaroides arundinacea subsp. arundinacea	IV	Ι
Humulus lupulus	III	Ι
Fraxinus angustifolia subsp. oxycarpa	III	Ι
Viburnum opulus	III	II
Fraxinus pallisae	III	-
Rumex hydrolapathum	III	-
Jacobaea paludosa subsp. angustifolia	III	-
Phragmites australis subsp. australis	III	-
Ranunculus repens	V	II
Calystegia sepium	IV	Ι
Symphytum officinale subsp. uliginosum	III	Ι
Urtica dioica subsp. pubescens	II	-
Alnus glutinosa	V	V
Solanum dulcamara	IV	IV
Lycopus europaeus	IV	III
Salix cinerea	III	III
Thelypteris palustris	-	V
Carex acutiformis	Ι	V
Galium palustre	II	IV
Eupatorium cannabinum	II	IV
Lemna minor	II	III
Poa palustris	Ι	III
Urtica dioica subsp. dioica	-	III

Legend. **P-A**: Ass. *Periploco grecae-Alnetum glutinosae* ass. nov. (15 relevés, the Danube Delta, personal data - see Table 2); **T-A**: Ass. *Thelypterido palustris-Alnetum glutinosae* Klika 1940 (34 relevés, in different regions/provinces of Romania, excluding the Danube Delta, according to COLDEA & al. 2015)

The tree layer, with a coverage of (50-) 75 (-90)%, is dominated by *Alnus glutinosa*. *Salix alba* subsp. *alba* is also a constant species in the tree layer, but with rather reduced coverage (up to 20%). Other tree species relatively frequent (K=III) are *Fraxinus angustifolia* subsp. *axycarpa* and *F. pallisae*.

The shrub layer, with a coverage of up to 20%, is mainly composed by *Rubus caesius* var. *arvalis, Salix cinerea, Viburnum opulus*, and *Amorpha fruticosa*, the latter one being an invasive alien species [ANASTASIU & NEGREAN, 2007; SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011; ANASTASIU & al. 2019].

In the herbaceous layer, with a variable coverage between 15% and 80%, the species *Carex riparia* is mainly noticeable, with values of abundance-dominance (AD) between 1 and 4. *Solanum dulcamara, Stachys palustris, Iris pseudacorus, Phalaroides arundinacea* subsp. *arundinacea, Lycopus europaeus, Ranunculus repens, Calystegia sepium* are also constant species.

Periploca graeca grows abundantly both in the herbaceous layer (as many juvenile individuals) and in those of the shrub and the tree layers, giving, through its twisted stems, the most characteristic aspect of the physiognomy of these forests (Figure 9).

It can be observed that within this newly proposed plant community, i.e. Ass. Periploco grecae-Alnetum glutinosae ass. nov., there are some species with high constancy (Table 1 and 2), such as: Carex riparia (K=V), Rubus caesius var. arvalis (K=V), Salix alba subsp. alba (K=V), Ranunculus repens (K=V), etc. One might think that the species above mentioned could better characterize this plant community than Periploca graeca. Of course, the silkvine is indeed present in other plant communities in the Danube Delta, such as the forests located on Letea and Caraorman sand islets, for instance. But, this is not about the dominant species within the association; the species chosen now, namely Periploca graeca, as a characteristic species, characterizes best the black alder forests, accompanying the latter species throughout its distribution area in Danube Delta, reflecting the habitats/soil type (base-poor freshwater habitats, with constant high-water tables, mollic/histic sandy soils, and periodically flooded phytocoenoses) and local/particular climatic conditions (permanent deficit of precipitation, rain and snowfall) in the easternmost part of Romania, a climate called as an excessively continentaltemperate or of "dry steppe". The other species having high constancy indices in Table no. 2 (e.g. Carex riparia, Rubus caesius var. arvalis, Salix alba subsp. alba, Ranunculus repens, etc.) are interesting, but these have too large distribution areas and large ecological preferences, so they cannot be considered as characteristic taxa.

Analysing the <u>life forms</u> spectrum of this newly plant community one can remark: out of a total of 82 species, hemicriptophytes (H) represents 42.68%; phanerophytes (Ph)=15.85%; terophytes (T)=14.63%; geophytes (G)=6.09%; geophytes-helohydatopyhtes (G-HH)=6.09%; hemitherophytes (Ht)=3.65%; epiphytes (Ep)=2.43%; chamaephytes (Ch)=1.21%; hydrophytes (Hd)=2.43%; geophytes-hemicriptophytes (G-H)=1.22%; hemicriptophytes-chamaephytes (H-Ch)=1.22%; hemicriptophytes-helohydatopyhtes (H-HH)=1.22%; helohydatopyhtes (HH)=1.22% (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Life forms spectrum of the ass. Periploco graecae-Alnetum glutinosae ass. nov.

Concerning the <u>floristics elements</u> (geoelements), the Eurasian species represent 46.34%, circumpolar 19.51%, adventitious 9.75%, European 7.31%, cosmopolites 4.87%, atlanto-mediterranean 1.22%, balkano-danubian-pontics 1.22%, central-east European 1.22%, central European-Sub-Mediterranean 1.22%, Eurasian (Sub-Mediterranean) 1.22%, Eurasian-Africa 1.22%, Eurasian-north American 1.22%, Mediterranean 1.22%, pontic-pannonian-Mediterranean 1.22% (Figure 6).



Figure 6. The floristics elements/geoelements spectrum of the ass. *Periploco graecae-Alnetum glutinosae* ass. nov.

The <u>ecological factors</u> were compiled accordind to SÂRBU & al. (2013); they are like the next:

- soil humidity (U) - U₁₀ (plants of flooded soils)=22.2%; U₈=19.8%; U₉=16%; U₆=12.3%; U₅=12.3%; U₇=7.4%; U₁₁=4.9%; U₃=2.5%; U₄=1.2%; U_x=1.2%;

- air temperatures - T_6 (moderately thermophilic plants)=49.4%; T_x =40.7%; T_7 =7.4%; T_5 =2.5%; T_x =40.7%);

- soil *p*H - **R**_x (euryonic plants)=**50.0%**; R₇=46.3%; R₆=3.7% (Figure 7).

The soil type is a gleysoil - it has the water table close to the earth's surface, being a "permanently wet soil"... [MARIAN MIERLĂ, 2023, pers. comm.]. Within the Forest Reserve "Arinişul Erenciuc" there are also soils with histic characters, i. e. they present a peaty horizon on the surface, of approximately 40 cm thickness (0-40 cm depth) [MUNTEANU & CURELARIU, 1995].



Figure 7. The ecological factors (soil humidity – U, air temperature – T, soil pH – R) chart of the ass. *Periploco graecae-Alnetum glutinosae* ass. nov.

As for the sozological categories, within the phytocoenoses of this newly proposed syntaxon, the following plant species on the national and international red lists, were registered: VU/R *Hottonia palustris*, R *Periploca graeca* (Figure 9), R *Cyperus serotinus*, R *Petasites spurius* [OLTEAN & al. 1994; IUCN CRITERIA..., 2024].

Aslo, the following alien plant species were recorded: Amorpha fruticosa, Bidens connatus, B. frondosus, Eclipta prostrata, Sicyos angulatus, Fraxinus pennsylvanica, Prunus cerasifera, Aster lanceolatus [SÎRBU & OPREA, 2011].

Forestry typology

According to the forestry typology, black alder communities in the Danube Delta were classified according to various works/authors as follows:

i) the great unit - **Elm, ash, and alder tree stands**; type 218. <u>Alder trees stands of ponds and lakes</u> - a scarce type of swamp forest, reported so far in two places in the Danube Delta and fragmentarily in the Muntenia Plain (e.g. along Colentina river valley), as a scientific curiosity, with the trees growing on high mounds, around which the water never dries up [PA\$COVSCHI & LEANDRU, 1958]

ii) unit L_{12a} Danubian-Pontic psammophilic steppes (with *Stipa borysthenica, Carex colchica, Scabiosa ucranica*), in complex with oak, ash, and poplar forests (*Quercus robur, Q. pedunculiflora, Fraxinus angustifolia, F. pallisae, Populus alba, P. tremula, P. canescens*), subunit Low Depressions, represented by Ass. *Carici acutiformi-Alnetum* Soó 1963. It is stated: "the *Carici acutiformi-Alnetum* association is found only in a few places ("Hasmacu Mare" forest, Erenciuc point), being characterized by the edifying species *Alnus glutinosa* and other hygrophilous species. It is found at the bottom of larger depressions where the water stagnates until summer, and the soil has a peaty character" [DONIȚĂ & IVAN, 1992].



Figure 8. Black alder stands at Erenciuc



Figure 9. *Periploca graeca* in black alder stands

Concerning the Natura 2000 habitats (under the typology of *Habitat Directive*, *European Communities Council*, 1992), the black alder communities in the Danube Delta can be attributed to a single and singular type of natural habitat, namely: **91E0*** Alluvial forests with *Alnus glutinosa* and *Fraxinus excelsior (Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion albae)* (* means a priority habitat for conservation by Annex I of the Habitat Directive [EUROPEAN COMMISSION..., 1992; FORMULARUL STANDARD..., 2008; GAFTA & MOUNTFORD, 2008] (Figures 8-9).

From consulting the Natura 2000 Standard Form for the ROSCI0065 Danube Delta site [FORMULARUL STANDARD ..., 2008], it was found that this habitat type was omitted from the inventory; through this work and through this proposal of a new phytocoenotaxon, a contribution is made to the correct identification of this Natura 2000 habitat type within the Danube Delta, on valid and pertinent scientific bases.

It is worth noting that riparian forests are under-researched in southeastern Europe. [DOUDA & al. 2016], and many of these forests have already been destroyed, for example, in Albania [KÁRPÁTI & KÁRPÁTI, 1961].

- the entire distribution of black alder (*Alnus glutinosa*) in the Danube Delta (Romania) is presented based on the geographical maps, including some made with the help of unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV)/aerial drones, within this work;
- the marshes with black alder in the Danube Delta are part of a group of periodically flooded phytocoenoses and the presence of this species within the Danube Delta is related to the smaller variations in the water level; the trees grow there on the high mounds, where the water is maintained for a large part of the year;
- a new phytocoenotaxon for science was proposed here, namely Ass. *Periploco graecae*-*Alnetum glutinosae* ass. nov., for the description of the vegetation built by the black alder in the Danube Delta and characterized by the presence of the Balkan-east Mediterranean species, *Periploca graeca*;
- the new phytocoenotaxon characterize the best those black alder communities in the Danube Delta, having the silkvine (*Periploca graeca*) as its characteristic species;
- the black alder communities in Danube Delta can be assigned to the Natura 2000 habitat 91E0*
 Alluvial forests with *Alnus glutinosa* and *Fraxinus excelsior* (*Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion albae*), under the provisions of Annex I to the Habitats Directive of the European Union no. 92/43/EEC;
- there are some threatened plant species identified within black alder phytocoenoses, such as: *Hottonia palustris*, *Periploca graeca*, *Cyperus serotinus*, and *Petasites spurius*, which are included on national/international red lists, under different sozological categories (VU or R);
- some of the species identified within black alder forests are aliens, such as: *Amorpha fruticosa*, *Bidens connatus*, *B. frondosus*, *Eclipta prostrata*, *Sicyos angulatus*, *Fraxinus pennsylvanica*, *Prunus cerasifera*, *Aster lanceolatus*.

Acknowledgements

Our respect to all the researchers, foreign or Romanian, who through their research contributed to the know the flora, vegetation and natural habitats of the Danube Delta. We thank our colleague Marian Mierlă for the information provided on the substrate of the investigated areas. Our gratitude also goes to the anonymous reviewers of this paper.

Conflict of interest

There is no actual or potential conflict of interest in relation to this paper.

Adrian OPREA & al.

Table 2. Ass. Periploco graecae-Alnetum glutinosae ass. nov.																
Relevé area (sq. m)	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	
Canopy	0.9	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.65	0.7	0.5	0.7	0.7	0.65	0.65	0.5	0.65	0.8	0.45	
Tree layer height (m)	16-17	18-20	18-20	10 -12	8-10	8-10	8-9	10 -12	8-10	10-11	10-11	10 -12	8-10	10-11	10 -12	Κ
Tree diameter (cm)	22-50	20-45	25-45	15-50	20-30	15-35	15-25	15-40	20-30	20-40	20-45	20-45	15-40	20 - 45	10-30	
Shrub layer cover + regeneration (%)	30	15	20	15	15	5	15	7	25	25	7	10	10	30	10	
Herbaceous layer cover (%)	70	70	70	70	90	50	75	75	55	30	10	50	50	45	50	
Relevé no.	1*	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	V
Charact. ass.																
Alnus glutinosa	5	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4	3	V
Alnus glutinosa juv.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	V
Periploca graeca	1	1	1 (-2)		+	+	1	+	+	1	+	+	+	1	1	V
Alnion glutinosae, Alnetalia glutinos	Alnion glutinosae, Alnetalia glutinosae et Alnetea glutinosae															
Rubus caesius var. arvalis	2	1 (-2)	1	1 (-2)	1	+	1	1	1		1	1	+	2	+	V
Solanum dulcamara	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+		+			IV
Stachys palustris	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+		+	+	+		+	IV
Humulus lupulus		•			1	+	+		+		+	+	+		+	III
Salix cinerea Fraxinus angustifolia subsp.	1	+	+	1	+	+	·	•	•	•	•	•	·	1	+	III
oxycarpa		•			+	+	+		+	+	+	1		•	+	III
Glechoma hederacea	•	•			•		+	+	+		+	+		•	+	II
Eupatorium cannabinum		•			+	+	+					•	+	+	+	II
Lysimachia vulgaris	+				+			+	+			+	+			II
Salix cinerea juv.				1	•									+	+	Ι
Frangula alnus Fraxinus angustifolia subsp.	+	+					·									Ι
<i>oxycarpa</i> juv.												+			+	Ι
Carpino-Fagetea																
Viburnum opulus	•	•	•		•	+	•	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	III
Viburnum opulus juv.											+				+	III
Fraxinus pallisae	+															III

NEW CONTRIBUTIONS TO VEGETATION KNOWLEDGE OF THE DANUBE DELT	ГА
--	----

Salicetea purpureae																
Salix alba subsp. alba	+	1	1	1	+	1	+	1	1	+		1	1	2	1	V
Amorpha fruticosa			+	1	+	+	1	+	2	2	+	+		+	+	IV
Salix triandra subsp. triandra															+	Ι
Salix triandra juv.															+	Ι
Salix fragilis															+	Ι
Phragmito-Magnocaricetea																
Carex riparia	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4	3	2	1	3	2	3	3	V
Iris pseudacorus Phalaroides arundinacea subsp. arundinacea	+ +	+	+ +	+	++	+ +	+ +	+	+	++	+ +	+ +	++	+	+ +	V IV
Lycopus europaeus	+	+	+		+	+	+	1	+	+	+	+	+			IV
Rumex hydrolapathum Jacobaea paludosa subsp.			·		+		+	+	•	+	+	+		+	+	III
angustifolia	+	+	+				+			+		+	•	•	+	III
Phragmites australis subsp. australis	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+		•		+	III
Galium palustre subsp. palustre	•	·	•		+	•	+	•		•	+	•	+		+	II
Mentha aquatica subsp. aquatica	•	•	•	•	•	•	+	+	•	•	•	•	+	+	+	II
Rorippa amphibia		•		•	•	•		•	+	+	+	+	•	+	+	II
Sium latifolium	+	+	+	•	+	•		•	•		•		•		+	II
Sium sisarum var. lancifolium		•				+	+			+	+	+		+		II
Sparganium erectum subsp. erectum														+		Ι
Stellaria palustris				+						+			+			Ι
Leersia oryzoides					+											Ι
Lythrum salicaria Scrophularia umbrosa subsp.				•	·		•		•	+	·	·	•			I
umbrosa	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	+	•	•	•	+	•	•	1
Oenanthe aquatica		•			•	•		+	•	•			•	•	•	l
Alisma plantago-aquatica	•	•	•		+	•	•	•		·	•	•	•		+	I
Carex acutiformis	+	+	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	•	I
Poa palustris	•	•	•	•	+	•	•	•	+	•	•	•	•	•	•	Ι

Adrian OPREA & al.

												Auf fall OF KEA & al.						
Sagittaria sagittifolia						+							•	•		Ι		
Molinio-Arrhenatheretea																		
Ranunculus repens	+	+		+	1	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	V		
Calystegia sepium Symphytum officinale subsp.	+	+			+	+	+		+	+	+		+	•	+	IV		
uliginosum	•	•	•		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+				III		
Equisetum arvense Symphytum officinale subsp.	•	•	•	•					+	·	+	+	•	•	+	II		
officinale Myosotis scornioides subsp	+	+	+	+	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	+	11		
scorpioides					+		+			+	+	+		+		II		
Glyceria maxima			•		+			+		+	+				+	II		
Alopecurus pratensis subsp. pratensis					+										+	Ι		
Agrostis stolonifera	+		•													Ι		
Berula erecta													+			Ι		
Cardamine pratensis subsp. pratensis										+						Ι		
Potentilla reptans													+			Ι		
Scutellaria galericulata									+							Ι		
Veronica beccabunga													+			Ι		
Rorippa sylvestris subsp. sylvestris			•		+											Ι		
Carex hirta							+						2	+		Ι		
Apium graveolens					+								+	+		Ι		
Bidentetea																		
Bidens frondosus							+		+	+			+		+	II		
Persicaria dubia					+	+		+		+		+	+			II		
Bidens tripartitus		•	•	+		•			•	•						Ι		
Echinochloa crus-galli		•	•			•			1	•						Ι		
Eclipta prostrata		•	•			•		+	+				+			Ι		
Persicaria hydropiper			+			•	•	•	•	•			•	•		Ι		
Bidens connatus													+			Ι		
Ranunculus sceleratus					+			+			+					Ι		

NEW CONTRIBUTIONS TO	VEGETATION KNOWLEDGE	OF THE DANUBE DELTA
----------------------	----------------------	---------------------

Isoëto-Nanojuncetea																
Cyperus michelianus	+															Ι
Cyperus serotinus					1											Ι
Plantago major subsp. major		•	•	•	•	•		+	•		•	•	•			Ι
Potametea																
Persicaria amphibia var. aquaticum															+	Ι
Hottonia palustris					+											Ι
Stellarietea mediae																
Chenopodium polyspermum	+													•		Ι
Artemisietea																
Arctium lappa							+		+		+		+			II
Cirsium vulgare									+							Ι
Tanacetum vulgare				+												Ι
Galio-Urticetea																
Urtica dioica subsp. pubescens				+	+	+			+		+					II
Sicyos angulatus						+	+		+							II
Myosoton aquaticum								+	+							Ι
Aliae																
Petasites spurius						+	+			+				+		II
Fraxinus pennsylvanica							+		+	+		+				II
Prunus cerasifera juv.								+	+							i
Aster lanceolatus															+	Ι
Loranthus europaeus															+	Ι

Place and date of relevés: Rel. no. 1 - Nature Reserve "Arinişul Erenciuc" - left bank of Erenciuc Canal, N44.97672/E29.42572, August 1, 2023; Rel. no. 2 - Nature Reserve "Arinişul Erenciuc" - right bank of Erenciuc Canal, N44.97648/E29.42553, August 1, 2023; Rel. no. 3-4 - Nature Reserve "Arinişul Erenciuc" - right bank of Erenciuc Canal, N44.97546/E29.42616, August 1, 2023; Rel. no. 5 - right bank of Sf. Gheorghe arm - N44.89254/E29.58388, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 6 - right bank of Sf. Gheorghe arm, N44.89299/E29.58480, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 7 - right bank of Sf. Gheorghe arm, N44.89462/E29.57823, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 8 - right bank of Sf. Gheorghe arm, N44.89429/E29.57844, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 9 - right bank of Sf. Gheorghe arm, N44.89469/E29.57760, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 10 - right bank of Sf. Gheorghe arm, N44.8962/E29.57388, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 11 - right bank of Sf. Gheorghe arm, N44.8954/E29.57095, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 12 - right bank of Sf. Gheorghe arm, N44.89058/E29.56935, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 13 - South of Sf. Gheorghe arm in "Gârla Turcească" area, N44.8843/E29.57857, August 2, 2023; Rel. no. 14 - South of Sf. Gheorghe arm in "Gârla Turcească" area, N44.8843/E29.57036, August 4, 2023.
References

ANASTASIU P. & NEGREAN G. 2007. Invadatori vegetali în România. București: Edit. Universității București, 81 pp.
ANASTASIU P. (coord.), SÎRBU C. & URZICEANU M. 2019. Lista preliminară națională a speciilor de plante alogene invazive și potențial invazive din România în format tabelar. Ministerul Mediului, Apelor și Pădurilor & Universitatea din București, 53 pp.
BRAUN-BLANQUET J. 1964. Pflanzensoziologie. Grundzüge der Vegetationskunde. 3rd ed. Wien-New York: Springer, 634 pp. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-8110-2
PRÂVIP Z. D. Polynogi. Forun Devengeri. Inst. Art. Careface Carel Ciel. 400 pp. 412 pp. apafece.

BRÂNDZĂ D. 1898. Flora Dobrogei. București: Inst. Arte Grafice Carol Göbl, 490 pp. + 12 pp. preface.

BRUMMITT R. K. & POWELL C. E. (eds.), POWELL C. E., KIRK P. M., SILVA P. C., PICHI SERMOLLI R. E. G., CROSBY M. R. & CLIFFORD H. T. (principal compilers). 1992. Authors of plant names. Kew: Royal Botanic Gardens, 732 pp.

CHIFU T., MÂNZU C. & ZAMFIRESCU O. 2006. Flora & Vegetația Moldovei (România). I. Flora. Iași: Edit. Univ. "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" Iași, 367 pp.

CHIFU T. (ed.) & IRIMIA I. 2014. Diversitatea fitosociologică a vegetației României. III. Vegetația pădurilor și tufișurilor. Iași: Edit. Inst. European, 551 p.

CIOCÂRLAN V. 1994. Flora Deltei Dunării. București: Edit. Ceres, 113 pp.

CIOCÂRLAN V. 2011. Vascular flora of the Danube Delta. Analele Științifice ale Universității "Al. I. Cuza" Iași, s. II., a. Biologie Vegetală. 57(1): 41-64.

COLDEA G. (éd.), INDREICA A. & OPREA A. 2015. Les associations végétales de Roumanie. T 3. Les associations forestières et arbustives. Cluj-Napoca: Edit. Presa Universitară Clujeană & Accent, 281 pp.

COLDEA G. (éd.), OPREA A., SÂRBU I., SÎRBU C. & STEFAN N. 2012. Les associations végétales de Roumanie. 2. Les associations anthropogènes. Cluj-Napoca: Edit. Presa Universitară Clujeană, 482 pp.

COLDEA G. (éd.), SANDA V., POPESCU A. & STEFAN N. 2017. Les associations végétales de Roumanie. T. 1. Les associations herbacèes naturelles. Cluj-Napoca: Edit. Presa Universitară Clujeană & Accent, 270 pp.

COLDEA G. & URSU T. M. 2016. A syntaxonomic revision of floodplain forest communities in Romania. *Tuexenia*. **36**: 9-22. https://doi.org/10.14471/2016.36.009

DIHORU G. & NEGREAN G. 1975. Cenotaxoni noi din al. Polygonion avicularis. Studii și Cercetări de Biologie. Seria Biologie Vegetală. 27(1): 3-8.

DIHORU G. & NEGREAN G. 1976a. Flora of the Danube Delta. Peuce, Muzeul Deltei Dunării, Tulcea. 5: 217-251.

DIHORU G. & NEGREAN G. 1976b. Sintaxoni specifici Deltei Dunării. Peuce, Studii și Comunicări de Științele Naturii, Muzeul Delta Dunării, Tulcea. 5: 101-118.

DONIŢĂ N. & IVAN D. 1992. Chapter 5 - Vegetația Dobrogei, Deltei Dunării şi complexului lagunar Razelm. p. 82-100. In: DONIŢĂ N., IVAN D., COLDEA G., SANDA V., POPESCU A., CHIFU T., COMĂNESCU-PAUCĂ M., MITITELU D., BOȘCAIU N., DAVIDESCU G., FODOR E., GAFTA D., LUPAȘCU G., POP A. & VIŢALARIU G. Vegetația României. Bucuresti: Edit. Tehnică Agricolă, 407 pp.

DOROFTEI M., OPREA A., STEFAN N. & SÂRBU I. 2011. Vascular wild flora of Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve. Scientific Annals of the Danube Delta Institute, Tulcea. 17: 11-52.

DOUDA J., BOUBLÍK K., SLEZÁK M., BIURRUN I., NOCIAR J., HAVRDOVÁ A., DOUDOVÁ J., AĆIĆ S., BRISSE H., BRUNET J., CHYTRÝ M., CLAESSENS H., CSIKY J., DIDUKH Y., DIMOPOULOS P., DULLINGER S., FITZPATRICK Ú., GUISAN A., HORCHLER P. J., HRIVNÁK R., JANDT U., KĄCKI Z., KEVEY B., LANDUCCI F., LECOMTE H., LENOIR J., PAAL J., PATERNOSTER D., PAULI H., PIELECH R., RODWELL J. S., ROELANDT B., SVENNING J. C., ŠIBÍK J., ŠILC U., ŠKVORC Ž., TSIRIPIDIS I., TZONEV R. T., WOHLGEMUTH T. & ZIMMERMANN N. E. 2016. Vegetation classification and biogeography of European floodplain forests and alder carrs. *Applied Vegetation Science*. 19(1): 147-163. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12201

DRAGOMIR I. N. & BĂRBAT S. 1961. Arinul negru (Alnus glutinosa (L.) Gaertn.) pe grindurile fluviale și marine din Delta Dunării. Revista Pădurilor. 76(7): 405-411.

GAFTA D. (ed.), MOUNTFORD J. O. (ed.), ALEXIU V., ANASTASIU P., BĂRBOS M., BURESCU P., COLDEA G., DRĂGULESCU C., FĂGĂRAȘ M., GOIA I., GROZA G., MICU D., MIHĂILESCU S., MOLDOVAN O., NICOLIN L. A., NICULESCU M., OPREA A., OROIAN S., PAUCĂ-COMĂNESCU M., SÂRBU I. & ŞUTEU A. 2008. Manual de interpretare a habitatelor Natura 2000 din România [Handbook for interpretation of Natura 2000 habitats from Romania]. Cluj-Napoca: Edit. Risoprint, 101 pp.

GÂȘTESCU P., BABOIANU G. & ȘTIUCĂ R. 2006. Pp. 429-455. Protecția mediului și constituirea Rezervației Biosferei Delta Dunării. În: Delta Dunării. Rezervație a Biosferei. Constanța: Edit. Dobrogea, 540 pp.

GEORGESCU C. C. 1952. Fam. 11. *Betulaceae* C. A. Agardh. pp. 189-217. In: SĂVULESCU T. (red. pp.). *Flora Republicii Populare Române*. I. București: Edit. Academiei Române, 659 pp.

NEW CONTRIBUTIONS TO VEGETATION KNOWLEDGE OF THE DANUBE DELTA...

HANGANU J., GRIDIN M., DROST H. J., CHIFU T., ŞTEFAN N. & SÂRBU I. 1994. Explanation to the vegetation map of the Romanian Danube Delta biosphere reserve. 1 : 100000. Flevobericht, Nr. 356, 69 pp., 11 ill., 9 fig., 16 tab.

HANGANU J., DUBYNA D., ZHMUD E., GRIGORAŞ I., MENKE U., DROST H., ŞTEFAN N. & SÂRBU I. 2002. Vegetation of the Biosphere Reserve "Danube Delta" - with Transboundary Vegetation Map on a 1 : 150,000 scale. Danube Delta National Institute for Research and Development, Romania; M.G. Kholodny - Institute of Botany and Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve, Ukraine and Institute for Inland Water Management and Waste Water Treatment (RIZA), The Netherlands. Lelystad: RIZA rapport 2002.049.

- IANCULESCU M. 1970. Vegetația naturală forestieră de pe Grindul Letea din Delta Dunării. A 6^a Consfătuire Națională de Geobotanică. (Dobrogea, Delta Dunării, 17-26 July, 1968). Comunicări de Botanică: 193-204.
- KANITZ A. 1879-1881. *Plantas Romaniae hucusque cognitas* (Ephemeridi ad "Magyar Növövénytani Lapok" anni III-V). I-XXIII: 1-268. Claudiopoli: E. Demjén; Londini: Dulau & Co.; Vindobonae: W. Braumüller et fil.
- KÁRPÁTI I. & KÁRPÁTI V. 1961. Die zönologischen verhältnisse der Auenwälder Albaniens. Acta Botanica Academiae Scientarum Hungarica. 7: 235-301.
- LEANDRU V. 1970. Vegetația forestieră din Delta Dunării. A 6^a Consfătuire Națională de Geobotanică. (Dobrogea, Delta Dunării, 17-26 July, 1968). Comunicări de Botanică: 181-191.
- LEANDRU V. 1971. Pădurile din delta Dunării. Peuce, Studii și Comunicări de Științele Naturii, Muzeul Delta Dunării Tulcea. 1: 185-201.
- LEANDRU V., PÂRVU E. & PETRESCU I. 1960. Vegetația naturală și tipurile de pădure, pp. 57-70. In: Cercetări Forestiere și Cinegetice în Delta Dunării. M. E. F., Inst. Cerc. For. București: Edit. Agro-Silvică.
- MITITELU D., BAISAN N., DUMITRAȘCU D. & PARINCU M. 1997. Flora și vegetația a două rezervații forestiere din Jud. Tulcea. Analele Universității "Ovidius" Constanța, Seria Biologie-Ecologie. 1(1): 85-92.
- MITITELU D., SÂRBU I., PĂTRAȘC A., GOCIU Z. & OPREA A. 1993. Flora și vegetația județului Galați. Buletinul Grădinii Botanice Iași. 4: 69-101.
- MITITELU D., VIŢALARIU G., PASCAL P., MOŢIU T., VIŢALARIU C. & GHEORGHIU-ŢIGĂNUŞ V. 1968. Călăuză pentru excursii botanice pe litoral și în Delta Dunării. Lucrări Științifice, Institutul Pedagogic Galați. 2: 147-158.
- MONAH F. 2001. Flora și vegetația cormofitelor din lunca Siretului. Piatra Neamț: Edit. "Constantin Matasă", 268 pp.
- MUNTEANU I. & CURELARIU G. 1995. Romanian Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve Soil Map. 1 : 100.000. Lelystad, The Netherlands.
- MUNTEANU I. & CURELARIU G. 1996. Thematic map of the Danube Delta. Head Deposits. 1 : 175.000. Lelystad, The Netherlands.
- OLTEAN M., NEGREAN G., POPESCU A., ROMAN N., DIHORU G., SANDA V. & MIHĂILESCU S. 1994. Lista roșie a plantelor superioare din România. București: Academia Română Institutul de de Biologie. Studii, sinteze, documentații de Ecologie. I: 1-52.
- PANIN N. 1989. Danube Delta. Genesis, evolution and sedimentology. Revue Roumaine de Géologie, Géophysique, Géographie, Série Géographie. 33: 25-36.
- PANIN N. & RÅDAN S. 2011. Field trip guidebook. The Danube Delta: geology, sedimentology and geoecology. 3rd International Symposium on the Geology of the Black Sea Region, 1-10 October, Bucharest, Romania, 30 pp.
- PAȘCOVSCHI S. 1976-1977. Contribuții la studiul vegetației lemnoase din Delta Dunării. Studii şi Comunicări, Muzeul de Științele Naturii Bacău. 9-10: 343-350.
- PAȘCOVSCHI S. & DONIȚĂ N. 1967. B. Silvostepa sudică. 1. Dobrogea. pp. 68-79. In: PAȘCOVSCHI S. & DONIȚĂ N. 1967. Vegetația lemnoasă din silvostepa României. Bucureşti: Edit. Academiei Române, 294 pp.
- PAȘCOVSCHI S. & LEANDRU V. 1958. *Tipuri de pădure din Republica Populară Romînă*. București: Edit. Agro-Silvică de Stat, 458 pp.
- POPESCU A., SANDA V., DOLTU M. I. & NEDELCU G. A. 1984. Vegetația Cîmpiei Munteniei. Studii și Comunicări, Științe Naturale, Muzeul Brukenthal Sibiu. 26: 173-241.
- POPESCU A., SANDA V., OROIAN S., CHIFU T., ŞTEFAN N. & SÂRBU I. 1997. Vegetaţia Deltei Dunării. Marisia, Tg. Mureş County Museum. 25(supl.): 1-124.
- PRODAN I. 1923. Flora critică a Dobrogei. Analele Dobrogei. 4(2): 219-248; 4(3): 345-370. Separat, p. 1-56. Cluj: Tipografia "Victoria".
- PRODAN I. 1935. Conspectul florei Dobrogei. Buletinul Academiei de Înalte Studii Agronomice din Cluj. 5(1): 3-170, Tipografia Națională S.A.
- RĂDULESCU M., DRAGOMIR N., DURAN V., INAȘCU M. & AVRAMESCU N. 1960. Cercetări forestiere şi cinegetice în Delta Dunării. Cap. B. Refacerea pădurilor. I. N. C. F. Bucureşti: Edit. Agro-Silvică.
- SANDA V. 1970. Cercetări botanice asupra pădurilor Frasinu şi Spătaru (jud. Buzău). Studii şi Cercetări de Biologie, Seria Botanică. 22(3): 179-193.
- SANDA V. & ARCUȘ M. 1999. Sintaxonomia grupărilor vegetale din Dobrogea și Delta Dunării. Pitești: Edit. Cultura, 152 pp.

- SANDA V. & POPESCU A. 1972. Contribuții la cunoașterea vegetației lemnoase din Cîmpia Română. Studii și Cercetări de Biologie, Seria Botanică. 24(5): 381-390.
- SANDA V., POPESCU A. & DOLTU M. I. 1980. Cenotaxonomia și corologia grupărilor vegetale din România. Studii și Comunicări, Științe Naturale, Muzeul Brukenthal Sibiu. 24(Supl.): 1-171.
- SANDA V., POPESCU A., DOLTU M. I. & DONIŢĂ N. 1983. Caracterizarea ecologică şi fitocenologică a speciilor spontane din flora României. Studii şi Comunicări, Științe Naturale, Muzeul Brukenthal Sibiu. 24(Supl.): 5-126.
- SÂRBU I. 2002. Contribuții fitosociologice din Delta Dunării. Buletinul Grădinii Botanice Iași. 11: 159-161.
- SÂRBU I., ȘTEFAN N. & OPREA A. 2013. Plante vasculare din România. Determinator ilustrat de teren. București: Edit. VictorBVictor, 1320 pp.
- SIMON T. 1960. Contribution à la connaissance de la végétation du Delta du Danube. Annales Universitatis Scientiarum Budapestinensis de Loránd Eötvös Nominatae. Sectio Biologica. 3: 307-333.
- SÎRBU C. & OPREA A. 2011. Plante adventive din România. Iași: Edit. "Ion Ionescu de la Brad", 736 pp.
- STEFUREAC I. T. & MOHAN G. 1969. Contribuții la cunoașterea briofitelor din nordul Dobrogei. Analele Universității București, Biologie Vegetală. 18: 139-147.
- TUTIN T. G., BURGES N. A., CHATER A. O., EDMONDSON J. R., HEYWOOD V. H., MOORE D. M., VALENTINE D. H., WALTERS S. M., WEBB D. A. (eds.), AKEROYD J. R. & NEWTON M. E. (ass.). 1993. Flora Europaea, 1 - Psilotaceae to Platanaceae. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 581 pp.
- TUTIN T. G., HEYWOOD V. H., BURGES N. A., MOORE D. M., VALENTINE D. H., WALTERS S. M. & WEBB D. A. (eds.). 1964-1980. *Flora Europaea*, 1-5. 1st ed., Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 464 pp., 455 pp., 370 pp., 523 pp., 467 pp.
- ŢOPA EM. 1961. Fam. 98. Asclepiadaceae Jacq. Pp. 485-494. In: SĂVULESCU Tr. (red. pp.). Flora Republicii Populare Romîne. VIII. Bucureşti: Edit. Academiei Române, 707 pp.
- WEBER H. E., MORAVEC J. & THEURILLAT J. P. 2000. International Code of Phytosociological Nomenclature. 3rd edition. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. 11(5): 739-768. https://doi.org/10.2307/3236580
- ***1960. INCEF. Theme Research.
- ***1992. European Commission. Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (Habitat Directive). Off. J. 1992; L206: 7-50. /http://eur-lex.europa.eu. Retrieved: April, 25th, 2024.
- ***Law No. 5./2000 / Law on the approval of the National Territorial Development Plan Section III protected areas / Lege privind aprobarea Planului de amenajare a teritoriului național - Secțiunea a III-a - zone protejate. The Official Monitor of Romania, the year XII, nr. 152, part. I, pp. 1-47.
- ***2007. Ordonanță de Urgență nr. 57 din 20 iunie privind regimul ariilor naturale protejate, conservarea habitatelor naturale, a florei și faunei sălbatice, Anexele 2, 3, 4A, 4B, 5A, 5B, 5C, 5D, 5E / Emergency Ordinance No. 57 of June 20 regarding the regime of natural protected areas, conservation of natural habitats, flora and fauna, Annexes 2, 3, 4A, 4B, 5A, 5B, 5C, 5D, 5E /. The Official Monitor of Romania, year 175, (XIX), Nr. 442/29 June. Part I. Laws, decrees, decisions and other acts. Pp. 1-32.
- ***2008. Formularul Standard al ROSCI0065 Delta Dunării. Tome II, p. 611-618. In: Bucureşti: Ministry of Environment, Monitorul Oficial al României, Anul 176 (XX), Nr. 98 bis. Anexa nr. 6 la Ordinul ministrului mediului şi dezvoltării durabile nr. 1.964/2007 privind instituirea regimului de arie naturală protejată a siturilor de importanță comunitară, ca parte integrantă a rețelei ecologice europene Natura 2000 în România, p. 354-1.315.
- ***2007. Interpretation Manual of European Union Habitats. EUR 27. Bruxelles: European Commission, DG Environment. Nature and biodiversity, 142 pp.
- ***2024. IUCN criteria. Guidelines for using the IUCN red list categories and criteria. Version 15.1. https://www.iucnredlist.org/resources/redlistguidelines. Retrieved: September, 6th, 2024.
- ***2014-2021. Revision of the Management Plan and Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve (DDBR) regulation. Project POIM, Priority axis 4, Call code: POIM/9/41/Increasing the degree of protection and conservation of biodiversity and restoration of degraded ecosystems". Administration of the Danube Delta Biosphere Reserve / "Revizuirea planului de management şi a regulamentului Rezervației Biosferei Delta Dunării (RBDD)", Axa prioritară 4, Cod apel: POIM/9/41/Creşterea gradului de protecție şi conservare a biodiversității şi refacerea ecosistemeler degradate". Tulcea: Administrația Rezervației Biosferei Delta Dunării.
- ***https://europlusmed.org/cdm_dataportal/taxon/52a6b1cd-aac4-4327-a3af-911fcabc2b70. Retrieved: December, 19th, 2024.
- ***Euro+Med Plant base, at: https://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed/PtaxonDetail/. Retrieved: April, 25th, 2024.
- ***https://www.geamap.com/en/soviet#12/46.0151/27.9571. Retrieved: April, 25th, 2024.

How to cite this article:

OPREA A., SÎRBU C., DOROFTEI M. & COVALIOV S. 2024. New contributions to vegetation knowledge of the Danube Delta, Romania (I). J. Plant Develop. 31: 159-181. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.958

Research Article

SILENE MULTIFLORA IN MOLDOVA (ROMANIA)

<u>Culiță SÎRBU</u>^{1*}, Adrian OPREA²

 ¹ "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" University of Life Sciences Iaşi, Mihail Sadoveanu Alley no. 3, Iaşi – Romania.
² "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi, "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, Dumbrava Roşie Street no. 7-9, Iaşi – Romania.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: culita.sirbu@iuls.ro, ORCID: 0000-0003-3217-0947

Abstract: Silene multiflora, a critically endangered species from the vascular flora of Romania, was first reported in the historical province of Moldova (east of the country) since the first half of the 19th century. However, the presence of this species in Moldova was later on contested (confusion with *S. nemoralis* or with *S. viscosa*?), and in the national floristic syntheses published up to now, the species has not been mentioned in the flora of this province. In this work, we confirm the occurrence of the species *S. multiflora* in northeastern Romania (Moldova), based on the specimens collected in the field, as well as on some older specimens kept in two public herbaria in Iași.

Keywords: botanical description, Caryophyllaceae, endangered species, new records, vascular flora.

Introduction

Silene multiflora (Ehrh.) Pers. Syn. Pl. 1: 496. 1805 (*Cucubalus multiflorus* Ehrh.; *Viscago multiflora* (Waldst. et Kit.) Hornem.; *V. multiflora* (Waldst. et Kit.) Baumg.; *Silene steppicola* Kleop., *S. syvashica* Kleop.) (Caryophyllaceae) is an Eurasian plant species, with a native area stretching from Central Asia and Siberia to Central Europe (Austria) [SHISHKIN, 1936; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009; CHATER & al. 2010; IZVERSCAIA, 2016].

Originally published with a short diagnosis, as *Cucubalus multiflorus*, by EHRHART (1792), it was more detailed described and illustrated, under the same name, by WALDSTEIN & KITAIBEL (1799-1802: Table 56) and later on transferred to the genus *Silene* by PERSON (1805).

Relevant iconography of this species has also been published by (in a chronological order): REICHENBACH (1844) (*Icones Florae Germanicae et Helveticae*, VI, Table CCXCI, Figure 5098); JÁVORKA & CSAPODY (1934) (*Iconographia Florae Hungaricae*, pp. 145, Figure 1160); GUŞULEAC (1953) (*Flora R. P. Române*, II, pp. 168, Pl. 22, Figure 3); DIDUKH (2002) (*Ecoflora of Ukraine*, Figure 143a); Izverscaia (2016) (*Flora Basarabiei*, II, pp. 284, Pl. 59, Figure 2); HOCK, in KIRÁLY & al. (2011) (*Új magyar füvészkönyv. Ábrák.* pp. 100, Figure 349); MEREĎA & al. (2012) (*Flora Slovenska*, VI(3), pp. 465, Table 33) etc.

According to the literature data, the presence of the species on the territory of Romania has been confirmed so far only from a few localities, as follows:

- Satu Mare County (Crișana; north-west Romania): Carei ("Nagy-Károli") – "*in pratis*" (as *Cucubalus multiflorus* Ehrh.) [WALDSTEIN & KITAIBEL, 1799-1802] – the first report of this species in the country; *idem* (Herb. Kitaibel, BP) [NEGREAN & DIHORU, 2009]; Sanislău - Vermeş marsh [KARÁCSONYI & NEGREAN, 1979, cited by NEGREAN & DIHORU, 2009] and Pişcolt [KARÁCSONYI, 1995];

SILENE MULTIFLORA IN MOLDOVA (ROMANIA)

- Hunedoara County (Transylvania; central Romania): Mintia ("Marós Némethi"), Deva – hayfields and forest edges (as. *Viscago multiflora*) [BAUMGARTEN, 1816] – data confirmed by SIMONKAI (1887), UNGAR (1925), GUȘULEAC (1953) and NEGREAN & DIHORU (2009);

- the Transylvanian plain (Mezőség) [SCHUR, 1866] – hill meadows, especially on moorland. According to SIMONKAI (1887), Schur's indication is based on a specimen labelled with "Marós Némethi", so "Mezőség" should be read "Marós Némethi" (i.e. Mintia), the same locality mentioned by BAUMGARTEN (1816);

- Timiș County (Banat; west Romania): Timișoara [GUȘULEAC, 1953];

- Tulcea County (the Danube Delta; south-east Romania): Sfântu Gheorghe – wet meadows near Caraorman [UECHTRITZ & SINTENIS, 1838-1876, cited by KANITZ (1879-1881add); BRANDZA (1898); GUȘULEAC (1953)]; Caraorman – wet meadow, south of the forest (*legit*. G. Negrean 1980-HGN) [NEGREAN & DIHORU, 2009].

The presence of the species in the Muscel Mountains, on the Motoiu hill (Argeș County; Muntenia), as indicated by HOFFMANN (1862) – cited by BRANDZA (1879-1883), has not yet been confirmed and is considered doubtful, according to recent references [*e.g.* NEGREAN & DIHORU, 2009].

Controversial data about this species was also mentioned from Moldova (eastern Romania), in the 19th century, as follows:

- Moldova, as *Viscago multiflora*: "C.XIX.64" (CZIHACK, 1836, XIX, p. 64) [KANITZ, 1877-1881]; *idem "et Exsic.*!" [BRANDZA, 1879-1883] (the sign "!" means - specimen seen by Brandza);

- Vrancea County: Focșani, as *Viscago multiflora* Baumg. – hayfields and forest edges [SZABO, 1841];

- the upper Moldova ("Moldova super."), as *Silene multiflora* Pers., "*in pratis mont.*": "G hj" (GUEBHARD, 1842-1848, seen in the Herbarium of the Iași Museum)] [KANITZ, 1877-1881]; *idem* [BRANDZA, 1879-1883];

- Iași County, at Popricani, as *Viscago multiflora*: "Sz. man.?" (SZABO, 1873?) [BRANDZA, 1879-1883];

KANITZ (1877-1881) and BRANDZA (1879-1883) did not recognize, however, the presence of *S. multiflora* in Moldova, and considered that the data reported by CZIHACK, GUEBHARD and SZABO refers to either *S. viscosa* (L.) Pers. [KANITZ, 1877-1881] or *S. nemoralis* Waldst. & Kit. [BRANDZA, 1879-1883]. In addition, subsequent national or regional floristic syntheses from the last century [PRODAN, 1939; BORZA, 1947-1949; GUŞULEAC, 1953; BELDIE, 1977) or published more recently [OPREA, 2005; CHIFU & al. 2006; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009; NEGREAN & DIHORU, 2009; SÂRBU & al. 2013) do not confirm or even mention *S. multiflora* in the flora of Moldova.

Given its rarity in the country and the limiting factors ("located to the southern limit of its world range"; "small populations, with discontinuous distribution"; disturbance of habitats through "hydrotechnical works and grazing"; attack of the pathogenic fungus *Puccinia behenis* (DC.) Otth and the parasite *Eudarluca caricis* (Fr.) O. Erikss.), NEGREAN & DIHORU (2009) included this species in the *Red Book of Vascular Plants from Romania*, as critically endangered (CR).

The aim of this work is to confirm the presence of *S. multiflora* in Moldova, based on field data and herbarium specimens.

Material and methods

The species has been identified by analysing herbarium specimens collected during our own field work (2023), but also of existing specimens in two public herbaria in Romania: I (Herbarium of the Faculty of Biology, University "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" of Iași) and IASI (Herbarium of the "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" Iași University of Life Science). Many relevant floristic references at national and international level were used in the process.

Since it was assumed that *Silene multiflora* was mentioned in the flora of Moldova in the old references because of misidentification with either *S. nemoralis* or *S. viscosa*, we analysed the differences between these three species using both data from the literature and voucher specimens from the I and IASI herbaria.

The geographic coordinates were recorded on the field using the OsmAnd application, available at https://osmand.net/. To highlight morphological details, we used a OPTIKA binocular magnifier and a OPTIKA digital camera with CCD Sensor.

Plant nomenclature followed SÂRBU & al. (2013).

Voucher specimens were deposited in the Herbarium of the "Ion Ionescu de la Brad" Iași University of Life Science (IASI).

Results and discussions

During our recent field work (in the year 2023), we identified a population of *Silene multiflora* (Ehrh.) Pers., of about 50 specimens, to the southwest of the Horleşti village (Rediu commune, Iaşi County, north-eastern Romania).



Figure 1. Hayfield meadow with Silene multiflora, near the Horlesti village (Iași County)

SILENE MULTIFLORA IN MOLDOVA (ROMANIA)

Specimens of *S. multiflora* are scattered in this place, on an area of approx. 100 m^2 , in a hayfield meadow (Figure 1) which lies at the base of the steep coast that borders the Horleşti village to the southwest, and where a small tributary of the Bogonos stream originates.

In this meadow, together with *S. multiflora* grow other meso-hygrophytes (*Agrostis stolonifera*, *Carex distans*, *Inula helenium*, *Rorippa austriaca*, *Rumex crispus*, *Scorzonera cana*), also mesophytes (*Centaurea jacea*, *Dactylis glomerata*, *Elymus repens*, *Lotus corniculatus*, *Poa pratensis*, *Rhinanthus rumelicus*, *Tragopogon pratensis* subsp. *orientalis*) and even helophytes (*Phragmites australis*), all these being favoured by the higher soil moisture during the springtime.

Because of the increasing drying of the soil in summer, many xerophytes / xeromesophytes originating from the steppic grasslands of the adjacent slopes, also occur in this meadow, such as: *Festuca valesiaca*, *Dianthus membranaceus*, *Galium octonarium*, *G. verum*, *Koeleria macrantha*, *Lathyrus pallescens*, *Medicago falcata*, *Melampyrum arvense*, *Onobrychis viciifolia*, *Stachys recta*, *Trinia ramosissima*, *Verbascum phoeniceum*, *Veronica austriaca*.

The occurrence of some halophytes (*Carex distans, Scorzonera cana, Aster oleifolius*) and salinity-tolerant species (*Iris brandzae, Agrostis stolonifera, Rorippa austriaca, Phragmites australis, Rumex crispus*) reveals the presence of soluble salts in the soil.



Figure 2. *Silene multiflora*: habitus (a) and details of stem: densely short hairy below (b), glabrous and viscid toward the inflorescence (c) (scale bar: 4 cm - a; 2,5 mm - b; 1,5 mm - c)

Herbarium specimens: IASI, no. 18056: *legit.* & *det.* C. Sîrbu & A. Oprea, the southwest of the Horleşti village, Iaşi County, N 47.26407, E 27.43801, hay meadow, 03.06.2023; IASI, no. 18057, 18058, 18059 and 18060: *idem*, 08.06.2023.

After identifying the specimens collected on field, we have surprisingly discovered three other specimens of *S. multiflora*, in two public herbaria of the Iaşi city (IASI and I). These specimens were collected 80 years before, by M. Răvăruț, along the Valea Rea stream, a tributary of the Miletin River (Botoșani County). The three specimens were labelled as follows:

-IASI, no. 2231 (2 specimens): "Silene multiflora (Ehrh.) Pers.?"; Valea Rea (Botoșani County); meadows, hayfields; M. Răvăruț; 18.06.1943; "must be seen: the calyx is not hairy!";

-I, no. 4489 (1 specimen): "Silene multiflora (Ehrh.) Pers.?"; Valea Rea (Botoșani County); M. Răvăruț; 18.06.1943.

Following this finding, in June 2023, we searched for *S. multiflora* along the entire course of the Valea Rea stream, but we did not manage to identify any specimen. It should be noted however that most of the meadows in the valley of this stream were disturbed by intensely sheep grazing, which greatly reduces the chances of this species still surviving in that place.



Figure 3. Silene multiflora: the inflorescence



Figure 4. *Silene multiflora*: a single flower (a) and details of calyx teeth (b). (scale bar: 3 mm - a; 1 mm - b)



Figure 5. *Silene multiflora*: a dried petal, with ciliate claw (scale bar: 1 mm)

Botanical description (based on specimens collected by us and M. Răvăruț). Perennial. Stem simple, 50-80 cm tall, with 6-8 nodes, densely short hairy (hairs 0.1-0.2 mm long, bent downward), glabrous and viscid towards the inflorescence (Figure 2). Radical and lower cauline leaves long petioled; petioles short pubescent (hairs longer towards the sheath); lamina $15-40 \times 8-10$ mm, oblanceolatespatulate, short pubescent especially on the edges and midvein (hairs similar to those on the stem), margins entire, apex obtuse. Middle and upper cauline leaves sessile (joined at the sheath level), lance-linear, gradually decreasing and narrowing upward, densely short hairy. Inflorescence narrowly paniculate to pseudoverticillate (Figure 3); branches short, erect, opposite, glabrous, (1-) 3 (-6) flowered; bracts and bracteoles wide membranous and ciliated. especially in the sheath area. Flowers bisexual, pedunculate. oblique-ascending; pedicels glabrous, 3-7 mm long, much longer than bracteoles (lateral flowers). Calyx cylindric-

clavate, truncate at the base, 10-12 mm long, glabrous (except the teeth margins), 10-veined; teeth ovate, obtuse, membranous and ciliated on margins (Figure 4). Petals white; claws 8-10 mm long, margins membranous, ciliate (Figure 5); limb of petals 4–6 mm long, deeply incised,

Culiță SÎRBU & Adrian OPREA

with 2 broadly linear segments; coronal scales barely distinct, as 2 very short tubercles. Androgynophore 4-5 mm long, densely pubescent, with backward, very short, hairs. Stamen much longer than petals; filaments glabrous, anthers purple. Ovary ca. 5-6 mm long; styles white, 10-12 mm long. Capsules elongated-ellipsoidal, 8-9 mm long, 1.6-1.8 times as long as carpophore, with 6 recurved teeth (Figure 6). Carpophore (the former androgynophore) ca. 5.0 mm long (Figure 6). Seeds grey-black, reniform, 1 mm wide; lateral sides slightly concave, testa papillae radially elongated; dorsal side flat to slightly concave, testa papillae less elongated (tubercles-like); all papillae toothed at base (Figure 6).

Plant identification. The identification of this species was quite difficult, because there are some (seemingly?) controversial data in the literature, regarding its morphological features, such as: (Table 1: * features that match specimens examined by us): stem not viscid or viscid above*; calyx glabrous*, or sparsely to densely hairy, not glandular* or glandular; calyx teeth acute or obtuse*; petal claws - not ciliate or ciliate*; capsule equal to, shorter or longer* than the carpophore.



Figure 6. Silene multiflora: capsule with carpophore (a) and seeds (b)

We suppose that, excepting some statements that are most likely wrong (e.g., according to GUŞULEAC, 1953: the carpophore *usually* longer than capsule – as opposed to *S. chlorantha*; calyx sometimes with glandular hairs etc.), many of these controversial data in the literature reflects a large variability of the populations of *S. multiflora*, in various regions of its wide natural area. Some populations of this plant were circumscribed to different species (*S. steppicola* Kleopow; *S. syvashica* Kleopow), which subsequently were considered to the level

SILENE MULTIFLORA IN MOLDOVA (ROMANIA)

of subspecies and/ or varieties [TZELEV, 2004; TZVELEV & GELTMAN, 2012] or just variations with no taxonomic value [PROKUDIN & al. 1987; MOSYAKIN, 1999; DIDUKH, 2002; CHATER & al. 2010; FEDORONCHUK, 2023], which strengthens this supposition. This variability deserves to be investigated more carefully in the future!

All the morphological features observed by us in the specimens from north-eastern Romania, as shown in the description above, fall within the range of variability of the species *S. multiflora*, as described in various references (Table 1). The viscosity of stem is, however, a feature rarely associated with this species: *Viscago multiflora* – "caule [...] viscos" [BAUMGARTEN, 1816]; *Viscago multiflora* – "cotor [...] cleios" (stem [...] viscid) [SZABO, 1841]; Silene multiflora – "not viscid except in inflorescence" (position 149 bis in the key) [CHATER & al. 2010]; idem – "stem pubescent at the base, often glabrous and viscid above" – for both *S. multiflora* and *S. italica* (position 19a in the key) [PROKUDIN & al. 1987].

Morphological features		References			
Stem	viscid above*	BAUMGARTEN, 1816 (Viscago multiflora); SZABO, 1841 (iden PROKUDIN & al. 1987 (both S. multiflora and S. italica)			
	not viscid	NEILREICH, 1867; BRANDZA, 1898; GUȘULEAC, 1953; BELDIE, 1977; FISCHER & al., 2008; CHATER & al., 2010: "except in inflorescence"!; KIRÁLY, 2011; MEREĎA & al. 2012			
Calyx	glabrous*	BELDIE, 1977; TZELEV, 2004 (<i>S. steppicola</i> subsp. <i>steppicola</i> ; <i>syvaschica</i> var. <i>glabra</i>); TZVELEV & GELTMAN, 2012 (<i>iden</i> BELKIN, 2009			
	glabrous* or sparsely hairy	ROHRBACH, 1868; SHISHKIN, 1936; FISCHER & al. 200 CIOCÂRLAN, 2009; CHATER & al. 2010; SÂRBU & al. 201 KIRÁLY, 2011; IZVERSCAIAM 2016			
	densely to sparsely hairy	MEREĎA & al. 2012			
	pubescent	EHRHART, 1792; PERSON, 1805; WALDSTEIN & KITAIBEL, 1799-1802; NEILREICH, 1867; BRANDZA, 1898; PRODAN, 1939; GUŞULEAC, 1953; TZELEV, 2004 (<i>S. steppicola</i> subsp. <i>pubescens</i>)			
	glandular	GUŞULEAC, 1953			
	not glandular*	PRODAN, 1939; GUȘULEAC, 1953			
	acute	CHATER & al. 2010; IZVERSCAIA, 2016			
Calyx teeth	obtuse*	WALDSTEIN & KITAIBEL, 1799-1802; NEILREICH, 1867; ROHRBACH, 1868; BRANDZA, 1898; SHISHKIN, 1936; PROKUDIN & al. 1987; MEREĎA & al. 2012			
Petal claws	ciliate*	SHISHKIN, 1936; BELKIN, 2009; IZVERSCAIA, 2016			
	not ciliate	MEREĎA & al. 2012			
Fruit (F) versus carpophore (C) F equalling C (C) F equalling C F		EHRHART, 1792: "capsula longitudine thecapodii"; WALDSTEIN & KITAIBEL, 1799-1802: idem; NEILREICH, 1867: idem ("carpophoro capsulam aequante"); ROHRBACH, 1868: \approx idem ("subaequans"); BRANDZA, 1898; PRODAN, 1939; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009: 8-10 mm both; NEGREAN & DIHORU, 2009: \approx 8-10 mm both; IZVERSCAIA, 2016: 6-7 mm both			

Table 1. Some morphological	features of the species	Silene multiflora, a	according to variou	s references
(* f	eatures that match spec	cimens examined by	y us)	

Culiță SÎRBU & Adrian OPREA

F equalling C or somewhat longer	CHATER & al. 2010: (7-)8-10 mm both or carpophore a little shorter; SÂRBU & al. 2013
F longer than C*	SHISHKIN, 1936: 7-8 and 6 mm, respectively
F equalling or shorter than C	GUŞULEAC, 1953: "capsule as long as carpophore or slightly shorter"; <i>S. multiflora</i> (Ehrh.) Pers. "differs from the similar species <i>S. chlorantha</i> (Willd.) Ehrh., by [] <i>carpophore longer than capsule</i> "
F slightly shorter, equalling, or much longer* than C	MEREĎA & al. 2012: fruit 0.8-1.8 times as long as carpophore

By the stems with 6-8 nodes and the pedicels and calyx glabrous, the specimens we have analysed fit better to the east European (Ukrainian) populations designated as *S. multiflora* var. *glabra* (Kleop.) Fedor. (*Silene steppicola* Kleop. subsp. *glabra* Kleop.) [see TZELEV, 2004; FEDORONCHUK, 2023].

Has been S. multiflora actually found in Moldova since the 19th century? As shown in the Introduction section, according to BRANDZA (1879-1883) the distribution data of Silene multiflora (Viscago multiflora) reported by Czihack, Guebhard or Szabo from Moldova, must be taken into account for S. nemoralis Waldst. & Kit., while according to KANITZ (1877-1881), the same data must be considered for a much more distinct species – S. viscosa (L.) Pers. Certainly, the two authors could not be both right. On the other hand, the supposedly



Figure 7. Differences between *S. multiflora* (Sm), *S. nemoralis* (Sn) and *S. viscosa* (Sv) regarding the stem pilosity (scale bar: 1 mm)

SILENE MULTIFLORA IN MOLDOVA (ROMANIA)

misidentification of S. multiflora by confusion with S. nemoralis or with S. viscosa is rather unlikely, given the obvious differences among the three species [SHISHKIN, 1936; CHATER & al. 2010; MEREĎA & al. 2012; SÂRBU & al. 2013 etc.; see also: TALAVERA, 1990 for S. nemoralis]. S. multiflora differs from S. nemoralis especially by: stem densely puberulent below, hairs very short, 0.1-0.2 mm long (versus stem pubescent, hairs less dense, much longer, up to 1 mm) (Figure 7); inflorescence narrow; branches non viscide, short, erect (versus panicle much wider; branches viscide, long, spreading) (Figure 8); pedicels much longer than bracteoles at the time of flowering (versus pedicels shorter than or equalling bracteoles) (Figure 8); calvx 12-15 mm long, glabrous (to ± pubescent), not glandular (versus 14-24 mm; scattered hairy, often glandular); carpophore of 5-8 (-9) mm long, up to 1.8 times shorter than the mature capsule (versus 9-12 (14) mm, usually slightly longer than mature capsule) (Figure 9). Compared to S. viscosa it differs even more, especially by: the stem pubescence (stem, as well as the whole plant, glandular-tomentose, in S. viscosa) (Figure 7); basal leaves spatulate, margins entire, apex obtuse (versus leaves ovate-lanceolate, margins undulate-crenate, apex acute, in S. viscosa); calyx length and pilosity (14-24 mm, glandular-tomentose, in S. viscosa); carpophore-to-capsule ratio (carpophore 3-4 times shorter than the mature capsule, in S. viscosa) (Figure 9), etc.



Figure 8. Differences between *S. multiflora* (Sm) and *S. nemoralis* (Sn), regarding the inflorescence (left) and bracteoles to pedicel ratio (right) (scale bar: 2,5 cm - left; 2 mm - right)

Given the lack, nowadays, of herbarium specimens collected by Czihack, Guebhard or Szabo, no one can prove which of the two approaches (Kanitz versus Brandza) was wrong, if not both. In these circumstances, we cannot exclude the possibility that, in fact, Czihack, Guebhard and Szabo, or at least one of them, were right when mentioning *S. multiflora* from this historical province. The best proof of this is that the species is still present here, in a natural habitat whose characteristics match data from the literature (see below). In addition, it is worth

Culiță SÎRBU & Adrian OPREA

mentioning that the place where we identified *S. multiflora*, near Horleşti village (Rediu commune), is not far away from Popricani (about 6 km in a straight line) – the locality from where Szabo (1873) – according to BRANDZA (1879-1883) mentioned "*Viscago multiflora*". So, why wouldn't Szabo's data, although not confirmed by Brandza, refer to the same population as that we found, or to a neighbouring one, meanwhile disappeared?



Figure 9. Differences between *S. multiflora* (Sm), *S. nemoralis* (Sn) and *S. viscosa* (Sv), regarding the carpophore to capsule ratio (scale bar: 5 mm)

Coming back to more recent times, most likely, because of the glabrous calyx ("must be seen: the calyx is not hairy!"), Răvăruţ has considered, in 1943, that the identification of specimens collected by him as *S. multiflora* is not certain (hence the question mark on the herbarium labels: "*Silene multiflora* (Ehrh.) Pers.?"). Consequently, he did not publish his herbarium data, and the presence of this species in the flora of Moldova has remained unconfirmed until now.

Ecological requirements and habitats. According to TICHÝ & al. (2023), *S. multiflora* prefers soils rather moist ($M_{5.5}$), alkaline (R_8), with low salinity ($S_{3.5}$) which is consistent with data provided by other references [JÁVORKA, 1925; PRODAN, 1935;

SILENE MULTIFLORA IN MOLDOVA (ROMANIA)

SHISHKIN, 1936; BELKIN, 2009; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009; KIRÁLY, 2011; TZVELEV & GELTMAN, 2012; MEREĎA & al. 2012; SÂRBU & al. 2013] and is largely confirmed by our field data.

S. multiflora usually occurs on moist to marshy soils, dry in summer, rich in minerals and often slightly saline, in meadows and saline pastures in the lowland area, most often in communities of *Deschampsion cespitosae* and *Festucion pseudovinae* [MEREĎA & al. 2012]. It also grows on sandy soils [JÁVORKA, 1925; TZVELEV & GELTMAN, 2012; CIOCÂRLAN, 2009; SÂRBU & al. 2013], steppes [SHISHKIN, 1936; BELKIN, 2009; TZVELEV & GELTMAN, 2012], outcrops of chalk and limestone [TZVELEV & GELTMAN, 2012], and open woods [SHISHKIN, 1936; BELKIN, 2009].

According to the ecological data provided by CIOCÂRLAN (1994, 2009) and SÂRBU & al. (2013), among the *Silene* species in the flora of Romania, *S. multiflora* has the highest tolerance to seasonal water excess and soil salinity.

A proposal to protect this species. As shown in the introduction, *S. multiflora* is a very rare, critically endangered species in the flora of Romania. It is also very rare [TOFAN-BURAC & CHIFU, 2002; IZVERSCAIA, 2016; IZVERSCAIA & al. 2022], supposedly extinct [IZVERSCAIA & al. 2022] in the eastern neighbourhood of Romania (the Republic of Moldova). Therefore, we consider that the protection of this species in Romania is very necessary. In the northeastern Romania, this could be achieved by expanding eastward the Nature 2000 site ROSCI0058 "Dealul lui Dumnezeu", which is located nearby, to the southwestern limit of the Horleşti village.

Conclusions

Based on our own field research and specimens stored in public herbaria of Iași (Romania), we confirm in this paper the occurrence of the species *S. multiflora* in northeastern Romania (Moldova).

This is a very rare, critically endangered plant species in the flora of the country. In order to protect population of *S. multiflora* in this part of the country, we propose the extension eastward of the Nature 2000 site ROSCI0058, such that this should also include the meadow where this species grows, near the village of Horlesti.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Mr. Myroslav Shevera (M. G. Kholodny Institute of Botany, National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine) for the valuable advice and providing some very important references, as well as Mrs. Irina Irimia the curator of the I herbarium, for allowing us to analyse herbarium specimens.

References

BAUMGARTEN J. C. G. 1816. Enumeratio Stirpium Magno Transsilvaniae Principatui, I-III, Vindobonae.

BELDIE A. 1977. Flora României. Determinator ilustrat al plantelor vasculare, Vol. 1. București: Edit. Academiei Republicii Socialiste România, 412 pp.

BELKIN D. L. 2009. Genus Silene L. in Altai Mountain country. Turczaninowia. 12(3-4): 5-16.

BORZA A. 1947-1949. Conspectus Florae Romaniae, Regionumque affinium. Cluj: Edit. Cartea Românească, 360 pp. BRANDZA D. 1879-1883. Prodromul Florei Române. București: Tipogr. Academiei Române, 568 pp.

BRANDZA D. 1898. Flora Dobrogei. București: Institutul de Arte Grafice Carol Göbl, 490 pp.

Culiță SÎRBU & Adrian OPREA

- CHATER A. O., WALTER S. M., AKEROYD J. R. & WRIGLEY F. 2010. *Silene* L.: 191-218. In: TUTIN T. G. & al. (eds). *Flora Europaea*, Vol. 1, 2nd ed., 1st paperback printing. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- CHIFU T., MÂNZU C. & ZAMFIRESCU O. 2006. Flora & vegetația Moldovei (România). I. Flora. Iași: Edit. Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" Iași, 367 pp.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 1994. Flora Deltei Dunării. București: Edit. Ceres, 175 pp.

CIOCÂRLAN V. 2009. Flora ilustrată a României. Pteridophyta et Spermatophyta. București: Edit. Ceres, 1141 pp. DIDUKH Y. (ed). 2002. Ecoflora of Ukraine. Kivv: Phytosociocentre, 496 pp.

- EHRHART J. F. 1792. Beiträge zur Naturkunde, und den damit verwandten Wissenschaften, besonders der Botanik, Chemie, Haus- und Landwirthschaft, Arzneigelahrtheit und Apothekerkunst, Vol. 7. Hannover & Osnabrück: Verl. Chr. Ritscher.
- FEDORONCHUK N. M. 2023. Ukrainian flora checklist, Vol. 5. Family Caryophyllaceae (incl. Illecebraceae) (Caryophyllales, Angiosperms). Chornomorski Botanical Journal. 19(1): 5-57 [in Ukrainian].
- FISCHER M. A., OSWALD K. & ADLER W. 2008. *Excursionsflora für Österreich, Liechtenstein, und Südtirol.* 3. Aufl. Biologiezentrum der Oberösterreichischen Landesmuseen, 1392 pp.
- GUȘULEAC M. 1953. Silene L.: 142-184. In: SĂVULESCU T. (ed.), Flora R. P. Române, Vol. 2. București: Edit. Academiei Române.
- IZVERSCAIA T. 2016. Genus Silene L.: 280-293. In: NEGRU A. 2016 (red.), Flora Basarabiei (Plante superioare spontane, Vol. II. Magnoliophyta). Chișinău: Edit. Universul.
- IZVERSCAIA T., GHENDOV V. & CIOCÂRLAN N. 2022. Extinct species of the Caryophyllaceae Juss. family in the spontaneous flora of Republic of Moldova. Journal of Botany. XIV, 1(24): 21-33.
- JÁVORKA S. 1925. Magyar flora (Flora Hungarica), Vol. 1. Budapest, 1307 pp.
- JÁVORKA S. & CSAPODY V. 1934. A magyar flóra képekben. Iconographia Florae Hungaricae. Budapest.
- KANITZ A. 1879-1881. Plantas Romaniae hucusque cognitas. Claudiopoli, Apud E. Demjén, 268 pp.
- KARÁCSONYI C. 1995. Flora și vegetația județului Satu-Mare. Satu Mare: Edit. Muzeului Sătmărean, 196 pp.
- KIRÁLY G. 2011. Új magyar füvészkönyv. Határozókulscok. Kiadó Aggteleki Nemzeti Park Igazgatóság. 616 pp.
- KIRÁLY G., VIRÓK V. & MOLNÁR A. (eds). 2011. Új magyar füvészkönyv. Ábrák. Kiadó Aggteleki Nemzeti Park Igazgatóság, 676 pp.
- MEREĎA P. jun., ELIÁŠ P. jun., DÍTĚ D. & ŠTRBA P. 2012. Silene L.: 410-533. In: GOLIASOVÁ K. & MIHALKOVÁ E (eds.). Flora Slovenska, Vol. 6(3). Bratislava: VEDA, Vydavatel'stvo Slovenskej akademie vied. 712 pp. [in Slovakian].
- MOSYAKIN S. I. (ed.) 1999. Vascular plants of Ukraine. A nomenclatural checklist. Kyiv: M. G. Kholodny Institute of Botany.
- NEGREAN G. & DIHORU G. 2009. Silene multiflora (Waldst. & Kit.) Pers.: 505-506. In: DIHORU G. & NEGREAN G. (eds.). Cartea roșie a plantelor vasculare din România. București: Edit. Academiei Române.
- NEILREICH A. 1867. Diagnosen der in Ungarn und Slowenien bisher beobachteten gefässpflanzen. Wien, 153 pp.
- OPREA A. 2005. Lista critică a plantelor vasculare din România. Iași. Edit. Universității "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" Iași, 668 pp.
- PERSON C. H. 1805. Synopsis plantarum, seu Enchiridium botanicum, complectens Enumerationem systematicam specierum huqusque cognitam. Pars prima. Parisiis Lutetiorum.
- PRODAN I. 1939. Flora pentru determinarea și descrierea plantelor ce cresc în România, Vol. 1. Cluj: Tipogr. Cartea Românească, 1278 pp.
- PROKUDIN I. N., DOBROCHAEVA D. N., ZAVERUKHA B. V., CHOPIK V. I., PROTOPOPOVA V. V. & KRITSKAIA L. I. (eds). 1987. Opredelitel' vyshikh rastenii Ukrainy. Kyiv: Naukova Dumka.
- REICHENBACH L. 1844. Icones Florae Germanicae et Helveticae, Vol. 6. Lipsiae.
- ROHRBACH P. 1868. Monographie der Gattung Silene. Leipzig: Verlag Von Wilhelm Engelmann. 253 pp.
- SÂRBU I., STEFAN N. & OPREA A. 2013. *Plante vasculare din România. Determinator ilustrat de teren.* București: Edit. Victor B Victor, 1320 pp.
- SCHUR J. F. 1866. Enumeratio Plantarum Transsilvaniae. Vindobonae, 984 pp.
- SHISHKIN B. K. 1936. Genus Silene L. Pp. 578-692. In: SHISHKIN B. K. (ed.). Flora USSR, Vol. 6. Moskva-Leningrad: Izdatel'stvo Akad. Nauk SSSR. [in Russian].
- SIMONKAI L. 1886. Erdély edényes flórájának helyesbített foglalata (Enumeratio florae Transsilvaniae vesculosae critica). Budapest: Kiadja A Kir. Magyar Természettudományi Társulat, 678 pp.
- SZABO J. 1841. Flora Principatului Moldovei, pentru cunoașterea plantelor crescătoare în Moldova. Manuscript Iași: Central University Library.
- TALAVERA S. 1990. Silene L. In: CASTROVIEJO S., LAÍNZ M., LÓPEZ GONZÁLEZ G., MONTSERRAT P., MUÑOZ GARMENDIAF., PAIVA J. & VILLAR L. (eds.). Flora Iberica, Vol. 2. Madrid: Real Jardín Botánico, CSIC.

SILENE MULTIFLORA IN MOLDOVA (ROMANIA)

TICHÝ L., AXMANOVÁ I., DENGLER J., GUARINO R., JANSEN F., MIDOLO G. & CHYTRÝ M. 2023. Ellenbergtype indicator values for European vascular plant species. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. 34: e13168. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.13168

TOFAN-BURAC T. & CHIFU T. 2002. Flora și vegetația din Valea Prutului. Iași: Edit. CORSON, 437 pp.

TZELEV N. N. (ed.). 2004. Flora of Eastern Europe, Vol. 11. Moskva-Sankt-Petersburg: KMK. [in Russian].

TZVELEV N. N. & GELTMAN D. V. (eds.). 2012. Conspectus of the flora of Eastern Europe, Vol. 1. Sankt-Petersburg - Moskva: KMK [in Russian].

UNGAR K. 1925. Die Flora Siebenbürgens. Sibiu: Verlag von Jos Drotleff, 535 pp.

WALDSTEIN F. C. & KITAIBEL P. 1799-1802. Descriptiones at Icones Plantarum Rariorum Hungariae, Vol. 1. Viennae.

How to cite this article:

SÎRBU C. & OPREA A. 2024. Silene multiflora in Moldova (Romania). J. Plant Develop. 31: 183-196. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.959 **Research Article**

THE STATE OF THE POPULATIONS OF *NECTAROSCORDUM BULGARICUM* IN THE STRICTLY PROTECTED ZONE OF THE "CODRII" RESERVE, REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA

Natalia JARDAN

"Codrii" Reserve, Lozova, Strășeni district – Republic of Moldova. E-mail: jardan.natalia@gmail.com

Abstract: Nectaroscordum bulgaricum – Honey garlic, a vulnerable species, included in the Red Book of the Republic of Moldova, is territorially protected in the "Codrii" Reserve. The aim of the study was to identify and describe the Honey garlic populations, as a result the trend of the species will be estimated. As a result, 11 populations were identified and described in subplots: 40E, F, K; 41B, J, K; 42H; 46A, E, D and 49E. The geographical coordinates were taken and the map with the location of the identified populations was developed. The state of the populations of Honey garlic in the strictly protected zone of the "Codrii" Reserve was evaluated.

Keywords: Honey garlic, population, protected area, rare species.

Introduction

The "Codrii" Reserve occupies a special place among the protected areas of the Republic of Moldova and is the first reserve created with the status of a scientific research unit, by the Decision of the Council of Ministers of 27.09.1971, in order to preserve the most representative sectors of forests typical of the area of the Central Plateau of Codrii (Figure 1). The territory of the reserve has a special protection status, delimited into three functional zones: the strictly protected zone, the buffer zone and the transition zone.

The strictly protected area of the "Codrii" Reserve includes the sectors with the habitats of rare animal and plant species of universal value from a scientific and conservation point of view. It occupies an area of 723 ha and is intended for scientific research. The general character of the integral protection zone is determined by the presence of hills that follow each other in waves, and the general exposure determined by the relief and water drainage is south-east. The maximum altitude is 353 m, and the minimum 193 m. The territory of the integral protection zone is within the hydrological basin of the Botna River (tributary of the Dniester). The hydrographic network consists of multiple streams with seasonal flow - tributaries of the Botna, accumulating the surface runoff that forms after the rains. The soil, station and forest types are characteristic of the phytoclimatic floor – *Hilly oak forest with sessile oak and mixed forests on hills and beech forests of the inferior limit*. Light gray soils predominate. Mixed forests with sessile oaks on hills (51%) and sessile oak-mixed forests (19%) are representative for the forests of the integral protection zone [Forestry Research and Development Institute - Institutul de Cercetări şi Amenajări Silvice (ICAS), 2020].





Figure 1. Location of the "Codrii" Reserve on the territory of the Republic of Moldova

The floristic inventory of the strictly protected area consists of 222 species of vascular plants, of which 32 are state protected plant species, which constitutes 53% of the total species protected by law on the territory of the "Codrii" Reserve [JARDAN, 2018]. Of these, 10 species are included in the Red Book of the Republic of Moldova (3rd edition): *Athyrium filix-femina* (L.) Roth, *Cephalanthera damasonium* (Mill.) Druce, *Cephalanthera longifolia* (L.) Fritsch, *Dryopteris filix-mas* (L.) Schott, *Epipactis purpurata* Sm., *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* Janka, *Ornithogalum flavescens* Lam., *Polypodium vulgare* L., *Scopolia carniolica* Jacq. and *Thelypteris palustris* Schott [Red Book of Republic of Moldova, 2015].

Periodic assessment of the ecological status of rare plant populations is a necessity of major importance, in order to highlight the long-term trend of rare species. The purpose of the study was to identify and describe the populations of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* Janka in the strictly protected area of the "Codrii" Reserve.

Natalia JARDAN

Nectaroscordum bulgaricum is a Ponto-Balkan species, widespread in the Balkan Peninsula, Cyprus, Romania, Crimea, the Western Caucasus, Asia Minor [OMELICIUC-MEACUŞCO, 1979; STEARN, 1980]. In the Republic of Moldova it grows, at the northern limit of its Ponto-Balkan area, in the Teleneşti, Străşeni, Cimislia, Leova, Hinceşti and Cantemir districts [GHENDOV & CIOCÂRLAN, 2015].

Nectaroscordum bulgaricum Janka (honey garlic) – is a perennial, glabrous plant. Ovoid bulb, with a specific smell. Stem erect, unbranched, smooth. Loose inflorescence, consisting of 2-3 uniparous cymes, with 20-40 green-yellowish-violet flowers. Tepals or Perianth segments fleshy or thin, after flowering gathered in a cone. Fruit an ovoid capsule. Black seeds, relatively large, 3-edged. Blooms in May-June, fruits in June-July. Mesophilic, mesothermic, acid-neutrophilic species. Vulnerable species, included in the Red Book of the Republic of Moldova. Protected in the "Codrii" Reserve, in the landscape reserves "Hâncești", "Căpriana-Scoreni", "Cărbuna" and in the natural reserve of medicinal plants "Logănești" [CIUBOTARU & al. 2007; GHENDOV & CIOCÂRLAN, 2015].

Materials and methods

The present study is based on the field researches carried out during the years 2022-2023, by following some itineraries that cover as representative as possible the strictly protected area within the "Codrii" Reserve.

The nomenclature of the species is presented according to fundamental works in the field [GHEIDEMAN, 1986]. In the population study of the species *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum*, the GPS coordinates were taken, the numerical effectively of the populations, the ontogenetic stage of each individual, the vitality of the individuals as well as the populations, and the accompanying plant species were recorded. The population size has been determined by extrapolating the average density of individuals to the total area of the population. The average density of individuals was determined in sample areas of 1 m^2 (3-5 sample areas, depending on the population size). The geographic coordinates were taken over using the GPSMAP64s GPS device, GARMIN. The map regarding the location of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* populations in the strictly protected area of the reserve was developed using the application QGIS.

Results and discussions

According to information from the literature, the presence of the species *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* within the limits of the "Codrii" Reserve was reported in 1976 by GHEIDEMAN (1976). In 1984 it was indicated in plots 46, 48 and 49 of the strictly protected area, occupying areas of 2-3 m² [NIKOLAEVA, 1984; GHEIDEMAN & al. 1980]. To the inventory of the area with integral protection from 1993, STURZA & al. (1994) also reported the species in the plots 41 and 42.

As a result of our field research, in the strictly protected area of the "Codrii" Reserve, 11 populations of Honey garlic were identified in the subplots: 40E, F, K; 41B, J, K; 42H; 46A, E, D and 49E, type of station, *Hilly oak forest with sessile oak, mixed forests with sessile oak on plateaus, sunny and partly sunny slopes, with gray soils* [JARDAN, 2023]. The geographical coordinates were taken and the map with the location of the identified populations was drawn up (Figure 2).



THE STATE OF THE POPULATIONS OF NECTAROSCORDUM BULGARICUM ...

Figure 2. Map with the location of Nectaroscordum bulgaricum populations

The first recorded population of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* (on the date of 19.05.2022) in subplot 49E grows on an undulating slope with SW exposure, altitude 282 m, in a mixed forest with sessile oaks on hills – fundamental natural stand of superior productivity, consistency 0.8, age average 90 years. The upper floor of the trees consists of *Quercus petraea*, *Quercus robur*, the lower floor of *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Tilia cordata*, *Acer campestre*, *Carpinus betulus*, the layer of shrubs is represented by *Cornus mas*, *Crataegus monogyna*, *Corylus avellana*, *Viburnum lantana*. The herbaceous layer covers about 85% of the soil and includes: Alliaria petiolata, Anemonoides ranunculoides, Arum orientale, Asparagus tenuifolius, Carex brevicollis, Carex pilosa, Carex sylvatica, Dentaria bulbifera, Fallopia dumetorum, Geum urbanum, Glechoma hirsuta, Lamium maculatum, Lapsana communis, Lunaria annua, Melica uniflora, Mycelis muralis, Polygonatum hirtum, Scutellaria altissima, Stellaria holostea, Stellaria media, Symphytum tauricum, Viola odorata.

The population occupies an area of 220 m², with a density of 4 specimens per m². The share of juvenile individuals is 98% and generative ones -2%.

The second population grows at the intersection of three subplots 41J, K and 42H (registered on 03.05.2023), on an upper undulating slope with SW and SE exposures, altitude 312 m, in a mixed forest with sessile oaks on hills and sessile oak-mixed forest - fundamental natural stand of superior productivity, consistency 0.8, average age 95 years. The upper layer of the trees is made up of *Quercus petraea*, the lower layer of *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Tilia cordata*, *Acer platanoides*, *Carpinus betulus*, the layer of shrubs is represented by *Cornus mas*. The grass cover covers the soil on about 80% of the surface and includes: *Allium ursinum*, *Anthriscus cerefolium*, *Asparagus tenuifolius*, *Carex sylvatica*, *Corydalis marschalliana*, *Dentaria bulbifera*, *Ficaria verna*, *Galium aparine*, *Geum urbanum*, *Glechoma hirsuta*, *Lamium*

maculatum, Melica uniflora, Mercurialis perennis, Polygonatum hirtum, Pulmonaria officinalis, Stellaria media, Veronica hederifolia, Viola odorata.

The given population occupies an area of 1260 m^2 , with a population density of 3 individuals per m^2 . Generative specimens predominate (97%), but juvenile ones constitute only 3%.

The third population grows in subplot 41B, on an undulating slope, with SW exposure, altitude 306 m, in sessile oak-mixed forest - fundamental natural stand of superior productivity, consistency 0.8, average age - 90 years. The upper floor is represented by *Quercus petraea* and *Fraxinus excelsior*, the lower one of *Tilia cordata*, *Acer campestre*, *Carpinus betulus*, the shrub layer is represented by *Cornus mas* and *Crataegus monogyna*. The herbaceous cover covers the soil on about 70% of the surface and includes: *Allium ursinum*, *Dentaria bulbifera*, *Ficaria verna*, *Galium aparine*, *Glechoma hirsuta*, *Lamium maculatum*, *Melica uniflora*, *Polygonatum hirtum*, *Stellaria holostea*, *Stellaria media*, *Veronica hederifolia*.

This population occupies an area of 56 m^2 , with a population density of 1.6 specimens/m², predominating generative individuals with 75%, juvenile ones constitute 25%.

The fourth population was recorded in subplot 40F, on an upper undulating slope with SW exposure, altitude 307 m, in a mixed forest with sessile oaks on hills – total stand derived of superior productivity, consistency – 0.8, average age 95 years. The upper layer of the trees is made up of *Quercus petraea*, the lower layer of *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Tilia cordata*, *Acer campestre*, *Carpinus betulus*, the layer of shrubs is represented by *Cornus mas*. The grass cover covers the soil on about 70% of the surface and includes: *Alliaria petiolata*, *Anthriscus cerefolium*, *Asparagus tenuifolius*, *Corydalis marschalliana*, *Fallopia dumetorum*, *Galium aparine*, *Glechoma hirsuta*, *Lamium purpureum*, *Melica uniflora*, *Polygonatum hirtum*, *Stellaria holostea*, *Veronica hederifolia*.

The population covers an area of 153 m^2 , with a population density of 0.7 individuals/m², predominating the generative specimens (97%).

The fifth population was identified in subplot 46E, on an upper undulating slope with SW exposure, altitude 289 m, in mixed forest with sessile oaks on hills – fundamental natural stand of superior productivity, consistency – 0.8, average age 100 years. The upper layer of the trees is made up of *Quercus petraea*, *Fraxinus excelsior*, the lower layer of *Acer campestre* and *Carpinus betulus*, the layer of shrubs is represented by *Cornus mas*. The grass cover covers approximately 75% of the soil from the surface and includes: *Alliaria petiolata*, *Anemonoides ranunculoides*, *Anthriscus cerefolium*, *Arum orientale*, *Asparagus tenuifolius*, *Corydalis marschalliana*, *Fallopia dumetorum*, *Galium aparine*, *Glechoma hirsuta*, *Lamium maculatum*, *Mycelis muralis*, *Polygonatum hirtum*, *Stellaria media*, *Veronica hederifolia*.

The population covers an area of 383 m^2 , with a population density of 1.2 individuals/m², predominating the generative specimens (96%).

The sixth population of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* recorded in subplot 40E grows on a medium undulating slope with SW exposure, altitude 293 m, in sessile oak-mixed forest – fundamental natural stand of superior productivity, consistency – 0.8, average age 100 years. The tree layer is made up of *Quercus petraea*, *Fraxinus excelsior* and *Tilia tomentosa* on the upper floor, and the lower one from *Acer platanoides*, *Sorbus torminalis*, the shrub layer is represented by *Cornus mas*, *Viburnum lantana*, *Crataegus monogyna*. The herbaceous cover covers the ground on about 80% of the surface and includes: *Alliaria petiolata*, *Allium ursinum*, *Anemonoides ranunculoides*, *Corydalis marschalliana*, *Dentaria bulbifera*, *Galium aparine*, *Glechoma hirsuta*, *Mercurialis perennis*, *Polygonatum hirtum*, *Stellaria holostea*, *Veronica hederifolia*, *Viola hirta*.

THE STATE OF THE POPULATIONS OF NECTAROSCORDUM BULGARICUM ...

The population extends over an area of 25 m^2 , with a population density of 3.8 individuals/m², generative specimens predominating (97%), juveniles constituting 3%.

The seventh population was recorded in subplot 40K, on an undulating lower slope with SW exposure, altitude 276 m, in mixed forest with sessile and pedunculate oaks on hills – high productivity fundamental natural stand, almost full consistency – 0.9, average age 95 year old. The upper floor of the trees is made up of 135-year-old *Quercus robur*, the lower floor of *Quercus petraea*, *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Acer campestre* and *Carpinus betulus*, the layer of shrubs is represented by solitary specimens of *Cornus mas*. The herbaceous cover covers the ground on about 75% of the surface and includes: *Anthriscus cerefolium*, *Dentaria bulbifera*, *Ficaria verna*, *Galium aparine*, *Geum urbanum*, *Glechoma hirsuta*, *Lamium maculatum*, *Melica uniflora*, *Polygonatum hirtum*, *Stellaria holostea*, *Viola hirta*.

The population occupies an area of 14 m², with a population density of 2 individuals/m², generative specimens predominating (95%).

Population number eight was identified in subplot 46A, on an undulating lower slope with SE exposure, elevation 229 m, in mixed forest with sessile and pedunculate oaks on hills – partially derived stand, consistency – 0.8, average age 90 years. The upper floor of the trees consists of *Quercus robus*, *Quercus petraea* with 120 years old, the lower one – *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Acer campestre*, *Acer platanoides*, *Tilia tomentosa* and *Carpinus betulus*, the shrub layer is represented by *Viburnum lantana*, *Cornus mas*. The grass cover covers the soil on about 75% of the surface and includes: *Anthriscus cerefolium*, *Asparagus tenuifolius*, *Galium aparine*, *Geum urbanum*, *Glechoma hirsuta*, *Lamium maculatum*, *Polygonatum hirtum*, *Pulmonaria officinalis*, *Stellaria holostea*, *Stellaria media*, *Veronica hederifolia*, *Viola hirta*.

The population occupies an area of 222 m^2 , with a population density of 3 individuals/m², generative specimens predominating (95%).

The ninth population of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* registered in subplot 46D grows on a flat lower slope with SW exposure, altitude 215 m, in oak-sessile oak-mixed forest artificial stand of superior productivity, consistency – 0.9, average age 40 years. The layer of trees is composed of *Quercus robur* on the upper floor, and the lower layer of *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Tilia cordata*, *Carpinus betulus*, *Acer campestre*, the layer of shrubs is represented by *Crataegus monogyna*. The herbaceous cover covers the ground on about 80% of the surface and includes: *Ajuga reptans*, *Asarum europaeum*, *Dentaria bulbifera*, *Ficaria verna*, *Galium aparine*, *Galium odoratum*, *Geum urbanum*, *Glechoma hirsuta*, *Hedera helix*, *Polygonatum hirtum*, *Sanicula europaea*, *Stellaria holostea*, *Viola hirta*.

The population extends over an area of 24 m², with a population density of 3 individuals/m², with generative specimens predominating (99%), juveniles constituting only 1%.

Population number ten was recorded in subplot 46E, on an undulating slope with SW exposure, altitude 231 m, in mixed forest with sessile oaks on hills – high productivity fundamental natural stand, consistency – 0.8, average age 100 years. The upper floor of the trees is made up of *Quercus petraea*, the lower floor of *Fraxinus excelsior*, *Acer campestre*, *Tilia tomentosa* and *Carpinus betulus*, the layer of shrubs is represented by *Crataegus monogyna*, *Viburnum lantana*, *Cornus mas*. The grass cover covers the soil on about 70% of the surface and includes: *Aegopodium podagraria*, *Asparagus tenuifolius*, *Dentaria bulbifera*, *Ficaria verna*, *Hypericum hirsutum*, *Lamium purpureum*, *Mercurialis perennis*, *Stellaria holostea*, *Veronica hederifolia*.

The population consists of three clumps and occupies an area of 34 m², with a population density of 3 individuals/m², predominating the generative specimens (98%).

Natalia JARDAN

The 11th population of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* recorded in subplot 49E grows on an undulating slope with SW exposure, altitude 262 m, in mixed forest with sessile oaks on hills – fundamental natural stand of superior productivity, consistency – 0.8, average age 90 years. The layer of trees is made up of *Quercus petraea* on the upper floor, and the lower one of *Quercus robur, Fraxinus excelsior, Tilia cordata, Carpinus betulus, Acer campestre*, the shrub layer is represented by *Cornus mas, Viburnum lantana, Crataegus monogyna*. The herbaceous cover covers the soil on about 85% of the surface and includes: *Aegonichon purpureocaeruleum, Alliaria petiolata, Allium ursinum, Anthriscus cerefolium, Asparagus tenuifolius, Carex brevicollis, Dactylis glomerata, Dentaria bulbifera, Fallopia dumetorum, Galium aparine, Glechoma hirsuta, Hedera helix, Lamium maculatum, Lapsana communis, Melica uniflora, Mercurialis perennis, Polygonatum hirtum, Pulmonaria officinalis, Stellaria holostea, Symphytum tauricum, Urtica dioica, Veronica hederifolia, Viola hirta.*

The population extends over an area of 3 ha, with a population of 4 individuals/ m^2 , with generative specimens predominating (98%), juveniles constituting only 2% (Figure 3).



Figure 3. The population of Nectaroscordum bulgaricum in subplot 49E

Phenological observations were made on the given species, recording the following phases: vegetative, budding, flowering, fruiting and senescence (Figure 4, Table 1).

THE STATE OF THE POPULATIONS OF NECTAROSCORDUM BULGARICUM ...



vegetative growth



bud development



budding









senescence

Figure 4. The development phases of sp. Nectaroscordum bulgaricum

	Phenological phases								
The characteristic of the phenological phases		Budding	Flowering	The beginning of fruiting	Senescence				
2022									
Date	14.02	16.05-20.05	20.05-06.06	01.06	16.05-04.07				
Phase duration (days)		5	17		49				
The sum of positive temperatures at the beginning of the phenological phases (°C)		700.0	758.4	965.5	700.0				
2023									
Date	17.02	18.05-22.05	22.05-9.06	06.06	15.05-10.07				
Phase duration (days)		4	17	-	56				
The sum of positive temperatures at the beginning of the phenological phases (°C)		757.2	826.7	1089.7	704.3				

Table 1. Phenological phases of sp. Nectaroscordum bulgaricum

The Honey garlic started its vegetative period on February in the territory of the reserve, when the sum of positive average temperatures reached 17-26°C. Budding lasted 4-5 days, after 90 days from the initiation of the vegetative phase. The beginning of the flowering period was recorded in the third decade of May, when the sum of positive temperatures exceeded 750°C and lasted for 17 days. The drying of the vegetative organs started during the formation of buds, on May, ending the vegetative phase on July with the complete drying of the plants.

As a result of the study, the state of the populations of Honey garlic species in the strictly protected area of the "Codrii" Reserve was evaluated. In the coming years, the monitoring of the populations will continue with the estimation of the long-term trend of the species *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum*.

Conclusions

11 populations of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* Janka were identified and described in the strictly protected area of the "Codrii" Reserve with the location of the growth points on the map.

The presence of the Honey garlic in plot 40 was reported for the first time.

The largest population of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* in the strictly protected area extends over an area of 3 ha, with an effective of 4 individuals/m².

Acknowledgements

The research was carried out with the financial support of ANCD within the research and innovation project: 20.80009.7007.01.

References

- CIUBOTARU A., POSTOLACHE G. & TELEUȚĂ A. 2007. Lumea vegetală a Moldovei. Vol. 4: Plante cu flori III. Chișinău: Știința.
- GHEIDEMAN T., MANIC S., NICOLAEVA L., & SIMONOV G. 1980. Conspect florî zapovednica "Codrî", Chişinev: Ştiința.
- GHEIDEMAN T. 1976. Flora i rastitelinosti. Letopisi prirodî Gosudarstvenîi Lesnoi Zapovednic Codrî, Lozovo: 19-48.

GHEIDEMAN T. S. 1986. Opredelitel' vysših rastenij Moldavskoj SSR. Chișinău: Știința.

GHENDOV V. & CIOCÂRLAN N. 2015. Nectaroscordum bulgaricum Janka: 121. In: DUCA G. et al. (red.). Cartea Roșie a Republicii Moldova, ed. 3, Chișinău: Știința.

ICAS (Institutul de Cercetări și Amenajări Silvice). 2020. Amenajamentul Rezervației Naturale "Codrii". Chișinău.

- JARDAN N. 2023. Populațiile de Nectaroscordum bulgaricum Janka din zona strict protejată a Rezervației "Codrii". Sesiunea de comunicări științifice "D. Brandza", ediția 29, București, România, 3-4 noiembrie 2023: 60-61.
- JARDAN N. 2018. The floristical diversity of the zone with integral protection from the "Codrii" Reserve. *Journal of Botany*. X, 1(16): 22-32.

NICOLAEVA L. 1984. Redchie vidî florî. Priroda Zapovednica "Codrî", Chişinev: Știința, p. 38-47.

- OMELICIUC-MEACUSCO T. I. 1979. Sem. 167. Alliaceae J. G. Agardh Lucovîe. Flora evropeiskoi ceasti SSSR. Tom 4: 261-276.
- STEARN W. T. 1980. *Allium L., Nectaroscordum Lindley. Flora Europaea.* Vol. 5, Eds. T.G. Tutin et al. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 49-69.

STURZA N., CHIRTOACĂ V. & PÎNZARU P. 1994. Flora și vegetația. Analele Naturii ale Rezervației "Codrii", 42-107.

*** Cartea roșie a Republicii Moldova (The red book of the Republic of Moldova). 2015. Academy of Sciences of Moldova, Ministry of Environment, 491 pp.

How to cite this article:

JARDAN N. 2024. The state of the populations of *Nectaroscordum bulgaricum* in the strictly protected zone of the "Codrii" Reserve, republic of Moldova. J. Plant Develop. 31: 197-205. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.941

Research Article

MAIN THREATS AFFECTING *ARNICA MONTANA* L. IN THE NORTHEASTERN REGION OF ROMANIAN CARPATHIANS

<u>Constantin MARDARI</u>¹^(D), Ciprian Constantin BÎRSAN¹ Camelia Paula ȘTEFANACHE², Cătălin TĂNASE³

¹ "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iași, Dumbrava Roșie Street no. 7-9, 700487 Iași – Romania.

² Stejarul Research Center for Biological Sciences, Piatra Neamț subsidiary, NIRDBS,

296 Independenței Bd., Sector 6, București - Romania.

³ Faculty of Biology, "Alexandru Ioan Cuza"University of Iaşi, Carol I 20A, 700505 Iaşi – Romania; Romanian Academy, 125 Calea Victoriei, Sector 1, 010071 Bucureşti – Romania.

* Corresponding author. E-mail: constantin.mardari@uaic.ro, ORCID: 0000-0002-4034-8840

Abstract: The current paper is focused on an emblematic medicinal species, *Arnica montana*, and on identification of the main threats it faces in the northeastern region of Romanian Carpathians. The species was investigated in 30 localities, in various habitats, characterized by different land management types, and different floristic composition of plant communities. The most important threat for *A. montana* in NE Carpathians was the habitat loss, mainly caused by abandonment of the traditional meadows management and natural succession of vegetation. Accumulated data underline the importance of management measures for *A. montana*, measures that have controlled and maintained the habitats of montane grasslands over time. The most suitable method of maintaining habitats in a favorable state of conservation could be represented by a combination of mowing and moderate intensity grazing while maintaining a level of fertilization as low as possible. Collection of flower heads for medicinal purposes must be avoided in small size populations.

Keywords: Arnica montana, conservation, grasslands, management, threats.

Introduction

The extinction rate of numerous plant species has accelerated [HUMPHREYS & al. 2019] in the last decades as a result of degradation of natural habitats due to (among others) their inadequate management, overexploitation, urbanization or climate change. Detailed knowledge about threats to plant species is mandatory in elaborating and implementing conservation strategies [HERNÁNDEZ-YÁÑEZ & al. 2016]. Comprehensive assessment of threats to a certain plant species will enable specific approaches in development and implementation of conservation actions [GALLAGHER & al. 2023]. While conservation efforts are mainly focused on endemic species or those with narrow distributions, conservation of medicinal plants is essential because of their role in human health [SHUKLA, 2023].

Arnica montana L. is one of the approximately 30 species of the Arnica spp. genus, distributed in Europe, Asia and North America [SCHMIDT, 2023]. It is a medicinal, perennial forb, with European areal. It grows in nutrient-poor pastures and hayfields, forest glades, or heathlands from lowlands up to the mountain or subalpine vegetation belts [CIOCÂRLAN, 2000; MAURICE & al. 2012; DUWE & al. 2017; PĂCURAR & al. 2023], up to 3000 m a.s.l. [DUWE & al. 2017]. From an ecological point of view, it is a heliophilous species, but it can tolerate a certain degree of shading, preferring moderately moist, acidic and nutrient-poor soils

MAIN THREATS AFFECTING ARNICA MONTANA L. IN THE NORTHEASTERN REGION ...

[ELLENBERG & al. 1992; SÂRBU & al. 2013]. It is a diagnostic species for secondary grasslands on nutrient poor soils classified in class *Nardetea strictae* Rivas Goday et Borja Carbonell in Rivas Goday et Mayor López 1966 (more frequent in plant communities within *Nardetalia strictae* Preising 1950 order), but significant populations can be identified in class *Calluno-Ulicetea* Br.-Bl. et Tx. ex Klika et Hadač 1944 (in vegetation of *Vaccinio myrtilli-Genistetalia pilosae* Schubert ex Passarge 1964 order) or *Molinio-Arrhenatheretea* Tx. 1937 (in particular in plant communities classified in order *Arrhenatheretalia elatioris* Tx. 1931) [CHIFU & al. 2015; MUCINA & al. 2016]. The species has both the capacity for vegetative propagation by the long-living rhizomes as well as for sexual reproduction, but it is fully self-incompatible [LUIJTEN & al. 1996; BEGEMANN, 2022]. Despite pappus presence, the fruits have a limited dispersal ability [STRYKSTRA & al. 1998], while the seeds generally germinates in the autumn and do not form a bank in the soil [BEGEMANN, 2022].

The decline of A. montana populations made it a species of European Community interest whose sampling from nature and exploitation should be carried out considering certain management measures according to the Habitat Directive (1992). It was also included in the Red List of cormophytes from Romania, as a vulnerable species [OLTEAN & al. 1994]. Cultivation of A. montana as a form of ex-situ conservation or as resource for pharmaceutical industry or reintroduction programs is challenging. A series of studies highlighted that it is a recalcitrant species in culture, the establishment and maintenance of plantations being relatively difficult and strongly dependent on climatic and edaphic conditions [SUGIER, 2007; SURMACZ-MAGDZIAK & SUGIER, 2012]. Also, differentiation and propagation potential of achenes depend on the morphological diversity of flowers and position of flower heads on the plant [SUGIER & al. 2022]. Similar studies carried out in Bulgaria [BALABANOVA & VITKOVA, 2016] showed that A. montana can only be successfully cultivated at altitudes above 1400 m, on acid soils, while in Serbia the species was cultivated at altitudes above 1000 m [PLJEVLJAKUŠIĆ & al. 2014], in contrast to northern Europe (Finland, Poland) where the species was cultivated at lower altitudes [SUGIER & al. 2013; SUGIER & al. 2022]. In addition, for some low altitude, and more isolated populations there was highlighted the genetic erosion phenomenon, a restricted gene flow among populations, and an increase of vegetative reproduction [DUWE & al. 2017; MAURICE & al. 2016]. Still, a large geographical distance and consequently increased genetic distance between populations can have negative effects generated by outbreeding depression, and the projects of reintroduction or restocking must be locally implemented [BEGEMANN, 2022].

Land management, abandonment of traditional practices, habitat loss and collection of flower heads for medicinal purposes are some of the various threats for persistence of this species [KATHE, 2006; PĂCURAR & al. 2007; ROTAR & al. 2010; MARDARI & al. 2019; HOLLMANN & al. 2020]. But, as HOLLMANN & al. (2020) emphasized, the threat types can be different depending on the location of *A. montana* populations and conservation actions may differ. Thus, the main objective of this article is to identify and characterize the major threats faced by *A. montana* in the northeastern region of Romanian Carpathians.

Material and methods

Identification and inventory of the natural populations of *Arnica montana* in the northeastern region of the Romanian Carpathians was carried out during 2014-2017 vegetation seasons. Most of locations were revisited in 2023-2024. Numerous transects were performed in different localities in several mountainous massifs, transects along which the populations of *A*.

Constantin MARDARI & al.

montana were identified, counts were made in sample plots, and the main threats were registered and characterized. For all identified populations were registered floristical and phytosociological data, while the species' abundance and its population structure were also investigated.

Results and discussions

In the studied region, *Arnica montana* was identified in three types of habitats including six plant communities in 30 locations from Suceava, Neamţ, and Bistriţa-Năsăud counties: Sadova, Lucina, Tihuţa Pass, Valea Putnei, Cârlibaba, Piatra Fântânele, Călimanul Cerbului (three stations), Pietrosul Bistriţei, Panaci, Şaru Dornei, Gura Haitii (two stations), Sabasa, Coverca, Drăgoiasa, Ortoaia (two stations), Chiril, Obcina Feredeului, Ceahlău, Dorna Arini (three stations), Rarău, Tarniţa, Stulpicani, valleys of Farcaşa şi Neagra Broştenilor rivers (in Bistriţei, Călimani, Stânişoarei, Rarău, Suhard, Bârgăului, Obcina Mestecănişului, Obcina Feredeului Mountains). *A. montana* was a part of the floristic compositions of some mesophilic secondary grasslands (pastures and meadows), acidophilous shrub communities (mainly in subalpine belt), grasslands - scrublands ecotones, abandoned pastures, etc. (Figure 1). More detailed information for each of these, aspects related to the location and characteristics of the populations, the floristic and phytosociological composition, the plant communities that define the type of habitat and references to the abundance of the species were presented in MARDARI & al. (2015, 2019).



Figure 1. Distribution of *Arnica montana* sites depending on land management

The most important threats for *A. montana* in NE Carpathians are the habitat loss and fragmentation, mainly caused by abandonment of the traditional meadows management and secondarily caused by the expansion of human settlements (resulting in the destruction of the natural habitat and the extinction of local populations located on private properties, near or inside localities on lands suitable for various constructions). No threats from non-native invasive plant species were recorded in the studied habitats while the effect of tourism and recreation activities was negligible.

Land abandonment is perhaps the most significant threat for *A. montana*

in the investigated areas because, through natural succession, it induces changes, in both the floristic composition of grasslands and on their functional and specific diversity. Abandoning mowing in grasslands (and even rational grazing) favors the establishment of some species of shrubs or trees (e.g. *Picea abies*) that, in turn, facilitates the colonization of meadows by other more competitive herbaceous species, changing their floristic composition (Figure 3). Maintaining the knowledge and practices of traditional use of meadows (mowing and grazing) represents the best solution for reducing the effect of abandonment in the studied region. Accumulated data underline the importance of management measures for *A. montana*, measures that have controlled and maintained montane grasslands over time. Mowing ensures the periodic

MAIN THREATS AFFECTING ARNICA MONTANA L. IN THE NORTHEASTERN REGION ...

removal of dominant and competitive species and thus diminishes the competition relations, maintains the diversity of mountain meadows and favors species with leaves arranged in basal rosettes (Figure 2). Mowing also improves the light regime at ground level and prevents the accumulation of litter (which facilitates the establishment of juvenile *A. montana* individuals).



Figure 2. Mountain hay meadow with Arnica montana in Gura Haitii (Suceava county)



Figure 3. Abandoned grasslands and ecological succession in Călimani Mountains

In addition, a moderate grazing regime results in a decrease in the abundance of some dominant *Gramineae* species (animal selectivity) with an effect on the vertical structure of meadow communities, a positive effect that favors rosettes species. Grazing also reduces

Constantin MARDARI & al.

competition in meadows and animals can represent vectors of seed and fruit dispersal of certain plant species, thus ensuring connectivity between populations and the recolonization of degraded habitats [ROSENTHAL & al. 2012]. The decrease in the density of *A. montana* individuals on unused or abandoned land can be interpreted as an effect of natural succession, whereby shrub species or young trees which facilitate the establishment of other grass species which through competition can eliminate the species typical of meadows developed on nutrients poor soils. In addition, in abandoned meadows there is a significant accumulation of litter, with an inhibitory effect on young plants mainly through physical obstruction and modification of the light regime.

Another effect of land abandonment is represented by the invasion of meadows by a series of native and highly competitive species that have the ability to build dense, compact communities, with rapid expansion, communities that in a short period of time modify the floristic composition of initial grasslands, and the diversity and abundance of species in mountain meadows.

Intensive grazing, especially by sheep, results in the invasion of meadows by some nitrophilous ruderal species that build dense communities (e.g. *Rumex alpinus*), sometimes over large areas, which gradually eliminate the semi-natural meadow communities. Because *A. montana* is a species with a rosette of basal leaves, it tolerates grazing well, but soil compaction by animals can have a negative effect on its populations. Respecting the grazing period, rotational grazing (because animal species are selective), correct determination of the pastoral value of meadows, and of maximal number of animals grazing per unit area of grassland are some ways to reduce the impact of this traditional activity on *A. montana* populations.

A usual practice in the investigated area is that of soil fertilization using natural manure. Increasing the amount of fertilizers also has negative effects, as the species prefers nutrient-poor soils. This effect can be explained by the fact that an increase in the amount of nutrients in the soil can determine the dominance of one-two-three species and the generation of an asymmetric competition, manifested against smaller (in size) and slower-growing species. Another possible explanation is related to the fact that ammonium ions are, in particular, toxic for this species because they prevent the formation of mycorrhizae and reduce the competitive abilities of the species [DUECK & ELDERSON, 1992; MAURICE & al. 2012]. This aspect could be important in the development of possible conservation strategies for the species, strategies that could suggest maintaining a low level of soil fertilization that is practiced in the studied region in order to increase the vegetal biomass production.

In most locations (e.g. Tihuţa Pass, Valea Putnei, Piatra Fântânele, Gura Haitii, Sabasa, Coverca, etc.) the habitat of mountain hay meadows presents a favorable state of conservation (because there are no major disturbances in terms of their surface, in structure and composition of plant communities). Their management – the lands are mowed – ensures the prospects of preserving these parameters in the future. For other populations (e.g. Sadova, Ortoaia, Obcina Feredeului, Dorna Arini, etc.), the habitat condition is inadequate (because of the abandonment of traditional management favoring the establishment of woody species, and of irrational grazing causing changes in the floristic composition of the meadows and their transition towards low-value *Nardus* grasslands). Also the species rich *Nardus* grasslands on siliceous substrates, in most locations (e.g. Chiril, Panaci, etc.) present a favorable state of conservation (the lands are mowed or moderately grazed). The threats to the habitat of subalpine heaths are minor as they are located in the perimeter of some protected areas (in strictly protected perimeters or inaccessible stations from Ceahlău National Park and Călimani National Park).

MAIN THREATS AFFECTING ARNICA MONTANA L. IN THE NORTHEASTERN REGION ...

From another perspective, the main reason why the species is considered threatened is the excessive collection for medicinal use. The excessive collection of inflorescences, for an income source – as a type of disturbance, can significantly influence the populations of A. *montana*, in the long term, even in areas where the species was very abundant (e.g. Sabasa, Gura Haitii, Dorna Arini, Şaru Dornei, etc.). However, the effect of collecting inflorescences can be significant in the long term, by decreasing the genetic diversity and even causing the disappearance of smaller populations. Thus, the conservation strategy of this species must include a rational collection of flower heads only in areas where the species is abundant and only based on resource assessment and is strongly connected to habitat conservation. A project developed in central and northern regions of Apuseni Mountains (Romania) represent an excellent example of sustainable collection of A. *montana* and conservation of its habitat by maintaining the traditional management of grasslands, based on the participatory approach of both landowners and harvesters [PĂCURAR & al. 2023].

Conclusions

Overall, the results of this study are consistent with the hypothesis that the conservation of the species *A. montana* is dependent on the management measures applied to the habitat. The species requires that grassland mowing measures and low intensity grazing to be implemented after the achenes have matured. Mowing removes competitive species and prevents natural succession. Under these conditions, the most suitable method of maintaining habitats with *A. montana* in a favorable state of conservation could be represented by a combination of mowing and moderate intensity grazing and maintaining a level of fertilization as low as possible. Collection of flower heads for medicinal purposes must be avoided in small size populations.

References

- BALABANOVA V. & VITKOVA A. 2016. Flower yield of Arnica sp. cultivated in two floristic regions in Bulgaria. Journal of Agriculture and Ecology Research International. 9(1): 1-7. https://doi.org/10.9734/JAERI/2016/27775
- BEGEMANN L. R. 2022. A comprehensive conservation strategy for the endangered plant species Arnica montana. Results of a viability analysis at the population, habitat and landscape level. Dissertation zur erlangung des doktorgrades der naturwissenschaften (dr. rer. nat.) der Fakultät für Biologie und Vorklinische Medizin der Universität Regensburg. 114 PP. Available at: https://epub.uniregensburg.de/53804/1/dissertation begemann pflichtexemplar.pdf. Accessed 18.08.2024.
- CHIFU T. (ed.), IRIMIA I. & ZAMFIRESCU O. 2014. Diversitatea fitosociologică a vegetației României. II. Vegetația erbacee antropizată. T. 1. Vegetația pajiștilor. Iași: Edit. Institutului European: p. 5-659.
- CIOCÂRLAN V. 2000. Flora ilustrată a României. Pteridophyta et Spermatophyta. Ediția a doua revăzută și adăugită. București: Edit. Ceres, 1138 pp.
- DUECK T. A. & ELDERSON J. 1992. Influence of NH₃ and SO₂ on the growth and competitive ability of Arnica montana L. and Viola canina L. New Phytologist. 122(3): 507-514. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1992.tb00080.x
- DUWE V. K., MULLER L. A. H., BORSCH T. & ISMAIL S. A. 2017. Pervasive genetic differentiation among Central European populations of the threatened Arnica montana L. and genetic erosion at lower elevations. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics. 27: 45-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2017.02.003
- ELLENBERG H., WEBER H. E., DÜLL R., WIRTH V., WERNER W. & PAULIβEN D. 1992. Zeigerwerte von Pflanzen in Mitteleuropa (Indicator values of plants in Central Europe). 2nd ed. Scripta Geobotanica. **18**: 1-258.
- GALLAGHER R. V., ALLEN S. P., GOVAERTS R., RIVERS M. C., ALLEN A. P., KEITH D. A., MEROW C., MAITNER B., BUTT N., AULD T. D., ENQUIST B. J., EISERHARDT W. L., WRIGHT I. J., MIFSUD J. C. O., ESPINOSA-RUIZ S., POSSINGHAM H. & ADAMS V. M. 2023. Global shortfalls in threat

assessments for endemic flora by country. *Plants*, *People*, *Planet*. **5**(6): 885-898. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp3.10369

- HERNÁNDEŻ-YÁÑEZ H., KOS J. T., BAST M. D., GRIGGS J. L., HAGE P. A., KILLIAN A., LOZA M. I., MATTHEW B., WHITMORE M. B. & SMITH A. B. 2016. A systematic assessment of threats affecting the rare plants of the United States. *Biological Conservation*. 203: 260-267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.10.009
- HOLLMANN V., DONATH T. W., GRAMMEL F., HIMMIGHOFEN T., ZERAHN U. & LEYER I. 2020. From nutrients to competition processes: habitat specific threats to Arnica montana L. populations in Hesse, Germany. PLoS ONE. 15(5): e0233709. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0233709
- HUMPHREYS A. M., GOVAERTS R., FICINSKI S. Z., LUGHADHA E. N. & VORONTSOVA M. S. 2019. Global dataset shows geography and life form predict modern plant extinction and rediscovery. *Nature Ecology & Evolution.* 3(7): 1043-1047. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-0906-2
- KATHE W. 2006. Arnica montana in Romania: p. 203-211. In: BOGERS R. J., CRAKER L. E. & LANGE D. (eds.): Medicinal and aromatic plants. Springer, Netherlands: 309 pp.
- LUIJTEN S. H., OOSTERMEIJER J. G. B., LEEUWEN N. C. & den NIJS H. C. M. 1996. Reproductive success and clonal genetic structure of the rare Arnica montana (Compositae) in The Netherlands. Plant Systematics and Evolution. 201: 15-30.
- MARDARI C., DĂNILĂ D., BÎRSAN C., BALAEŞ T., ŞTEFANACHE C. & TĂNASE C. 2015. Plant communities with Arnica montana in natural habitats from the central region of Romanian Eastern Carpathians. Journal of Plant Development. 22: 95-105.
- MARDARI C., BÎRSAN C., ŞTEFANACHE C., ŞCHIOPU R., GRIGORAŞ V., BALAEŞ T., DĂNILĂ D. & TĂNASE C. 2019. Population structure and habitat characteristics of *Arnica montana* L. in the NE Carpathians (Romania). *Tuexenia*. 39: 401-421. https://doi.org/10.14471/2019.39.012
- MAURICE T., COLLING G., MULLER S. & MATTHIES D. 2012. Habitat characteristics, stage structure and reproduction of colline and montane populations of the threatened species Arnica montana. Plant Ecology. 213: 831-842. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-012-0045-1
- MAURICE T., MATTHIES D., MULLER S. & COLLING G. 2016. Genetic structure of colline and montane populations of an endangered plant species. AoB Plants. 8: PLW057. https://doi.org/10.1093/AOBPLA/PLW057
- MUCINA L., BÜLTMANN H., DIERßEN K., THEURILLAT J.-P, RAUS T., ČARNI A., ŠUMBEROVÁ K., WILLNER W., DENGLER J., GAVILÁN GARCÍA R., CHYTRÝ M., HÁJEK M., DI PIETRO R., IAKUSHENKO D., PALLAS J., DANIËLS F. J. A., BERGMEIER E., SANTOS GUERRA A., ERMAKOV N., VALACHOVIČ M., SCHAMINÉE J. H. J., LYSENKO T., DIDUKH Y. P., PIGNATTI S., RODWELL J. S., CAPELO J., WEBER H. E., SOLOMESHCH A., DIMOPOULOS P., AGUIAR C., HENNEKENS S. M. & TICHÝ L. 2016. Vegetation of Europe: hierarchical floristic classification system of vascular plant, bryophyte, lichen, and algal communities. *Applied Vegetation Science*. 19 (Suppl. 1): 3-264. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12257
- OLTEAN M., NEGREAN G., POPESCU A., ROMAN N., DIHORU G., SANDA V. & MIHĂILESCU S. 1994. Lista roșie a plantelor superioare din România. In: *Studii, sinteze, documentații de ecologie*, **I**, Academia Română Institutul de Biologie, Bucuresti: 1-52.
- PĂCURAR F., ROTAR I. & MICHLER B. 2007. The management of meadows with Arnica montana. Lucrări Științifice. Seria Agronomie. USAMV Iași. 50: 372-374.
- PĂCURAR F., REIF A. & RUŞDEA E. 2023. Conservation of oligotrophic grassland of high nature value (HNV) through sustainable use of Arnica montana in the Apuseni Mountains, Romania. p. 177-201. In: FIEBRIG I. N. 2023. Medicinal agroecology. Reviews, case studies, and research methodologies. 1st Edition. Boca Raton: CRC Press. 354 pp. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003146902-12
- PLJEVLJAKUŠIĆ D., JANKOVIĆ T., JELAČIĆ S., NOVAKOVIĆ M., MENKOVIĆ N., BEATOVIĆ D. & DAJIĆ-STEVANOVIĆ Z. 2014. Morphological and chemical characterization of Arnica montana L. under different cultivation models. Industrial Crops and Products. 52: 233-244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2013.10.035
- ROSENTHAL G., SCHRAUTZER J. & EICHBERG C. 2012. Low-intensity grazing with domestic herbivores: A tool for maintaining and restoring plant diversity in temperate Europe. *Tuexenia*. **32**: 167-205.
- ROTAR I., PĂCURAR F., STOIE A., GÂRDA N. & DALE L. 2010. The evolution of Arnica montana L. grasslands depending on the performed management (Apuseni Mountains, Romania). Lucrări Științifice. Seria Agronomie. USAMV Iași. 53: 219-223.
- SÂRBU I., ȘTEFAN N. & OPREA A. 2013. Plante Vasculare din România. Determinator ilustrat de teren. București: Edit. Victor B Victor, 1317 pp.
- SCHMIDT T. J. 2023. Arnica montana L.: doesn't origin matter? Plants. 12 (20): 3532. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12203532

MAIN THREATS AFFECTING ARNICA MONTANA L. IN THE NORTHEASTERN REGION ...

- SHUKLA S. K. 2023. Conservation of medicinal plants: challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Medicinal Botany*. 7: 5-10. https://doi.org/10.25081/jmb.2023.v7.8437
- STRYKSTRA R. J., PEGTEL D. M. & BERGSMA A. 1998. Dispersal distance and achene quality of the rare anemochorous species Arnica montana L.: implications for conservation. Acta Botanica Neerlandica. 47(1): 45-56.
- SUGIER D. 2007. The flowering pattern of Arnica montana L. and A. chamissonis Less. under field cultivation conditions with successive flower head collection. Acta Agrobotanica. 60(2): 133-139. https://doi.org/10.5586/AA.2007.041
- SUGIER D., SUGIER P. & GAWLIK-DZIKI U. 2013. Propagation and introduction of Arnica montana L. into cultivation: a step to reduce the pressure on endangered and high-valued medicinal plant species. Hindawi Publishing Corporation. The Scientific World Journal: 414363. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/414363
- SUGIER P., RYSIAK A., SUGIER D., WINIARCZYK K., WOŁKOWYCKI D. & KOŁOS A. 2022. Differentiation and propagation potential of *Arnica montana* L. achenes as a consequence of the morphological diversity of flowers and the position of flower heads on the plant. *Plants.* 11(24): 3424. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11243424
- SURMACZ-MAGDZIAK A. & SUGIER D. 2012. In vitro propagation of Arnica montana L.: an endangered herbal species of great importance to medicine. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Hortorum Cultus. 11(2): 127-140.
- ***1992. Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora.

How to cite this article:

MARDARI C., BÎRSAN C. C., ŞTEFANACHE C. P. & TĂNASE C. 2024. Main threats affecting Arnica montana L. in the northeastern region of Romanian Carpathians. J. Plant Develop. 31: 207-214. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.963
Research Article

COMPUTATIONAL SCREENING TO IDENTIFY GENES INVOLVED IN DNA REPAIR IN ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA

James MORAN¹, <u>Tim XING</u>^{1*10}

¹ Department of Biology and Institute of Biochemistry, Carleton University, Ottawa ON – Canada. * Corresponding author. E-mail: tim.xing@carleton.ca, ORCID: 0000-0002-8325-0835

Abstract: The repair of damaged DNA is an essential function for living organisms. While great strides have been made in understanding this process in animal and yeast models, our knowledge in plant DNA repair is not as developed. Plants face many sources of DNA damage which they cannot so easily avoid: UV radiation from sunlight, reactive oxygen species produced endogenously by their mitochondria and chloroplasts, reactive oxygen species accumulated while under conditions of cold, heat, or salt stress. Understanding plant DNA repair is particularly relevant as the accumulation of DNA damage can negatively impact the growth and yield of agronomically important species. In this study, a broad classification of genes related to DNA repair in the model dicot *Arabidopsis thaliana* was conducted using gene ontology and gene enrichment analysis. The results of this broad classification serve to elucidate pathways for further study in plant DNA damage response and repair.

Keywords: cell death, DNA repair, gene enrichment analysis, gene ontology, stress response.

Introduction

DNA encodes the necessary instructions for life [CHATTERJEE & WALKER, 2017]. Yet organisms inevitably encounter various sources of damage to their DNA from their environment and their metabolism [EKER & al. 2009], which threaten the genomic integrity of their cells. Damaged DNA, if not repaired, can lead to the impairment of important cellular processes and ultimately cell death [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023]. Thus, the evolution of mechanisms to detect and repair damaged DNA are essential for the survival and perpetuation of living organisms [CHATTERJEE & WALKER, 2017; MANOVA & GRUSZKA, 2015]. This process is believed to be highly conserved across animals, fungi, plants and yeast, although key distinctions remain [GRIN & al. 2023; SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2013].

Much of our understanding of the DNA damage response (DDR) pathway comes from models of mammalian cells due to its pertinence in understanding the development of cancer, the cellular aging process, and the development of certain diseases [GIMENEZ & MANZANO-AGUGLIARO, 2017; GRIN & al. 2023] as well as from work with single celled yeast, but our knowledge in plant DDR lags behind [GIMENEZ & MANZANO-AGUGLIARO, 2017; SINGH & al. 2010]. Nonetheless, important work in the past a few decades, primarily in the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*, has significantly enhanced our understanding of plant DDR [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023].

As the accumulation of DNA damage in plants can negatively impact their growth and yield [MANOVA & GRUSZKA, 2015; SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023], gaining a comprehensive understanding of the plant DDR network has many key applications for the improvement of agronomically important species. Additionally, understanding the plant DDR

Received: 17 June 2024 / Revised: 22 November 2024 / Accepted: 26 November 2024

COMPUTATIONAL SCREENING TO IDENTIFY GENES INVOLVED IN DNA REPAIR ...

network has important applications for precise and efficient gene targeting, insertion, and incorporation of *Agrobacterium*-mediated T-DNA for genome editing and modification [SHEN & LI, 2022].

In contrast to animals, plants are challenged with many additional sources of DNA damage due to their unique life history [GRIN & al. 2023]. As organisms anchored to their environment by their root systems, they are unable to move away from many environmental sources of DNA damage [SPAMPINATO, 2017]. Reliant on photosynthesis, plants are also constantly exposed to the DNA-damaging UV radiation of the sun [YOSHIYAMA & al. 2013]. ROS can accumulate and lead to DNA damage while plants experience various forms of abiotic stress: salt stress, conditions of drought, cold or heat stress, or acidic soils [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023]. Biotic stress from the pathogen attack by fungal, bacterial, or viral pathogens, as well as insect herbivores can also lead to the accumulation of DNA damage for plants [MANOVA & GRUSZKA, 2015; TUTEJA & al. 2008]. Additionally, exposure to genotoxic pollutants or heavy metals in the soil can contribute to the damage of plant DNA GRIN & al. 2023; SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023, WATERWORTH & al. 2011]. Plants can also produce a wide variety of genotoxic secondary metabolites, of which psoralens, topoisomerase inhibitors (camptothecins, podophyllotoxins), and aristolochic acid are probably the best-studied examples [see GRIN & al. 2023]. And some widespread plant protein toxins, such as ribosome-inactivating proteins, also damage DNA [STIRPE & al. 2006].

DNA damage can be classified into two primary categories: damage, breaks, or errors that occur on a single strand of DNA, single stranded breaks (SSB), or damage or breaks to both strands of DNA, double stranded breaks (DSB) [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023]. The latter carries more severe consequences for the cell due to chromosomal fragmentation and the loss of considerable amounts of genetic information [MANOVA & GRUSZKA, 2015]. In response to this damage, plants initiate the DDR pathway. First, DNA damage must be detected. Two sensor kinases of the phosphoinositide-3-kinase-related protein kinase (PIKKs) family, ATM (Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated) and ATR (ATM and Rad3-related) are involved in this process [SHEN & LI, 2022; WATERWORTH & al. 2011]. With ATM being recruited to the sites of DSBs while ATR being recruited to the sites of SSBs or general replication stress [NIMETH & al. 2020; HIRAKAWA & al. 2017]. Both of these proteins then phosphorylate suppressor of gamma 1 (SOG1) which serves as a key regulator of the DDR process in plants and a functional homolog of the animal p53 tumor suppressor protein [YOSHIYAMA, 2015]. From the sensing of DNA damage and the activation of SOG1, an important checkpoint is reached. The cell cycle is arrested to prevent serious genetic errors from being passed forward to daughter cells and to provide the cell with time to repair [GIMENEZ & MANZANO-AGUGLIARO, 2017; LAZZARO & al. 2009].

The main regulator of the DDR pathway in plants, SOG1, activates not only many genes related to DNA repair, but also those related to cell cycle regulation [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023]. Cell cycle arrest is the first effect of DDR activation and is crucial to allow time to repair to avoid transmission of lesions to daughter cells. If an extreme number of DNA lesions occur and DNA repair machinery is not able to fix them, the endoreduplication could be activated [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023]. In this case DNA replication is not followed by mitotic division. This could cause an increase in ploidy level and usually leads to enlargement and differentiation of the cell [LANG & SCHNITTGER, 2020]. Endoreduplication is known to be implicated in various stres responses in plants [LANG & SCHNITTGER, 2020]. If the DNA damage is sensed to be repairable, a variety of DNA repair mechanisms are available to address the specific kind of DNA damage or lesion that has occurred. Or the severity of the

DNA damage may be sensed to be sufficient to warrant progression to programmed cell death [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023].

SSBs may be addressed by nucleotide excision repair (NER), base excision repair (BER), or mismatch repair (MMR) [NIMETH & al. 2020]. Base excision repair addresses modified, damaged, or missing bases [GRIN & al. 2023]. Nucleotide excision repair addresses UV induced lesions and bulky adducts that distort the conformation of the DNA helix [MANOVA & GRUSZKA, 2015]. Mismatch repair addresses various errors that occur during DNA replication, mismatched, wrongly inserted, or deleted bases [SPAMPINATO, 2017]. For SSB repair by NER, BER, or MMR the complementary strand serves as a template for the accurate recovery of sequence information [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023].

DSBs may be addressed through homologous recombination (HR) or through nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ). In the case of homologous recombination, the availability of sister chromatids or homologous chromosomes is required for accurate repair without the loss of sequence information. In the case of non-homologous end joining, fragmented DNA stranded are repaired without the availability of a template and are the prone to errors or loss of sequence information [SHEN & LI, 2022].

With the progress in our understanding of the genetic and biochemical details of these repair processes in plants, the molecular checkpoints and decision between repair, endoreduplication, and programmed cell death in response to DNA damage have yet to be fully understood. Towards this, a more comprehensive network analysis or systems biology view will certainly be a plausible approach as indicated in our previous work in various plant species [ARMAS & XING, 2022; CONROY & al. 2013; YOUNG & al. 2018].

Gene ontology (GO) allows for the classification of genes and gene products into functional categories, i.e. at the level of molecular function, which describes the biochemical activity; at the level of cellular component, which describes the location within the cell; and at the level of biological process, which describes the wider pathway and biological operation [ASHBURNER & al. 2000]. A variety of tools are available for the sorting of gene lists into functional categories in accordance with gene ontology [GE & al. 2020]. In this study we aim to investigate plant DDR using a broad computational screening approach including the widely available and abundant genomic data for *Arabidopsis thaliana*, gene enrichment analysis, and gene ontology. It is the hope that the identification of genes related to DDR in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and their classification into functional categories in accordance with gene ontology will aid in mapping out the DDR process in plants.

Methods

Literature search

A literature search was preformed to obtain a reference list (n=30) of known DNA repair genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* from reputable journal publications by querying the search terms '*Arabidopsis thaliana* anti-cell death genes', '*Arabidopsis thaliana* DNA repair genes', and '*Arabidopsis thaliana* pro-survival genes' into Web of Science and Google Scholar. This list was then used to obtain protein-protein interaction data, gene co-expression data, and genetic interaction data for each reference gene.

Protein-protein interactions

Protein-protein interactions for each of the reference genes were obtained through the use of STRING database (https://string-db.org) [SZKLARCZYK & al. 2023] with a default cutoff score of (score ≥ 0.400).

COMPUTATIONAL SCREENING TO IDENTIFY GENES INVOLVED IN DNA REPAIR ...

Gene co-expressions

Gene co-expression data were obtained using the Bio-Analytic Resource for Plant Biology (https://bar.utoronto.ca) [WAESE & al. 2017] and ePlant expression angler tool therein with a cutoff of the top 25 results for each reference gene.

Genetic interactions

Genetic interactions were obtained using BioGRID Database of Protein, Genetic, and Chemical Interactions (https://thebiogrid.org) [OUGHTRED & al. 2021] with all unique interactions collected for each reference gene.

Gene enrichment analysis and categorization (GO and KEGG)

The protein-protein interaction data, gene co-expression data, and genetic interaction data were compiled together. Genes were ranked according to how many approaches they were found in. Those found in all three approaches were assigned ^{1st} priority, those found in two approaches were assigned 2nd priority, and those found in only one approach were assigned 3rd priority. The compiled data were then entered into the ShinyGO gene enrichment tool (http://bioinformatics.sdstate.edu/go) [GE & al. 2020] with an FDR cutoff of 0.05 for gene ontology enrichment and classification. KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes, https://www.genome.jp/kegg) analysis is integrated and describes how genes and proteins interact in specific pathways and systems.

Results and discussions

DDR-related gene identification

Through the use of STRING database examining protein-protein interactions, BAR ePlant expression angler examining gene co-expression, and BioGRID database examining genetic interactions, a gene list of potential DDR or DDR related genes within the DDR network in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (n=852) were identified from an original list of known DDR genes through literature extraction (n=30 and see Supplementary data Table 1). In the rest of this work, all the related genes in this network will be call DDR-related genes or DDR for simplicity.

The potential *Arabidopsis* DDR genes were ranked by priority in accordance with the number of approaches they were identified in (see Methods section) (Supplementary data Table 2). Of these, an insufficient amount (n=4) fell into 1st priority, being identified in all three approaches, to proceed to gene enrichment analysis. As a result, 1st and 2nd priority (n = 58) were combined for the purposes of enrichment analysis.

The potential *Arabidopsis* DDR genes with the strongest evidence (combined 1st and 2nd priority) were compared to all identified potential *Arabidopsis* DDR genes (1st, 2nd, and 3rd priority) during the following enrichment analysis.

GO Enrichment Analysis

Enrichment analysis and classification into functional GO terminology of our *Arabidopsis* DDR genes provided an interesting mixture of results with some seeming to provide support to previous knowledge in plant DDR while others indicating potential areas for further analysis (Supplementary data Table 2, Figures 1, 2, 3, and 4).



Figure 1. Gene ontology analysis for genes ranked 1st and 2nd priority. Dot plot illustrating the top ten categories by fold enrichment with an FDR cutoff of 0.05 for the following classification systems: A) biological process, B) cellular component, C) molecular component, and D) KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia

of Genes and Genomes).



COMPUTATIONAL SCREENING TO IDENTIFY GENES INVOLVED IN DNA REPAIR ...

Figure 2. Gene ontology analysis for genes of all priorities. Dot plot illustrating the top ten categories by fold enrichment with an FDR cutoff of 0.05 for the following classification systems: A) biological process, B) cellular component, C) molecular component, and D) KEGG.



Figure 3. Gene ontology analysis with network plot for genes ranked 1st and 2nd priority. Network plot illustrating the connections between the top ten categories by fold enrichment with an FDR cutoff of 0.05 and an edge cutoff of 0.3 for the following classification systems: A) biological process, B) cellular component, C) molecular component, D) KEGG. Edge thickness indicates greater shared genes between pathways. Darker nodes indicate higher enrichment. Node size indicates the number of genes.



Figure 4. Gene ontology analysis with network plot for genes of all priorities. Network plot illustrating the connections between the top ten categories by fold enrichment with an FDR cutoff of 0.05 and an edge cutoff of 0.3 for the following classification systems: A) biological process, B) cellular component, C) molecular component, D) KEGG. Edge thickness indicates greater shared genes between pathways. Darker nodes indicate higher enrichment. Node size indicates the number of genes.

Biological process

At the level of biological process, when analysing genes with the greatest support (1st and 2nd priority), the top 10 GO terms by fold enrichment were: meiosis I, meiosis I cell cycle process, double strand break repair, DNA repair, meiotic cell cycle, cellular response to DNA damage stimulus, DNA recombination, DNA metabolic process, cellular response to stress, and regulation of response to stimulus.

When analyzing genes from all priorities, the top 10 GO terms by fold enrichment were: DNA recombination, DNA repair, cellular response to DNA damage stimulus, DNA metabolic process, cellular response to stress, negative regulation of a biological process, cellular response to chemical stimulus, biological process involved in interspecies interaction between organisms, defense response, and response to oxygen containing compound.

The return of GO terms such as 'DNA repair', 'DNA recombination', 'double strand break repair' and 'cellular response to DNA damage stimulus' among others, provide support that our identified genes fall within the realm of DDR network at the biological process level.

The return of GO terms 'meiosis I', 'meiosis I cell cycle process', and 'meiotic cell cycle' in combination with 'DNA recombination' and 'double strand break repair' when analysing genes with the greatest support (1st and 2nd priority), seems to be suggestive of the homologous recombination DNA repair network. As during meiosis, sister chromatids become available as a template for homologous recombination repair of double strand breaks [LUI & al. 2022]. This pathway is even more clear when observing the bubble figure (Figure 3A).

Cellular Component

At the level of cellular component, when analysing genes with the greatest support (1st and 2nd priority) the top 10 GO terms by fold enrichment were: nucleotide excision repair complex, DNA repair complex, condensed nuclear chromosome, cul4-RING E3 ubiquitin ligase complex, cullin-RING ubiquitin ligase complex, ubiquitin ligase complex, transferase complex, intracellular protein-containing complex, nuclear lumen, and membrane enclosed lumen.

When analyzing genes from all priorities, the top 10 GO terms by fold enrichment were: condensed chromosome, cul4-RING E3 ubiquitin ligase complex, chromosome, nuclear lumen, nuclear protein-containing complex, membrane enclosed lumen, organelle lumen, intracellular organelle lumen, non-membrane-bounded organelle, and intracellular non-membrane-bounded organelle.

The return of the GO terms 'condensed nuclear chromosome', 'chromosome', 'nuclear lumen', 'organelle lumen' among others provides support that our genes and gene products are active at the sites of DNA within the cell - the nucleus, chloroplasts, and mitochondria.

The appearance of the GO terms 'cul4-RING E3 ubiquitin ligase complex', 'cullin-RING ubiquitin ligase complex', and 'ubiquitin ligase complex' presents an interesting opportunity for further study and may be related to cell cycle regulation through ubiquitination [SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023]. This process also appears to have a relation with nucleotide excision repair (Figure 3B).

Molecular Function

At the level of molecular function, when analysing genes with the greatest support (1st & 2nd priority), the top 10 GO terms by fold enrichment were: ATP-dependant DNA damage sensor activity, small molecule sensor activity, protein-macromolecule adaptor activity, molecular adaptor activity, double stranded DNA binding, transcription cis-regulatory region

COMPUTATIONAL SCREENING TO IDENTIFY GENES INVOLVED IN DNA REPAIR ...

binding, transcription regulatory region nucleic acid binding, DNA-binding transcription factor activity, and transcription regulator activity.

When analysing genes from all priorities, the top 10 GO terms by fold enrichment were: mis-matched DNA binding, ATP-dependant DNA damage sensor activity, small molecule sensor activity, damaged DNA binding, catalytic activity acting on DNA, double stranded DNA binding, catalytic activity acting on a nucleic acid, sequence specific double stranded DNA binding, sequence specific DNA binding.

The return of the GO terms 'ATP-dependant DNA damage sensor activity', 'double stranded DNA binding', and 'catalytic activity acting on a nucleic acid' among others provides further support that our identified genes are within the realm of DDR and their potential action via DNA. The network seen in (Figure 4C) for all gene priorities appears to show a pathway-like relationship for mismatch repair.

KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes)

Enrichment analysis using KEGG terminology, when analysing genes with the greatest support (1st & 2nd priority) the top ten GO terms by fold enrichment were: non-homologous end joining, homologous recombination, nucleotide excision repair, base excision repair, mismatch repair, MAPK signaling pathway, ubiquitin mediated proteolysis, and plant-pathogen interaction.

In the enrichment analysis of genes of all priorities using KEGG terminology, the top 10 GO terms by fold enrichment were: non-homologous end joining, mismatch repair, base excision repair, homologous recombination, nucleotide excision repair, DNA replication, MAPK signaling pathway, nucleocytoplasmic transport, plant pathogen interaction, and plant hormone signal transduction.

The return of the KEGG terms 'non homologous end joining' and 'homologous recombination' for our high priority genes (1st and 2nd priority) provides support for the importance of addressing DSBs in plant DDR. The return of the KEGG terms 'MAPK signaling pathway' and 'plant pathogen interaction' suggests a possible involvement of MAP kinase pathway in cell death and DDR in *Arabidopsis* biotic stress response and offers an interesting area for further study.

NHEJ was observed as the KEGG term with the greatest fold enrichment for both data sets, which appears indicative of the importance of NHEJ in plant DDR. DSBs are the most serious form of DNA damage [MANOVA & GRUSZKA, 2015], and our results appear supportive of NHEJ as the dominant repair mechanism in addressing them over HR in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. This is supportive of previous knowledge of plant DDR in which plants share the predominance of NHEJ in addressing DSBs over HR with animals and in contrast with yeast, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* [SHEN & LI, 2022].

In Figure 3 D, for genes with the greatest support $(1^{st} \text{ and } 2^{nd} \text{ priority})$, the nodes for NHEJ and HR were connected, which indicates >20% of shared genes between the two pathways. This may be due to both addressing the repair of DSBs [SHEN & LI, 2022]. Relations were also shown between mismatch repair and base excision repair, both of which act on SSBs and damaged or mismatched bases [GRIN & al. 2023; NIMETH & al. 2020]. Relations were shown between NER and ubiquitin mediated proteolysis, which was also observed previously at the level of cellular component. In addition, the return of the KEGG terms 'non-homologous end joining', 'homologous recombination', 'nucleotide excision repair', 'base excision repair', and 'mismatch repair' for both gene lists provide further support that our identified genes fall within the realm of the DDR network.

Conclusions

The appearance in multiple approaches (protein-protein interactions, gene coexpressions, and genetic interactions) as well as the results of GO gene enrichment analysis at the levels of biological process, cellular component, molecular function, and KEGG provide compounding support that our identified genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* fall within the realm of the DDR network.

Results from GO enrichment analysis such as the relation between NER and ubiquitin mediated proteolysis or the appearance of MAPK signaling pathway provide interesting areas for future study. We have identified a select number of genes (n = 20, Supplementary data Table 3) of high priority (1st and 2nd priority) related to DDR that fall into the GO categories of 'cell cycle process' or 'meiotic cell cycle' or are MAP kinases that may be of interest for immediate future study in relation to the DDR network in *Arabidopsis thaliana*.

With the wide availability of genomic data on *Arabidopsis thaliana* as well as programs for GO enrichment analysis the results of this brief study only begin to scratch the surface of investigation into the plant DDR network through computational means. It is the hope that the results of this broad scale screening and classification of DNA repair related genes in *Arabidopsis thaliana* will serve as an important basis for future studies in plant DNA repair.

Understanding the DNA repair network is critical in improving the resistance of plants to a wide variety of abiotic and biotic stresses [GAO & al. 2022; SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA & al. 2023] as well as for providing a means of efficient genome modification [MANOVA & GRUSZKA, 2015; SHEN & LI, 2022]. By gaining a strong understanding of the plant DDR network in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, we set the stage to progress to applying this knowledge for the improvement of agriculturally important crop species [GRIN & al. 2023].

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a research grant to Tim XING from Bayer Crop Science Inc. and Carleton University, Canada.

References

- ARMAS F. & XING T. 2022. Investigating protein partners of AtMKK1 as part of the MAPK signaling pathway during salt stress. Journal of Plant Development. 29: 141-150. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2022.29.1.917
- ASHBURNER M., BALL C. A., BLAKE J. A., BOTSTEIN D., BUTLER H., CHERRY J. M., DAVIS A. P., DOLINSKI K., DWIGHT S. S., EPPIG J. T., HARRIS M. A., HILL D. P., ISSEL-TARVER L., KASARSKIS A., LEWIS S., MATESE J. C., RICHARDSON J. E., RINGWALD M., RUBIN G. M. & SHERLOCK G. 2000. Gene Ontology: tool for the unification of biology. *Nature Genetics*. 25: 25-29. https://doi.org/10.1038/75556
- BURKE R., MCCABE A., SONAWANE N. R., RATHOD M. H., WHELAN C. V., MCCABE P. F. & KACPRZYK J. 2023. Arabidopsis cell suspension culture and RNA sequencing reveal regulatory networks underlying plant-programmed cell death. The Plant Journal. 115: 1465-1485. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.16407
- CHATTERJEE N. & WALKER G. C. 2017. Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair, and mutagenesis. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*. **58**(5): 235-263. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.22087
- CHRISTIANSON J. A., WILSON I. W., LLEWELLYN D. J. & DENNIS E. S. 2009. The low-oxygen-induced NAC domain transcription factor ANAC102 affects viability of *Arabidopsis* seeds following low-oxygen treatment. *Plant Physiology*. 149: 1724-1738. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.131912
- CONROY C., CHING J., GAO Y., WU X.J., RAMPITSCH C. & XING T. 2013. Knockout of AtMKK1 enhances salt tolerance and modifies metabolic activities in *Arabidopsis. Plant Signaling & Behavior.* 8(5): e24206. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.24206
- DAVLETOVA S., SCHLAUCH K., COUTU J. & MITTLER R. 2005. The zinc-finger protein Zat12 plays a central role in reactive oxygen and abiotic stress signaling in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology.* 139: 847-856. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.105.068254

COMPUTATIONAL SCREENING TO IDENTIFY GENES INVOLVED IN DNA REPAIR ...

- DING Z., LI S., AN X., LIU X., QIN H. & WANG D. 2009. Transgenic expression of MYB15 confers enhanced sensitivity to abscisic acid and improved drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Journal of Genetics and Genomics. 36: 17-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1673-8527(09)60003-5
- DOLL J., MUTH M., RIESTER L., NEBEL S., BRESSON J., LEE H. C. & ZENTGRAF U. 2020. Arabidopsis thaliana WRKY25 transcription factor mediates oxidative stress tolerance and regulates senescence in a redox-dependent manner. Frontiers in Plant Science. 10:1734. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01734
- DUTTA A., CHOUDHARY P., GUPTA-BOUDER P., CHATTERJEE S., LIU P. P., KLESSIG D. F. & RAINA R. 2020. Arabidopsis SMALL DEFENSE-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 1 modulates pathogen defense and tolerance to oxidative stress. Frontiers in Plant Science. 11: 703. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00703
- EKER A. P. M., QUAYLE C., CHAVES I. & VAN DER HORST G. T. J. 2009. DNA repair in mammalian cells. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 66: 968-980. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-009-8735-0
- GE X., DIETRICH C., MATSUNO M., LI G., BERG H. & XIA Y. 2005. An Arabidopsis aspartic protease functions as an anticell-death component in reproduction and embryogenesis. *EBMO reports.* 6(3): 282-288. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400357
- GE S. X., JUNG D. & YAO R. 2020. ShinyGO: a graphical gene-set enrichment tool for animals and plants. *Bioinformatics*. 36(8): 2628-2629. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btz931
- GAO Y., GALBARAKY A. O. & XING T. 2022. Cell death and anti-cell death in two wheat cultivars and the implication of their involvement in disease response *Journal of Plant Development*. 29: 151-158. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2022.29.1.914
- GIMENEZ E. & MANZANO-AGUGLIARO F. 2017. DNA damage repair system in plants: a worldwide research update. Genes. 8(11): 299. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes8110299
- GRIN I. R., PETROVA D. V., ENDUTKIN A. V., MA C., YU B., LI H. & ZHARKOV D. O. 2023. Base excision DNA repair in plants: Arabidopsis and beyond. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 24(19): 14746. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms241914746
- HE S., TAN G., LIU Q., HUANG K., REN J., ZHANG X., YU X., HUANG P. & AN C. 2011. The LSD1-interacting protein GILP is a LITAF domain protein that negatively regulates hypersensitive cell death in *Arabidopsis. PLoS One*. 6:e18750. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018750
- HIRAKAWA T., HASEGAWA J., WHITE C. I. & MATSUNAGA S. 2017. RAD54 forms DNA repair foci in response to DNA damage in living plant cells. *The Plant Journal*. 90: 372-382. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13499
- IWATA Y., FEDOROFF N. V. & KOIZUMI N. 2008. Arabidopsis bZIP60 is a proteolysis-activated transcription factor involved in the endoplasmic reticulum stress response. The Plant Cell. 20: 3107-3121. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.108.061002
- LANG L. & SCHNITTGER A. 2020. Endoreplication a means to an end in cell growth and stress response. Current Opinion in Plant Biology. 54: 85-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2020.02.006
- LAZZARO F., GIANNATTASIO M., PUDDU F., GRANATA M., PELLICIOLI A., PLEVANI P. & MUZI-FALCONI M. 2009. Checkpoint mechanisms at the intersection between DNA damage and repair. *DNA Repair*. 8: 1055-1067. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2009.04.022
- LIU X., CAO Y., DU G., ZHANG C., XU M., CHENG Z., SHEN Y. & YU H. 2022. OsRAD51 Plays a vital role in promoting homologous recombination in rice meiosis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 23: 9906. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23179906
- LOKDARSHI A., CONNER W. C., MCCLINTOCK C., LI T. & ROBERTS D. M. 2016. Arabidopsis CML38, a calcium sensor that localizes to ribonucleoprotein complexes under hypoxia stress. Plant Physiology. 170: 1046-1059. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.15.01407
- MANOVA V. & GRUSZKA D. 2015. DNA damage and repair in plants-from models to crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 6: 885. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00885
- MITTLER R., KIM Y., SONG L., COUTU J., COUTU A., CIFTCI-YILMAZ S., LEE H., STEVENSON B. & ZHU J. K. 2006. Gain- and loss-of-function mutations in Zat10 enhance the tolerance of plants to abiotic stress. *FEBS Letters*. 580: 6537-6542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2006.11.002
- NIMETH B. A., RIEGLER S. & KALYNA M. 2020. Alternative splicing and DNA damage response in plants. Frontiers in Plant Science. 11: 91. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00091
- OUGHTRED R., RUST J., CHANG C., BREITKREUTZ B. J., STARK C., WILLEMS A., BOUCHE L., LEUNG G., KOLAS N., ZHANG F., DOLMA S., COULOMBE-HUNTINGTON J., CHATR-ARYAMONTRI A., DOLINSKI K. & TYERS M. 2021. The BioGRID database: a comprehensive biomedical resource of curated protein, genetic, and chemical interactions. *Protein Science*. **30**(1): 187-200. https://doi.org/10.1002/pro.3978
- SHEN H. & LI Z. 2022. DNA double-strand break repairs and their application in plant DNA integration. Genes 13: 322. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes13020322

- SINGH S. K., ROY S., CHOUDHURY S. R. & SENGUPTA D. N. 2010. DNA repair and recombination in higher plants: insights from comparative genomics of *Arabidopsis* and rice. *BMC Genomics*. 11: 443. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-443
- SONG J., KEPPLER B. D., WISE R. R. & BENT A. F. 2015. PARP2 Is the predominant poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase in Arabidopsis DNA damage and immune responses. PLoS Genetics. 11(5): e1005200. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005200
- SPAMPINATO C. P. 2017. Protecting DNA from errors and damage: an overview of DNA repair mechanisms in plants compared to mammals. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 74: 1693-1709. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-016-2436-2
- STIRPE F. & BATTELLI M. G. 2006. Ribosome-inactivating proteins: progress and problems. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 63(16): 1850-1866. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-006-6078-7
- SZKLARCZYK D., KIRSCH R., KOUTROULI M., NASTOU K., MEHRYARY F., HACHILIF R., GABLE A. L., FANG T., DONCHEVA N. T., PYYSALO S., BORK P., JENSEN L. J. & VON MERING C. 2023. The STRING database in 2023: protein-protein association networks and functional enrichment analyses for any sequenced genome of interest. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 51(D1): D638-D646. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkac1000
- SZURMAN-ZUBRZYCKA M., JEDRZEJEK P. & SZAREJKO I. 2023. How do plants cope with dna damage? a concise review on the ddr pathway in plants. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 24(3): 2404. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24032404
- TUTEJA N., AHMAD P., PANDA B. B., & TUTEJA R. 2008. Genotoxic stress in plants: shedding light on DNA damage, repair and DNA repair helicases. *Mutation Research*. 681: 134-149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2008.06.004
- WAESE J., FAN J., PASHA A., YU H., FUCILE G., SHI R., CUMMING M., KELLEY L. A., STERNBERG M. J., KRISHNAKUMAR V., FERLANTI E., MILLER J., TOWN C., STUERZLINGER W. & PROVART N. J. 2017. ePlant: visualizing and exploring multiple levels of data for hypothesis generation in plant biology. *The Plant Cell*. 29(8): 1806-1821. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.17.00073
- WANG W., LI X., ZHU M., TANG X., WANG Z., GUO K., ZHOU Y., SUN Y., ZHANG W. & LI X. 2019. Arabidopsis GAAP1 to GAAP3 play redundant role in cell death inhibition by suppressing the upregulation of salicylic acid pathway under endoplasmic reticulum stress. Frontiers in Plant Science 10: 1032. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01032
- WATANABE N. & LAM E. 2006. Arabidopsis Bax inhibitor-1 functions as an attenuator of biotic and abiotic types of cell death. The Plant Journal. 45(6): 884-894. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006.02654.x
- WATERWORTH W. M., DRURY G. E., BRAY C. M. & WEST C. E. 2011. Repairing breaks in the plant genome: the importance of keeping it together. *New Phytologist.* 192(4): 805-822. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03926.x
- YANG S., YANG H., GRISAFI P., SANCHATJATE S., FINK G. R., SUN Q. & HUA J. 2006. The BON/CPN gene family represses cell death and promotes cell growth in *Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal.* 45(2): 166-179. https://10.1111/j.1365-313X.2005.02585.x
- YANG Y., LIU X., ZHANG W., QIAN Q., ZHOU L., LIU S., LIY. & HOU X. 2021. Stress response proteins NRP1 and NRP2 are pro-survival factors that inhibit cell death during ER stress. *Plant Physiology*. 187(3): 1414-1427. https://doi.org/10.1093/plphys/kiab335
- YIN C., SUN A., GUO T., MAO X. & FANG Y. 2023. Arabidopsis lamin-like proteins CRWN1 and CRWN2 interact with SUPPRESSOR OF NPR1-1 INDUCIBLE 1 and RAD51D to prevent DNA damage. The Plant Cell. 35(9): 3345-3362. https://doi.org/10.1093/plcell/koad169
- YOSHIYAMA K. O. 2015. SOG1: a master regulator of the DNA damage response in plants. Genes & Genetic Systems. 90: 209-216. https://doi.org/10.1266/ggs.15-00011
- YOSHIYAMA K. O., ŠAKAGUCHI K. & KIMURA S. 2013. DNA damage response in plants: conserved and variable response compared to animals. *Biology*. 2: 1338-1356. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology2041338
- YOUNG R., GORELICK R. & XING T. 2018. Seasonal bulk xylem pressure in temperate broadleaf eudicot trees: a case study for sugar long distance transport and signaling. *Tree Genetics & Genomes* 14: 56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11295-018-1272-y
- ZHAO L., HE X., SHANG Y., BAO C., PENG A., LEI X., HAN P., MI D. & SUN Y. 2020. Identification of potential radiationresponsive biomarkers based on human orthologous genes with possible roles in DNA repair pathways by comparison between Arabidopsis thaliana and Homo sapiens. Science of the Total Environment. 702: 135076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135076

How to cite this article:

MORAN J. & XING T. 2024. Computational screening to identify genes involved in DNA repair in Arabidopsis thaliana. J. Plant Develop. 31: 215-227. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.943

Research Article

ARABIDOPSIS ATMKK1 KNOCKOUT MUTANT FLOWERS UNDER SHORT DAY CONDITIONS

Chad CONROY¹, Khadijah M. NIZAM¹, <u>Tim XING^{1*}</u>

¹Department of Biology and Institute of Biochemistry, Carleton University, Ottawa ON – Canada. * Corresponding author. E-mail: tim.xing@carleton.ca, ORCID: 0000-0002-8325-0835

Abstract: There are a variety of conditions that regulate flowering time in *Arabidopsis*, but there are no reported instances mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways playing a decisive role in flowering time. Our work has indicated that when long-day plant *Arabidopsis* mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 1 (*AtMKK1*) was knocked out, *Arabidopsis* plants flowered under short day conditions. Possible mechanisms are discussed.

Keywords: flowering time, mitogen-activated protein kinase, photoperiod.

Introduction

Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways represent a crucial regulatory mechanism in plant development [JAGODZIK & al. 2018; RODRIGUEZ & al. 2010]. Light, as a signal, is critical in plant growth and development and plants are acutely sensitive to seasonal, daily and moment-to-moment variations in solar radiation [MATSUBARA & al. 2014]. The light environment can convey information through variations in at least four dimensions, i.e. quality (the balance of photons of different wavelengths), quantity (energy flux), direction, and periodicity (relative length of day and night). However, with evidenced critical roles of both MAPK pathways and photoperiod in plant development, the involvement of MAPK pathways in photoperiod regulation is lacking. AtMKK1 (accession number AY050774; unique gene ID AT4G26070) is a stress response kinase that can activate the MAP kinases AtMPK3, AtMPK4 and AtMPK6 [RODRIGUEZ & al. 2010; MENG & ZHANG, 2013]. In our previous study, knockout of AtMKK1 enhanced salt tolerance during both germination and adulthood and proteomic analysis indicated that the level of the α subunit of mitochrondrial H⁺-ATPase, mitochrondial NADH dehydrogenase and mitochrondrial formate dehydrogenase was enhanced in AtMKK1 knockout mutants upon high salinity stress [CONROY & al. 2013]. Here we report our observation of bolting in Arabidopsis AtMKK1 knockout line under a short day condition.

Material and methods

Selection of mutant plants and plant growth conditions were as described previously [CONROY & al. 2013]. Primers for SALK_027645 (*mkk1-2*) were selected from approximately 40 bp upstream of the insert, forward 5'-TATTTGGAGCTTGGGACTGG-3' and downstream of the insertion reverse 5'-GCGAGATGAAGGAGCAAAAC-3'. The third primer used to identify knockouts was the Signal LBA1 primer 5'-TGGTTCACGTAGTGGGCCATCG-3'. There were two rounds of PCR. One using the left and right primers to identify wild-type alleles

ARABIDOPSIS ATMKK1 KNOCKOUT MUTANT FLOWERS UNDER SHORT DAY CONDITIONS

and the second using the left primer with the LBA1 primer to identify the T-DNA insertions. RT-PCR was carried out under the following conditions: 94 °C for 1 min; 1 min at 94 °C, 1 min at 61 °C, and 1 min at 72 °C for 25 cycles; and then 10 min at 72 °C.

For long day conditions the chamber was set to sixteen hours of light and eight hours of dark all at 22 °C. For short day conditions, the lights were on for eight hours and off for sixteen hours again at a constant temperature of 22 °C. Wild type and A31 knockout line seeds were all sterilized using 70% ethanol for two minutes followed by a solution of 30% bleach and 0.02% Triton X-100 for eight minutes. After surface sterilization was complete the seeds were rinsed eight to ten times with sterile water and the seeds were then stratified by placing the seeds on MS medium at 4 °C for four days. They were then moved to growth chamber A (short day) and chamber B (long day). After ten days the plants were transferred from the plates into sterile soil and continued to grow in growth chambers.

Results and discussions

Arabidopsis development is photoperiod sensitive [GUO & al. 1998]. *Arabidopsis* as a long day plant followed normal growth patterns, bolting at 4-5 weeks and seeds were ready to be harvested by 8 weeks (Table 1). In contrast the short day plants followed normal short day growth and the wild type plants did not enter reproductive growth at any point. This can be contrasted to the appearance of the mutant plants. As can be seen in Figure 1C there was evidence that the plants had indeed entered reproductive growth. There was no significant difference in rosette leaf development (Table 1).

Plants	Rosette leaf number	Flowering plants (%)	
Col-0 LD	13.84±0.26	100±0	
A31 LD	13.36±0.47	100±0	
Col-0 SD	13.45±0.83	0 ± 0	
A31 SD	13.62±1.06	41±2.16	

Table 1. Rosette leaf numbers (35-day-old) and percentage of plants that flowered (at 8 weeks). Data based on three repeats of experiments with standard deviation. LD: long-day; SD: short-day.

The earlier flowering of AtMKK1 mutants under short days was unexpected. *AtMKK1* is commonly considered a defense responsive gene with few members of kinase cascades impacting upon the development of *Arabidopsis* [GAO & al. 2008; COLCOMBERT & HIRT, 2008]. This being said, there are still many roles and functions for MAPK pathway components that have yet to be identified. The impact of AtMKK1 on plant development has not been examined on any significant level, but the preliminary results showing the ability of *AtMKK1* mutant A31 to respond to changes in photoperiod indicated a significant phenotypic variation. More importantly, all of the bolted plants displayed fully formed siliques, flowers, as well as browning siliques ready for harvest.



Figure 1. A. Insertion site of knockout mutant of *AtMKK1* (SALK_027645) is in the fifth intron. Line segments represent exons, dark boxes represent introns, and light boxes represent untranslated 5' or 3' flanking regions. **B.** Homozygous mutants for SALK_027645. Lane 1 shows the 1 kb ladder. Lane 2 shows the presence of the wild type AtMKK1 gene as seen in the band near the 220 kb marker. Lane 3 with no band shows that this sample contains the T-DNA insertion preventing PCR from running due to the size of the insert. PCR was performed three times to confirm the results. **C.** Wild type and knockout line A31 plants grown in 8 hours light and 16 hours of darkness after 8 weeks. This experiment was performed three times with similar results.

There are a variety of conditions that regulate flowering time in *Arabidopsis*, but there are no reported instances MAPKs, MAPKKs, or MAPKKKs playing a decisive role in flowering time. There are several environmental conditions, hormonal responses, and genetic variables that can lead to changes in the ability of *Arabidopsis* to thrive, or at least reproduce faster under short day conditions. These conditions are notable. Changes in light conditions, such as altering photoperiod or switching from short day to long day, can trigger bolting or planting in long day and then switching to short day can also affect bolting time [GUO & al. 1998; NAKATSUKA & al. 2009; SONG & al. 2013]. Changes to the intensity or wavelength of light can also cause *Arabidopsis* to bolt [CERDAN & CHORY, 2003]. Changes in the vernalization of *Arabidopsis*, through lowered temperatures during growth, or by increasing stratification time can also play a role in altering the ability of *Arabidopsis* to bolt [SONG & al. 2013]. Plants in this study, both wild type and *AtMKK1* mutants, were grown under the same temperature conditions and all seeds were stratified for the same amount of time and under the same conditions, 4 °C in the dark. This rules out changes in the vernalization as the triggering factor in the early bolting of the *AtMKK1* mutants. Once the environmental effectors have been ruled out the only remaining

ARABIDOPSIS ATMKK1 KNOCKOUT MUTANT FLOWERS UNDER SHORT DAY CONDITIONS

possibilities are that there needs to be a genetic or hormonal response in the *AtMKK1* mutant plants allowing the plants to break free from their short day induced vegetative state.

The primary hormones responsible for the initiation of bolting under short day conditions are gibberellins (GA) [WILSON & al. 1992; SONG & al. 2013]. There is little support for AtMKK1 interacting with GA. AtMKK1 is primarily linked with defensive hormones such as jasmonic acid or salicylic acid, as well as some recent links to ABA [Xing & al. 2008]. AtMKK1 appears to have no relationship with GA and in fact there are few if any MAPK cascade kinases that have been linked to GA [COLCOMBERT & HIRT, 2008]. The lack of characterization of MAPK cascades however does not rule out the possibility of AtMKK1 playing a role in a GA pathway directly or indirectly. AtMKK1 does play a role in regulating ABA sensitivity and AtMKK1 mutants show reduced sensitivity to ABA [Xing & al. 2008]. There are ABA deficient and ABA insensitive mutants that exhibit early signs of bolting [BERNIER & al. 1993; BERNIER & PÉRILLEUX, 2005; DOMAGALSKA & al. 2010]. The ability of ABA deficient or insensitive mutants to bolt under short day conditions provides an interesting potential hypothesis to explain the effects of AtMKK1 upon early bolting. Due to the large numbers of short day AtMKK1 mutant plants that were capable of bolting, and due to the reported positive regulatory link to ABA in AtMKK1, the reduced sensitivity towards ABA could be the source of the early bolting.

Environmental factors, hormonal responses and genetic components all play a role in controlling the flowering time in *Arabidopsis*. There is a possibility that AtMKK1 does impact upon the expression level of photoperiod sensitive genes but there is little to no evidence to support that possibility at this time. A study with CRISPR gene editing of multiple members of MAPK cascade components in rice showed that loss-of-function mutations in *OsMPK1* and *OsMPK6* are unfavorable and an enrichment of inherited open reading frame-preserving mutations for *OsMPK1* and *OsMPK6* genes was found in T1 plants [MINKENBERG & al. 2017]. We could assume that a mutation of an essential MAPK pathway component may have a pleiotropic effect, which may include our observations in this study.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by research grants to T.X. from Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada and Bayer Crop Science Inc.

References

- BERNIER G., HAVELANGE A., HOUSSA C., PETITJEAN A. & LEJEUNE P. 1993. Physiological signals that induce flowering. *Plant Cell*. 5: 1147-1155. http://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.5.10.1147
- BERNIER G. & PÉRILLEUX C. 2005. A physiological overview of the genetics of flowering time control. Plant Biotechnology Journal. 3: 3-16. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7652.2004.00114.x
- CERDÁN P. D. & CHORY J. 2003. Regulation of flowering time by light quality. *Nature*. **423**: 881-885. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature01636
- COLCOMBET J. & HIRT H. 2008. Arabidopsis MAPKs: a complex signalling network involved in multiple biological processes. Biochemical Journal. 413: 213-226. http://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20080625
- CONROY C., CHING J., GAO Y., WANG X. J., RAMPITSCH C. & XING T. 2013. Knockout of AtMKK1 enhances salt tolerance and modifies metabolic activities in *Arabidopsis. Plant Signaling & Behavior*. 8: e24206. http://doi.org/10.4161/psb.24206
- DOMAGALSKA M. A., SARNOWSKA E., NAGY F. & DAVIS S. J. 2010. Genetic analyses of interactions among gibberellin, abscisic acid, and brassinosteroids in the control of flowering time in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *PLoS* One. 5: e14012. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014012

- GAO M. H., LIU J. M., BI D. L., ZHANG Z. B., CHENG F., CHEN S. F. & ZHANG Y. L. 2008. MEKK1, MKK1/MKK2 and MPK4 function together in a mitogen activated protein kinase cascade to regulate innate immunity in plants. *Cell Research.* 18: 1190-1198. http://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2008.300
- GUO H., YANG H., MOCKLER T. & LIN C. 1998. Regulation of flowering time by *Arabidopsis* photoreceptors. *Science*. **279**: 1360-1363. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.279.5355.1360
- JAGODZIK P., TAJDEL-ZIELINSKA M., CIESLA A., MARCZAK M. & LUDWIKOW A. 2018. Mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades in plant hormone signaling. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 9: 1387. http://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01387
- MATSUBARA K., HORI K., OGISO-TANAKA E. & YANO M. 2014. Cloning of quantitative trait genes from rice reveals conservation and divergence of photoperiod flowering pathways in *Arabidopsis* and rice. *Frontiers in plant science*. 5: 193. http://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00193
- MENG X. & ZHANG S. 2013. MAPK cascades in plant disease resistance signaling. Annual Review of Phytopathology. 51: 245-266. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-082712-102314
- MINKENBERG B., XIE K. & YANG Y. 2017. Discovery of rice essential genes by characterizing a CRISPR-edited mutation of closely related rice MAP kinase genes. *The Plant Journal.* 89: 636-648. http://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13399
- NAKATSUKA T., ABE Y., KAKIZAKI Y., KUBOTA A., SHIMADA N. & NISHIHARA M. 2009. Over-expression of *Arabidopsis* FT gene reduces juvenile phase and induces early flowering in ornamental gentian plants. *Euphytica.* 168: 113-119. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-009-9899-2
- RODRIGUEZ M. C., PETERSEN M. & MUNDY J. 2010. Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 61: 621-49. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042809-112252
- SONG Y. H., ITO S. & IMAIZUMI T. 2013. Flowering time regulation: photoperiod- and temperature-sensing in leaves. Trends in Plant Science. 18: 575-583. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2013.05.003
- WILSON R., HECKMAN J. & SOMERVILLE C. 1992. Gibberellin is required for flowering in Arabidopsis thaliana under short days. Plant Physiology. 100: 403-408. http://doi.org/10.1104/pp.100.1.403
- XING Y., JIA W. & ZHANG J. 2008. AtMKK1 mediates ABA-induced CAT1 expression and H₂O₂ production via AtMPK6-coupled signaling in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal. 54: 440-451. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2008.03433.x

How to cite this article:

CONROY C., NIZAM K. M. & XING T. 2022. Arabidopsis ATMKK1 knockout mutant flowers under short day conditions. J. Plant Develop. 31: 229-233. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.956

USE OF BIOSTIMULATING *SALIX* SOLUTIONS FOR THE VEGETATIVE PROPAGATION OF *CHRYSANTHEMUM*: A REVIEW

Ana COJOCARIU^{1*}, Alina Elena CRÎŞMARU¹, Cristiana Virginia PETRE¹

 ¹ "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of Iaşi – "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, Dumbrava Roşie Street no. 7-9, 700487 Iaşi – Romania.
 ^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail: ana.cojocariu@uaic.ro, ORCID: 0000-0002-3934-0390

Abstract: In the last decades, in horticulture, improving the propagation methods for decorative plants and raising their efficiency became a high priority. Preserving and maintaining the desired plants traits are essential and thus, vegetative reproduction *via* cuttings is usually the preferred way to obtain high quality material. Today, there are plenty of commercially available synthetic products that promise better and faster rooting and development of cuttings, but in most cases the price is very high and the environmental impact, due to their chemical composition, is another thing that must be taken into consideration. Finding new, eco-friendly and natural solutions that promote a better yield, which can be valued both economically and scientifically, determined research in the field and the results are promising. In this paper we aim to compile the present findings from relevant literature, still very scarce, underlining the importance of diversifying the solutions involved in increasing the natural growing and development of roots in plant cuttings, leading to a better percentage of rooting individuals with a minim impact towards the substrate in particular and the environment in general.

Keywords: Chrysanthemum, cuttings, natural extracts, rhizogenesis, willow extract.

Introduction

The chrysanthemum (*Chrysanthemum* s.l.) is one of the most important ornamental species, its production value increasing exponentially because of the fast improvement of the society's living conditions and lifestyle. The commercial varieties of chrysanthemum, especially the ones cultivated in pots, are usually vegetatively propagated *via* cuttings.

Chrysanthemum s.l. belongs to the Asteraceae (Compositae) family and is one of the economically important and favored floricultural crops, ranking second in the cut flower trade after roses [TEIXEIRA DA SILVA & al. 2020]. *Chrysanthemum* has a long history of cultivation; it was first cultivated in China as an herb since the 15th century BC and was then successively introduced in Japan, Europe, and the United States. The ancestry of modern chrysanthemum is still uncertain, but the plant is thought to have emerged mainly as a result of long-term artificial selection of variants belonging to several wild species, including *Chrysanthemum vestitum* (2n = 54), *C. indicum* (2n = 18, 36), *C. lavandulifolium* (2n = 18), *C. nankingense* (2n = 18), and *C. zawadskii* (2n = 54). Cultivated chrysanthemum is a complex hexaploid that also exhibits aneuploidy, in which chromosome numbers vary from 47 to 67 [DOWRICK, 1953; ROXAS & al. 1995]. However, a chromosome number of 54 is the most frequent and stable conformation (2n = 6x = 54) [CHEN & al. 1996; DAI & al. 1998; LIU & al. 2012].

In the last years, research was undertaken to accelerate the rhizogenesis process in many species that show difficulties in developing roots. This aspect mostly focused on using different chemical products (growing or rooting stimulators) to encourage rhizogenesis. The

USE OF BIOSTIMULATING SALIX SOLUTIONS FOR THE VEGETATIVE PROPAGATION ...

successful rooting of *Chrysanthemum* s.l. cuttings was reported under the influence of various factors, including type of cutting, rooting substrate, season, and environmental conditions, such as temperature, light and humidity.

In Romania, very few studies were conducted regarding alternative propagation methods and the conditions that affect the propagation in chrysanthemums [COJOCARIU & al. 2018; COJOCARIU & TĂNASE, 2019]. A part of these studies focuses on both the morphoanatomical and biometric aspects, and on a series of modern approaches of in vitro multiplication of this species. After reviewing the relevant literature, we noticed that the research in the field of chrysanthemum cultivation was centered on the improvement of various flower traits, to increase their ornamental value. These characteristics include color, size and shape of the inflorescence and the quality of production. Although through classical sexual propagation methods the deserved results were obtained, there are some limits, such as restricted genetic diversity, limited cross breeding due to incompatibility and differences in polyploidy between the genitors, different flowering times and unequal growth. As a result, sexual multiplication can alter the balance between the factors that influence the plants' growth and development. A way to create and keep new varieties of plants is by using biotechnological methods. In micropropagation, the most common methods used for these purposes are the stimulation of axillary ramification and in vitro nodal sections cultivation [ROUT & al. 1996; ROUT & al. 2006].

The main methods of vegetative propagation through cuttings involves the stimulation of the plant's fragment tissue, using humidity and light, until the adventitious roots appear (AR) [OWEN & MAYNARD, 2007]. The AR development is a complex process that usually requires special environmental conditions and hormonal stimuli, which are specific to both species and tissue type [AGBO & OBI, 2007]. The modern propagation methods *via* cuttings use complex technologies, such as synthetic vegetal hormones, steam, and fine spraying systems, aeroponics, advanced hygiene systems and protocols to optimize the AR formation and to maximize the reproduction efficiency [PREECE, 2003].

Research history regarding the use of biostimulators in rhizogenesis

Plant biostimulators can be either microorganisms, microbial derivates or mineral, marine and vegetal materials that stimulate the physiological responses of plants, including induced systemic resistance (ISR) and improve nutrient and water absorption, promote plant growth and health, or offer tolerance towards biotic and abiotic stress factors, without having nutritive or phytosanitary properties. This definition covers both the technical and the regulatory aspects of biostimulators. However, there are some exceptions among the bio-stimulating products available on the market, because of the inherent nutritional and pesticide properties of some of their active ingredients [DARA, 2021].

YAKIN & al. (2017) offers a more complex definition, a synthesis of all the variants in the field and describes a biostimulator as a formulated product of biological origin that improves the plants' productivity as a result of the new and emergent properties of its ingredients and not as a unique consequence given by the presence of the plants' essential nutritional substances, growth regulators or plants' protection compounds.

In dicotyledonous plants in general, the AR can be defined as roots that can develop under specific conditions, from organs such as leaves or stems. AR formation in cuttings derived from stem tips with leaves is a crucial physiological process in the propagation of many ornamental plant species. Despite the intensive control over the environmental factors in the modern ornamental plants propagation industry, important economic losses still appear, due to an insufficient rooting [LIU & al. 2013].

Chrysanthemums (*Chrysanthemum* s.l.) have a significant ornamental value and a great economic importance, but their cultivation also involves losses caused by inadequate rooting of cuttings from young stems, which represents the main propagation method used for this culture. The insufficient understanding of the mechanisms that control the AR formation limits the use of efficient technologies for improving the AR development in ornamental plants' cuttings.

The adventitious rooting is a genetic trait and is influenced by many factors, both internal (endogenous), but also environmental (exogenous). One of the endogenous factors with a key role in the AR formation is the auxin. Numerous authors have proved that auxin has the capacity to initiate AR formation. PAGNUSSAT & al. (2002) showed that nitric oxide mediates the auxin response that leads to the development of AR in cucumber, and LIAO & al. (2010) studied the role of nitric oxide in the AR formation process in *Chrysanthemum*. The progressive accumulation and the local concentration of auxin at the base of the cuttings seems to play an important role in rooting initiation. [ACOSTA & al. 2009]. There are clearer studies that demonstrate that AR formation in many ornamental and industrial plant species also depends on the ethylene action [CLARK & al. 1999; SHIBUYA & al. 2004] that is produced following the injury of the plant tissue in cuttings making.

The plants' response to stress created by cutting the stem is a necessary step in the AR formation process [DA COSTA & al. 2013]. Once detached from the mother plant, the cutting must redistribute the remaining resources as fast as it can, to form AR and to reestablish the physiological balance, which allows the resource transfer in various parts of the cutting. Some studies showed that the distribution of carbohydrates in detached cuttings is probably more important than the intrinsic substance content [RUEDELL & al. 2013].

The origin of AR primordia varies anatomically and histologically depending on the species. In Chrysanthemum genus, for stem tip cuttings their formation is initiated in the interfascicular regions of the connection flanks of the pericyclic parenchyma [STANGLER, 1956]. The temperature at which the mother plants and cuttings are being kept influence the metabolism of AR. In the experiment done on Camellia japonica and Chrysanthemum morifolium, OOISHI & al. (1978) observed that the temperature effect on the cuttings can be mediated by carbohydrates' metabolization. The rooting took place in close connection with the temperature: 16%, 36% and 87% of rooted cuttings at 17 °C, 23 °C and 30 °C respectively. Chrysanthemums root earlier at 23 °C or 30 °C, but the root development doesn't continue, probably due to the different effects of the temperature on the primordia initiation and their following development. DYKEMAN (1976) tested the rooting of Chrysanthemum sp. and Forsythia sp. cuttings at 25 °C and 30 °C and observed a faster rooting and more roots forming at 30 °C, but the lengthening of the root, its diameter and the development of root hairs was superior at 25 °C. Another proven fact was that high temperatures favor the initiation of root primordia, while lower temperatures especially encourages the root development. The beneficial influence of higher temperature on the rhizogenesis initiation can be explained by the increase of respiration [OOISHI & al. 1978] and simple sugars catalysis, which are being stored at lower temperatures [HAISSING & al. 1986].

Considering the aspects of the root initiation and development stimulation, it is well known that AR formation in plants can be stimulated by the exogenous application of nitric oxide (NO) and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), but the mechanism of this physiological response is still unclear. Research regarding the chrysanthemums were undertaken to understand the effects of NO and H₂O₂ on the cuttings rooting process and the biochemical changes inside the rooting

USE OF BIOSTIMULATING SALIX SOLUTIONS FOR THE VEGETATIVE PROPAGATION ...

area during rhizogenesis. The results showed that NO and H_2O_2 influence the rooting of chrysanthemums cuttings depending on their doses, with a maximum biological response at 50 μ M sodium nitroprusside (SNP) as donor of NO and 200 μ M H_2O_2 . Also proven was a synergic effect between NO and H_2O_2 on the rooting mediation. NO and H_2O_2 treatments at adequate doses could increase the activity of polyphenol oxidase (PPO) and indoleacetic acid oxidase (IAAO) as well as the soluble carbohydrate content and total nitrogen, and at the same time decrease the total amount of polyphenols in the chrysanthemum cuttings. Moreover, the rooting percentage was significantly correlated with these activities or contents of the biochemical constituents. Together, these results indicated that NO and H_2O_2 treatments improved the AR development synergically and independently through the stimulation of PPO and IAAO activities and the carbohydrates and nitrogen content, simultaneously repressing the production of polyphenols [LIAO & al. 2010]. Similar biostimulating effects were observed for *Aloe vera* extract, including an accelerated plant and biomass growth, root development and oil production [EL SHERIF, 2017; HAMOUDA & al. 2012].

Research history regarding the use of Salix sp. extract

Salix genus includes mostly trees and sub-trees belonging to Salicaceae family, which comprises over 450 species, distributed all over the world and colonizing riparian habitats, including wet areas and water banks [ARGUS, 1997].

The willow bark extracts were extensively studied because of their medicinal implications and their role in plant-herbivores interactions. It was reported the presence of various secondary metabolites, such as salicin, triandrin, (+)-catechin, picein and salicortin, as well as polymeric tannins, but the content of these compounds varies a lot depending on the species, plant age, growth season and the solvent used for extraction [DOU & al. 2018]. The extraction with warm water represents a practical and cheap method to isolate the non-cellular substances from willow bark, having a significant yield, in a brief time. Time wise, it was proven that the extraction yield was high even after only 5 minutes, increasing up to 60 minutes and then remained relatively constant during long-time treatments. Raising the temperature from 60 to 80 °C led to a significant yield increase and further, raising the temperature up to 100 °C lowered the yield because of the partial degradation and/or extract precipitation at elevated temperature [DOU & al. 2018].

The willow extract was used for thousands of years in medicine for its analgesic effect and traditionally as a treatment for muscular osteoarthritic rheumatism, inflammation and pain, flu and respiratory problems, arthritis, gout, spondylitis, and rheumatoid arthritis, as well as for many other systemic diseases associated with inflammation [EMA, 2017]. Assyrians and Egyptians already knew the analgesic effects of a willow leaves decoct (extract) for relieving articular pain. At the beginning of the 19th century, salicin (an alcoholic ß-glycoside of the salicylic acid) was extracted from the willow bark and purified: the active extract, named salicin was isolated in its pure form by Henri Leroux, a Franch pharmacist and by Raffaele Piria an Italian chemist, who managed to separate the acid in its pure form [LÉVESQUE & LAFONT, 2000]. Later, a Franch chemist, Charles Frédéric Gerhardt synthesized the acetylsalicylic acid from salicin, which became the active compound of the medicine called aspirin [FUSTER & SWEENY, 2011].

Many plant extracts are used especially as biopesticides, and less as biostimulators. Some products based on soybean and other plant oils are used both as biostimulators and biopesticides. However, there are few examples of vegetal extract that are used exclusively as biostimulators and indirectly contributed to the disease and pest control. Willow bark extract, which is used as a plant growth regulator and biostimulator, also shows fungicide properties [DENIAU & al. 2019].

Besides its use in medicine, many researchers tried to use willow bark extract in plant protection, because plant diseases represent a key problem in the economically important crops. KARST (2002) proved the efficacy of this extract in the protection of vineyards against vine downy mildew (*Plasmopara viticola*), and ARIF & al. (2009) also described its antifungal properties to explain this potential phytosanitary efficiency. For this purpose, the Ecological Institute for Food and Agriculture from France (ITAB) conducted the experimental field-testing program "4P" to align with the European Union (EU) general regulation regarding pesticides and reducing the use of copper. The "4P" program was initially designed to test plant extract as complementary solutions to overcome the use of copper in the horticultural and agricultural fields. Furthermore, a lot of work was put into homologating the willow bark extract as plant protection method by the EU. The willow bark extract was approved by the EU regulations regarding pesticides (EC Regulation 1107/2009) applicable in agriculture as base compound with antifungal properties [MARCHARD, 2016].

The Salix sp. bark extract is used to control foliar fungal diseases caused by Taphrina deformans, Venturia inaequalis, Plasmopara viticola, Erysiphe necator and Podosphaera leucotricha. Regarding the fruit trees (peach tree, apple tree) and vine (Vitis vinifera), several studies were conducted in France. A significant antifungal effect was observed when treatment with willow bark was applied (at a concentration of 220 g/ha). The effect of the aqueous extract is due to the high content of salicylic glycosides or salicylate that act by reducing the stress impact on the plant and by activating some defense mechanisms. However, the salicylic acid alone, compared to the willow extract, did not yield the same results. The Salix sp. bark decoct shown antifungal properties also by inhibiting spore germination [MARCHARD, 2015]. Many studies proved that salicylic acid has antifungal activity [Da ROCHA NETO & al. 2015; TOSUN & al. 2003].

The interest towards this compound as natural resource for plant protection is multiple; it is useful for plant protection acting as elicitor for defense and resistance mechanisms [DEMPSEY & KLESSIG, 2017]. This extract is also environmentally friendly, because the active molecules do not have biocide properties, being classified as safe for human consumption. The willow infusion inhibits the germination and spreading of fungal disease without killing the fungus, as the chemical pesticides do. Using the same recipe that is used in cultivating fruit trees and vine [MARCHARD, 2016], it was proven that *Salix* extract has antifungal activity towards *Botrytis cinerea* and *Penicillium expansum*, species that mainly contaminate post-harvest fruits [ANDREU & al. 2018; HUSSAIN & al. 2011].

MUTLU-DURAK & YILDIZKUTMAN (2021) demonstrated the potential of willow bark extracts (WBE) and willow leaves extracts (WLE) as vegetal biostimulators with key roles in improving the early growth in corn (*Zea mays*) in control and salinity induced stress conditions. In 3 days, the treatment of seeds with salicylic acid and willow extract increased the biomass of corn plantlets with 130% and 225%, respectively. The root surface was also improved by 43% with salicylic acid and with 87% with willow extract. Moreover, these extracts increased the protein concentration in leaves and reduced the negative effects of salinity during early growth. The decrease in lipids oxidation processes and the specific activity of antioxidant enzymes in willow extract treated seeds suggest a remission of the oxidative stress caused by salinity.

During saline stress conditions, it was proved that in corn leaves, the protein concentrations were improved by 50% to 80% when applying high doses of willow extract

USE OF BIOSTIMULATING SALIX SOLUTIONS FOR THE VEGETATIVE PROPAGATION ...

(leaves and bark). The plants treated with WLE presented a lower Na/K ratio compared to other treatments. So, the stress limiting effect of willow extracts can be partially attributed to the decrease in Na accumulation and to keeping a relatively low Na/K ratio. The results indicate the fact that willow can represent a valuable resource, and the leaves and bark aqueous extracts can be used as effective and eco-friendly biostimulators [MUTLU-DURAK & al. 2023].

Recent research proved that willow bark extract, which contains high amounts of salicylic acid (SA) as phytohormone, have biostimulating properties on plant growth, with known effects on flowering, callus formation, stress mediation and rooting. AL-AMAD & QRUNFLEH (2016) show that the percentage of callus formation in olive tree cuttings (*Olea europaea* L. 'Nabali') was lower (40.5%) under the effect of willow (*Salix babylonica*) leaves and bark extract compared to control (55.5%), probably due to the high quantities of cytokines accumulated in plant at the end of the vegetative season, while the bark and wood extract showed better results. The average number of formed roots/rooted cuttings was significantly higher in all experiments.

A series of studies demonstrated that SA and other salicylates in the willow extracts stimulate root growing in cuttings, seedlings and mature plants, in many species of economically important plants, such as: soybean (*Glycine max*) or carrot (*Daucus carota*) [BASU & al. 1969; GUTIÉRREZ-CORONADO & al. 1998; HAYAT & al. 2010].

KAWASE (1970) studied the presence of rooting stimulating compounds from young or lyophilized white willow (*Salix alba*) aqueous extracts. These molecules were split through paper chromatography or chemical fractionation, and their role in the rooting process was tested on mung beans (*Vigna radiata*) cuttings. GESTO & al. (1977) studied the content in rhizogenesis stimulating substances of two extracts: chestnut (*Castanea sativa*) and willow (*Salix viminalis*), proving that from September to June, the total phenolic content showed a similar model in both species, although for chestnut were observed two clear maximum peaks in February-March and June. Furthermore, in both extracts were identified compounds such as: p-hydroxybenzoic acid, p-coumaric acid, ferulic acid, gentisic acid, salicylic acid and cinnamic acid, while scopoletin and p-hydroxyphenylacetic acid were specific to the chestnut extracts, and caffeic acid, esculetin, catechol and saligenin were only found in willow extracts, (the last two compounds identified in large doses). Catechol proved to be efficient in increasing the number of roots and showed a synergic root growth effect with the indole-acetic acid (IAA). In the willow extract, IAA was present from April to June and contributed to a good rooting performance. IAA was identified exactly when the extract showed the highest rooting activity.

Research history regarding the use of *Salix* sp. extract in the vegetative propagation of chrysanthemums

The rhizogenesis biostimulating compounds represent an optimized method of vegetative propagation *via* cuttings, and the right application concentrations are, most of the time, species-specific. The use of willow extract as biostimulator on chrysanthemum cuttings was investigated especially for its capacity to stimulate AR formation and ramification, improving the propagation efficiency through cuttings in this species.

There are very few studies regarding the use of *Salix* sp. extracts for the rooting stimulation in chrysanthemums, although for other species the results were obvious and encouraging after using this solution.

Weeping willow (*Salix babylonica*) extracts contain a variety of bioactive compounds, including salicylates and phenolic compounds. Indole-3-butyric acid (IBA), present in willow extract, is a phytohormone which initiates and accelerates root formation. As a result of modern

Ana COJOCARIU & al.

research, the rhizogensis stimulating effect of the commercial biostimulator Nutrifield Complex Root Nectar® (Nutrifield Pty Ltd., Melbourne, VIC) and willow bark extract were assessed on chrysanthemum (*Chrysanthemum* sp.) and lavender (*Lavandula* × *hybrida* 'Frills') cuttings. The commercial product applied at a concentration of 1 ml/L improved the rooting capacity in both species compared with the control, while a concentration of 1.06 μ L/L of willow bark extract exceeded the results of the commercial product for both species [WISE & al. 2020]. The best results for chrysanthemum were observed when applying willow bark extract at a concentration of 1.06 μ L/L, which led to root ramification in 13.9 days, while in the control cuttings the root ramification occurred after 18.4 days (12.83% faster in the case of willow bark extract). For lavender, all levels of willow extract treatment showed equivalent results compared with the control for both AR formation (P<0.001) and AR ramification (P<0.001). The AR biostimulating effects showed the willow bark extracts can be successfully used to accelerate the propagation in semi-woody species, underlining their applicability in increasing the process efficiency in the horticultural industry, dependent on fast vegetative propagation at a large scale [WISE & al. 2020].

Considering the fact that *Salix* stems produce an auxin named indole butyric acid (IBA), a hormone that naturally stimulates root growth, in the last few years (2022-2024) we conducted a series of studies within the chrysanthemum collection of "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden of Iași – Romania, which aimed at testing the influence of a *Salix babylonica* water extract (SE) on the rooting process in *Chrysanthemum* s.l. cuttings.

The first step was represented by testing the SE in a controlled environment and establishing the optimal concentration for rooting stimulation. Within the second step several commercial products known for their rotting stimulating properties (Atonik, Clonex) were used to obtain comparative data related to the efficiency of *Salix* water extract [URSACHI, 2024]. The commercial rooting stimulating hormones are mainly made from synthetic forms of IBA. Alongside the rooting hormone, the willow stems also produce salicylic acid that are involved in wound healing, allowing the sap to circulate, giving roots the opportunity to develop. The aim of the research was to perfect the technology for obtaining chrysanthemum cuttings, improving the reproductive material yield, and raising the percentage of rooted cuttings, and thus the quality of planting material.

Based on direct visual observations and on measuring the newly formed AR, we were able to notice that the most efficient practical method is represented by treating the chrysanthemum cuttings with *Salix babylonica* extract at a concentration of 5%. An increase in SE concentration (10% or 20%) led to a decrease in root development, having mostly an inhibitor effect [URSACHI, 2024].

The new methods proposed after the research conducted within the "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden chrysanthemum collection, following the testing of several *Salix babylonica* water extracts, aimed at raising the economic yield of the collections and can lead to a decrease of the total production costs, by using vegetal biostimulators, easy to obtain compared to the available commercial products. Testing the *Salix babylonica* extract in the experiments focused on obtaining viable cuttings on a standard multiplication substrate (peat + sand v/v) drove us to conclusions regarding its efficiency in rooting initiation and development, with results that can recommend this variant as a biostimulator treatment for cuttings rooting.

USE OF BIOSTIMULATING SALIX SOLUTIONS FOR THE VEGETATIVE PROPAGATION ... Conclusions

Chrysanthemums (*Chrysanthemum* s.l.) represent one of the major groups of ornamental plants that bring a significant contribution to the horticultural industry. To preserve the desired characteristics (general aspect, plant height, inflorescence color, size, shape, etc.) of the thousands of varieties created so far, the main propagation method used for this species is vegetative reproduction using cuttings. In practice, this classic method, optimized over time, still has some drawbacks, especially when referring to the cuttings capacity to form a powerful root system that can ensure the further development of the future plant.

Research in this field led to the commercial production of various chemical solutions that promise to resolve this issue, many of them with noticeable results. The two main problems of these products are the high production and selling price and their environmental impact, derived from their chemical composition. Because of these aspects, studies that test the biostimulating rooting capacity of natural products (especially vegetal extracts) started to be developed in the last few years, with encouraging outcomes.

One of the most promising plants in this direction is considered to be the willow (*Salix* sp.). Its extracts have been used for centuries in the medicinal and pharmaceutical industries for their analgesic effect, being known to treat muscular osteoarthritic rheumatism, inflammation and pain, flu and respiratory problems, arthritis, gout, spondylitis, rheumatoid arthritis, etc. A biochemical analysis of the willow extracts (bark, leaves, stems) showed the presence of many bioactive compounds such as salicin, triandrin, (+)-catechin, picein and salicortin, polymeric tannins, etc. which are used for their antifungal properties, but also for their capacity to promote plant growth, and to stimulate root formation and development.

Regarding the use of willow extracts as a biostimulator for roots formation in chrysanthemums, the studies are very few and relatively new, despite the promising results obtained for other economically important species, a fact that encouraged us to further investigate this aspect.

The outcomes of our research showed a positive influence of the willow bark extract on the rooting process in chrysanthemum cuttings, proving that a natural product, with no impact on the environment and cheap to produce can solve a problem that negatively affects the efficiency and propagation cost of this horticulturally significant species.

References

- ACOSTA M., OLIVEROS-VALENZUELA M. R., NICOLAS C. & SANCHEZ-BRAVO J. 2009. Rooting of carnation cuttings: the auxin signal. *Plant Signaling & Behaviour.* 4(3): 234-236. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.4.3.7912
- AGBO C. & OBI I. 2007. Variability in propagation potentials of stem cuttings of different physiological ages of Gongronema latifolia Benth. World Journal of Agricultural Sciences. 3(5): 576-581.
- AL-AMAD I. & QRUNFLEH M. 2016. Effect of Babylon weeping willow (*Salix babylonica* L.) extracts on rooting of stem cuttings of olive (*Olea europaea* L.) 'Nabali'. *Acta Horticulturae*. **1130**: 391-396. https://doi.org/ 10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1130.58
- ANDREU V., LEVERT A., AMIOT A., COUSIN A., AVELINE N. & BERTRAND C. 2018. Chemical composition and antifungal activity of plant extracts traditionally used in organic and biodynamic farming. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. **25**(30): 29971-29982. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1320-z
- ARGUS G. W. 1997. Infrageneric classification of Salix (Salicaceae) in the New World. Systematic Botany Monographs, American Society of Plant Taxonomists. 52: 1-121. https://doi.org/10.2307/25096638
- ARIF T., BHOSALE J. D., KUMAR N., MANDAL T. K., BENDRE R. S., LAVEKAR G. S. & DABUR R. 2009. Natural products: Anti-fungal agents derived from plants. *Journal of Asian Natural Products Research*. 11(7): 621-638. https://doi.org/10.1080/10286020902942350

- BASU R., BOSE T., ROY B. & MUKHOPADHYAY A. 1969. Auxin synergists in rooting of cuttings. *Physiologia Plantarum*. 22(4): 649-652. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1969.tb07419.x
- CHEN F., CHEN P. & LI H. 1996. Genome analysis and their phylogenetic relationships of several wild species of Dendranthema in China. Acta Horticulturae Sinica. 23: 67-72.
- CLARK D. G., GUBRIUM E. K., BARRETT J. E., NELL T. A. & KLEE H. J. 1999. Root formation in ethyleneinsensitive plants. *Plant Physiology*. **121**(1): 53-60. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.121.1.53
- COJOCARIU A., CHELARIU E. L. & TĂNASE C. 2018. Adventitious roots development and root system architecture of Chrysanthemum cuttings. J. Plant Develop. 25: 91-98. https://doi.org/10.33628/jpd.2018.25.1.91
- COJOCARIU A. & TĂNASE C. 2019. Development and testing a new technology for production of Chrysanthemums planting material (*Chrysanthemum* s.l.). *J. Plant Develop.* **26**: 93-107. https://doi.org/10.33628/jpd.2019.26.1.93
- DA COSTA C. T., DE ALMEIDA M. R., RUEDELL C. M., SCHWAMBACH J., MARASCHIN F. S. & FETT-NETO A. G. 2013. When stress and development go hand in hand: main hormonal controls of adventitious rooting in cuttings. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. 4: 133. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00133
- Da ROCHA NETO A. C, MARASCHIN M. & DI PIERO R. M. 2015. Antifungal activity of salicylic acid against Penicillium expansum and its possible mechanisms of action. International Journal of Food Microbiology. 215: 65-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.08.018
- DAI S. L., CHEN J. Y. & LI W. B. 1998. Application of RAPD analysis in the study on the origin of Chinese cultivated chrysanthemum. *Acta Botanica Sinica*. **40**(11): 1053-1059.
- DARA S. K. 2021. Advances in biostimulants as an integrated pest management tool in horticulture. Burleigh Dodds Series in Agricultural Science: 1-33. http://dx.doi.org/10.19103/AS.2021.0095.03
- DEMPSEY D. A. & KLESSIG D. F. 2017. How does the multifaceted plant hormone salicylic acid combat disease in plants and are similar mechanisms utilized in humans? *BMC Biology*. 15(23): 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-017-0364-8
- DENIAU M. G., BONAFOS R., CHOVELON M., PARVAUD C., FURET A., BERTR C. & MARCH P. A. 2019. Willow extract (*Salix* cortex), a basic substance of agronomical interests. *International Journal of Bio*resource and Stress Management. 10(4): 408-418. https://doi.org/10.23910/ijbsm/2019.10.4.2009
- DOU J., XU W., KOIVISTO J. J., MOBLEY J. K., PADMAKSHAN D., KÖGLER M., XU C., WILLFÖR S., RALPH J. & VUORINEN T. 2018. Characteristics of hot water extracts from the bark of cultivated willow (*Salix* sp.). ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering. 6: 5566-5573. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acssuschemeng.8b00498
- DOWRICK G. J. 1953. The chromosomes of Chrysanthemum, II: Garden varieties. Heredity. 7: 59-72.
- DYKEMAN B. 1976. Temperature relationship in root initiation and development of cuttings. *Proceedings of the International Plant Propagators Society*. **26**: 201-207.
- EL SHERIF F. 2017. Aloe vera leaf extract as a potential growth enhancer for Populus trees grown under in vitro conditions. American Journal of Plant Biology. 2(4): 101-105. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajpb.20170204.11
- EMA (European Medicines Agency). 2017. Assessment report on Salix (various species including S. purpurea L., S. daphnoides Vill., S. fragilis L.), cortex. EMA/HMPC/80628/2016. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/documents/herbal-report/final-assessment-report-salix-various-species-including-s-purpurea-I-s-daphnoides-vill-s-fragilis-l en.pdf
- FUSTER V. & SWEENY J. M. 2011. Aspirin: A historical and contemporary therapeutic overview. Circulation. 123(7): 768-778. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.963843
- GESTO M., VAZQUEZ A. & VIEITEZ E. 1977. Rooting substances in water extracts of *Castanea sativa* and *Salix viminalis*. *Physiologia Plantarum*. **40**(4): 265-268. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1977.tb04070.x
- GUTIÉRREZ-CORONADO M. A., TREJO-LÓPEZ C. & LARQUÉ-SAAVEDRA A. 1998. Effects of salicylic acid on the growth of roots and shoots in soy bean. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. **36**(8): 563-565. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0981-9428(98)80003-x
- HAISSING B. E. 1986. Metabolic processes in adventitious rooting of cuttings: 141-189. In: JACKSON M. B. (ed.) 1986. New root formation in plants and cuttings. Martinus Nijhoff Publisher, Kluwer Academic, Series Developments in plant and soil cuttings, vol. 20.
- HAMOUDA A., HENDI D. M. G. & ABU-EL-LEEL O. 2012. A. Improving basil growth, yield and oil production by *Aloe vera* extract and active dry yeast. *Egyptian Journal of Horticulture*. 39(1): 45-71.
- HAYAT Q., HAYAT S., IRFAN M. & AHMAD A. 2010. Effect of exogenous salicylic acid under changing environment: a review. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. **68**(11): 14-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2009.08.005
- HUSSAIN H., BADAWY A., ELSHAZLY A., ELSAYED A., KROHN K., RIAZ M. & SCHULZ B. 2011. Chemical constituents and antimicrobial activity of Salix subserrata. Records of Natural Products. 5(2): 133-137.

USE OF BIOSTIMULATING SALIX SOLUTIONS FOR THE VEGETATIVE PROPAGATION ...

- KAST W. K. 2002. Effects of plant extracts on downy mildew of vine-laboratory and field experiments. 10th International Conference on Cultivation Technique and Phytopathological Problems in Organic Fruit Growing and Viticulture, Proceedings of a conference, Weinsberg, Germany, 4-7 February 2002: 157-162.
- KAWASE M. 1970. Root promoting substances in Salix alba. Physiologia Plantarum. 23(1): 159-170. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1970.tb06404.x
- LÉVESQUE H. & LAFONT O. 2000. L'aspirine a travers les siècles: rappel historique [Aspirin throughout the ages: an historical review]. La Revue de Médecine Interne. 21(Supl. 1): S8-S17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0248-8663(00)88720-2
- LIAO W. B., XIAO H. L. & ZHANG M. L. 2010. Effect of Nitric Oxide and Hydrogen Peroxide on adventitious root development from cuttings of ground-cover chrysanthemum and associated biochemical changes. *Journal* of Plant Growth Regulation. 29: 338-348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00344-010-9140-5
- LIU P., WAN Q., GUO Y., YANG J. & RAO G. 2012. Phylogeny of the genus *Chrysanthemum* L.: evidence from singlecopy nuclear gene and chloroplast DNA sequences. *PLoS One*. **7**: e48970.
- LIU R., CHEN S., JIANG J., ZHU L., ZHENG C., HAN S., GU J., SUN J., LI H., WANG H., SONG A. & CHEN F. 2013. Proteomic changes in the base of chrysanthemum cuttings during adventitious root formation. BMC Genomics. 14: 919. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-14-919
- MARCHAND P. A. 2015. Basic substances: an opportunity for approval of low-concern substances under EU pesticide regulation. *Pest Management Science*. 71(9): 1197-1200. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.3997
- MARCHAND P. A. 2016. Basic substances under EC 1107/2009 phytochemical regulation: experience with nonbiocide and food products as biorationals. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*. 56(3): 312-318. https://doi.org/10.1515/jppr-2016-0041
- MUTLU-DURAK H., ARIKAN Y. & KUTMAN B. Y. 2023. Willow (*Salix babylonica*) extracts can act as biostimulants for enhancing salinity tolerance of maize grown in soilless culture. *Plants.* **12**(4): 856. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12040856
- MUTLU-DURAK H. & YILDIZKUTMAN B. 2021. Seed treatment with biostimulants extracted from Weeping Willow (*Salix babylonica*) enhances early maize growth. *Plants*. **10**(7): 1449. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10071449
- OOISHI A., MACHIDA H., HOSOI T. & KOMATSU H. 1978. Root formation and respiration of the cuttings under different temperatures. Journal of the Japanese Society of Horticultural Science. 47(2): 243-247.
- OWEN Jr. J. S. & MAYNARD B. K. 2007. Environmental effects on stem-cuttings propagation: a brief review. Combined Proceedings International Plant Propagators' Society. 57: 558-564.
- PAGNUSSAT G. C., SIMONTACCHI M., PUNTARULO S. & LAMATTINA L. 2002. Nitric oxide is required for root organogenesis. Plant Physiology. 129(3): 954-956. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.004036
- PREECE J. E. 2003. A century of progress with vegetative plant propagation. *HortScience*. 38: 1015-1025. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI.38.5.1015
- ROUT G. R., MOHAPATRA A. & MOHAN JAIN S. 2006. Tissue culture of ornamental pot plant: A critical review on present scenario and future prospects. *Biotechnology Advances*. 24: 531-560.
- ROUT G. R., PALAI S. K., PANDAY P. & DAS P. 1996. Direct plant regeneration of *Chrysanthemum morifolium* Ramat. cv. Deep Pink: influence of explant source, age of explants, culture environment, carbohydrates, nutritional factors and hormone regime. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* (India). 67: 57-66.
- ROXAS N. J. L., TASHIRO Y., MIYAZAKI S., ISSHIKI S. & TAKESHITA A. 1995. Meiosis and pollen fertility in Higo chrysanthemum (*Dendranthema × grandiflorum* (Ramat.) Kitam.). Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticultural Science. 64(1): 161-168. https://doi.org/10.2503/jjshs.64.161
- RUEDELL C., ALMEIDA M., SCHWAMBACH J., POSENATO C. & FETT-NETO A. 2013. Pre and post-severance effects of light quality on carbohydrate dynamics and microcutting adventitious rooting of two *Eucalyptus* species of contrasting recalcitrance. *Plant Growth Regulation*. 69(3): 235-245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-012-9766-3
- SHIBUYA K., BARRY K. G., CIARDI J. A., LOUCAS H. M., UNDERWOOD B. A., NOURIZADEH S., ECKER J. R., KLEE H. J. & CLARK D. G. 2004. The central role of PhEIN2 in ethylene responses throughout plant development in petunia. *Plant Physiology*. **136**(2): 2900-2912. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.104.046979
- STANGLER B. B. 1956. Origin and development of adventitious roots in stem cuttings of chrysanthemum, carnation and rose. *Cornell University of Agricultural Experimental Station Memoirs.* **342**: 1-24.
- TEIXEIRA DA SILVA J. A., SHINOYAMA H., AIDA R., MATSUSHITA Y., RAJ S. K. & CHEN F. 2012. Chrysanthemum biotechnology: Quo vadis? Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences. 32(1): 21-52. https://doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2012.696461
- TOSUN N., AKTAŞ L., YAVAŞOĞLU N. Ü. K. & TÜRKÜSAY H. 2003. Effects of salicylic acid, harpin and phosphorus acid in control of late blight (*Phytophthora infestans* Mont. De Barry) disease and some physiological parameters of tomato. *The Journal of Turkish Phytopathological Society*. 32(3): 165-174.

- URSACHI (CRÎŞMARU) A. E. 2024. Cercetări privind utilizarea unor stimulatori în procesul de înrădăcinare a butașilor de crizanteme [Research on the use of stimulants in the rooting process of chrysanthemum cuttings]. MSc thesis, University of Life Sciences Iași – Romania, Faculty of Horticulture, 70 pp.
- WISE K., GILLA H. & SELBY-PHAMB J. 2020. Willow bark extract and the biostimulant complex Root Nectar® increase propagation efficiency in chrysanthemum and lavender cuttings. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 263: 109108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2019.109108
- YAKHIN O. I., LUBYANOV A. A., YAKHIN I. A. & BROWN P. H. 2017. Biostimulants in plant science: a global perspective. Frontiers in Plant Sciences. 7: 2049. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.02049

How to cite this article:

COJOCARIU A., CRÎŞMARU A. E. & PETRE C. V. 2024. Use of biostimulating Salix solutions for the vegetative propagation of Chrysanthemum: a review. J. Plant Develop. 31: 235-245. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.945

Review Article

THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF OLIVE TREE (*OLEA EUROPAEA* L.) IN THE NUTRITIONAL, PHARMACEUTICAL AND INDUSTRIAL APPLICATION: A REVIEW

Muhammad SHAFIQ^{1*D}, Muhammad Zafar IQBAL¹, Mohammad ATHAR²

¹ Department of Botany, University of Karachi, 75270 Karachi – Pakistan.
² California Department of Food and Agriculture, 3288 Meadowview Road, Sacramento, CA 95832 – U.S.A.
* Corresponding author. E-mail: shafiqeco@yahoo.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-0488-8946

Abstract: Olea europaea L. (olive tree / zaitoon tree / zaitoon) belong to family Oleaceae. This is a valuable and an economically commercial oil woody shrub or small evergreen tree plant species and especially popular in diet of people of Mediterranean region. The olive tree oil is extracted from the fruit of O. europaea and used for cooking, agricultural, biological, biochemistry, genetics, microbiology, immunology, pharmacology, toxicology, food technology, pharmaceutical sciences, agro-food sector and environmental sustainability. The whole parts (leaves, branches, fruit) of this plant traditionally used and cultivated for food and medicine in Europe, Mediterranean, warm temperate region, Asian, African, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Tunisian regions and in different parts of Pakistan. O. europaea also provide an excellent material of polyphenol, abundant unsaturated fatty acids and flavonoids.

O. europaea seedling also possesses different types of resistance and tolerance to biotic and abiotic stress. There are several publications available which has highlighted the influence of waste product, polluted and contaminated air, water and soil on olive tree growth. *O. europaea* also contains many bioactive compounds and oil have been reported to control many ailments. A lot of work has been published on the biological compounds derived from olive tree in recent years for the treatment of different diseases. The potential of *O. europaea* plant extract showed antidiabetic, anticancer, asthma, cholesterol, uric acid, diarrhea, inflammation, blood pressure, antiheart and antiarthritis treatment.

This review study was aimed to assess the beneficial characteristics of olive tree in terms of its nutritional, pharmaceutical properties and application in industries. The outcome will help to researchers working in the field of the nutritional, pharmaceutical and industrial sectors for examining the fruitful results. The 650 research articles were searched for review and 166 were selected using electronic search engine likewise google, google scholar, research society and development and science direct.

Keywords: Antioxidant, antidiabetic, cultivar, environmental pollution, industrial activities, oleuropein, olive tree, photosynthesis, zaitoon tree.

Introduction

Olea europaea L. (olive tree / zaitoon tree / zaitoon) belongs to family *Oleaceae* and is traditionally used as a functional food in Europe and Mediterranean countries and also to treat different types of diseases. The olive tree represent an important economic position in the Mediterranean area due to their wide distribution and representativeness such as in Tunisia with 90 million olive trees covering 1.8 million hectares of land, where it is grown traditionally in rain fed conditions, such as the case of Sfax region that was retaining 25% of national olive tree oil production [DGPA, 2018]. These oil trees, in fact, are capable of maintaining relatively high yield with symbol of longevity [JAFRI, 2021; CHIESI & al. 2022]. ESPESO & al. (2021) believed that olive tree cultivation began in Mesopotamia (4,000 B.C.), with the first records of olive tree crops dating to the Minoan civilization, at around 2,500 B.C. The olive tree is one of

THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF OLIVE TREE (OLEA EUROPAEA L.) ...

the most beloved trees in the history of mankind and considered it sacred since Ancient Greek times, throughout the Mediterranean region and now spread over the subtropical region globally, including Pakistan [EFLORA, 2023]. The global trend towards greater population will give rise to substantial increases in world demand for food animal protein (meat, milk and dairy products), vegetable oils and processed foods [PERONE & al. 2022] in developed and developing countries.

O. europaea has many ethnopharmacological [HONG & al. 2021] and nutritional relevance. The fallen herbal waste of olive tree leaves are a good source of antibacterial activity, color and in dyeing of cotton fabrics [YILMAZ & BAHTIYARI, 2020]. Olive tree is the main ingredient associated with many health benefits for treatment of Alzheimer's disease, heart health, cancer prevention, lower blood sugar, cholesterol, uric acid levels, as a laxative, mouthwash, and as a vasodilator, it has also been used to treat diabetic ketoacidosis, inflammation, diarrhea, respiratory and urinary tract infections, stomach and intestinal illnesses and asthma, and also range from fighting inflammation to reducing the growth of microorganisms [HASHMI & al. 2015; ZHAO & al. 2023]. In Mediterranean folk medicine, *O. europaea* leaf preparations are used as a common remedy for gout [FLEMMIG & al. 2011].

The use of natural bioactive molecules extracted by-products of the olive tree oil supply chain for the production of functional feeds may represent a possible source of circular economy in view of environmental sustainability [DI MEO & al. 2023]. This oil trees also helps in combating global warming, climate change, soil erosion, soil contamination, salinity, waterlogging and desertification problems. The byproducts of table olive tree oil industry are of great value but also to the environment and to the human health. Since leaves represent around 10% of the total weight of olive tree arriving at the mill, it is worth obtaining high added-value compounds from those materials for the preparation of dietary supplements, nutraceuticals, functional food ingredients or cosmeceuticals [SAHIN & BILGIN, 2018].

Olive tree leaves have recently been recognized as a valuable source in cosmetic and pharmaceutical industry as well as in preparation of health supporting beverages [PONGRAC & al. 2022]. The nutritional status of olive tree (zaitoon) orchards from the central region of the Rio Grande do Sul with fruit yield recorded. Soil, leaf, and fruit from eight orchards for the contents of N, P, K, B, pH, TOC, Al^{+3,} and soil texture analyzed. The available P content in soil were found low. In leaf tissue, K and N presented high contents [FIGUEIREDO & al. 2022].

The different aspect of olive tree growth, pollen development, structural changes, mesocarp formation, alternate bearing behavior by the balance between growth of vegetative and reproductive organs growth was observed [RODRÍGUEZ-GARCÍA & al. 2003; GOMES & al. 2009; ZIENKIEWICZ & al. 2011; ZUCCHINI & al. 2023]. The leaves of olive tree can provide a greener alternative for the recovery of heavy metals from the products of waste and raw materials (mobile phone, keyboards, circuits, computer accessories). Printed circuit boards (PCBs) is becoming a source of precious metals and polyphenols rich plant extract was obtained from olive tree leaves, and its ability to contribute to reducing four metals, namely, Ag, Cu, Cr, and Sn, that are present in scrap PCBs [ALEXANDRE-FRANCO & al. 2022]. There are predictions in Tunisia about the increase of temperature to 2.7 °C on the horizon of 2050, which may contribute to the degradation of agro-ecosystems and particularly the olive tree sector. The physio-biochemical feature, oil quality and growth behavior of "Zelmati" olive tree in Kebili-Rjim Maatoug region, which is a desert oasis in southwestern Tunisia characterized by a hot desert climate was carried out [ROUINA & al. 2019]. The authors recorded the decrease in chlorophyll content, with an increase of malondialdehyde, soluble proteins, proline and soluble sugars contents in leaf tissues due to hot climate. The published result showed evidence about the plant tolerance or resistance to biotic or abiotic stresses due to disturbances of nutritional status [HUBER & al. 2012; SANZANI & al. 2012]. Olive tree is reported a moderately salt tolerant crop. Recent studies suggestd that olive tree can be irrigated with water containing 3200 mg/l of salt (ECw of 5 dS/m) producing new growth at leaf Na levels of 0.4-0.5% dry weight, fruit weight, and moderate salinity is associated with reduction of CO₂ assimilation rate, stomatal and mesophyll conductance [CHARTZOULAKIS, 2005]. In natural environment the growth of olive tree being reported to abiotic stresses, such as water deficit [FERNÁNDEZ-ESCOBAR, 2019; TEKAYA & al. 2022]. Olive tree oil extraction processes generate significant amount of wastes likewise, olive tree mill solid waste, and olive tree mill wastewater, which are rich in precious compounds and reported toxic to the environment [MECHNOU & al. 2021].

Kingdom	Plantae		
Order	Lamiales		
Genus	Olea		
Family	Oleaceae		
Botanical name	Olea europaea Linn. (fruit oil)		
Tree	tree grow up to 7 m high, greyish-green		
Bark	grey, on branchlets whitish		
Leaves	lanceolate, sometimes ovate, c. 4 cm long, 1 cm broad, coriaceous; upper surface dark		
	green, with tew scales, vential silvery-windsh due to scaly hans, perior 5 min.		
Flowers	lobes 4, 1-2 mm long. Drupe blackish-violet when ripe, ovoid, 1-2 cm in diam.; pulp oily.		
Flowering period	April-May. Fruit: September-October.		
Genetic variability	Olive tree cultivars represent an invaluable heritage of genetic variability selected over more than 5500 years of cultivation		
Soil	well drained		
Average life span	500 years, current oldest recorded for 2000 years		
Origin / distribution	probably in Asia Minor. Cultivated since ancient times throughout the Mediterranean region (Algeria, Argentina, China, Cyprus, France, Greece, Israel, Italy, Jordan, Libya, Morocco, Portugal, South America, Spain, Syria, Turkey, Tunisia), Europe, now spread over the subtropical regions of the entire globe.		
Nutritious value	Fat. fibre and water, calorie, olive oil is rich in monounsaturated oleic acid. Vitamin E		
Olive tree oil grade	 (1) virgin, from first pressings that meet defined standards; (2) pure, or edible, a mixture of refined and virgin; (3) refined, or commercial, consisting of lampante from which acid, colour, and odour have been removed; (4) lampante, high-acid oil, named for its use as a lamp fuel, obtained from a second pressing of residual pulp with hot water (some inferior virgin oils are classed as lampante); and (5) sulfide, extracted with solvents and refined repeatedly. 		
Constituents	Oleic acid, Linoleic acid, Palmitic acid, Stearic acid.Phenolic compounds (oleuropein, hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and oleocanthal).		
Food industry	The extraction of olive tree oil obtained by crushing, pressing and centrifuging, generating byproducts that can be reused for recovery of compounds or generation of new products which is a new approach in the food industry.		
Miscellaneous properties / uses	They have been used in the human diet as an extract, an herbal tea, and a powder, and they contain many potentially bioactive compounds that may have antioxidant, antihypertensive, antiatherogenic, anti-inflammatory, hypoglycemic, blood pressure, and hypocholesterolemic properties. Olive oil has a high content of antioxidants, which assists in the repairing of cell membrane and moisturizing the skin. Its chlorophyll content aids in the healing of skin conditions and reducing the signs of aging.		

Table 1. Botanica	l description	of olive tree	(Olea euro	paea L.)
-------------------	---------------	---------------	------------	----------

References: RUGINI & FEDELI, 1990; RAINA, 2003; EL & KARAKAYA, 2009; SAAD, 2015; RALLO & al. 2018; WANG & al. 2019; DOOLY, 2020; SILVA & SCHMIELE, 2021; FERREIRA & al. 2021; BRITANNICA, 2023; EFLORA, 2023; AGMRC, 2023; PP, 2024.

THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF OLIVE TREE (OLEA EUROPAEA L.) ...

This olive tree plant species was not growing well in Pakistan in the past. Recently different varieties have been planted together with some proper pollinators, and the results are quite satisfactory. There is hope now that the cultivation of the olive tree will spread all over the northern regions of Pakistan in the near future [EFLORA, 2023]. FRÖLECH & al. (2021) evaluated about basal lesion and the forms of application of indolebutyric acid (IBA) in 'Arbequina' olive (Olea europaea L.) minicut. It was concluded that minicutting of olive 'Arbequina' can be done with lesion at the base and without indolebutyric acid. The micropropagation of the olive tree used to obtain several healthy seedlings in less time, compared to traditional techniques, from an explant. Thus, this work was defined a protocol of contamination and oxidation for Oliveira (Olea europaea L.) cv. Koroneiki explants [OLIVEIRA & al. 2021]. STANNER & WEICHSELBAUM (2013) studied antioxidants role for human nutrition

The fruit and oil of olive tree has many nutritional, medicinal and industrial application in many ways for living organisms. In recent years its cultivation is increasing in the agricultural area due to public demands on global scale. The aim of this review is to highlight the nutritional and pharmaceutical importance of O. europaea in industrial sector. The information was gathered from different research articles published in national and international scientific journals.

Name of olive oil tree varieties	Reference	
Tunisian olive tree varieties, namely, Chemchali, Chemlali,	ABAZA & al. 2007.	
Chétoui, Gerboui, Sayali, Zalmati and Zarrazi.		
Jordan cultivars (Nabali, Improved Nabali and Abo-shoka)	AL-MAAITAH & al. 2009	
Greek cultivars koroneiki, megaritiki and kalamon	KIRITSAKIS & al. 2010	
Olea europaea var. mastoidis and O. europaea var. Koroneiki	KAVROULAKIS & NTOUGIAS, 2011	
Konservolea and Kalamata	ABUSAFIEH & al. 2011	
Corregiola and Frantoio	GOLDSMITH & al. 2015	
Kalamata	BASAHI & al. 2016	
IFAPA Centro 'Alameda de Obispo', Cordoba, Spain	KYÇYK & al. 2016	
Zelmati	ROUINA & al. 2019	
O. europaea var. sylvestris	HAROUAK & al. 2021	
Olive tree cultivars (Chemlali, Manzanilla, Picaul and Toffahi)	RASHED & al. 2022	
Italian cultivars ('Biancolilla', 'Nocellara Etnea', 'Nocellara	PALMERI & al. 2022	
Messinese', 'Nocellara Siracusana', 'Zaituna')		
Leccino	SODINI & al. 2023	

Material and methods

The information was sighted from the national and internationally published research work using different online electronic search engine tools such as ACS Publications, BioOne, EGU (European Geosciences Union), Europe PMC, Google Scholar, Google, Hindawi, IDEAS/RePEc, PebMed, Plos One, Science Direct, Springer Link, Taylor & Francis Online, and with different keywords which includes: antioxidant, anticancer, cultivar, ecology, environmental pollution, germination, growth, oils, oleuropein, olive tree, pollution, polyphenol, virgin olive oil and explained in Tables 1-4.
Discussions

Phytomedicine - therapeutical or pharmaceutical benefits

Olive tree leaves in traditional remedies for different types of ailments in European and Mediterranean countries such as Greece, Spain, Italy, France, Turkey, Israel, Morocco, and Tunisia were used. There are many publications available on the use of olive tree that showed health benefits for the treatment of hypertensive, inflammatory, diabetic, cancer, heart, stroke and gout (Table 2). The phenolic compounds present in olive tree leaves confer benefits to the human health especially the oleuropein, are associated to antioxidant, antihypertensive, hypoglycemic, hypocholesterolemic, gastroesophageal reflux, aommon disorder disease, cardioprotective activity and as a support in the treatment of obesity [VAKIL, 2004; PICHE & GALMICHE, 2005; TACK, 2005; KARAMANOLIS & al. 2006; CORON & al. 2007; VOGEL & al. 2014; MONE & al. 2016]. The oldest and traditional methods of prevention and cure of known diseases in Greek, Arab, Islamic health systems based on method diet therapy (Plants and animal product) and early Muslims utilized many plants and animal products mentioned in the Holy Quran and in the Hadith of the Prophet Muhammad (peace be upon him) for health promotion, for example, dates, black seeds, olive tree leaf and olive oil, honey, and camel milk, respectively [SAAD, 2015]. The positive effects of olive tree leaf extract and its key phytochemical constituents have been reported on blood pressure, cancer, respiratory infections, inflammation, insulin resistance and incidences of cardiovascular disease [SOMOVA & al. 2003; AL-AZZAWIE & ALHAMDANI, 2006; POUDYAL & al. 2010; BOSS & al. 2016; BREAKSPEAR & GUILLAUME, 2020; ANTONIOU & HULL, 2021; USMANI & ALMOSELHY, 2023].

Plant part/product	Treatment	Reference
Olive extract	Inhibited the activities of amylases from human saliva and pancreas	KOMAKI & al. 2003
Leaf	Human leukemia HL-60 cells	ABAZA & al. 2007
Plant	Anticancer	DAI & MUMPER, 2010
Leaves	Antihypertensive, hypoglycemic, hypocholesterolemic, cardioprotective activity and support treatment of obesity	VOGEL & al. 2014
Extra virgin olive oil	Anti-osteoporosis, anti-inflammatory properties, anticancer properties in patients	LIU & al. 2014
Oleuropein	Anti-proliferative activity against a number of cancer types (pancreatic cancer cells)	GOLDSMITH & al. 2015
Leaf	Infectious diseases	EFENTAKIS & al. 2015
Olive oil	Affected bone and uterus in ovariectomized rats	ZHENG & al. 2016
Leaf	blood pressure and inflammatory markers	LOCKYER & al. 2017
Olive oil	Cardiovascular disease, cancer, neurodegenerative disease, osteoporosis, anti-proliferative, pro-apoptotic, and anti- inflammatory activities	GARCIA-MARTINEZ & al. 2018
Extra virgin olive oil	Lowering the incidence of cardiovascular events, including myocardial infarction and stroke	NOCELLA & al. 2018
Extra virgin olive oil	Linked to ageing and age related diseases related to a common chronic low grade inflammation	GAMBINO & al. 2018
Olive oil	Positively associated with a better volumetric bone mineral density treatment in Spanish women	RONCERO-MARTÍN & al. 2018
Olive oil	Fatty liver disease	ABENAVOLI & al. 2019

Table 3. Therapeutic treatment from different parts of Olea europaea

THE BEIGHTICH	THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF OHIVE TREE (OLEA LOROTALA L.)			
Olive oil, fruit	Seem to be beneficial for preventing osteoporosis disease and its progression	CHISARI & al. 2019		
Leaf extract	Cardiovascular, metabolic disease, blood pressure, respiratory infections, inflammation, and insulin resistance	BREAKSPEAR & GUILLAUME 2020		
Olive oil	Beneficial effect on some bone characteristics	DÍAZ-CURIEL & al. 2020		
Olive product	Reduced incidences of cardiovascular disease	ANTONIOU & HULL, 2021		
Leaves	Cancer cell	ALBOGAMI & HASSAN, 2021		
Olive product	Antitumor, tumor genesis, tumor suppression and chronic inflammation, delaying the development, progression or recurrence of various types of tumors	FERREIRA & al. 2021		
Leaves	prostate cancer cell lines (HT29 and PC3, resp.)	ALBOGAMI & HASSAN, 2021		
Olive oil	Prevent bone mineral density loss	RONDANELLI & al. 2021		
Product	Cure the symptoms of Gastroesophageal reflux disease	DA SILVA & al. 2022		
Leaves	phenols, secoiridoids, hydroxycinnamic acids, flavonoids	PALMERI & al. 2022		
Plant	Human lung cancer cell lines (A549)	NAJIBULLAH & al. 2023		
Fruit	Cancer therapy	ALHARBI & FELIMBAN, 2023		
Leaves	Exhibiting anti-photoaging activity	XU & al. 2023		
Olive oil	Hepatic steatosis and liver enzymes	MA & al. 2023		
Olive oil	Cardiovascular	TARABANIS & al. 2023		

THE BENEFICIAL EFFECTS OF OLIVE TREE (OLEA EUROPAEA L.) ..

Anticancer properties

Olive tree leaves have a long history of medicinal and therapeutic use [ALBOGAMI & HASSAN, 2021]. Cancer is one of the most serious public health issues worldwide and might be an important cause of death. A nontoxic strategy for producing silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) for cancer therapy was established in green synthesis method using (OFE) Olea europaea fruit extract [ALHARBI & FELIMBAN, 2023]. The AgNPs-OFE was reported highly cytotoxic against the T47D cancer cell line with a 50% inhibitory concentration (IC50) of 77 ug/mL. The leaf extracts of the four olive tree cultivars (Chemlali, Manzanilla, Picaul and Toffahi) as a source for some anticancer agents was examined. The olive tree leaf extract has anti myeloma activity and in vitro cytotoxic activity of olive tree leaf extract against mouse metastatic melanoma B16F10 cell lines [MAJUMDER & al. 2019]. In another study, NAJIBULLAH & al. (2023) examined the anticancer potential of chemically characterized O. europaea extract in MTT assay and EB/AO double staining method using Human lung cancer cell lines (A549). The study outcome showed that O. europaea extract significantly inhibited cell proliferation and apoptosis in human lung cancer (A549) cell lines, and it also explores the chemical composition of O. europaea leaves extract. ALBOGAMI & HASSAN (2021) investigated the anticancer properties of an olive tree leaf extract in vitro using colorectal and prostate cancer cell lines (HT29 and PC3, resp.)

The phenolic compounds from olive tree products have antitumor potential through their effects in the prevention of tumor genesis and tumor suppression in different cancer models. The phenolic compounds from olive tree products (oleuropein, hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol and oleocanthal) may exert tumor genesis inhibiting effects, such as repair and protection against damage from oxidative stress and chronic inflammation, and thus could help in reducing the risk of cancer and delaying the development, progression or recurrence of various types of tumors [FERREIRA & al. 2021]. Oleuropein has been shown to exhibit anti-proliferative activity against a number of cancer types. The treatment of water, 50% ethanol and 50% methanol extracts of Corregiola and Frantoio variety *O. europaea* leaves showed slight differences in their phytochemical properties, and at 100

and 200 μ g/mL, all decreased the viability of the pancreatic cancer cells relative to controls [GOLDSMITH & al. 2015].

Anti-heart disease

Extra virgin olive oil is the most representative component of this diet and seems to be relevant in lowering the incidence of cardiovascular events and stroke [NOCELLA & al. 2018]. Atherosclerosis is characterized by a chronic low grade inflammatory process which can result in atherothrombosis and a number of cardiovascular diseases. The consumption of extra-virgin olive oil is associated with a reduction in inflammatory biomarkers and molecules implicated in atherosclerosis as well as cardiovascular diseases incidence and mortality as well as other complications such as heart failure and atrial fibrillation [WONGWARAWIPAT & al. 2018]. The presence of monounsaturated fats in olive oils favor the heart health. BREAKSPEAR & GUILLAUME (2020) identified the olive tree leaf extract, prepared from the fresh or dried leaves of *O. europaea* is generating interest as a cardiovascular and metabolic disease risk modifier. Positive effects for the olive tree leaf extract and its key phytochemical constituents have been reported on blood pressure, respiratory infections, inflammation, and insulin resistance. The olive tree which is rich in olive products has positive effects on health, associated with reduced incidences of cardiovascular disease [MARTÍNEZ-GONZÁLEZ & al. 2019; ANTONIOU & HULL, 2021].

Infectious – inflammation, liver function and bone health

Olive oil has been associated with bone health and overall data suggested a protective impact of virgin olive oil as a source of polyphenols in addition to vitamin D3 on bone metabolism through improvement of oxidative stress and inflammation was recorded [TAGLIAFERRI & al. 2014]. Olive tree can help with reduction in inflammation which is a root cause of many diseases. The olive tree leaf is considered an important traditional herbal medicine utilized against infectious diseases [EFENTAKIS & al. 2015]. The presence of polyphenols found in olive tree can help reduce the risk of chronic inflammation. The liver is an organ susceptible to a multitude of injuries that causes liver damage, like steatosis, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, ischemia-reperfusion injury and extra virgin olive oil presented several protective effects on the liver, reducing hepatic steatosis, hepatocyte ballooning, fibrogenesis, preventing lipid peroxidation, among other effects [SOTO-ALARCON & al. 2018]. Osteoporosis is a metabolic disease affecting the bone mineral density thus compromise the strength of the bones and suggested that the intake of phenols seems to influence bone mineral density by acting as free radical scavengers, preventing oxidation-induced damage to bone cells [CHISARI & al. 2019].

Anti-diabetic potential

Diabetes is a lethal disease in both developed and developing countries and fourth leading cause of death in the most develop countries and diabetic foot ulcer [RAO & al. 2010; WAINSTEIN & al. 2011; ARUMUGAM & al. 2013; BUOWARI, 2013; MOGHADDAM & al. 2013; SALAH & al. 2017]. This developed due to inadequate regulation of the blood sugar which imposes a serious health issue [SALEHI & al. 2019] and affect almost every part of the body and often leads to blindness, heart and blood vessel disease, stroke, kidney failure, amputations, insulin and nerve damage [SOUMYA & SRILATHA, 2011; SHARMA & ARYA, 2011; SINGAB & al. 2014; WANG & al. 2014].

The regular consumption of extra virgin olive oil as a main source of fat altered the inflammatory response characterizes chronic immunemediated inflammatory diseases (IMID) such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, multiple sclerosis, systemic lupus

erythematosus, and psoriasis. It is also associated with a reduced risk of developing chronic degenerative disorders such as cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes and cancer [SANTANGELO & al. 2018].

Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD)

Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is a common clinical problem that affects millions of people worldwide [CLARRETT & HACHEM, 2018; GYAWALI & FASS, 2018; KATZKA & KAHRILAS, 2020; CHAPELLE & al. 2021; DE SANTIAGO & al. 2021; SHARMA & YADLAPATI 2021; MALFA & al. 2021]. It was found that the use of *O. europaea* in traditional chinese medicine in the main symptoms of GERD [SILVA & al. 2022].

Antibacterial and fungal potential

Seven aerobic bacterial strains capable of degrading several of the monocyclic aromatic compounds occurring in the phenolic fraction of olive mill wastewaters (OMWs) were isolated from an Italian OMW [DI GIOIA & al. 2002]. *Colletotrichum acutatum* is a cosmopolitan and damaging plant pathogen of temperate, subtropical, and tropical fruits and causes anthracnose on *O. europaea*. The antifungal activity of residues from the olive industry (bagasse) in the Picual variety and of vegetative parts of olive tree cultivars of the Arbequina and Picual varieties, against *Candida* spp., *Microsporum gypseum* and *Sporothrix brasiliensis* was evaluated [MARTINS & al. 2022]. The hydroalcoholic extracts of the bagasse of the Picual variety and the leaves of the Picual and Arbequina varieties showed promising fungistatic activity against the isolates of *Microsporum gypseum*, with CIM ranging from 100 mg/ml to 200 mg/ml.

Bioactive - nutritional compounds composition

Olive oil is composed of TGs, esters of oleic, linoleic, palmitic, fatty acids, along with rich in polyphenols, phenolic compounds, amongst which elenolic acid, alpha tocopherol, flavonoids, pinoresinol and lignans are the main constituents of its oil [OWEN & al. 2000; TAAMALLI & al. 2012; DE BOCK & al. 2013; HASSEN & al. 2015; SASAKI & ISODA, 2022]. Phenolic compounds playing a potential role in public health and reducing risk of chronic diseases [ABAZA & al. 2015].

The inhibitory action of an ethanol extract of *O. europaea* inhibited the activities of amylases from human saliva and pancreas with IC50 values of 4.0 and 0.02 mg/ml, respectively recorded [KOMAKI & al. 2003]. Olive tree leaves are well known for their high polyphenol content and two main phenolic compounds oleuropein and 3-hydroxytyrosol were investigated [GUGLIELMOTTI & al. 2020]. Olive tree fruits, leaves and oils are consider a sources of nutritional and other antioxidants compounds and gaining increasing interest in recent years. It has several pharmacological properties, including antioxidant, cardioprotective, anti-heterogeneous, neuropathic, obesity, anti-cancer, heart, liver, brain, kidney and other effects. The information about the use oleuropein obtained from olive tree leaves in the treatment and prevention of diseases was reviewed [OTERO & al. 2021].

O. europaea constitutes a source of many bioactive compounds and showed many benefits for human health and used in technological, pharmaceutical and industrial purposes (Table 3). RASHED & al. (2022) evaluated the biological activity of oleuropein (an ester of 2-(3, 4-dihydroxyphenyl) ethanol (hydroxytyrosol) which has the oleosidic skeleton that is common to the secoiridoid glucosides of *Oleaceae*.

Muhammad SHAFIQ & al.

-	Table 4. Distance compound derived nom different parts of Oleu Euro	pucu D.
Plant part	Bioactive compound	Reference
Leaves	Secoiridoids	GARIBOLDI & al. 1986
Olive oil	TGs, esters of oleic, linoleic, palmitic, fatty acids, along with rich in phenolic compounds, amongst which elenolic acid, alpha tocopherol, flavonoids, pinoresinol and lignans are the main constituents of its oil	OWEN & al. 2000
Leaves	secoiridoids, flavonoids, and triterpenes	EL & KARAKAYA, 2009
Leaves	secologanoside, dimethyloleuropein, oleuropein diglucoside, luteolin-7-O- glucoside, rutin, oleuropein, oleuroside, quercetin, ligstroside and verbascoside	KIRITSAKIS & al. 2010
Olive tree waste water	hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, caffeic acid, p-coumaric acid, vanillic acid, syringic acid, gallic acid, luteolin, quercetin, cyanidin, verbascoside and some polymeric compounds	D'ANTUONO & al. 2014
Leaves	phenolic compounds - oleuropein	VOGEL & al. 2014
Leaves	oleuropein, total phenolic compounds, total flavonoids and oleuropein	GOLDSMITH & al. 2015
Olive oil	The main sterols found in olive oil were β -sitosterol, $\Delta(5)$ -avenasterol, campesterol and stigmasterol, Over the group of cultivars, total sterol contents ranged from 855 to 2185 mg kg ⁽⁻¹⁾	KYÇYK & al. 2016
Leaves	Phenolic	LOCKYER & al. 2017
Fruit	Fatty acid (98-99%)	ROMANI & al. 2019
Fruit	Phenolics, phytosterols, tocopherols, and squalene (11-2%)	ROMANI & al. 2019
Leave	High polyphenol content and two main phenolic compounds oleuropein and 3-hydroxytyrosol	GUGLIELMOTTI & al. 2020
Leaves	Phenolic compounds from olive products (oleuropein, hydroxy tyrosol, tyrosol and oleocanthal)	FERREIRA & al. 2021
Oils	Primary source of mono- and poly-unsaturated fats	SALAH & al. 2021
Seed extract	The antioxidant and antidiabetic potential of Indian olive seed extracts. Treatment with MEOE and AEOE reduced the aggravated liver and kidney function biomarkers.	AKHTAR & al. 2022
Olive	The biological activity of oleuropein (an ester of 2-(3,4-dihydroxy phenyl) ethanol (hydroxytyrosol) which has the oleosidic skeleton that is common to the secoiridoid glucosides	RASHED & al. 2022
Leaves	Bioactive compounds, including 9,12-octadecadienoic acid (Z,Z)-, n- hexadecanoic acid, 9-octadecenamide, (Z)-, hexadecanoic acid, 2-hydroxy- 1-(hydroxymethyl)ethyl ester, squalene, 2-(2-Hydroxy-2-phenylethyl)-3, 5,6-trimethylpyrazine, Benzoic acid, 4-formyl-, methyl ester, 2-Methoxy-4- vinylphenol, Vitamin E	SYED & al. 2022
Olive	Identified 37 fatty acid and 35 flavonoid compounds	NIU & al. 2022
Extra virgin oil	May exert beneficial effects on bone by modulating marrow adiposity, which would support their protective effect against bone pathologies	LIU & al. 2022
Leaves	Oleuropein and luteoloside	XU & al. 2023
Fruit	Fatty acids, sterols, erythrodiol, uvaol, and chlorophylls	GAGOUR & al. 2024

KIRITSAKIS & al. (2010) determined the olive tree leaf phenolic composition of the Greek cultivars *koroneiki, megaritiki* and *kalamon* using LC/MS and the ability of phenolic compounds to inhibit the lipoxygenase (LOX) activity was investigated. The ten main components in the olive tree leaf extracts for the cultivars *koroneiki* and *kalamon* were: secologanoside, dimethyloleuropein, oleuropein diglucoside, luteolin-7-O-glucoside, rutin, oleuropein, oleuroside, quercetin, ligstroside

and verbascoside reported. Olive tree leaves contain several potentially bioactive compounds that may have hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic properties [ACAR-TEK & AĞAGÜNDÜZ, 2020]. HAROUAK & al. (2021) tested *O. europaea* var. *sylvestris* against oral diseases and for phytochemical screening. The total flavonoides (195.80 \pm 2.91 mg CE/g decocated extract) significantly (p<0.0001) obtained from decocted extract of *Olea europaea* L. subsp. *europaea* var. *sylvestris*, total phenolic (167.71 \pm 12.52 mg GAE/g d.e.) and total condensed tannins (250.44 \pm 10.18 mg CE/g d.e.) from soxhlet extract and infused extract of *Tetraclinis articulata* L. whereas; The correlation analysis using Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was found positively between infusion and decoction, between total flavonoids and total phenols. The bioactive constituents activity of a cold methanolic extract of *Olea europaea* leaves was identified [SYED & al. 2022]. Several unique bioactive compounds, including 9,12-octadecadienoic acid (Z,Z)-, n-hexadecanoic acid, 9-octadecenamide, (Z)-, hexadecanoic acid, 2-hydroxy-1-(hydroxymethyl)ethyl ester, squalene, 2-(2-Hydroxy-2-phenylethyl)-3, 5,6-trimethylpyrazine, Benzoic acid, 4-formyl-, methyl ester, 2-Methoxy-4-vinylphenol, Vitamin E reported.

The bioactive components of *Olea europaea* leaves extract (OLE), was determined by high Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC). The results showed that oleuropein and luteoloside inhibited their activity by directly interacting with MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-9, thereby exhibiting anti-photoaging activity [XU & al. 2023].

The published documented data reported in this review demonstrated that the main product of *O. europaea* fruits, leaves and byproducts having bioactive compounds also can be used for food, nutritional and pharmaceutical applications according to the requirement of economic strategy. *O. europaea* fruit is a peculiar vegetal matrix contain high levels of fatty acids (98-99% of the total weight of extra virgin olive oil, EVOO) and low quantities (1-2%) of phenolics, phytosterols, tocopherols, and squalene. Among these minor components, phenolics are relevant molecules for human health [ROMANI & al. 2019].

Industrial application

Olive oil industry playing an important role in the economic activities of some countries, especially in Mediterranean basin sector due to the publications of positive evidences from scientific literature related to public health. An estimated 3.2 million metric tons of olive oil was produced worldwide in 2020 [CHRAIBI & al. 2022]. Eight different categories of olive oils and olive-pomace oils exist namely, extra virgin olive oil, virgin olive oil, virgin lampante olive oil, refined olive oil, olive oil composed of refined olive oil and virgin olive oils, olive pomace oil, crude olive-pomace oil, refined olive pomace oil and only extra virgin olive oil, virgin olive oil, olive oil composed of refined olive oil [EC, 2024]. The demand for the olive oil production is increasing rapidly in recent years. Olive products is fulfilling many promising roles in olive oil and pharmaceutical industry. Olive fruits are significant source of phenolic compounds. In addition to eating of this delicious fruit, it is used for oil industry and in the ancient time Kingdom's wealth was determined among other things, was their olive oil industry [RIVULIS, 2024]. Olive is an evergreen xerophytic tree grown for its drupes, which yield oil and has been closely associated with human religious, sociocultural, medicinal, important part of nutritional needs and agroindustry and olive oil industry [SHETTY & WATERLOW, 2003; RAINA, 2003; BALASUNDRAM & al. 2005; PALMERI & al. 2007; PERALBO-MOLINA & al. 2013; ORTEGA & al. 2016; ŞAHIN & BILGIN, 2018; WANG & al. 2019; SILVA & al. 2021; JURADO-CONTRERAS & al. 2022].

Processing industries have been successfully reported for manufacturing and marketing jarred baby foods with the use of vegetable oils, including olive oil, as well as other sources of visible fat added fat in jarred infant foods supplied to the Polish market [HOZYASZ & al. 2010]. Olive

biophenols considered a valued class of natural products used for the practical application in the food, pharmaceutical, beverage, cosmetic and nutraceutical industries due to their powerful biological activity which includes antioxidant and antimicrobial properties [DELISI & al. 2016]. The processes for extracting and refining edible oils are well-established in industry at different scales [GABER & al. 2023]. The olive oil industry represents one of the fastest growing industrial sectors worldwide, such as Spain, Greece, and Italy, and becoming an important industry in countries, such as Chile, South Africa, or Argentina [ALONSO-FARIÑAS & al. 2020]. The commercial olive production generally reported to occur in two belts around the world, between 30° and 45° N latitude and between 30° and 45° S, where the climatic requirements for growth and fruitfulness available [BRITANNICA, 2023]. The most abundant agrifood residues in the Mediterranean basin derive from the traditional crop, olive trees. Olive leaves are also an abundant byproduct in the olive oil industry and characterized by high quantities of phenols [PALMERI & al. 2022]. The olive oil industry generates large amount of byproducts (leaves, branches) which negatively influenced on the economic and local environment due to incomplete processing [GULLÓN & al. 2020; ESPESO & al. 2021; GARCÍA-PASTOR & al. 2023].

The extraction of phenolic compounds through membrane technologies for their application in the food, cosmetic and/or pharmaceutical industry reported [CASSANO & al. 2011; CASSANO & al. 2013; GALANAKIS & al. 2010; PARASKEVA & al. 2007]. The olive mill wastewaters may be a suitable source of valuable compounds that could be used to transform an agro-industrial wastewater into useful and relevant ingredients [OBIED & al. 2009] and olive mill wastewater has been reported in the preparation of functional beverages [ZBAKH & EL ABBASSI, 2012]. However, the table olive industry generates large amounts of wastewater (liquid and solid form) due to the alkaline treatment, fermentation and washing steps and high content of organic matter, a high percentage of suspended solids and fats, an acidic or alkaline pH, high conductivity due to its high salt content, and colored waters due to the presence of polyphenolics compounds in wastewaters make their treatment difficult, leading to a relevant environmental problem with a complicated technological, economic, and social solution [DE LA CASA & al. 2009; BANIAS & al. 2017; FERRER-POLONIO & al. 2017; CAMPUS & al. 2018; FERNÁNDEZ-GONZÁLEZ & al. 2018; ELARIDI & al. 2020; MESSINEO & al. 2020; HADIDI & al. 2021; ARANEDA & al. 2023; GARCÍA-PASTOR & al. 2023).

The disturbances related issues in environment influences the production of olive crop yield and fruit color. Olive mill waste water (OMWW) is an acidic (pH 4-5), saline (EC \sim 5-10 mS cm⁻¹), blackish red aqueous byproduct of the three phase olive oil production process [AHARONOV-NADBORNY & al. 2017]. The effect of OMWW spreading on leaching of metal cations (Na, K, Mg, Mn, Fe, Cu, Zn) in four non-contaminated agricultural soils having different textures (sand, clay loam, clay, and loam) and chemical properties was determined. The results presented in this study demonstrate that OMWW spreading on agricultural soils, due to its organic load and the saline content, may mobilize various indigenous soil metal cations, including major elements such as Na and Mg, as well as heavy metals such as Cu and Zn and redox active metals such as Fe and Mn.

KAVROULAKIS & NTOUGIAS (2011) noted the bacterial diversity in *O. europaea* var. mastoidis generated olive mill waste waters consisted mainly of members of *Acetobacteriaceae*, *Prevotellaceae* and *Lactobacillaceae*, while the majority of β -proteo bacteria identified in *O. europaea* var. *koroneiki*-generated olive mill wastewaters were placed within the families comamonadaceae Oxalobacteraceae, hydrogenophilaceae and *rhodocyclaceae*. MARI & al. (2016) evaluated the occurrence of yeast populations during different olive oil extraction processes in three consecutive years in Tuscany (Italy), by analysing crushed pastes, kneaded pastes, oil from decanter and pomaces. The results showed yeast concentrations ranging between 10(3) and 10(5) CFU/g or

per mL. These findings suggest a phenomenon of contamination of the plant for oil extraction that selects some yeast species that could affect the quality of olive oil.

Conclusions

This review study contributes to the understanding about the ecological, pharmacological, vegetative growth potential in different environmental habitat of a woody plant species, *O. europaea* at global scale. There is a special care required for conserving and cultivating of olive tree according to current trend of climate change around the world and serious effort is required for protection of this important plant species. Phytochemical studies revealed the presence of iridoids, flavonoids, volatile oil, and other metabolites. Available scientific references revealed that this plant species has many biological properties for health benefits for the treatment of inflammation, piles, cancer, diabetic, blood pressure and diarrhea, aches, jaundice, dysentery. This review was tried to cover the comprehensive knowledge of the traditional medicinal uses, phytochemistry, pharmacology, toxicology and ecology of *O. europaea* for researchers, farm manager and agriculturist working for the increase in cultivable areas. These ideas supported the keen importance of olive tree cultivation to human kind since ancient time.

Acknowledgements

The critical comments on this review by anonymous referees is sincerely acknowledged.

References

- ABAZA L., TAAMALLI A., NSIR H. & ZARROUK M. 2015. Olive tree (*Olea europaea* L.) leaves: importance and advances in the analysis of phenolic compounds. *Antioxidants*. **4**(4): 682-698. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox4040682
- ABAZA L., TALORETE T. P., YAMADA P., KURITA Y., ZARROUK M. & ISODA H. 2007. Induction of growth inhibition and differentiation of human leukemia HL-60 cells by a Tunisian gerboui olive leaf extract. *Bioscience*, *Biotechnology and Biochemistry*. 71(5): 1306-1312. https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.60716
- ABENAVOLI L., MILANOVIĆ M., MILIĆ N., LUZZA F. & GIUFFRÈ A. M. 2019. Olive oil antioxidants and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Expert Review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology*. 13(8): 739-749. https://doi.org/10.1080/17474124.2019.1634544
- ABUSAFIEH D., PILAKONI E. D. & NANOS G. D. 2011. Ozone and salinity combined stress effects on olive leaf antioxidant enzyme activities. Acta Horticulturae. 888: 127-134. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2011.888.13
- ACAR-TEK N. & AĞAGÜNDÜZ D. 2020. Olive leaf (Olea europaea L. folium): potential effects on glycemia and lipidemia. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism. 76(1): 10-15. https://doi.org/10.1159/000505508
- AGMRC. 2023. Agriculture Marketing Resource Centre (AGMRC). *Olives*. https://www.agmrc.org/commodities-products/fruits/olives. Accesed on 29-01-2024.
- AHARONOV-NADBORNY R., TSECHANSKY L., RAVIV M. & GRABER E. R. 2017. Impact of spreading olive mill waste water on agricultural soils for leaching of metal micronutrients and cations. *Chemosphere*. 179: 213-221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.03.093
- AKHTAR M. F., ASHRAF K. M., SALEEM A., SHARIF A., ZUBAIR H. M. & ANWAR F. 2022. Antidiabetic potential and antioxidant activity of Olea europaea subsp. cuspidata (indian olive) seed extracts. Hindawi. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: 5164985. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/5164985
- AL-AZZAWIE H. F. & ALHAMDANI M. S. 2006. Hypoglycemic and antioxidant effect of oleuropein in alloxan-diabetic rabbits. *Life Science*. 78(12): 1371-1377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2005.07.029
- ALBOGAMI S. & HASSAN A. M. 2021. Assessment of the efficacy of olive leaf (*Olea europaea* L.) extracts in the treatment of colorectal cancer and prostate cancer using in vitro cell models. *Molecules*. 26(13): 4069. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26134069
- ALEXANDRE-FRANCO M. F., FERNÁNDEZ-GONZÁLEZ C., REGUERO-PADILLA G. & CUERDA-CORREA E. M. 2022. Olive tree polyphenols and urban mining. A greener alternative for the recovery of valuable metals from scrap printed circuit boards. *Environmental Research*. 214(4): 114112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.114112

- ALHARBI N. S. & FELIMBAN A. I. 2023. Cytotoxicity of silver nanoparticles green-synthesized using Olea europaea fruit extract on MCF7 and T47D cancer cell lines. Journal of King Saud University - Science. 35(10): 102972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2023.102972
- AL-MAAITAH M. I., AL-ABSI K. M. & AL-RAWASHDEH A. 2009. Oil quality and quantity of three olive cultivars as influenced by harvesting date in the middle and southern parts of Jordan. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*. 11(3): 266-272.
- ANTONIOU C. & HULL J. 2021. The anticancer effect of *Olea europaea* L. products: a review. *Current Nutrition Reports*. 10(1): 99-124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-021-00350-8
- ALONSO-FARIÑAS B., OLÍVA A., RODRÍGUEZ-GALÁN M., ESPOSITO G., GARCÍA-MARTÍN J. F., RODRÍGUEZ-GUTIÉRREZ G., SERRANO A. & FERMOSO F. G.2020. Environmental assessment of olive mill solid waste valorization via anaerobic digestion versus olive pomace oil extraction. *Processes.* 8(5): 626. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8050626
- ARANEDA M., PINTO-IBIETA F., XU X., RUBILAR O., FERMOSO F. G. & CIUDAD G. 2023. Aquaculture sludge as cosubstrate for sustainable olive mill solid waste pre-treatment by *Anthracophyllum discolor*. *Agronomy*. 13(3): 724. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy13030724
- ARUMUGAM G., MANJULA P. & PAARI N. 2013. A review: anti diabetic medicinal plants used for diabetes mellitus. Journal of Acute Disease. 2(3): 196-200. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2221-6189(13)60126-2
- BALASUNDRAM N., SUNDRAM K. & SAMMAN S. 2005. Phenolic compounds in plants and agri-industrial by-products: antioxidant activity, occurrence, and potential uses. *Food Chemistry*. 99(1): 191-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2005.07.042
- BANIAS G., ACHILLAS C., VLACHOKOSTAS C., MOUSSIOPOULOS N. & STEFANOU M. 2017. Environmental impacts in the life cycle of olive oil: a literature review. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*. 97(6): 1686-1697. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8143
- BASAHI J. M., ISMAIL I. M., HAIBA N. S., HASSAN I. A. & LORENZINI G. 2016. Assessing ambient ozone injury in olive (Olea europaea L.) plants by using the antioxidant ethylenediurea (EDU) in Saudi Arabia. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 188(6): 371. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-016-5376-2
- BOSS A., BISHOP K. S., MARLOW G., BARNETT M. P. G. & FERGUSON L. R. 2016. Evidence to support the anti-cancer effect of olive leaf extract and future directions. *Nutrients.* 8(8): E513. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8080513
- BREAKSPEAR I. & GUILLAUME C. 2020. A quantitative phytochemical comparison of olive leaf extracts on the australian market. *Molecules*. 25(18): 4099. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25184099
- BRITANNICA T. 2013. Editors of Encyclopaedia (2023, December 28). Olive. Encyclopedia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/plant/olive-plant
- BUOWARI O. Y. 2013. Chapter 8: Diabetes mellitus in developing countries and case series. In: OGUNTIBEJU O. O. (ed.) 2013. Diabetes mellitus - insights and perspectives. InTechOpen: Rijeka, Croatia. https://doi.org/10.5772/50658
- CAMPUS M., DEĞIRMENCIOĞLU N. & COMUNIAN R. 2018. Technologies and trends to improve table olive quality and safety. Frontiers in Microbiology. 9: 617. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00617
- CASSANO A., CONIDI C. & DRIOLI E. 2011. Comparison of the performance of UF membranes in olive mill wastewaters treatment. *Water Research.* 45(10): 3197-3204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.03.041
- CASSANO A., CONIDI C., GIORNO L. & DRIOLI E. 2013. Fractionation of olive mill wastewaters by membrane separation techniques. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 248-249: 185-193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.01.006
- CHAPELLE N., BEN GHEZALA I., BARKUN A. & BARDOU M. 2021. The pharmacotherapeutic management of gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD). Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy. 22(2): 219-227. https://doi.org/10.1080/14656566.2020.1817385
- CHARTZOULAKIS K. S. 2005. Salinity and olive: growth, salt tolerance, photosynthesis and yield. Agricultural Water Management. 78(1-2): 108-121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2005.04.025
- CHIESI M., COSTAFREDA-AUMEDES S., ARGENTI G., BATTISTA P., FIBBI L., LEOLINI L., MORIONDO M., RAPI B., SABATINI F. & MASELLI F. 2022. Estimating the GPP of olive tree with variable canopy cover by the use of Sentinel-2 MSI images. *European Journal of Agronomy*. 141: 126618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2022.126618
- CHISARI E., SHIVAPPA N. & VYAS S. 2019. Polyphenol-rich foods and osteoporosis. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*. 25(22): 2459-2466. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612825666190722093959
- CHRAIBI H., EL ABBASSI F. E., SAKAMI S. & KCHIKACH A. 2022. Investigation on the use of co-products from olive oil industry in earth bricks. *Materials Today: Proceedings.* **58**(4): 1044-1048. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2022.01.039
- CLARRETT D. M. & HACHEM C. 2018. Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD). Missouri Medicine. 115(3): 214-218.
- CORON E., HATLEBAKK J. G. & GALMICHE J. P. 2007. Medical therapy of gastroesophageal reflux disease. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology*. 23(4): 434-439. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOG.0b013e328159f001
- D'ANTUONO I., KONTOGIANNI V. G., KOTSIOU K., LINSALATA V., LOGRIECO A. F., TASIOULA-MARGARI M. & CARDINALI A. 2014. Polyphenolic characterization of olive mill wastewaters, coming from Italian and Greek

olive cultivars, after membrane technology. Food Research International. 65(C): 301-310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.09.033

- DAI J. & MUMPER R. J. 2010. Plant phenolics: extraction, analysis and their antioxidant and anticancer properties. *Molecules*. 15(10): 7313-7352. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules15107313
- DE BOCK M., THORSTENSEN E. B., DERRAIK J. G. B., HENDERSON H. V., HOFMAN P. L. & CUTFIELD W. S. 2013. Human absorption and metabolism of oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol ingested as olive (*Olea europaea* L.) leaf extract. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*. 57(11): 2079-2085. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.201200795
- DE LA CASA J. A., LORITE M., JIMÉNEZ J. & CASTRO E. 2009. Valorisation of wastewater from two-phase olive oil extraction in fired clay brick production. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 169(1-3): 271-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.03.095
- DE SANTIAGO E. R., ALBÉNIZ É., ESTREMERA-AREVALO F., SANCHEZ-VEGAZO C. T. & LORENZO-ZÚÑIGA V. 2021. Endoscopic anti-reflux therapy for gastroesophageal reflux disease. World Journal of Gastroenterology. 27(39): 6601-6614. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v27.i39.6601
- DELISI R., SAIANO F., PAGLIARO M. & CIRIMINNA R. 2016. Quick assessment of the economic value of olive mill waste water. Chemistry Central Journal. 10: 63. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13065-016-0207-7
- DGPA. Direction Générale de la Production Agricole, DGPA, (French). 2018. General Directorate of Agricultural Production. Ministry of Agriculture, Water Resources and Fisheries. Tunisian Republic. https://catalog.agridata.tn/organization/direction-generale-de-la-production-agricole, Accesed 07-11-2023.
- DI GIOIA D., BARBERIO C., SPAGNESI S., MARCHETTI L. & FAVA F. 2002. Characterization of four olive-millwastewater indigenous bacterial strains capable of aerobically degrading hydroxylated and methoxylated monocyclic aromatic compounds. *Archives of Microbiology*. 178(3): 208-217. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-002-0445-z
- DI MEO M. C., SALZANO A., ZOTTI T., PALLADINO A., GIAQUINTO D., MARUCCIO L., ROMANUCCI R., ROCCO M., ZARRELLI A., D'OCCHIO M. J., CAMPANILE G. & VARRICCHIO E. 2023. Plasma fatty acid profile in Italian Holstein-Friesian dairy cows supplemented with natural polyphenols from the olive plant *Olea europaea* L. *Veterinary and Animal Science*. 21: 100298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vas.2023.100298
- DÍAZ-CURIEL M., TORRUBIA B., MARTÍN-FERNÁNDEZ M., RUBERT M. & PIEDRA C. D. I. 2020. Effects of virgin olive oil on bone health in ovariectomized rats. *Nutrients*. 12(5): 1270. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12051270
- DOOLY E. Olive trees (*Olea europaea*). 2020. https://tree2mydoor.com/blogs/content/olive-olea-europaea. Accesed 29-01-2024.
- EC. 2024. Olive oil. An overview of the production and marketing of olive oil in the EU. https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/farming/crop-productions-and-plant-based-products/olive-oil_en. Accesed 30-01-2024.
- EFENTAKIS P., ILIODROMITIS E. K., MIKROS E., PAPACHRISTODOULOU A., DAGRES N., SKALTSOUNIS A. L. & ANDREADOU I. 2015. Effects of the olive tree leaf constituents on myocardial oxidative damage and atherosclerosis. *Planta Medica*. 81(08): 648-654. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1546017
- EFLORA. 2023. Flora of Pakistan. http://www.efloras.org/florataxon.aspx?flora_id=%205&%20taxon_%20id= %20200017804 Accesed 06-1-2023
- EL S. N. & KARAKAYA S. 2009. Olive tree (*Olea europaea*) leaves: potential beneficial effects on human health. *Nutrition Reviews*. 67(11): 632-638. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00248.x
- ELARIDI J., FAKHRO M., YAMANI O., DIMASSI H., OTHMAN H. & ATTIEH Z. 2020. GC-MS analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in bottled olive oil marketed in Lebanon. *Toxicological Research.* 36(3): 211-220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43188-019-00015-3
- ESPESO J., ISAZA A., LEE J. Y., SÖRENSEN P. M., JURADO P., AVENA-BUSTILLOS R. J., OLAIZOLA M. & ARBOLEYA J. C. 2021. Olive leaf waste management. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems.* 5: 660582. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2021.660582
- FERNÁNDEZ-ESCOBAR R. 2019. Olive nutritional status and tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses. Frontiers in Plant Sciences. 10: 1151. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01151
- FERNÁNDEZ-GONZÁLEZ R., MARTÍN-LARA M. A., IÁÑEZ-RODRÍGUEZ I. & CALERO M. 2018. Removal of heavy metals from acid mining effluents by hydrolyzed olive cake. *Bioresource Technology*. 268: 169-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.124
- FERREIRA W. A., AGUIAR G. S., PESSOA H. R., COSTA D. C. F. DA & ZAGO L. 2021. Antitumor potential of phenolic compounds from oliveira (*Olea europaea* L.): an integrative literature review. *Research, Society and Development*. 10(13): e22101320733. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v10i13.20733
- FERRER-POLONIO E., CARBONELL-ALCAINA C., MENDOZA-ROCA J. A., IBORRA-CLAR A., ÁLVAREZ-BLANCO S., BES-PIÁ A. & PASTOR-ALCAÑIZ L. 2017. Brine recovery from hypersaline wastewaters from table olive processing by combination of biological treatment and membrane echnologies. *Journal of Cleaner Production.* 142(4): 1377-1386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.11.169

- FIGUEIREDO M. C. dos S., ROSSETO V., BARÃO C. F., NUNES R. S. G., DUARTE I. da L., WEBER M. A. & VIEIRA F. C. B. 2022. Correlations among nutrient contents in soil, leaf, and fruit tissues and yield of *Olea europaea* L. cv. Arbequina in the South of Brazil. *Research, Society and Development.* 11(10): e489111033114. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v11i10.33114
- FLEMMIG J., KUCHTA K., ARNHOLD J. & RAUWALD H. W. 2011. Olea europaea leaf (Ph.Eur.) extract as well as several of its isolated phenolics inhibit the gout-related enzyme xanthine oxidase. *Phytomedicine*. 15: 18(7): 561-566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2010.10.021
- FRÖLECH D. B., de ASSIS A. M., OXLEY H. N., NADAL M. C., OLIVEIRA B. A. dos S. & SCHUCH M. W. 2021. Basal lesion and forms of application of indolebutyric acid in olive minicutting 'Arbequina'. *Research, Society and Development.* 10(11): e79101119290. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v10i11.19290
- GABER M. A. F. M., LOGAN A., TAMBORRINO A., LEONE A., ROMANIELLO R. & JULIANO P. 2023. Innovative technologies to enhance oil recovery. *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research*. 105: 221-254. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.afnr.2023.01.002
- GAGOUR J., EL GHAILASSI K., IBOURKI M., SAKAR E. H. & GHARBY S. 2024. Physicochemical traits of olive fruit and oil from eight Moroccan wild olive (*Olea europaea* L. subsp. *oleaster*) populations. *Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology*. 56: 103021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2024.103021
- GALANAKIS C. M., TORNBERG E. & GEKAS V. 2010. Clarification of high-added value products from olive mill wastewaters. *Journal of Food Engineering*. 99(2): 190-197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2010.02.018
- GAMBINO C. M., ACCARDI G., AIELLO A., CANDORE G., DARA-GUCCIONE G., MIRISOLA M., PROCOPIO A., TAORMINA G. & CARUSO C. 2018. Effect of extra virgin olive oil and table olives on the immune inflammatory responses: potential clinical applications. *Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders - Drug Targets*. 18(1): 14-22. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530317666171114113822
- GARCIA-MARTINEZ O., RUIZ C., GUTIERREZ-IBANEZ A., ILLESCAS-MONTES R. & MELGUIZO-RODRIGUEZ L. 2018. Benefits of olive oil phenolic compounds in disease prevention. *Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders - Drug Targets.* 18(4): 333-340. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530318666180213113211
- GARCÍA-PASTOR M. E., RÓDENAS-SORIANO M., DOBÓN-SUÁREZ A., ZAPATA P. J. & GIMÉNEZ M. J. 2023. Use of olive industry by products for value added food development. *Agronomy*. 13(3): 718. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy13030718
- GARIBOLDI P., JOMMI G. & VEROTTA L. 1986. Secoiridoids from *Olea europaea. Phytochemistry.* **25**(4): 865-869. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9422(86)80018-8
- GOLDSMITH C. D., VUONG Q. V., SADEQZADEH E., STATHOPOULOS C. E., ROACH P. D. & SCARLETT C. J. 2015. Phytochemical properties and anti-proliferative activity of *Olea europaea* L. leaf extracts against pancreatic cancer cells. *Molecules*. 20(7): 12992-13004. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules200712992
- GOMES S., PRIETO P., MARTINS-LOPES P., CARVALHO T., MARTIN A. & GUEDES-PINTO H. 2009. Development of Collectorichum acutatum on tolerant and susceptible Olea europaea L. cultivars: a microscopic analysis. Mycopathologia. 168: 203-211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11046-009-9211-y
- GUGLIELMOTTI M., PASSAGHE P. & BUIATTI S. 2020. Use of olive (Olea europaea L.) leaves as beer ingredient, and their influence on beer chemical composition and antioxidant activity. Journal of Food Science. 85(8): 2278-2285. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.15318
- GULLÓN P., GULLÓN B., ASTRAY G., CARPENA M., FRAGA-CORRAL M., PRIETO M. A. & SIMAL-GANDARA J. 2020. Valorization of by-products from olive oil industry and added-value applications for innovative functional foods. *Food Research International.* 137: 109683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109683
- GYAWALI C. P. & FASS R. 2018. Management of gastroesophageal reflux disease. *Gastroenterology*. **154**(2): 302-318. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2017.07.049
- HADIDI M., MAJIDIYAN N., JELYANI A. Z., MORENO A., HADIAN Z. & KHANEGAH A. M. 2021. Alginate/Fish Gelatin-Encapsulated *Lactobacillus Acidophilus*: a study on viability and technological quality during baking and storage. *Foods*. 10(9): 2215. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods10092215
- HAROUAK H., IBIJBIJEN J. & NASSIRI L. 2021. Chemical profile of *Tetraclinis articulata* (Vahl) Masters, and *Juglans regia* L. and *Olea europaea* L. var. sylvestris used against oral diseases: in vitro analysis between polyphenolic content and aqueous extraction optimization. *Heliyon*. 7(5): e07118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07118
- HASHMI M. A., KHAN A., HANIF M., FAROOQ U. & PERVEEN S. 2015. Traditional uses, phytochemistry, and pharmacology of Olea europaea (Olive). Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. 2015: 541591. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/541591
- HASSEN I., CASABIANCA H. & HOSNI K. 2015. Biological activities of the natural antioxidant oleuropein: exceeding the expectation a mini-review. *Journal of Functional Foods.* **18**(B): 926-940. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2014.09.001
- HONG Y. H., SONG C., SHIN K. K., CHOI E., HWANG S. H., JANG Y. J., TAAMALLI A., YUM J., KIM J. H., KIM E. & CHO J. Y. 2021. Tunisian *Olea europaea* L. leaf extract suppresses Freund's complete adjuvant-induced rheumatoid

arthritis and lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. **268**: 113602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2020.113602

- HOZYASZ K. K., RADOMYSKA B. & KOT K. 2010 The Mediterranean diet for Polish infants: a losing struggle or a battle still worth fighting? *Mediterranean Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism.* 3(3): 227-232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12349-010-0025-8
- HUBER D., RÖMHELD V. & WEINMANN M. 2012. Relationship between nutrition, plant diseases and pests: p. 283-298. In: MARSCHNER P. (Ed.). 2012. Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants. Academic Press, USA, Elservier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384905-2.00010-8
- JAFRI A. 2021. Olive trees: a gift to the environment. The News International. https://www.thenews.com.pk/ magazine/you/910225-olive-trees-a-gift-to-the-environment. Accessed 06-11-2023.
- JURADO-CONTRERAS S., NAVAS-MARTOS F. J., RODRÍGUEZ-LIÉBANA J. A., MOYA A. J. & LA RUBIA M. D. 2022. Manufacture and characterization of recycled polypropylene and olive pits biocomposites. *Polymers (Basel)*. 14(19): 4206. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym14194206
- KARAMANOLIS G., POLYMEROS D., TRIANTAFYLLOU K., TZATHAS C. & LADAS S. 2006. Olive oil for symptomatic relief of duodeno-gastro-oesophageal reflux after gastrectomy. *European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 18(11): 1239. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.meg.0000236880.90848.9b
- KATZKA D. A. & KAHRILAS P. J. 2020. Advances in the diagnosis and management of gastroesophageal reflux disease. BMJ. 371(23): 3786. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m3786
- KAVROULAKIS N. & NTOUGIAS S. 2011. Bacterial and β-proteobacterial diversity in Olea europaea var. mastoidis and O. Europaea var. koroneiki - generated olive mill wastewaters: influence of cultivation and harvesting practice on bacterial community structure. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology. 27: 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-010-0426-3
- KIRITSAKIS K., KONTOMINAS M. G., KONTOGIORGIS C., HADJIPAVLOU-LITINA D., MOUSTAKAS A. & KIRITSAKIS A. 2010. Composition and antioxidant activity of olive leaf extracts from Greek olive cultivars. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society.* 87(4): 369-376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-009-1517-x
- KOMAKI E., YAMÁGUCHI S., MARU I., KINOSHITA M., KAKEHI K., ÖHTA Y. & TSUKADA Y. 2003. Identification of anti.ALPHA. - Amylase components from olive leaf extracts. *Food Science and Technology Research*. 9(1): 35-39. https://doi.org/10.3136/fstr.9.35
- KYÇYK O., AGUILERA M. P., GAFORIO J. J., JIMÉNEZ A. & BELTRÁN G. 2016. Sterol composition of virgin olive oil of forty-three olive cultivars from the World Collection Olive Germplasm Bank of Cordoba. *Journal of the Science* of Food and Agriculture. 96(12): 4143-4150.
- LIU H., HUANG H., LI B., WU D., WANG F., ZHENG X. H., CHEN Q., WU B. & FAN X. 2014. Olive oil in the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis after artificial menopause. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*. 9: 2087-2095. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S72006
- LIU Y., TAN H., HUANG C., LI L. & WU S. 2022. Olive oil effectively mitigates ovariectomy-induced marrow adiposity assessed by MR spectroscopy in estrogen-deficient rabbits. *Acta Radiologica*. 63(2): 245-252. https://doi.org/10.1177/0284185120986937
- LOCKYER S., ROWLAND I., SPENCER J. P. E., YAQOOB P. & STONEHOUSE W. 2017. Impact of phenolic-rich olive leaf extract on blood pressure, plasma lipids and inflammatory markers: a randomised controlled trial. *European Journal of Nutrition*. 56(4): 1421-1432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-016-1188-y
- MAY., DING X., GU J., ZHOU S. & JIANG Y. Effects of olive oil on hepatic steatosis and liver enzymes: a systematic review. Journal of Functional Foods. 109: 105815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2023.105815
- MAJUMDER D., DEBNATH M., KUMAR K. V. L., NATH P., DEBNATH R., SARKAR C., PRASAD G. B. K. S., VERMA Y. K. & MAITI D. 2019. Metabolic profiling and investigations on crude extract of Olea europaea L. leaves as a potential therapeutic agent against skin cancer. Journal of Functional Foods. 58: 266-274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2019.05.005
- MALFA G. A., DI GIACOMO C., CARDIA L., SORBARA E. E., MANNUCCI C. & CALAPAI G. 2021. A standardized extract of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Mill and *Olea europaea* L. improves gastrointestinal discomfort: a doubleblinded randomized-controlled study. *Phytotherapy Research* 35(7): 3756-3768. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.7074
- MARI E., GUERRINI S., GRANCHI L. & VINCENZINI M. 2016. Enumeration and rapid identification of yeasts during extraction processes of extra virgin olive oil in Tuscany. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology. 32(6): 93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-016-2049-9
- MARTÍNEZ-GONZÁLEZ M. A., GEA A. & RUIZ-CANELA M. 2019. The Mediterranean diet and cardiovascular health: a critical review. Circulation Research. 124(5): 779-798. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313348
- MARTINS O. de A., RIPOLL M. K., WALLER S. B., OSÓRIO L. da G., GOMES A. dos R., DE FARIA R. O., DE MELLO J. R. B. & MEIRELES M. C. A. 2022. In vitro activity of extracts of Arbequina and Picual varieties of Olea europaea L. in front Candida sp., Microsporum gypseum and Sporothrix brasiliensis. Research, Society and Development. 11(12): e596111234808. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v11i12.34808

- MECHNOU I., MOURTAH I., RAJI Y., CHÉRIF A., LEBRUN L. & HLAIBI M. 2021. Effective treatment and the valorization of solid and liquid toxic discharges from olive oil industries, for sustainable and clean production of bio-coal. Journal of Cleaner Production. 288: 125649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.125649
- MESSINEO A., MANISCALCO M. P. & VOLPE R. 2020. Biomethane recovery from olive mill residues through anaerobic digestion: a review of the state of the art technology. *The Science of the Total Environment*. 703: 135508. https://doi.org/10:703:135508
- MOGHADDAM G. M., MASOMI Y. & RAZAVIAN M. 2013. The effect of oral consumption of olive leaves on serum glucose level and lipid profile of diabetic rats. *Journal of Basic & Clinical Pathophysiology*. **1**(2): 39-44.
- MONE I., KRAJA B., BREGUA., DURAJ V., SADIKU E., HYSKA J. & BURAZERI G. 2016. Adherence to a predominantly Mediterranean diet decreases the risk of gastroesophageal reflux disease: a cross-sectional study in a South Eastern European population. *Disease of Esophagus*. 29(7): 794-800. https://doi.org/10.1111/dote.12384
- NAJIBULLAH M., NASAR S., AHAMAD J., SULTANA S. & UTHIRAPATHY S. 2023. Potential anticancer activity of chemically characterized extract of *Olea europaea* (Olive) leaves. *Emirates Journal of Food and Agriculture*. 35(10): 890-896. https://doi.org/10.9755/ejfa.2023.3136
- NIU E., HU W., DING J., WANG W., ROMERO A., SHEN G. & ZHU S. 2022. GC-MS/LC-MS and transcriptome analyses revealed the metabolisms of fatty acid and flavonoid in olive fruits (*Olea europaea* L.). Scientia Horticulturae. 299: 111017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2022.111017
- NOCELLA C., CAMMISOTTO V., FIANCHINI L., D'AMICO A., NOVO M., CASTELLANI V., STEFANINI L., VIOLI F. & CARNEVALE R. 2018. Extra virgin olive oil and cardiovascular diseases: benefits for human health. *Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders - Drug Targets.* 18(1): 4-13. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530317666171114121533
- OBIED H. K., PRENZLER P. D., KONCZAK I., REHMAN A. U. & ROBARDS K. 2009. Chemistry and bioactivity of olive biophenols in some antioxidant and antiproliferative in vitro bioassays. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*. 22(1): 227-234. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx8004168
- OLIVEIRA N. P., RIBEIRO S. A. F. & de SOUZA M. M. 2021. Control of contamination and oxidation in the *in vitro* cultivation of olive tree (*Olea europaea* L.) cv. "Koroneiki". *Research, Society and Development*. 10(5): e30710514929. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v10i5.14929
- ORTEGA J. B., GILA D. M. M., PUERTO D. A., GARCÍA J. G. & ORTEGA J. G. 2016. Novel technologies for monitoring the in-line quality of virgin olive oil during manufacturing and storage. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*. 96(14): 4644-4662. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.7733
- OTERO D. M., LORINI A., OLIVEIRA F. M., ANTUNES B. da F., OLIVEIRA R. M. & ZAMBIAZI R. C. 2021. Leaves of Olea europaea L. as a source of oleuropein: characteristics and biological aspects. Research, Society and Development. 10(13): e185101321130. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v10i13.21130
- OWEN R. W., MIER W., GIACOSA A., HULL W. E., SPIEGELHALDER B. & BARTSCH H. 2000. Phenolic compounds and squalene in olive oils: the concentration and antioxidant potential of total phenols, simple phenols, secoiridoids, lignans and squalene. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*. 38(8): 647-659. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0278-6915(00)00061-2
- PALMERI R., SIRACUSA L., CARRUBBA M., PARAFATI L., PROETTO I., PESCE F. & FALLICO B. 2022. Olive leaves, a promising byproduct of olive oil industry: Assessment of metabolic profiles and antioxidant capacity as a function of cultivar and seasonal change. *Agronomy*. 12(9): 2007. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy12092007
- PARASKEVA C. A., PAPADAKIS V. G., TŠAROUCHI E., KANELLOPOULOU D. G. & KOUTSOUKOS P. G. 2007. Membrane processing for olive mill wastewater fractionation. *Desalination*. 213(1-3): 218-229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2006.04.087
- PERALBO-MOLINA Á. & LUQUE DE CASTRO M. D. 2013. Potential of residues from the Mediterranean agriculture and agrifood industry. Trends in Food Science & Technology. 32(1): 16-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2013.03.007
- PERONE C., ROMANIELLO R., LEONE A., BERARDI A. & TAMBORRINO A. 2022. Towards energy efficient scheduling in the olive oil extraction industry: comparative assessment of energy consumption in two management models. *Energy Conversion and Management: X.* 16: 100287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecmx.2022.100287
- PICHE T. & GALMICHE J. P. 2005. Pharmacological targets in gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology. 97(6): 333-341. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-7843.2005.pto_273.x
- PONGRAC P., KELEMÉN M., VOGEL-MIKUŠ K., VAVPETIČ P., PELICON P., ŽURGA P., VIDOVIĆ N., PASKOVIĆ M. P., SMILJANA G. B., LUKIĆ I. & PASKOVIĆ I. 2022. Tissue-specific calcium and magnesium allocation to explain differences in bulk concentration in leaves of one-year-old seedlings of two olive (*Olea europaea* L.) cultivars. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. **194**: 619-626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2022.11.040
- POUDYAL H., CAMPBELL F. & BROWN L. 2010. Olive leaf extract attenuates cardiac, hepatic, and metabolic changes in high carbohydrate-, high fat-fed rats. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 140(5): 946-953. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.109.117812
- PP. 2023. Plant Power (PP). Olive carrier oil organic. https://plantspower.ca/products/oliveoil-ev-or?variant= 31380529250368. Accessed on 27-01-2024.

- RAINA B. L. 2003. Olives. In: CABALLERO B. (ed.) 2003. Encyclopedia of food sciences and nutrition (Second Edition). Academic Press, Elsevier Science Ltd.
- RALLO L., BARRANCO D., DIEZ C. M., RALLO P., SUAREZ M. P., TRAPERO C. & PLIEGO-ALFARO F. 2018. Strategies for Olive (*Olea europaea* L.) breeding: cultivated genetic resources and crossbreeding: p. 535-600. In: AL-KHAYRI J., JAIN S. & JOHNSON D. (eds.). 2018. Advances in Plant Breeding Strategies: Fruits. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-91944-7 14
- RAO M. U., SREENIVASULU M., CHENGAIAH B., REDDY K. J. & CHETTY C. M. 2010. Herbal medicines for diabetes mellitus: a review. *International Journal of PharmTech Reserch*. 2(3): 1883-1892.
- RASHED S. A., SAAD T. I. & EL-DARIER S. M. 2022. Potential aptitude of four olive cultivars as anticancer and antioxidant agents: oleuropein content. *Rendiconti Lincei. Scienze Fisiche e Naturali.* 33: 195-203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12210-022-01056-x
- RIVULIS. 2024. Olive Oil: challenges in a changing. Olives (*Olea europaea*), "European Olive", has been around for millennia! https://www.rivulis.com/olive-oil-challenges-in-a-changing/ Accesed on 24-01-2024.
- RODRÍGUEZ-GARCÍA M. I., M'RANI-ALAOUI M. & FERNÁNDEZ M. C. 2003. Behavior of storage lipids during development and germination of olive (*Olea europaea* L.) pollen. *Protoplasma*. 221: 237-244 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-002-0076-x
- ROMANI A., IERI F., URCIUOLI S., NOCE A., MARRONE G., NEDIANI C. & BERNINI R. 2019. Health effects of phenolic compounds found in extra-virgin olive oil, by-products, and leaf of *Olea europaea* L. *Nutrients*. 11(8): 1776. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11081776
- RONCERO-MARTÍN R., ALIAGA VERA I., MORENO-CORRAL L. J., MORAN J. M., LAVADO-GARCIA J. M., PEDRERA-ZAMORANO J. D. & PEDRERA-CANAL M. 2018. Olive oil consumption and bone microarchitecture in Spanish women. *Nutrients*. 10(8): 968. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10080968
- RONDANELLI M., FALIVA M. A., BARRILE G. C., CAVIONI A., MANSUETO F., MAZZOLA G., OBERTO L., PATELLI Z., PIROLA M., TARTARA A., RIVA A., PETRANGOLINI G. & PERONI G. 2021. Nutrition, physical activity, and dietary supplementation to prevent bone mineral density loss: a food pyramid. *Nutrients*. 14(1): 74. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14010074
- ROUINA Y. D., ZOUARI M., ZOUARI N., ROUINA B. B. & BOUAZIZ M. 2019. Olive tree (Olea europaea L. cv. Zelmati) grown in hot desert climate: physio-biochemical responses and olive oil quality. Scientia Horticulturae. 261: 108915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2019.108915
- RUGINI E. & FEDELI E. 1990. Olive (Olea europaea L.) as an oilseed crop: p. 1593-1641. In: BAJAJ Y. P. S. (eds.). 1990. Biotechnology in Agriculture and Forestry. vol. 10. Legumes and oilseed crops I. Springer Heidelberg, Berlin, New York, Tokyo.
- SAAD B. 2015. Greco-Arab and Islamic diet therapy: tradition, research and practice. Arabian Journal of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants. 1(1): 2-23. https://doi.org/10.48347/IMIST.PRSM/ajmap-vli1.3254
- ŞAHIN S. & BILGIN M. 2018. Olive tree (Olea europaea L.) leaf as a waste by-product of table olive and olive oil industry: a review. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture. 98(4): 1271-1279. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8619
- SALAH M. B., HAFEDH A. & MANEF A. 2017. Anti-diabetic activity and oxidative stress improvement of Tunisian Gerboui olive leaves extract on alloxan induced diabetic rats. *Journal of Material and Environmental Sciences*. 8(4): 1359-1364.
- SALAH W. A. & NOFAL M. 2021. Review of some adulteration detection techniques of edible oils. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 101(3): 811-819. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.10750
- SALEHI B., ATA A., KUMAR N. V. A., SHAROPOV F., RAMÍREZ-ALARCÓN K., RUIZ-ORTEGA A., AYATOLLAHI A. S., FOKOU P. V. T., KOBARFARD F., ZAKARIA Z. A., IRITI M., TAHERI Y., MARTORELL M., SUREDA A., SETZER W. N., DURAZZO A., LUCARINI M., SANTINI A., CAPASSO R., OSTRANDER E. A., ATTAur-RAHMAN, CHOUDHARY M. I., CHO W. C. & SHARIFI-RAD J. 2019. Antidiabetic potential of medicinal plants and their active components. *Biomolecules*. 9(10): 551. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9100551
- SANTANGELO C., VARI R., SCAZZOCCHIO B., DE SANCTI P., GIOVANNINI C., D'ARCHIVIO M. & MASELLA R. 2018. Anti-inflammatory activity of extra virgin olive oil polyphenols: which role in the prevention and treatment of immune mediated inflammatory diseases? *Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders - Drug Targets*. 18(1): 36-50. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530317666171114114321
- SANZANI S. M., SCHENA L., NIGRO F., SERGEEVA V., IPPOLITO A. & SALERNO M. G. 2012. Abiotic diseases of olive. Journal of Plant Pathology. 94(3): 469-491.
- SASAKI K. & ISODA H. 2022. Dietary consumption of desert olive tree pearls reduces brain Aβ content and improves learning and memory ability in aged mice. *Journal of Functional Foods*. **91**: 105021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2022.105021
- SHARMA P. & YADLAPATI R. 2021. Pathophysiology and treatment options for gastroesophageal reflux disease: looking beyond acid. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 1486(1): 3-14. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.14501

- SHARMA R. & ARYA V. 2011. A review on fruits having anti-diabetic potential. Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research. 3(2): 204-212.
- SHETTY P. & WATERLOW J. 2003. Adaptation nutritional aspects: p. 18-23. In: CABALLERO B., FINGLAS P. & TOLDRAF. (eds.). 2003. Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition (Second Edition). Academic Press. Elsevier Science Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-227055-X/00006-7
- DA SILVA A., DE SOUZA P. E. A., NEVES H. R., NUNES V. E. P., SILVA N. M. de M., RIBEIRO W. A., CUNHA G. M., PEREIRA R. G., GONÇALVES G. G., AMORIM M. F., DAMASO C. R. S., DOS SANTOS PINTO A. & LUCAS I. C. 2022. New evidence in the treatment of gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD): an integrative review. *Research, Society and Development.* 11(11): e237111133548. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v11i11.33548
- SILVA B. S. & SCHMIELE M. 2021. From olive to olive oil: a general approach. Research, Society and Development. 10(3): e32210313408. https://doi.org/10.33448/rsd-v10i3.13408
- SILVA P. M., MARTINS A. J., FASOLIN L. H. & VICENTE A. A. 2021. Modulation and characterization of wax based olive oil organogels in view of their application in the food industry. *Gels*, 7(1): 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/gels7010012
- SINGAB A. N., YOUSSEF F. S. & ASHOUR M. L. 2014. Medicinal plants with potential antidiabetic activity and their assessment. *Medicinal & Aromatic Plants*. 3(1): 000151. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0412.1000151
- SODINI M., FRANCINI A. & SEBASTIANI L. 2023. Early salinity response in root of salt sensitive Olea europaea L. cv. Leccino. Plant Stress. 10: 100264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stress.2023.100264
- SOMOVA L. I., SHODE F. O., RAMNANAN P. & NADAR A. 2003. Antihypertensive, antiatherosclerotic and antioxidant activity of triterpenoids isolated from *Olea europaea*, subspecies *africana* leaves. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*. 84(2-3): 299-305. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-8741(02)00332-x
- SOTO-ALARCON S. A., VALENZUELA R., VALENZUELA A. & VIDELA L. A. 2018. Liver protective effects of extra virgin olive oil: interaction between its chemical composition and the cellisignaling pathways involved in protection. *Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders - Drug Targets.* 18(1): 75-84. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530317666171114120552
- SOUMYA D. & SRILATHA B. 2011. Late stage complications of diabetes and insulin resistance. *Journal of Diabetes and* Metabolism. 2(9): 1000167. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-6156.1000167
- STANNER S. & WEICHSELBAUM E. 2013. Antioxidants: p. 88-99. In: CABALLERO B. (ed.). 2013. Encyclopedia of human nutrition (3rd Edition). Academic Press. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-375083-9.00013-1
- SYED R. U., MONI S. S., ALFAISAL R. H., ALRASHIDI R. H., ALRASHIDI N. F., WADEED K. M., ALSHAMMARY F. N., HABIB A. M., ALHARBI F. M., UR REHMAN Z., ALAM M. S., BASODE V. K. & ABDULHAQ A. A. 2022. Spectral characterization of the bioactive principles and antibacterial properties of cold methanolic extract of *Olea europaea* from the Hail region of Saudi Arabia. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry.* 15(8): 104006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2022.104006
- TAAMALLI A., ARRÁEZ-ROMÁN D., ZARROUK M., VALVERDE J., SEGURA-CARRETERO A. & FERNÁNDEZ-GUTIÉRREZ A. 2012. The occurrence and bioactivity of polyphenols in Tunisian olive products and by-products: a review. Journal of Food Science. 77(4): R83-92. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02599.x
- TACK J. 2005. Recent developments in the pathophysiology and therapy of gastroesophageal reflux disease and nonerosive reflux disease. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology.* 21(4): 454-460.
- TAGLIAFERRI C., DAVICCO M. J., LEBECQUE P., GEORGÉ S., AMIOT M. J., MERCIER S., DHAUSSY A., HUERTAS A., WALRAND S., WITTRANT Y. & COXAM V. 2014. Olive oil and vitamin D synergistically prevent bone loss in mice. *PLoS One.* 9(12): e115817. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115817
- TARABANIS C., LONG C., SCOLARO B. & HEFFRON S. P. 2023. Reviewing the cardiovascular and other health effects of olive oil: limitations and future directions of current supplement formulations. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases.* 33(12): 2326-2333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2023.08.014
- TEKAYA M., DABBAGHI O., GUESMI A., ATTIA F., CHEHAB H., KHEZAMI L., ALGATHAMI F. K., HAMADI N. B., HAMMAMI M., PRINSEN E. & MECHRI B. 2022. Arbuscular mycorrhizas modulate carbohydrate, phenolic compounds and hormonal metabolism to enhance water deficit tolerance of olive trees (*Olea europaea*). *Agricultural Water Management*. 274: 107947. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2022.107947
- USMANI A. & ALMOSELHY R. I. M. 2023. Novel positioning of Olea europaea L. (olive) from farm to pharma indexed in pharmacopeia. IP Journal of Nutrition, Metabolism and Health Science. 6(4):161-170. http://doi.org/10.18231/j.ijnmhs.2023.027
- VAKIL N. 2004. New pharmacological agents for the treatment of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 19(10): 1041-1049. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2036.2004.01957.x
- VOGEL P., KASPER MACHADO I., GARAVAGLIA J., ZANI V. T., DE SOUZA D. & MORELO del BOSCO S. 2014. Polyphenols benefits of olive leaf (*Olea europaea* L.) to human health. *Nutrición Hospitalaria*. 31(3): 1427-1433. https://doi.org/10.3305/nh.2015.31.3.8400

- WAINSTEIN J., FELDBRIN Z., BOAZ M. & HARMAN-BOEHM I. 2011. Efficacy of ozone-oxygen therapy for the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers. *Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics*. 13(12): 1255-1260. https://doi.org/10.1089/dia.2011.0018
- WANG J., ZHANG D., FAROOQI T. J. A., MA L., DENG Y. & JIA Z. 2019. The olive (Olea europaea L.) industry in China: its status, opportunities and challenges. Agroforestry System. 93: 395-417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-017-0129-y
- WANG L., JIANG Y., HAN T., ZHENG C. & QIN L. 2014. A phytochemical, pharmacological and clinical profile of Paederia foetida and P. scandens. Natural Product Communication. 9(6): 879-886.
- WONGWARAWIPAT T., PAPAGEORGIOU N., BERTSIAS D., SIASOS G. & TOUSOULIS D. 2018. Olive oil-related antiinflammatory effects on atherosclerosis: potential clinical implications. *Endocrine, Metabolic & Immune Disorders* - Drug Targets. 18(1): 51-62. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871530317666171116103618
- XU F., YI X., ZHANG X., PEI D., YUAN J., WANG N., DI D., ZENG W., LIU Y. & WANG H. 2023. Identification of antiphotoaging components of *Olea europaea* leaves based on spectrum effect relationship. *Journal of Chromatography B.* 1226: 123807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2023.123807
- YILMAZ F. & BAHTIYARI M. I. 2020. Antibacterial finishing of cotton fabrics by dyeing with olive tree leaves fallen during olive harvesting. Journal of Cleaner Production. 270: 122068. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.122068
- ZBAKH H. & EL ABBASSI A. 2012. Potential use of olive mill wastewater in the preparation of functional beverages: a review. Journal of Functional Foods. 4(1): 53-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2012.01.002
- ZHAO S., LI Q. & FU T. 2023. Formulation of a drug for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis: copper nanoparticles containing Olea europaea leaf aqueous extract. Inorganic Chemistry Communications. 153: 110867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.inoche.2023.110867
- ZHENG X., HUANG H., ZHENG X. & LI B. 2016. Olive oil exhibits osteoprotection in ovariectomized rats without estrogenic effects. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*. 11(5): 1881-1888. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.3138
- ZIENKIEWICZ A., JIMÉNEZ-LÓPEZ J. C., ZIENKIEWICZ K., de DIOS ALCHE J. & RODRÍGUEZ-GARCÍA M. I. 2011. Development of the cotyledon cells during olive (*Olea europaea L.*) in vitro seed germination and seedling growth. Protoplasma. 248: 751-765. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-010-0242-5
- ZUCCHINI M., LODOLINI E. M., TARRAGONI A. & NERI D. 2023. Shoot growth pattern and return bloom of six olive varieties in response to cultivation practices stimulating or limiting the vegetative growth in young trees. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 321: 112373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2023.112373

How to cite this article:

SHAFIQ M., IQBAL M. Z. & ATHAR M. 2024. The beneficial effects of olive tree (*Olea europaea* L.) in the nutritional, pharmaceutical and industrial application: a review. J. Plant Develop. 31: 247-266. https://doi.org/10.47743/jpd.2024.31.1.950

JOURNAL OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT GUIDE TO AUTHORS

AIMS AND SCOPE OF THE JOURNAL

Journal of Plant Development is the official scientific journal of the "Anastasie Fătu" Botanical Garden, which belongs to "Alexandru Ioan Cuza" University of IAȘI, ROMANIA. It was first published in 1979 (at that time as "Culegere de Studii și Articole de Biologie"). The new series begins in 1993 under the name "Buletinul Grădinii Botanice Iași". From 2008 on, it has been published under its present name "Journal of Plant Development". It appears in one volume, with one or two issues per year.

Journal of Plant Development (JPD) is an international journal that acts as a medium for the exchange of ideas and provides publication (yearly) of articles in all areas of Plant Science and Botany (of all 'plant' groups in the traditional sense - including algae, cyanobacteria, fungi, myxomycetes). It covers topics in plant development field, as well as the plant ecology. The Journal also covers related fields such as: plant conservation, plant taxonomy, plant embryology, phytosociology, ecology, plant morpho-anatomy and histology, comparative and developmental morphology, physiology, ecophysiology, plant distribution, natural and artificial habitats, ornamental plants, pharmaceuticals uses of plants, plant molecular biology, plant cell, tissue and organ culture etc. The Journal welcomes the submission of manuscripts that meet the general criteria of significance and scientific excellence. All articles published in JPD are peer-reviewed.

TYPES OF MANUSCRIPTS AND LANGUAGE

The journal publishes original research articles, short communications and reviews in English. Journal of Plant Development also publishes book reviews and conference reports. Manuscripts may be of any length, but must be clearly and concisely written.

Three main *types* of manuscripts may be submitted:

Original research articles: should reports results of a substantial, completed and original work, and describe new and carefully confirmed findings. Experimental procedures should be given in sufficient detail for others to verify the work. The length of a full paper should be the minimum required to describe and interpret the work clearly.

Short communications: are suitable for recording the results of complete small investigations or giving details of new models or hypotheses, innovative methods or techniques. The style of main sections need not conform to that of original research articles. Short communications are 2 to 4 pages in length.

Review articles. Submissions of reviews and perspectives covering topics of current interest are welcome and encouraged. Review articles are critical evaluations of material that has already been published. By organizing, integrating, and evaluating previously published material, the author considers the progress of current research toward clarifying a problem. A review article is a tutorial in that the author defines and clarifies a problem, summarizes previous investigations in order to inform about the state of current research, identifies relations, contradictions, gaps, and inconsistencies in the literature, suggests the next step or steps in solving the problem. Reviews should be concise and no longer than 14-16 printed pages. Reviews are also peer-reviewed.

OPEN ACCESS POLICY

Journal of Plant Development publishes fully open access articles, which means that all articles are available on the internet to all users immediately upon publication. Noncommercial use and distribution in any medium is permitted, without charge to the user or his/her institution. Users are allowed to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles in this journal without asking prior permission from the publisher or the author. This is in accordance with the BOAI definition of open access.

REVIEWING POLICY

All contributions are subject to a double-blind reviewing process. Acceptance of papers is supervised by an international Editorial Board. Manuscripts considered suitable for peer review by the Editorial Board are sent to at least two referees (members of the Board or external). The journal gives referees a target of four weeks for the return of their reports. The review process takes between three weeks and two months.

PROOFS AND REPRINTS

Electronic proofs will be sent (e-mail attachment) to the corresponding author as a PDF file. Page proofs are considered to be the final version of the manuscript. With the exception of typographical or minor clerical errors, no changes will be made in the manuscript at the proof stage. Because JPD will be published freely online to attract a wide audience, authors will have free electronic access to the full text (in both HTML and PDF) of the article. Authors can freely download the PDF file from which they can print unlimited copies of their articles.

SUBMISSION

Manuscripts should be submitted electronically by sending a message to <u>gbot.is@uaic.ro</u> or <u>ana.cojocariu@uaic.ro</u>. The message should include:

(1) a cover letter, that should include the corresponding author's full name, address and telephone/fax numbers and should be in an e-mail message sent to the Editor. A Cover Letter is to be made upon submission, sending a revision or re-submission.

(2) a text file with the entire text, as an attachment, whose name should begin with the first author's surname.

(3) additional files for figures and tables.

Submission of a paper implies that it has not been published before (except in the form of an abstract or as part of a published lecture or academic thesis), that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that its publication is approved by all authors, and that, if accepted, will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, without the written consent of the publisher.

JPD Formatting and template: <u>http://www.plant-journal.uaic.ro/instructions.htm</u>

Journal of Plant Development have its own specific formatting. This defines how an article will look when it is published online or in print. In order to format your article ready for submission to JPD, **Word Template** are available on the website, ready for you to download and apply to your document. Read the instructions for the author/s, download and save the word template file to your computer and apply these styles to your paper as appropriate. Authors should consult the **checklists** given here on **how to prepare the files**. Authors are expected to have their papers well checked for content and correctness in presentation of text and illustrations. Manuscripts not conforming to the guidelines will be returned to the author until satisfactory files are provided.

The corresponding author receives by e-mail an acknowledgment of receipt of the manuscript, mentioning the communicating editor and a manuscript reference number (Article ID). The manuscript number will be mailed to the corresponding author same day or within 72 hours. If you do not receive an acknowledgement you should inquire to be sure it was received.

Details on types of contributions 1. Original research articles

The papers will be published only in a foreign language (English), structured as follows: title, authors, affiliation of the authors, abstract, keywords, introduction, material and method, results & discussions, conclusions, acknowledgements, references, tables, figure captions.

Title should be a brief phrase describing the contents of the paper.

Authors names would not be abbreviated, capitals for surname (family name) and no capitals for first name (except initial letter). Each author name would be accompanied by a complete address, as a footnote on the first page. The affiliation should be provided in the following order: university (institution) name; faculty/department name; number and street name; city; country and email address. One of the authors should be designated as the corresponding author.

Abstract should be concise informative and completely self-explanatory, briefly present the topic, state the purpose of the research, indicate significant data, and point out major findings and conclusions. An abstract is often presented separately from the article, so it must be able to stand alone. Complete sentences, active verbs, and the third person should be used, and the abstract should be written in the past tense. References should therefore be avoided, but if essential, they must be cited in full, without reference to the reference list. Non-standard or uncommon abbreviations should be avoided but, if essential, they should be defined at their first mention in the abstract itself.

Key Words: five to seven words, the most important ones, in alphabetical order, after someone could discover your paper on the internet engines. Key words should not repeat the title of the manuscript.

The **Introduction** should provide a clear statement of the problem, the relevant literature on the subject, and the proposed approach or solution. It should be understandable to colleagues from a broad range of scientific disciplines. The introduction should conclude with a brief statement of the overall aim of the experiments and a comment about whether that aim was achieved.

Materials and methods should be complete enough to allow experiments to be reproduced. However, only truly new procedures should be described in detail; previously published procedures should be cited, and important modifications of published procedures should be mentioned briefly. Methods in general use need not be described in detail.

Results should be presented with clarity and precision. The results should be written in the past tense when describing findings in the authors' experiments. Previously published findings should be written in the present tense. Results should be explained, but largely without referring to the literature. Discussion and detailed interpretation of data should not be included in the Results but should be put into the Discussion section. The **Discussion** should interpret the findings in view of the results obtained in this and in past studies on this topic. State the conclusions in a few sentences at the end of the paper. The Results and Discussion sections can include subheadings, and when appropriate, both sections can be combined.

Conclusions should spell out the major findings of the work and may include some explanation of the significance of these conclusions and what further research should be done. Authors should include a general interpretation of the results in the context of current evidence, and not restricted to that which supports the findings of the present study.

Notes on contributors in maximum 65 words, provide short biographical notes on all contributors.

The **Acknowledgments** of people, grants, funds, etc. should be brief. People who contributed to the work but do not fit criteria for authorship should be listed in the Acknowledgments, along with their contributions. It is the authors' responsibility to ensure that anyone named in the acknowledgments agrees to being so named.

References should be listed at the end of the paper in alphabetical order. In the text, a reference identified by means of an author's name should be followed by the date of the reference in parentheses. Articles in preparation or articles submitted for publication, unpublished observations, personal communications, etc. should not be included in the reference list but should only be mentioned in the article text. Authors are fully responsible for the accuracy of the references.

2. Short communications

Short Communications are limited to a maximum of two figures and one table. They should present a complete study that is more limited in scope than is found in full-length papers. Short Communications follow the same format as for the original research papers, with the following differences: (1) Abstracts are limited to 100 words; (2) instead of a separate Materials and Methods section, experimental procedures may be incorporated into Figure Legends and Table footnotes; (3) Results and Discussion sections should be combined into a single section.

3. Review articles

Review articles are critical evaluations of material that has already been published. By organizing, integrating, and evaluating previously published material, the author considers the progress of current research toward clarifying a problem. Reviews should be concise and no longer than 14-16 printed pages. Reviews are also peer-reviewed.

4. Book reviews and conference reports

These types of contributions would not exceed an A4 format page.

5. Special Issues

Proposals for Special Issues of full research papers that focus on a specific topic or theme will be considered.

CHECKLISTS FOR PREPARING THE ARTICLE FILES

CHECKLIST FOR COVER LETTER

The Cover Letter is formatted in MS Word (file type DOC) or in Rich Text Format (file type RTF).
The name of the file Cover Letter consists in the first author's surname followed by '_cover letter' (e.g. Petrescu cover letter.doc).
The cover letter states that the submission is not under consideration or published elsewhere, and that all authors are aware of the submission.
The letter includes contact details of the corresponding author, the title and authorship of the paper, and states if the paper is a first submission , revision or a re-submission . The manuscript reference number is given if the paper is a revision or resubmission.
If the paper is a revised or resubmitted manuscript, the letter explains what changes have been made to the manuscript and where and why changes requested by the Editor and referees have not been carried out.

CHECKLIST FOR TEXT FILE

The	Text File is formatted in MS Word (file type DOC) or in Rich Text Format (file type RTF).		
The name of the Text File consists of the first author's surname followed by '_article' (e.g. Petrescu article.doc).			
The	The page layout would be as follows: 17 x 24 cm (top 2 cm, bottom 2 cm, right 2 cm, left 2 cm).		
Title	would be written with bold, capital letters, 12 points size, centered.		
Nam capit woul	tes and Christian names of the authors will be written with Times New Roman, 10 points, centered, als for surname (family name) and no capitals for first name (except initial letter). Each author name d be accompanied by a complete address.		
The full names of all authors : for papers with more than one author, the corresponding author's name is followed by a superscript asterisk*. For papers with authors from more than one institute: each name is followed by an identifying superscript number (1, 2, 3, etc.) associated with the appropriate institutional address to be entered further down the page.			
The institutional address(es) of each author; each address is preceded by the relevant superscript number where appropriate (1, 2, 3, etc.). The affiliation should be provided in the following order: university (institution) name; faculty/department name; number and street name; city; country and email address. One of the authors should be designated as the corresponding author.			
E-mail address of the corresponding author.			
A structured Abstract not exceeding 500 words.			
A list of at least five to maximum seven Key words , in alphabetical order, that should not repeat the title of the manuscript.			
The body of the paper is well structured (preferred structure is: Introduction, Material and methods, Results, Discussion, Acknowledgments and References).			
Text is typed using size 10, Times New Roman font, single-spaced throughout.			
	Results are presented in a concise way and data are not repeated in both graphical and tabular form.		
	The Discussion section avoids extensive repetition of the Results.		
	No more than three levels of headings are used: Main headings are in regular, bold letters and centered on one line (e.g. Introduction, Materials and methods). Second or third level headings are Bold, aligned to the left and only first word capitalized (e.g. Phytosociological analyses).		
	Abbreviations are used for units of measurement, molecular terminology, common statistical terms (e.g. ANOVA, <i>t</i> -test and <i>r</i> 2), names of chemicals (e.g. ATP, Mes, Hepes, NaCl, O_2), and procedures (e.g. PCR, PAGE, RFLP). Other abbreviations are spelled out at first mention and all terms are written out in full when used to start a sentence.		
	A list of non-standard abbreviations should be added. In general, non-standard abbreviations should be used only when the full term is very long and used often in text. Each abbreviation should be spelled out and introduced in parentheses the first time it is used in the text. Only recommended		

		SI units should be used. Authors should use the solidus presentation (mg/ml). Standard abbreviations (such as ATP and DNA) need not be defined.	
		SI-units system should be used for all scientific and laboratory data throughout the manuscript. Spaces are left between numerals followed by a unit. In certain instances, it might be necessary to quote other units. These should be added in parentheses. Temperatures should be given in degrees Celsius.	
		Names of plants are written out in full (Genus, species) in the abstract and again in the main text for every organism at first mention (but the genus is only needed for the first species in a list within the same genus, e.g. <i>Ranunculus acris, R. repens.</i> Only names at genus level and below are put in italics. The scientific names of plant species would be italicized. The author (e.g. L., Benth., Shur, Opiz) is given at first mention of the name or (preferably) the authors are provided elsewhere in the paper in a table or appendix, or by reference to a standard work. Authors follow the list in IPNI (http://www.ipni.org), without using a space after initials.	
		Underlining is only used to indicate the major organs in a plant description in a taxonomic treatment.	
	For Specialized equipment mentioned in Materials and methods, details of the model and manufacturer are given.		
 Round numbers that require one word (e.g. up to sixteen, twenty, thirty, etc.) are written they are measurements. All other numbers are in figures except at the beginning of Dates are in the form of 10 Jan. 1999. 			
	In the text, references are made using the author(s) name of a certain paper (e.g.: other authors) GÉHU (2006) mentioned that). Footnotes should be avoided.		
		References should be given inside the square brackets. [GÉHU, 2006]	
		References appear as follows in the text: [GEHU, 2006] or [BOX & MANTHEY, 2006], or when there are more than two authors [AMORFINI & al. 2006]. In cases where more than one reference is cited, references are listed in chronological order and separated by semicolons e.g. [TACKHOLM, 1920; WISSEMANN, 2000; RITZ & WISSEMANN, 2003; CAISSARD & al. 2006]. Reference to work in press is only used when the paper has been accepted for publication in a named journal, otherwise the terms 'unpubl. res.', giving the initials and location of the person concerned is given (e.g. M. PETRESCU, University of Iasi, Romania, unpubl. res.) or 'pers. comm.' (e.g. M. PETRESCU, University of Iasi, Romania, pers. comm.)	
	The	eferences section is organized as follows:	
		All references cited in text (also when exclusively used in the bibliographies of taxa in a taxonomic	
		treatment) are provided in the References section and vice versa. The references are arranged alphabetically based on the last name of the first or sole author. Where the same sole author or same first author has two or more papers listed, these papers are grouped chronologically. Where such an author has more than one paper in the same year, these are ordered with single authored papers first followed by two-author papers (ordered first alphabetically based on the second author's surname, then by year), and then any three-or-more-author papers (in year order only). Letters 'a', 'b', 'c', etc., are added to the date of papers with the same authorship and year.	
	□ References conform to one of the following styles according to the type of publication:		
		Papers in periodicals: the name of the author(s) would be given in capital letters. The Christian name(s) would be abbreviated. Before the last but one and the last author you must insert the sign "&". In the reference list you must mention all the authors of a certain paper. The year of a paper publication is put after the author (s). Title should be fully written. Between the year and the title we recommend to be inserted a point sign. Each periodical name is to be written in italies. A certain volume must be given in bolds. After it is placed the number of the periodical, inserted between the round brackets; next to it would be inserted the page numbers of the paper. BOSCAIU N. 2001. Ecotonul si importanta functilor sale ecoprotective. <i>Ocrotirea Naturii.</i> 42 : 13-21. MEHREGAN I. & KADEREIT J. W. 2008. Taxonomic revision of <i>Cousinia</i> sect. <i>Cynaroideae (Asteraceae, Cardueae). Willdenowia.</i> 38 (2): 293-362.	
		Books: title should be fully written. The title of a book is written in italics. After the title, is	
		placed the name of the town, the publishing nouse and the page numbers.	

		BOSCAIU N. 1971. Flora si vegetatia Muntilor Tarcu, Godeanu si Cernei. Bucuresti: Edit.
		Acad. Române, 494 pp.
		HILLIER J. & COOMBES A. 2004. The Hillier Manual of Trees & Shrubs. Newton Abbot,
		Devon, England: David & Charles, 512 pp.
		Chapters in books: author(s), year, title, pages, a point sign, followed by "In": author (s) of
		the book, city, publishing house, number of pages.
		TUTIN T. G. 1996. Helleborus L. pp. 249-251. In: TUTIN T. G. & al. (eds). Flora Europaea.
		2 nd ed., 1993, reprinted 1996. Vol. 1. Psilotaceae to Platanaceae. Cambridge: Cambridge
		University Press, XLVI, 581 pp.
		Article only available on-line with digital objet identifier (DOI): SONKÉ B., DJUIKOUO K.
		M. N. & ROBBRECHT E. 2008. Calycosiphonia pentamera sp. nov. (afrotropical Rubiaceae)
		from the 'Lower Guinea' area. Nordic Journal of Botany. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.0107-
		055X.2007.00141.x
	1	Thesis: NTORE S. 2004. Contribution à la connaissance systématique du genre afrotropical
		Pauridiantha (Rubiaceae). PhD Thesis, K. U. Leuven, Leuven, Belgium.

CHECKLIST FOR ILLUSTRATIONS

Photographs, drawings, maps, graphs, charts, plates and diagrams are all treated as 'Figures' and should be numbered consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text.
The mentions at the drawings, figures, pictures and tables will be placed inside the round brackets – for instance (Figure 2), (Table 2).
All illustrations should be clearly marked with the figure number and the author's name.
Figures composed of several smaller figures are treated as one figure and the subfigures are labeled with capital letters (A, B, C, D, etc.). Scientific names in captions are not followed by authors.
Each table has a complete caption at the top and is Table 1, Table 2, etc. according to the order in which they are first mentioned in the text.
All the schemes, drawings, electron micrographs etc. would be accompanied by a scale bar.
Line diagrams are black and white. Use of colour in line diagrams is acceptable where this enhances clarity significantly.
Related graphics are grouped into a single figure whenever possible. Each part of a grouped figure is labelled A, B, C, etc. and not treated as separate figures. Labels are preferably placed in the upper left or lower left corner of the picture using.
Colour images are used where they enhance significantly the clarity of the scientific information and must be very clear, being accompanied by the explanations.
The diagrams should be made in Excel; pictures, ink drawings must be saved in JPG, JPEG, or BMP format, having a good resolution.
If figures or tables are not imported into your text, these would be placed on separate sheets, with indications of their inserting place in the text.
Table text is typed using Times New Roman. Capitals are avoided within table cells (exceptions: first letter of the heading of row or column, names of taxa requiring a capital, and abbreviations e.g. pH).
Tables must be cell-based. Do not provide tables as graphic objects.
Be sparing in the use of tables and ensure that the data presented in tables do not duplicate results described elsewhere in the article.

JOURNAL OF PLANT DEVELOPMENT

CONTENTS

Anatomical considerations on the annual shoot in some wild roses LIDIA ADUMITRESEI, CAMELIA MARIANA IFRIM, IRINA NETA GOSTIN	3
Assemblages of wood-inhabiting macrofungi in beech forests from Eastern Romania CIPRIAN CONSTANTIN BÎRSAN , CONSTANTIN MARDARI , CĂTĂLIN TĂNASE	25
Evaluation of antioxidant activity in oak leaves from the Republic of Moldova exposed to heat stress PETRU CUZA	37
Shade-induced phenotypic plasticity and its impact on the economic traits of Patchouli, <i>Pogostemon cablin</i> (Blanco) Benth., a high-value aromatic crop NARAGANAHALLI DASAPPA YOGENDRA, RAJESH RAVI KUMARA, PADDAMBAIL ELLIANNA KEERTHI, THANKASWAMY ARUL PRAKASH, VELUSAMY SUNDERASAN	53
Nutritional and oil profile of the seeds of <i>Sesamum indicum</i> L. and <i>Vitellaria paradoxa</i> C. F. Gaertn. IBRAHIM UMAR KARAYE, SULE ALIYU ANKA, MUSA TANKO MUHAMMAD, SHAFI'U ISMA'ILA ADILI, MUHAMMAD HANNATU LAWAL	65
Effect of irrigation interval on growth and artemisinin content of wormwood (<i>Artemisia annua</i> L.) Chen Young variety in Sokoto LAWAL GANDI ABDULKADIR , ADAMU ALIYU ALIERO , HASSAN MUHAMMAD MAISHANU , ABDULLAHI YAHAYA ABBAS	75
Pesticidal plant species impact on whip smut reduction and sugarcane (<i>Saccharum officinarum</i> L.) production in Nigeria Moses SAMUEL BASSEY , EMMANUEL ABRAHAM SHITTU , SHEMA ANDREW MONDAY , ALAWODE VICTOR OLALEKAN , EKAETTE EUNICE ETIM , EKAETTE JOY ETOPOBONG , FADEIYE EBENEZER	83
Comparative efficacy of NPK fertilizer and poultry droppings on the growth and yield of <i>Amaranthus hybridus</i> L. VICTOR ONUCHE IKANI , BAWA GAMBO ZAKARI , ZUBAIRU GADDAFI JIMETA , AHMAD IDI	91
Soil and sugar quality improvement influenced by mulching and weed management practices in Nigeria Moses SAMUEL BASSEY, EMMANUEL ABRAHAM SHITTU, EKAETTE EUNICE ETIM, EKAETTE JOY ETOPOBONG	97
Assessing different strategies for controlling weeds in maize cultivation within the derived savanna agro-ecology in Nigeria OLAGBEMI PETER AFON, OLUWAKEMI OLAJUMOKE AJAYI, ADESIKE OLADOYIN OLAYINKA, EMMANUEL AJIBOLA OLAGUNJU, GABRIEL OLULAKIN ADESINA	105

* Please see *Table of Contents* at the front of the Volume for full volume contents

Cover photo (Cătălin TĂNASE): *Dianthus glacialis* Haenke subsp. *gelidus* (Schott, Nyman et Kotschy) Tutin Bucegi Natural Park, Romania